Identification and Control of Metal Pollutant Spikes in Municipal Solid Waste Incinerators

A Thesis Submitted by David J L Poole (MChem)

to The University of Sheffield for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

August 2005

Department of Chemical and Process Engineering The University of Sheffield







Boston Spa, Wetherby West Yorkshire, LS23 7BQ www.bl.uk

CONTAINS PULLOUTS

Summary

The emission of metals during municipal solid waste incineration has become a question of considerable public and scientific concern in the light of evidence of their extreme toxicity. Sophisticated and expensive gas cleaning systems are required to meet the increasingly stringent EC atmospheric emission limits. While the technology for the clean-up of particulate matter and acid gases in flue gas is comparatively straightforward, the emissions of micro-pollutants such as heavy metals and dioxins remain a concern. Previous research on metal emissions has concentrated on overall mass balances, working either with laboratory or plant based measurements, or with computational models (frequently with little correlation between the techniques), leading to incomplete information on the system concerned. The waste incineration process is highly inhomogeneous, due to the changing nature of the waste feed, but the effects of changing waste feed and combustion conditions on the concentration and distribution of metals in incinerator residues has not been investigated fully until now.

Therefore the main objective of this PhD research project was to develop a comprehensive understanding of metal behaviour during municipal solid waste incineration, including an assessment of the importance and effect of temporal variation in waste composition and incineration conditions, through a co-ordinated programme of experimental measurements and mathematical modelling.

A new on-line continuous monitoring technique was developed in order to obtain temporally resolved data on metal concentrations in incinerator flue gases. This system was used to obtain unique data on the distribution of nineteen different metals in a UK municipal solid waste incinerator. It was found that not only was metal distribution highly dependent on the volatility of the metal concerned, but also that temporal fluctuations could be extremely significant. These were caused by changing waste feed and changing incinerator conditions.

In parallel with the experimental programme, state-of-the-art thermodynamic modelling techniques were used to predict the distribution of metallic pollutants during waste incineration, for a range of waste compositions and combustion conditions. The thermodynamic equilibrium around various heterogeneous items in municipal waste was studied in order to a) assess the importance of non-uniformity in the waste stream, and b) investigate whether this could lead to the observed periodic changes in metal concentrations. These calculations, in conjunction with the experimental data obtained, have helped to show how unusual partitioning behaviour can be the result of local or transient behaviour on the burning bed, as well as changing bulk incinerator combustion conditions or bulk waste feed properties.

These two approaches to the problem of understanding metal behaviour during municipal solid waste incineration have complemented each other extremely well. The presence of spikes in metal emissions has clearly been demonstrated, and probable causes have been identified. Heterogeneous items containing high proportions of volatile metal are the most likely source of the large spikes observed for some heavy metals, whilst other changes are linked to more general incinerator conditions. These results indicate that more careful sorting of municipal waste prior to incineration could significantly reduce the toxic metal spikes in the flue gas, and therefore the overall environmental impact of incineration, although the atmospheric emissions are already near-zero and are therefore of minimal impact.

Dedication

"Moses saw that though the bush was on fire it did not burn up. So Moses thought, "I will go over and see this strange sight—why the bush does not burn up."

(Exodus 3: 2-3, The Bible)

Dedicated to all those who marvel at the world in which we find ourselves, and who through their investigation, come to realise that it is far too amazing and complex to have occurred by chance, and far too special to allow to go to waste. In their searching, may they find both the satisfaction of finding answers to their questions and solutions to their problems, and the peace which comes only from an encounter with the Creator of it all.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to the following people, acknowledging their contribution to the project, without whom it would have been difficult, or even impossible.

Professors Jim Swithenbank and Vida Sharifi, who came up with the initial idea, and have supervised me throughout, providing ideas, expertise, enthusiasm, wisdom, support encouragement, and inspiration, which played a major part in the success of the project.

Professor Bernard Argent, for his help running the thermodynamic calculation programme, and enthusiastic contribution to all other aspects of the work: For his, expertise, understanding, attention to detail, and sheer hard work in the use of the modelling software.

Dr Paul Clarkson, for his help and expertise in development and use of the analytical instrumentation, and for getting me involved in the project in the first place!

Dr Dirk Ardelt, Hans-Jörg Waarlo, and everyone else at Spectro Analytical Instruments, both in Germany and the UK, who have provided advice, support, and technical assistance in the project.

Prof Cameron McLeod, Mr Alan Cox, and the others at the Centre for Analytical Sciences, for their technical advice and support.

The operators of the MSW incineration plant used extensively as a test facility for this research.

The many staff and students here in the Department of Chemical and Process Engineering, who have contributed in so many ways to the successful completion of the project, and especially Mike O'Meara and David Palmer, for their all-round technical support at the Buxton research facility

My appreciation is also expressed to the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), for their financial support of the project.

Finally, my special thanks go to my friends, family and Church fellowship, who have supported me throughout this work, and especially to Jo, whose support, love and understanding has been invaluable. Without these people, none of this would have been achieved.

Table of Contents

	Page:
Summary	II
Dedication	III
Acknowledgements	IV
Contents	V
List of tables	X
List of figures	XIII
List of Abbreviations	XIX

Chapter One: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Municipal Solid Waste Incineration	1
1.1.2 Pollutants from MSW Incineration	3
1.1.3 The Behaviour of Metals in MSW Incineration	4
1.1.4 Measurement of Metallic Pollutants in MSW Incineration	6
1.1.5 Summary	8
1.2 Research Objectives	8
Chapter Two: Literature Review	9
2.1 Municipal Solid Waste and Incineration	9
2.1.1 The Problem of Waste	9
2.1.2 The Composition of Municipal Waste	10
2.1.3 Legislation Controlling Waste Management	11
2.1.4 Incineration of Waste as Part of Waste Management	14
2.1.5 Legislation Controlling Incineration in the UK	15
2.1.6 Environmental Concerns Arising from Incinerators	17
2.1.7 Technological Improvements to the Waste Incineration Process	21
2.2 Metals in Municipal Solid Waste Incineration	24
2.2.1 The Fate of Metals in Incinerators	24
2.2.2 Factors Affecting Metal Partitioning	25
2.3 Metals of Concern in Incineration: Their Partitioning, Toxicity (and Adverse Effects), Sources, and Major Uses	Other 36
2.4 Analysis for Metals in Municipal Solid Waste and Incineration Residues	41
2.4.1 Analytical Instrumentation	42
2.4.2 Sample Collection and Pre-Treatment for ICP-OES Detection	49
2.5 On-Line analysis of Metals in Environmental Samples	51

2.5.1 Continuous Emissions Monitoring Technologies for Metals in Gases	52
2.5.2 Key System Components	53
2.5.3 Existing Metals CEM Techniques – Key Features	54
2.5.4 Selection of a System for Metals CEM in a Municipal Waste Incinera	tor 54
2.6 Theoretical Prediction of Metal Behaviour in Thermal Systems	56
2.6.1 Thermodynamic Modelling	57
2.6.2 Aerosol Dynamics modelling	60
2.6.3 Combined models for specific applications	62
2.6.4 Full Kinetic Modelling	
2.6.5 Overview of Modelling Techniques for Metals in MSW Incinerators .	67
2.7 Chapter Summary	67
Chapter Three: Experimental Programme	69
3.1 Description of the Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory	69
3.1.1 External Appearance	
3.1.2 Schematic Overview of Laboratory Design	
3.1.3 Inductively Coupled Plasma - Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-O	ES)71
3.1.4 Laboratory Equipment, Services and Facilities	
3.2 Development and Optimisation of the Continuous Emissions Mo Laboratory	onitoring 78
3.2.1 Initial Investigation of Normal Operating Parameters	
3.2.2 Systematic Investigation of the Effect of Bulk Gas Matrix on Sensitiv	rity 87
3.3 Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory Testing and Calibration 30kW Test Furnace	n with a 92
3.3.1 Furnace Description	
3.3.2 Initial CEML Flue Gas Monitoring	
3.3.3 Analytical System Calibration Verification.	
3.4 Use of the CEML to Investigate the Behaviour of Metals in Con Systems	nbustion 102
3.4.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	102
3.4.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System	n 103
3.5 Continuous Emissions Monitoring at a Large-Scale Municipal Soli Incinerator	d Waste 104
3.5.1 Description of Industrial Plant	105
3.5.2 Analysis of Solid Residues from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration	108
3.5.3 Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions	110
3.5.4 Pre-clean-up measurements	111
Chapter Four: Thermodynamic Prediction of Fauilibri	um in
a MSW Incinerator	114
4 1 Thermodynamic Equilibrium Prediction	114
······································	-

4.2 Application of Thermodynamic Equilibrium Calculation to Municipal Soli Waste Incineration	d 6
4.3 Choice of Thermodynamic Equilibrium Package to model Municipal Soli Waste Incineration	d 7
4.3.1 Solution Method11	9
4.3.2 Output Format	0
4.4 Prediction of Thermodynamic Equilibrium for Municipal Waste	0
4.4.1 Prediction of Equilibrium Products from Typical Municipal Waste 12	0
4.4.2 Variable Sensitivity Study	3
4.4.3 Results: "Typical" Municipal Waste Equilibrium 12	4
4.4.4 Results: Variable Sensitivity Equilibrium Study 13	2
4.5 Prediction of "Local Equilibrium" around Heterogeneous Waste Items 14	7
4.5.1 Rationale for Choice of Specific Items	8
4.5.2 Isolated Equilibrium Calculations14	9
4.5.3 Specific Items in the Combustion Gas Matrix	0
4.5.4 Results: Prediction of "Local Equilibrium" around Specific Items	1
4.6 Summary of use of Thermodynamic Calculations to Predict Metal Volatility 16	0
Chapter Five: Results161	
5.1 Use of the CEML to Investigate the Behaviour of Metals in Combustio Systems	n 1
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	1
 5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	1 3
 5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	1 3 5
 5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	1 3 5 5
 5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds	1 3 5 5 7 8
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16	1 3 5 0 7 8 8
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17	1 3 5 0 8 8 0
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17	1 5 5 8 8 0 0
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17	1 5 5 8 8 0 0 1 2
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17 5.3.5 Cadmium 17 5.3.6 Calcium 17	1 5 5 8 8 0 0 1 2 3
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17 5.3.5 Cadmium 17 5.3.6 Calcium 17 5.3.7 Chromium 17	1 3 5 7 8 8 0 0 1 2 3 4
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17 5.3.5 Cadmium 17 5.3.6 Calcium 17 5.3.7 Chromium 17 5.3.8 Cobalt 17	1 3 5 5 8 8 0 0 1 2 3 4 5
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds165.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System165.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator165.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator165.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained165.3.2 Aluminium175.3.3 Antimony175.3.4 Arsenic175.3.5 Cadmium175.3.6 Calcium175.3.7 Chromium175.3.8 Cobalt175.3.9 Conner17	1 3 5 5 8 8 0 0 1 2 3 4 5 6
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17 5.3.5 Cadmium 17 5.3.7 Chromium 17 5.3.8 Cobalt 17 5.3.9 Copper 17 5.3.10 Iron 17	1 3 5 5 8 8 0 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 6
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds 16 5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System 16 5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator 16 5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator 16 5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained 16 5.3.2 Aluminium 17 5.3.3 Antimony 17 5.3.4 Arsenic 17 5.3.5 Cadmium 17 5.3.6 Calcium 17 5.3.8 Cobalt 17 5.3.9 Copper 17 5.3.10 Iron 17 5.3.11 Lead 17	135 x880012345667
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds165.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System165.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator165.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerato165.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained165.3.2 Aluminium175.3.3 Antimony175.3.4 Arsenic175.3.5 Cadmium175.3.6 Calcium175.3.9 Copper175.3.10 Iron175.3.11 Lead175.3.12 Magnesium17	135 78 800123456678
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds165.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System165.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator165.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator165.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained165.3.2 Aluminium175.3.4 Arsenic175.3.5 Cadmium175.3.6 Calcium175.3.7 Chromium175.3.8 Cobalt175.3.9 Copper175.3.10 Iron175.3.12 Magnesium175.3.13 Manganese17	135 78 8001234566788
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds165.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System165.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator165.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator165.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained165.3.2 Aluminium175.3.3 Antimony175.3.4 Arsenic175.3.5 Cadmium175.3.6 Calcium175.3.7 Chromium175.3.8 Cobalt175.3.10 Iron175.3.11 Lead175.3.13 Manganese175.3.14 Mercury17	1 3 5 7 8 8 7 7 8 8 7 8 7 8 8 9
5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds165.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System165.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator165.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator165.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained165.3.2 Aluminium175.3.3 Antimony175.3.4 Arsenic175.3.5 Cadmium175.3.6 Calcium175.3.7 Chromium175.3.8 Cobalt175.3.10 Iron175.3.12 Magnesium175.3.13 Manganese175.3.14 Mercury175.3.15 Nickel18	1 3 5 or 8 8 0 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 6 7 8 8 9 0

5.3.16 Potassium	181
5.3.17 Sodium	181
5.3.18 Thallium	182
5.3.19 Tin	182
5.3.20 Vanadium	183
5.3.21 Zinc	184
5.4 Continuous Measurement of Metal Concentrations in a MSW Incinerate to Gas Clean-up	or Prior 185
5.4.1 Summary of data obtained	185
5.4.2 Aluminium	193
5.4.3 Antimony	193
5.4.4 Arsenic	194
5.4.5 Cadmium	194
5.4.6 Calcium	196
5.4.7 Chromium and Cobalt	197
5.4.8 Copper	198
5.4.9 Iron	200
5.4.10 Lead	201
5.4.11 Magnesium and Manganese	202
5.4.12 Mercury	203
5.4.13 Nickel	207
5.4.14 Potassium	207
5.4.15 Sodium	207
5.4.16 Thallium	208
5.4.17 Tin	209
5.4.18 Vanadium	210
5.4.19 Zinc	210
5.4.20 Summary	212
Chapter Six: Discussion	213
6.1.1 Aluminium	213
6.1.2 Antimony	213
6.1.3 Arsenic	214
6.1.4 Cadmium	214
6.1.5 Calcium	216
6.1.6 Chromium	216
6.1.7 Cobalt	216
6.1.8 Copper	217
6.1.9 Iron	217
6.1.10 Lead	218
6.1.11 Magnesium	2 19

6.1.12 Manganese	
6.1.13 Mercury	
6.1.14 Nickel	
6.1.15 Potassium	
6.1.16 Sodium	
6.1.17 Thallium	
6.1.18 Tin	
6.1.19 Vanadium	
6.1.20 Zinc	
6.2 Summary	
Chapter Seven: Conclusions and Recommen	ndations for
Future Work	
7.1 Conclusions	
7.2 Recommendations for Future Work	

References	228
Appendices	239
Appendix 1: Publications and Conference Presentations	239
Appendix 2: Analysis of MSW Incinerator Residues for Metals by ICP-OES	277
Appendix 3: Quantification of USN Transport Properties	280
Appendix 4: Quantification of Sampling System Transport Properties	282

List of Tables

Page:
Table 1: Municipal waste disposal routes 10
Table 2: Incinerator gaseous pollutant concentration limits under different legislation
Table 3: Estimated cost of waste disposal in the UK by different means
Table 4: The landfill tax levy
Table 5: Typical concentrations of different pollutants found in incinerator residues 18
Table 6: The composition of municipal solid waste as reported by different groups 28
Table 7: Difference in boiling point between metals and their compounds
Table 8. Variation in composition of fly ash particles with size 31
Table 9: Levels of pollutant found before and after APC device 33
Table 10: The mass and composition of particles collected before the APC device 33
Table 11: Typical APC residue metals analyses
Table 12: Limits for, and analyses of stack gases emitted from a UK incinerator35
Table 13: The metals chosen for investigation, and some information on their toxicityand industrial significance
Table 14: Possible interferences in mass spectrometry 42
Table 15: A comparison of different analytical techniques 49
Table 16: Comparison of different metals CEM techniques
Table 17: Agreement between modelled and measured enrichment of heavy metals in submicron particles from coal combustion
Table 18 USN operating conditions
Table 19: Generally suitable emission lines used initially for ICP detection, fromliquid analysis79
Table 20: Integration and phase times for OES detection
Table 21: ICP operating conditions 87
Table 22 : Emission lines used for early flue gas monitoring 89
Table 23: Fuel oil characteristics for the laboratory furnace
Table 24: burner characteristics for the laboratory furnace 94
Table 25: Furnace parameters (measured after furnace had been run for 2 hours) 94
Table 26: Laboratory furnace flue gas concentrations
Table 27: Mass-balance characteristics of the laboratory furnace
Table 28: Metal spikes added to furnace during experimental run
Table 29: A comparison of mercury additions to the test furnace with calculated mercury emissions from the furnace
Table 30: Metals and metal compounds added to the laboratory furnace to assess volatility 103

Table 31: Reactants added to the laboratory furnace to assess burning-bed volatilisation reactions 104
Table 32: ICP operating parameters for solids analysis 109
Table 33: ICP operating parameters for flue gas monitoring
Table 34: Operating conditions for the USN
Table 35: Operating conditions for the USN
Table 36: ICP operating parameters 113
Table 37: Input parameters for thermodynamic calculation of "typical municipal waste"
Table 38: The input parameters selected for sensitivity studies, and the ranges examined 124
Table 39: Predicted distribution of elements among major species: percentage of totalamount at different temperatures, and key species126
Table 40: Predicted distribution of elements among major species: percentage of totalamount at different temperatures, allowing enhanced slag dissolution
Table 41: Variable sensitivity study:effect of changing chlorine and sodiumconcentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C134
Table 42:Variable sensitivity study:effect of changing sulphur and waterconcentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C139
Table 43:Variable sensitivity study:effect of changing oxygen, and waterconcentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C143
Table 44: The composition of "specific waste items" used in thermodynamic modelling
Table 45: The major component composition of flue gas, predicted by thermodynamicequilibrium calculation of "typical municipal waste" combustion
Table 46:The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of an alkaline battery in complete isolation from any other waste
Table 47: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of anickel-cadmium battery in complete isolation from any other waste
Table 48:The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a zinc-carbon battery in complete isolation from any other waste
Table 49:The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of mixed CRT glass in complete isolation from any other waste
Table 50: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of an alkaline battery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion
Table 51: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a nickel-cadmium battery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion 156
Table 52:The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a zinc-carbon battery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion
Table 53: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of CRTglass cullet in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion

Table 54: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a PVC window profile in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion 159 Table 55: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion from tin-lead solder in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)...... 160
 Table 56:
 Summary of results obtained for metal volatilisation studies
 162
 Reactants added to the laboratory furnace to assess burning-bed Table 57: volatilisation reactions 164 Table 58: Comparison of average results for the analysis of a number of samples of incinerator residues for metal content in-house and by an independent laboratory ... 167 Table 59: Estimated detection limits, typical element concentrations and experimental Table 60: Estimated detection limits, typical element concentrations and experimental
 Table 61: Comparison of concentrations of metals found by continuous monitoring of
 un-cleaned flue gas with analysis of comparable solids (in-house and literature values),

List of Figures

Page:
Figure 1: The layout of a typical MS w incineration plant
Figure 2: The composition of municipal waste by material
Figure 3: The elemental composition of municipal waste
Figure 4: The layout of a typical incineration plant
Figure 5: Toxic equivalences for different dioxins and furans
Figure 6: The hydrogen spectrum
Figure 7: Continuous, emission and absorption spectra
Figure 8: The ICP torch
Figure 9: The Sub-Models Involved in the Aerosol Dynamic Modelling of a Hazardous Waste Incinerator
Figure 10: The components of a combined thermodynamic and mass transfer model of MSW incineration
Figure 11: Kinetic modelling of the oxidation of mercury
Figure 12: Photograph of CEML system during transport from Buxton research site.70
Figure 13: Schematic diagram showing CEML configuration
Figure 14: SPECTRO CIROS ICP-OES system used in the CEML
Figure 15: Schematic diagram and photograph of a plasma
Figure 16 - Photograph of heated sampling line at laboratory and sampling end 74
Figure 17: The adapted BCURA sampling train
Figure 18: The sub-sampling system at the laboratory end of the transfer line
Figure 19: Emission spectrum in the region of the Cd II 226.502 nm wavelength 80
Figure 20: Calibration curve for cadmium on the Cd II 214.438 nm wavelength 81
Figure 21: Calibration curve for copper
Figure 22: Calibration curve for thallium
Figure 23: Chart showing effect of sample gas flow on plasma temperature
Figure 24: Chart showing effect of nebuliser flow on plasma temperature
Figure 25: Chart showing auxiliary flow rate against plasma temperature
Figure 26: Chart showing effect of coolant flow on plasma temperature
Figure 27: chart showing the effect of RF power on plasma temperature
Figure 28: The emission spectra for various elements near the lead I 405.785 nm line
Timore 20: The effect of carbon dioxide on the consitivity of the Dh I 105 785 emission
line
Figure 30: The emission spectra for various elements near the mercury I 253.652 nm line

Figure 31: The effect of carbon dioxide on the sensitivity of the Hg I 253.652 nm emission line
Figure 32: The test furnace and flue
Figure 33: Chart showing the stability of the system under various conditions95
Figure 34: Aluminium calibration curves in air and flue gas, measured on the Al I 396.152nm wavelength
Figure 35: Manganese calibration curves in air and flue gas, measured on two wavelengths
Figure 36: The Calibration Curve for Mercury Measured at the 253.653 nm Emission Line
Figure 37: The Emission Profile for Mercury during the Metal Spiking Experiment.
Figure 38: A comparison of mercury additions to the test furnace with calculated mercury emissions from the furnace
Figure 39: CEML arrival at the MSWI prior to installation of steps 105
Figure 40: Schematic diagram of the incinerator plant, showing the sampling locations 106
Figure 41: The path of the heated sample line, from the plant duct to the CEML 110
Figure 42: The heated sample line and probe, connected to the flue gas duct sampling point
Figure 43: Principal gaseous compounds from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures
Figure 44: Principal slag components from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures
Figure 45: Principal pure solid species from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures
Figure 46: Predicted major gaseous products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration
Figure 47: Predicted minor gaseous products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration
Figure 48: Predicted fused salt products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration
Figure 49: Predicted solid products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration
Figure 50: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of chlorine content
Figure 51: Minor gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total chlorine content
Figure 52: Slag components from MSW combustion with a range of total chlorine content
Figure 53: Solid compounds from MSW combustion with a range of chlorine content 136

Figure 54: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content
Figure 55: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content
Figure 56: Major oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content
Figure 57: Major solid species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content
Figure 58: Gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations
Figure 59: Oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations
Figure 60: Pure solid components from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations
Figure 61: Major gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations
Figure 62: Minor gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations
Figure 63: Major oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations
Figure 64: Minor oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations
Figure 65: Pure solid components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations
Figure 66: The emissions of copper from a laboratory furnace spiked with copper (I) and copper (II) chloride, as measured on the Cu I 324.754 nm emission wavelength 163
Figure 67: The release of tin in the furnace exhaust following various spiking experiments
Figure 68: Aluminium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 213.856 nm line
Figure 69: Antimony concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 206.833 nm line
Figure 70: Arsenic concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 189.042 nm line
Figure 71: Cadmium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 214.438 nm line
Figure 72: Cadmium concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 226.503 nm line
Figure 73: Calcium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 393.366 nm line
Figure 74: Calcium concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 422.673 nm line

Figure 75: Chromium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 283.563 nm line
Figure 76: Cobalt concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 238.892 nm line
Figure 77: Copper concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 324.754 nm line
Figure 78: Iron concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 259.940 nm line
Figure 79: Lead concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 261.418 nm emission line
Figure 80: Lead concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 405.778 nm emission Line
Figure 81: Magnesium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 285.213 nm line
Figure 82: Manganese concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 257.610 nm line
Figure 83: Mercury concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 253.652 nm line
Figure 84: Mercury concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 253.652 nm line
Figure 85: Nickel concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 341.476 nm line
Figure 86: Potassium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 766.490 nm line
Figure 87: Sodium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 589.592 nm line
Figure 88: Thallium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 190.864 nm line
Figure 89: Tin concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 242.949 nm line
Figure 90: Tin concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 303.412 nm line
Figure 91: Vanadium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 309.311 nm line
Figure 92: Zinc concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 213 nm line
Figure 93: Results obtained for the whole week analytical measurements: Concentration of lead measured on the 405 nm emission line
Figure 94: Results obtained for the whole week analytical measurements: Concentration of sodium on the Na 589.592 nm emission line
Figure 95: Comparison of sodium and potassium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas from municipal waste incineration

Figure 96: Relative emissions of potassium and lead normalised to the sodium emission profile
Figure 97: Aluminium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 396.152nm wavelength
Figure 98: Antimony concentrations for a 4.5 hour period on 20/07/04 as measured on the 206.833nm wavelength
Figure 99: Cadmium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 226.503nm wavelength
Figure 100: Emissions at the Cd 228.502nm wavelength during calibration, high cadmium emission, and normal cadmium emission in flue gas
Figure 101: Calcium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 422.673nm wavelength
Figure 102: Cobalt and chromium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 237.862nm and 283.563nm wavelengths respectively 198
Figure 103: Copper concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 324.754nm wavelength
Figure 104: The relative emissions of lead and copper, normalised with respect to sodium
Figure 105: The relative emissions of sodium and copper, normalised with respect to lead
Figure 106: The relative emissions of sodium and lead, normalised with respect to copper
Figure 107: Iron concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 259.941nm wavelength
Figure 108: Lead concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 405.778 nm wavelength
Figure 109: Comparison of sodium and lead concentrations for a 4.5 hour period, showing incomplete correlation
Figure 110: Mercury concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period on Tuesday, as measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength
Figure 111: Mercury concentrations in the un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period on Monday, measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength
Figure 112: Mercury concentrations for a 6 hour period on Wednesday, as measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength
Figure 113: Emissions at the Hg 253.653 nm wavelength during calibration, high mercury emission, and normal mercury emission in flue gas
Figure 114: Emissions at the 194.236nm wavelength during calibration, high cadmium emission, and normal cadmium emission in flue gas
Figure 115: Potassium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 766.491 nm wavelength
Figure 116: Sodium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, measured on the 589.592 nm wavelength

Figure 117: Thallium concentrations for a 4 hour period on 20/07/04 as measured on the 276.787nm wavelength
Figure 118: Tin concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 303.412 nm wavelength
Figure 119: Zinc concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 213.856 nm line
Figure 120: Comparison of sodium and zinc concentrations for a 4.5 hour period 211

List of Abbreviations

AAS	Atomic Absorbtion Spectrometry
APC	Air Pollution Control
CCD	Charge Coupled Device
CEM	Continuous Emissions Monitoring
CEML	Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CPS	Counts Per Second
DEFRA	Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (UK)
DL	Detection Limit. Also referred to as LOD (limit of detection)
EA	Environment Agency (UK)
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency (US regulatory body)
ESP	Electro-Static Precipitator
EU	European Union
GDE	General Dynamic Equation
GF	Graphite Furnace
ICP	Inductively Coupled Plasma
ID	Induced Draft
IPC	Integrated Pollution Control
Isokinetic	To remove a sub-sample from a fluid flow, at the same velocity as the
	bulk velocity of flow, thus obtaining a representative sample of gas and
	particulates
LIBS	Laser Induced Breakdown Spectroscopy
LOD	Limit of Detection (also referred to as DL – detection limit)
LOGS	Laser Opto-Galvanic Spectroscopy
MS	Mass Spectrometry
MSW	Municipal Solid Waste
NFFO	Non Fossil Fuel Obligation
OES	Optical Emission Spectrometry
PAHs	Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons
PCBs	PolyChlorinated Biphenyls
PCDDs	Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins
PCDFs	Polychlorinated dibenzofurans
PICs	Products of incomplete combustion
PMT	Photo-multiplier Tube
PPM	Parts Per Million
PVC	Poly Vinyl Chloride (a common plastic containing chlorine)
RSD	Relative Standard Deviation
SD	Standard Deviation
TLV	Threshold Limit Value (Standard for Toxin Maximum Exposure)
USN	Ultra-Sonic Nebuliser
XRF	X-Ray Fluorescence

Chapter One:

Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Municipal Solid Waste Incineration

Around 250 million tonnes of controlled (Household, Commercial and Industrial) waste are produced in the UK every year (Williams, 1998), and the difficult question of how best to deal with this unwanted material is one which must be addressed. Historically, the main disposal route for waste has been landfill, but it has been recognised that this disposal route is not sustainable, due to the lack of availability of space, not to mention scarcity of new resources. Difficult, subjective and possibly publicly unpopular decisions must be made, in order to reduce waste production, and optimise its disposal.

The current fundamental strategy adopted throughout the EU to handle this issue is the hierarchy of waste management. This strategy seeks to deal with waste in the best manner, with the order of preference being reduction, re-use, recovery or disposal (Williams, 1998): The best way to deal with waste is to minimise its production, through improved, higher efficiency industrial manufacturing processes. Fewer byproducts (or less toxic by-products) will lead to financial as well as environmental benefit. However, if waste must be generated, where possible, it should be put to good use. For example, bottles may be re-filled and tyres may be re-treaded. If waste cannot be economically re-used, it should be exploited for its material value, through recycling, composting or incineration with energy recovery. Finally, as a last resort, waste that cannot be dealt with in one of the previous manners should be disposed of in the most environmentally friendly way practicable, with hazardous materials being Incineration (without energy recovery), or landfill constitute rendered harmless. ultimate waste disposal routes. In the UK, no municipal solid waste (MSW) is now incinerated without energy recovery (DEFRA, 2005a).

In this context, about 9% of UK controlled waste is incinerated, at one of 12 Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) incinerators (DEFRA, 2005a, Environment Agency, 2005). The incineration process reduces the residual amount of waste (as ash) to about 10% of original volume, and 30% of original mass. Energy can be recovered from incinerated material, through electricity generation, or district heating schemes. This processing of the waste therefore has benefits in minimising the amount of waste material remaining, and gaining some energy value from the waste material. Nevertheless, the process is publicly unpopular, due to concerns over pollution, both from the solid residues which remain, and particularly over atmospheric pollution arising from the process, and thus incineration is often seen as an environmentally unacceptable form of waste management (Kirby, 2001).

Much of the public opposition appears to be based on the historic reality of incinerators, which were poorly controlled and hence highly polluting. There were significant atmospheric emissions of particulates, sulphur dioxide, hydrogen chloride, heavy metals and partial combustion products, including dioxins. As such, in the past incinerators have had a negative impact both on the environment and human health.

However, as environmental awareness and regulatory burden grew, pre-release cleanup of gas streams became an integral part of the incineration process. Much has been learnt about the combustion process, formation of pollutants and pollutant removal, and there have been significant technological improvements to the process. Initially, water sprays, cyclones and electrostatic precipitators were used to remove particulate matter (Greenberg et al., 1978), though these have now been superseded by complex scrubbers and bag filters, which remove many pollutants, notably particulates, acidic and corrosive gases, heavy metals, and organic products of incomplete combustion (Hester and Harrison, 1994). Thus MSW incineration is now a highly sophisticated and relatively "clean" waste processing system (Figure 1).



Figure 1: The layout of a typical MSW incineration plant

However, though the MSW incineration process has improved substantially over recent years, the process is still not perfect. Two types of solid waste still arise from incineration; bottom ash, which is removed from the end of the furnace bed, and Air Pollution Control (APC) residues which arise from flue gas clean-up. Liquid wastes may arise from flue gas cleaning (wet scrubbers), and there are gaseous emissions to the atmosphere. Such products of incineration must be taken into account when considering the relative merits of this waste treatment option (Williams, 1990). Legislative restrictions on atmospheric pollutant emission from incineration are rigorous, and solid residues are also tightly controlled. The EC waste incineration directive [2000/76/EC], adopted by England and Wales, and replacing earlier legislation [89/369/EC and 89/429/EC], limits the concentrations of certain species in products from incineration (European Community Legislation, 2000a, European Union, 2005).

Thus it is seen that although incineration is not perfect waste management technology, it can have its part to play in a wider waste management strategy, if carefully controlled. In terms of current UK policy, it is not a question of whether or not to use incineration for waste management, but how to optimise and increase its use, as it is seen as one of the better waste management techniques for waste which cannot be recycled (DEFRA, 2000, DEFRA, 2005a, DEFRA, 2005b). In order that incineration is therefore safe, and hopefully publicly acceptable, it must be ensured that emissions

limits are consistently met, and further research must be conducted, in a continual effort towards optimising the waste incineration process.

1.1.2 Pollutants from MSW Incineration

Although the legislation tightly limits air emissions from incineration, it is pollutants in the stack gas (the majority of which is carbon dioxide and water) which generally cause the most public concern (Williams, 2005). Usually, bottom ash is land-filled, as are APC residues (though its composition means that it must be disposed of as hazardous waste, due to the heavy metal and trace organic contaminants). Whereas these solid residues may be reliably localised and immobilised (for many years at least), airborne contamination is of greater concern, as their distribution cannot be controlled once the stack gases leave the chimney.

These three waste streams are the products of incineration in which pollutants can found. Most pollutants are toxins which may have a detrimental effect on human health, while others have an adverse effect on other parts of the biosphere. Many of the heavy metals, as well as organic pollutants are toxic to humans, and many other species besides.

Most pollutants are found to some degree in bottom and fly ash, clean-up residues, and emitted gas, with their partitioning depending on the physical properties of the material concerned. For metals, their volatility is very important (Vogg et al., 1986, Abanades et al., 2001). It has been shown that as reactor temperature increases, concentrations of volatile metals left in bottom ash decrease, implying that they must be lost to APC residue or atmosphere (Zhang et al., 2001a). It is desirable to concentrate toxic material into the APC residue, which is already a hazardous substance so that bottom ash toxicity is minimised, so long as atmospheric emissions of trace pollutants remain negligible.

Organic pollutants arising from incineration have two likely sources; either they were present in the incinerator feed and were not destroyed, or they were formed from products of incomplete combustion (PICs) during the incineration process. Organic pollutants are typically highly stable species, with long half-lives in the environment. Examples include Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs), PolyChlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs). These families of organic compounds encompass a large number of specific molecules, each of which has different toxicities.

While it may be possible to remove organic pollutants from the gas stream, a more preferable approach is to prevent their re-formation, through careful control of incinerator conditions. Following extensive research, it is known that burner and flue temperature, gas composition, redox environment and the presence of species, which may catalyse reactions (i.e. particulates) are all factors known to influence organic pollutant production, and incinerator design and operation specifications are designed to ensure (as far as possible) complete burn-out of organic pollutants (Williams, 1998, European Community Legislation, 2000a). Nevertheless, some production of organic pollutants is unavoidable, and the gas clean-up, which usually includes activated carbon injection to absorb organic pollutants, ensures that the stack gas concentrations are acceptable. The main inorganic pollutants of concern are metals and metalloids, notably heavy metals such as cadmium, lead, and mercury. Volatile metal species tend to be found largely as small (<10 μ m) particulates (PM₁₀) in the stack gas, though these are largely removed by the air pollution control devices. Less volatile metals are found in the bottom ash. Unlike organic pollutants, metals which are present in the incinerator feed must ultimately be present in the incinerator output, either in gaseous emissions or solid residue, as elementally they cannot be destroyed. Therefore, the aim in control of these components must be subtly different from those for organic pollutants. If the metals cannot be removed from the feed (often the most desirable solution), their effect in the incinerator output must be minimised. Presence as particulates in emitted flue gas is seen as highly undesirable, as their distribution cannot then be controlled, and such small particles can become trapped in the lungs, where the physiological effects of toxic metal compounds tends to be particularly significant.

1.1.3 The Behaviour of Metals in MSW Incineration

Ever since metal partitioning in an incinerator was investigated in detail, there has been a great deal of interest in how metals behave in incineration conditions (Brunner and Monch, 1986, Linak and Wendt, 1993). Nevertheless, information on the partitioning of different metals between different residues, and the processes causing transportation, is limited, and so precise control of metal distribution is not really practical: indeed data on metals in incineration is extremely limited (Lockwood and Yousif, 2000, Morf et al., 2000, Linak and Wendt, 1993). Analysis is made more complex by the variability and lack of homogeneity of the residues, which can make sampling errors highly significant (Reimann, 1989). The data on gaseous emissions is even more limited, with traditional analysis techniques only allowing average values to be obtained, and with legislative drivers only requiring the measurement of specific metals, and at relatively infrequent intervals. New data on the presence of volatile toxic metals in incineration, their behaviour, and their variation with time would be highly useful for an improved understanding of the processes involved, which should lead to improved incinerator operation.

Nevertheless, key variables have been identified which are important in determining metal partitioning:

- The nature of the incoming waste its physical and chemical nature.
- The physical and chemical properties of the metal of interest
- The physical and chemical environment in the furnace.
- The physical and chemical properties of the flue gas treatment system.

Inert (non-combustible, non-volatile) solids remain on the grate, and exit the incinerator in the bottom or grate ash. For most metals, we may think of this as the "default", unless some active process occurs to cause its removal from the burning bed. If the metal (in any chemical form) is to leave the burning bed other than in the bottom ash, it must be via the raw flue gases. An active transport process must occur to transport the metal with the flue gases, and two possible mechanisms exist. For volatile metals, the heating of the metal in the furnace may cause it to **volatilise**, and the vapour will be transported through the incinerator along with other gaseous combustion products. Alternatively, for non-volatile metals, small solid particulates containing the metal may be **entrained** in the gas stream (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Belevi and Moench, 2000a). Thus volatilisation and entrainment are the two most

important processes in metal transport in incinerators, and anything which affects these processes is therefore of interest.

Mathematical modelling techniques have been used to predict where the metals entering the incinerator leave the incinerator, either in the bottom ash, APC residue, or flue gas, and to try to understand the transport phenomena involved. Having seen how important metals are, in terms of the incineration process and its environmental impact, it should be clear why an improved theoretical understanding of how metals behave in such systems is so important. Following initial experimental investigations of metal partitioning, many studies have attempted to model the behaviour of metals in incinerators and other combustion systems, with varying degrees of success, and using different modelling techniques (Brunner and Monch, 1986, Linak and Wendt, 1993, Barton et al., 1990, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000).

In thermodynamic equilibrium modelling, it is assumed that all the components in the fuel are exposed to the conditions found in the combustion system, and reach full thermodynamic equilibrium with one another, yielding solid, liquid, and vapour products (Delay et al., 2001, Wu and Biswas, 1993). Both pure species and mixtures (slags and melts) may be obtained. The volatility of different products determines which species leaves the furnace as a vapour (which is captured in the APC device, or emitted with stack gas), or are retained in the solid (bottom ash). These studies not only give indications of the species which are important in metal transport, but can also indicate which system variables (e.g. plant temperature, chlorine concentration in waste) may have a significant effect on metal distribution (Wu et al., 1994). However, if models are solely thermodynamic in nature, they cannot account for entrainment, which is also important in metal transport.

Although the previous work on thermodynamic prediction of metal partitioning is generally excellent, it also demonstrates well the difficulties generally encountered with the technique. Firstly, there is an incomplete availability of data on the thermodynamics of all the reactions which may be significant. The situation has improved, and there are now a number of very comprehensive databases of thermodynamic information that may be used by modelling packages. Secondly, a more fundamental issue is whether it is reasonable to assume a global thermodynamic equilibrium for a combustion system, where waste input and combustion parameters change substantially over time, and may vary significantly within the incinerator, at a given time.

Ideally, the aim of modelling metal behaviour in a combustion system would be to produce a fully descriptive kinetic model, of how and why any metal behaves the way it does in the system. However, the input data requirements (in terms of the waste input, and the combustion process), would be extremely significant, and any results would be highly specific to a particular plant working under specific conditions, and such an objective is not realistic at this time. A major problem of increasing model complexity is the data availability, especially if it is to account for variation in a process as inhomogeneous as MSW incineration. Information on the waste feed, or the nature of the combustion on the burning bed, is simply not known to the required accuracy. Even if it were, such values would be subject to change (with combustion conditions) to a degree where the modelled results would vary unacceptably, given the range of conditions which may normally be encountered. Thus the need for improved modelling techniques is always balanced by the need for better information on the incineration process on which the model can be founded.

The verification of the accuracy of computed models can also be a problem. This is especially true for MSW incineration, where the input waste is particularly poorly characterised. In contrast, models for coal or hazardous waste incineration, where the input composition is better known, have been more verifiable (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Delay et al., 2001). For a waste stream as diverse and inhomogeneous as municipal waste, it is doubtful whether any model could ever be fully quantitative and fully predictive of residue compositions. Nevertheless, the models which are available allow us to gain an improved understanding of how physical and chemical parameters determine metal partitioning, and investigate theoretically how changing processes can change metal behaviour.

Thus it is seen that although considerable efforts have already been made to model behaviour in combustion systems, including MSW incineration, there is also room for substantial improvement, in order to improve our overall understanding of the fundamental principles involved. However, there are inherent limitations to the viability of computational modelling of such complex "real systems", and such models must always be supported by comprehensive experimental data.

1.1.4 Measurement of Metallic Pollutants in MSW Incineration

Emissions monitoring is conducted for three main reasons; to ensure that legislative requirements are being met, to optimise process to minimise emissions, and to demonstrate to the public that a process is being run in an environmentally responsible manner possible (Scott, 1995, Meyer, 1995). Having established that the products from a process such as incineration require measurement, appropriate analytical techniques must be developed, as well as safe limits being set.

As the fate of metals in incineration is of technical and environmental importance, there is a need to identify the presence and partitioning characteristics of metallic species found in different incineration products. It is therefore essential to have adequate analytical techniques, for the relevant metals, in bottom ash and APC residue, any process water produced, and the emitted flue gas, to determine which metals are present, and at what concentration. It is also desirable to know how concentrations vary with time, and what degree of homogeneity is observed in the samples taken.

As with any other, the field of environmental analytical chemistry is constantly developing. As analytical and electronic technology improves, detection limits improve, analysis times are reduced, instrument cost and size are reduced, and resolution is improved. However, as well as these continual improvements, a stepchange in analytical requirements is being observed. Historically, samples would be collected of a material of interest, such as an ash, soil, or process water, and would be returned to the laboratory for analysis. As technology has improved, environmental awareness grown, and legislative requirements become more rigorous, there has been a move towards the requirement for **Continuous**, **On-line**, **automated analysis** of process products.

Continuous monitoring is preferable, in that it allows real-time data acquisition (which may be linked to feedback control systems). Such data can be directly related to current process conditions, and specific problems or optimisations can be identified.

Thus it can immediately be seen if there is a problem in a process, and as such if emissions are above set limits. In this case, corrective action can immediately be taken, provided that results are available rapidly enough. This is in contrast to traditional discrete sampling, where the results may take days or weeks to arrive, and when they do, they are time-averaged for the length of the monitoring period (as determined by the size of the sample collected). If the emissions are excessive or the product unsatisfactory, it is too late to alter the process, and modifications or improvement can only be made retrospectively. However, the advantages of on-line monitoring are accompanied by increased equipment complexity and cost, if indeed such equipment is available.

It is not currently possible to continuously monitor the vast number of possible organic and inorganic emissions from incinerator stacks, and so periodically, discrete samples are analysed for dioxin and metal content. O_2 , CO, NO_X, SO₂, HF, and HCl are monitored continuously, along with incinerator temperature, to ensure thorough and clean combustion, and thus legislative compliance.

Although continuous monitoring of metals and metalloids in incinerator flue gas is not yet required, it is to be expected that such monitoring will one day become mandatory, with current EC legislation indicating that the introduction of such measurement techniques is expected when the technology becomes available. This legislation is next due for review in 2008 (European Community Legislation, 2000a). There is therefore currently significant research interest in new continuous emissions monitoring technologies for metals.

If metal emissions in incinerator residues were also to be measured continuously, these would provide extra information for the regulators, and also secondary information on plant operation, which would allow process optimisation. Sampling after the APC device would indicate stack emissions, and pre-APC device measurement would give measurements which were indicative of the composition of APC residues. There would seem to be little interest in continuous measurement of bottom ash composition, which is probably technically near-impossible, given its inhomogeneity, and difficulties associated with obtaining representative samples as a result (Reimann, 1989).

With modern analytical instrumentation, continuous monitoring of some sample streams may be quite straightforward, following relatively minor modifications to the sample introduction system for on-line analysis. As conventional discrete samples may require extensive preparation before analysis (particularly inhomogeneous solids), which is time consuming and hence costly, alternative sample introduction techniques, including continuous monitoring systems are desirable, if the capital costs can be met (Ward, 1995). A liquid sample can be pumped from the process to the analyser, and provided that extensive pre-treatment is not required, can be introduced as a standard liquid sample, with the instrument set to take multiple measurements (Spectro, 2005). Even homogeneous solids, such as steel samples, can be analysed in a completely automated manner (Kamphoff, 2004). Gaseous samples can be introduced continuously to a plasma, or indeed a plasma can be generated inside a duct carrying a gas. For relatively clean and stable gas streams, accurate, sensitive monitoring of metals in gases has already been achieved (Klinkenberg et al., 1997), but the application of continuous monitoring techniques to the relatively difficult matrix of flue gas is still in the developmental stage.

1.1.5 Summary

Thus it is seen that although a great deal is already known about the incineration of waste, and in particular the behaviour of metals, our understanding of the processes involved is still limited, particularly with respect to the effects of temporal changes in waste feed and combustion conditions on metal partitioning. The lack of temporally resolved data particularly limits further advances in knowledge, and both improved experimental data, and mathematical modelling techniques could help to advance the state-of-the-knowledge for these environmentally significant constituents of normal municipal solid waste.

1.2 Research Objectives

The overall objective of this research is to develop a comprehensive understanding of the behaviour and distribution of metals during MSW incineration, including an assessment of the importance and effect of temporal variations in waste composition and incineration conditions, through experimental measurement, and mathematical modelling. In order to achieve this, the following sub-objectives must be addressed:

- Review the current knowledge, as presented in the literature, relevant to this study. This will include information on municipal waste, its incineration (with particular reference to the behaviour of metals), the relative technical and toxicological importance of different metals, analytical techniques for these metals in combustion systems, and available techniques for predicting/modelling the behaviour of these metals.
- Develop tools for the measurement of metal concentrations in incinerator residues. In particular, develop techniques for the continuous, on-line monitoring of metal concentrations in flue gases.
- Develop improved theories of how metals behave during MSW incineration. In particular, there is a need to develop techniques which account for temporal variations in waste feed and combustion conditions.
- Compare predicted and experimental results, using experimental data obtained in the formation of the models, and in validating the theoretical answers obtained.
- Review and assess the theoretical and experimental data to obtained, to assess its agreement, and see how this contributes to knowledge of the behaviour of metals in municipal solid waste incineration.

The first objective, to review the literature relevant to this study, is the subject of the following chapter.

Chapter Two:

Literature Review

This chapter reviews existing literature relevant to this research. The problem presented by municipal waste is discussed, and the role of incineration in waste management is examined. Specific issues regarding the behaviour and effects of toxic metals in incineration are discussed in detail, and methods of analysis for these species are reviewed. The importance of continuous monitoring in incineration is identified, given that such processes change over time. Computational methods of rationalising the behaviour of metals in combustion systems are investigated. Through the review of existing work, key objectives for this research are identified.

2.1 Municipal Solid Waste and Incineration

2.1.1 The Problem of Waste

The management of waste, from its generation to its ultimate disposal, is a difficult and controversial practical and political problem. None of the available options are ideal when considering how do cope with the 250 million tonnes of controlled (Household, Commercial and Industrial) waste produced in the UK every year (Williams, 1998), and the question of how best to deal with this material is one which must be addressed (Hester and Harrison, 1994).

Traditionally, the main disposal route for waste in the UK has been landfill. In 1996, 90% of waste was landfilled. However, it has been recognised that this disposal route is not sustainable, and by 2000, the proportion had dropped to 78%. The availability of space, not to mention new resources, means that new methods of waste disposal, including reduction of production, must be found. Difficult, subjective and possibly publicly unpopular decisions must be made.

Despite this, the amount of waste being generated is not decreasing significantly. Between 2001 and 2004, the amount of municipal waste generated has remained approximately steady at about 29 million tonnes (DEFRA, 2005b). In this context, if the amount of material reaching landfill is to decrease, other waste management strategies must be found. Consequently, there has been a governmental drive to increase recycling and composting, and as a result, the proportion of municipal waste being recycled or composted has risen consistently in recent years as shown in Table 1 (DEFRA, 2005a, DEFRA, 2005b). Another alternative is the incineration of waste, which reduces its mass and volume, while providing energy from the heat generated by However, this option is publicly unpopular, due to concerns over the process. pollution, both from the solid residues which remain, and particularly over atmospheric pollution arising from the process (Kirby, 2001). Despite of this, about 9% of UK controlled waste was incinerated in 2003-4, and this proportion is set to increase under current government recommendations (DEFRA, 2005a, DEFRA, 2005b).

year	municipal waste arising (M tonnes)	proportion landfilled (%)	proportion recycled or composted (%)	proportion incinerated (with energy recovery) (%)
2001-2	28.9	78	14	8
2002-3	29.4	75	16	9
2003-4	29.1	72	19	9

Table 1: Municipal waste disposal routes (DEFRA, 2005a, DEFRA, 2005b)

In making decisions about how to handle waste, different environmental factors may compete with each other when considering the best waste management option for a particular waste stream. For example, Nickel-Cadmium batteries pose a significant environmental risk due to their cadmium content, and ideally none would be incinerated or land-filled, and in these terms a recycling rate of 100% is ideal. However, this must be balanced with increasing collection, transport and management costs for recycling, as the proportion recycled increases, with the collection system having a significant environmental impact itself (Rydh and Karlstrom, 2002). It is therefore not always easy to decide on the best overall waste management strategy.

2.1.2 The Composition of Municipal Waste

One of the first problems encountered in managing waste is identifying the composition of the waste, as this affects how it may best be handled. Due to the extremely heterogeneous nature of waste, characterising the material is extremely difficult, as it is almost impossible to be sure that the waste sampled is representative of the whole waste stream it comes from. Thus large studies are required to accurately analyse the composition of waste, either in terms of the components in the waste, or its elemental analysis (Reimann, 1989, Van Der Sloot et al., 1997, National Assembly for Wales, 2004, Morf and Brunner, 1998). Figure 2 and Figure 3 illustrate two different analyses of the composition of municipal waste, giving some indication of the typical material being handled.







Figure 3: The elemental composition of municipal waste (Belevi and Moench, 2000b)

The highly varied composition of waste makes its management especially difficult. The majority of the mass is relatively non-toxic and non-problematic (carbon, oxygen, aluminium, iron, silicon magnesium etc). However, within the waste there are also far more toxic species (e.g. lead, cadmium, mercury), and potentially pathogenic species. These may be distributed in a dilute form in large volumes of waste, or may be concentrated in specific items. All these factors make waste potentially hazardous, and mean that it must be managed appropriately, and the first step towards this is knowing as accurately as possible what the waste is comprised of.

2.1.3 Legislation Controlling Waste Management

There is a long history of legislative control of waste management in the UK, going back as far as the medieval times. The aim has always been to ensure safe, responsible management of waste (Hester and Harrison, 1994). Modern waste management legislation began with the **1972 Deposit of Poisonous Waste act**, and the **1974 Control of Pollution act**, which were in direct response to a number of cases of improper waste disposal. These regulations have largely been superseded by new acts and regulations pertaining to Waste Management. The European Union has been instrumental in establishing common legislation for the control of waste management for all EU members, and UK waste management legislation is largely part of this wider European strategy. UK legislation has been adopted to enforce such EU directives. For example, the Pollution 2002, is the implementation of the Waste Incineration Directive 2000/76/EC from the EU (DEFRA, 2002). Key historic and current UK waste management legislation is indicated below (Williams, 1990, European Union, 2005, DEFRA, 2005c):

The Environmental Protection Act 1990. Part I: Integrated Pollution Control and Air Pollution Control by Local Authorities.

The Environmental Protection Act 1990 Part II: Waste on Land.

The Environmental Protection (Prescribed Processes and Substances) Regulations 1991 (and subsequent amended regulations)

The Environment Act 1995

Pollution Prevention and Control Regulations 2000

(Including Pollution Prevention and Control (Waste Incineration Directive) (England and Wales) Direction 2002)

There are also many regulations controlling specific waste management techniques, or waste streams, for example regulations on the proper management of waste electrical and electronic equipment (European Community Legislation, 2002a), and on the control of municipal waste incinerators (European Community Legislation, 2000a).

Rather than attempt to describe every piece of waste management legislation in detail, the underlying principles of the legislation as a whole will be described. As such, the following section summarises important aspects of the legislation relating to waste management as the law as a whole now stands.

The Hierarchy of Waste Management

The current fundamental strategy adopted throughout the EU and beyond is the **hierarchy of waste management**. This strategy seeks to deal with waste in the best manner, with the order of preference being **reduction**, **re-use**, **recovery** or **disposal** (Williams, 1998):

The best way to deal with waste is to minimise its production, through improved, higher efficiency industrial manufacturing processes. Less by-products (or less toxic by-products) through improved process, will lead to financial as well as environmental benefit. Retailers and Consumers can participate in waste reduction, for example by reducing use of un-necessary packaging. In recent years, manufacturers have been able to reduce the amount of materials used, for example for packaging, through improved processing (e.g. the ability to create thinner metal sheet for food cans), so reducing waste production (Williams, 2005).

However, if waste must be generated, where possible, it should be put to good use. For example, bottles may be re-filled, tyres may be re-treaded, and redundant items may be transferred to another user. In doing so, care must be taken to ensure that the energy costs (e.g. of transportation and cleaning) do not outweigh the benefits of reuse. Therefore, if waste cannot be economically re-used, it should be exploited for its material value, through recycling, composting or energy recovery. For example, glass, ferrous, and non ferrous metals can be separated and recycled, garden waste can be composted, and combustible material can be incinerated to generate energy, through district or process heating, or electricity generation. However, there is a legal distinction between material recovery (e.g. composting and recycling) and incineration for energy recovery, with material recovery techniques being preferred (Coggins, 2003).

Finally, as a last resort, waste that cannot be dealt with in one of the previous manners should be disposed of in the most environmentally friendly way practicable, with hazardous materials being rendered harmless. Incineration (without energy recovery), or landfill constitute ultimate waste disposal routes. In the UK, no MSW is now incinerated without energy recovery (DEFRA, 2005a).

Definition and Quantification of Waste

One of the problems encountered when considering waste management options is the lack of good, comparable data on waste arisings, disposal routes, and composition. It can then be difficult to compare different waste management techniques due to different measures used to analyse the detrimental effects of those processes. Precise legal definitions of different wastes may affect how governments consider its management. Different authorities may interpret these definitions differently, and different countries tend to use different definitions. This all makes direct comparison of data extremely difficult, and as a result, EU legislation has sought to define waste better, and the EU has commissioned studies to ensure the better characterisation of waste arising (DEFRA, 2005a, Williams, 2005, O'Connell, 2002, European Community Legislation, 2000c).

Household, commercial and industrial wastes are classified as Controlled Wastes. Mine, quarry and agricultural wastes are uncontrolled. Controlled wastes include sewage sludge, and medical waste, which require special treatment or disposal. Certain wastes are classified as Special or Hazardous, if they are dangerous or difficult to keep, treat, or dispose of. They are defined as containing substances that are dangerous to life [or by implication to the environment] (Williams, 2005). The focus of this work is on municipal waste.

Responsibility for Waste Management

The aim of modern legislation has been to make the original producer of waste responsible for its management. The producer is obliged to ensure its safe management, from production to eventual disposal (Williams, 2005, European Community Legislation, 2000b, European Community Legislation, 2002a).

Waste Management Strategy and Environmental Impact Assessment

Two principles govern environmental considerations of waste management, Best Practicable Environmental Option (BPEO), and Best Available Techniques Not Entailing Excessive Cost (BATNEEC). These are determined for any proposed prescribed waste management operation by completion of an environmental impact assessment (EA). When gaining approval for a waste management technique, operators must show that the process meets the requirements of BPEO, and this will mean that emissions to air, water, or soil, must be at or below levels laid down in a number of legislative acts, and may be subject to further local restriction (Williams, 2005).

National, regional and local governments must have in place strategies for waste management. Strategies must be in agreement with the waste management hierarchy, and must address waste collection, recycling, and disposal. Individual waste treatment facilities must be viewed with respect to the overall plan, which should be in agreement with the principles of Integrated Pollution Control (IPC), which is now administered by the Environment Agency. As well as satisfying the Environment Agency requirements, waste management facilities must satisfy the demands of the Town and Country Planning Acts.

There is an inherent problem that most people see waste management as an undesirable process, whichever options are adopted. This leads to problems of the attitude of "Not In My Back Yard" (NIMBY), meaning that local authorities are under considerable pressure not to allow waste management facilities in their areas. As waste must be

dealt with somewhere, the "proximity principle" is applied, meaning that waste should be dealt with as close as possible to its origin. Local Authority waste management plans should assess the need for waste management, and as far as possible, seek to deal with waste within the area (Williams, 2005).

Waste Legislation Outside the EU

In many cases, developments in US Laws, Statutes and Regulations approximately parallel UK and European legislation. Early laws prohibited indiscriminate dumping of rubbish. Modern regulations began to appear in the 1970's, when the problems arising because of inappropriate waste disposal became apparent (Hester and Harrison, 1994). It is intended that further legislation will be introduced as required, to further regulate the industry and minimise environmental effects of waste management. Ultimately, it is the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), a federal government agency, determines environmental requirements for waste treatment and disposal facilities. However, state and local governments have responsibilities for administration of policy, and may elect to require standards higher than the national minimum.

Regulations outside the EU and US are many and varied, with waste management standards in less developed countries being far lower. In many cases, practices which were considered unacceptable more than 20 years ago in the UK are still commonplace in other parts of the world, particularly with respect to waste incineration. In this context, it is important to remember that internationally, vast improvements are still required to the way in which waste is managed (Russel and Vogel, 2003). Further technological and political effort is still required before the best strategies for waste management are applied and enforced internationally (Williams, 2005).

2.1.4 Incineration of Waste as Part of Waste Management

About 9% of UK controlled waste is incinerated (DEFRA, 2005a). The incineration process reduces the residual amount of waste (as ash) to about 10% of original volume, and 30% of original mass. This processing of the waste therefore has benefits in minimising the amount of waste material remaining, but the process is not perfect. Two types of solid waste arise from incineration; bottom ash, which is removed from the end of the furnace bed, and Air Pollution Control (APC) residues (including fly ash), which arise from flue gas clean-up. Liquid wastes may arise from flue gas cleaning (wet scrubbers), and there are gaseous emissions to the atmosphere. Such products of incineration must be taken into account when considering the relative merits of this waste treatment option (Williams, 1990).

Energy can be recovered from incinerated material, through electricity generation, or district heating schemes. In this context, waste has been seen as a renewable energy source, contributing to the electricity generation Non Fossil Fuel Obligation (NFFO). However, recent European court rulings have challenged this classification, making it likely that in the future, this premium will not be available for electricity generated by waste incineration (Coggins, 2003).

Despite the advantages outlined above, incineration is often seen as an undesirable and environmentally unacceptable form of waste management. Much of the opposition appears to be based on the historic reality of incinerators, which were poorly controlled and hence highly polluting. There were significant atmospheric emissions of both heavy metals and partial combustion products, including dioxins, and as such incinerators have had a negative impact both on the environment and human health. However, much is now known about the combustion process, formation of pollutants and pollutant removal, and significant technological improvements to the process mean that incineration plants now provide a highly sophisticated and relatively "clean" waste processing system (Figure 4).



Figure 4: The layout of a typical incineration plant

In addition, judicious use of incineration as part of a wider waste strategy, with careful pre-sorting of rubbish, may significantly improve its environmental acceptability. For example, targeted removal of particular waste streams, (e.g. Nickel-Cadmium batteries) could have significant effects on metal outputs from incineration (Rydh and Karlstrom, 2002, Vogg et al., 1986).

Thus it is seen that although incineration is not perfect waste management technology, it can have its part to play, and this is optimised by its careful use as part of a wider waste management strategy. In terms of current UK waste management strategy, it is not a question of whether or not to use incineration for waste management, but how to optimise its use, as it is seen as one of the better waste management techniques for waste which cannot be recycled (DEFRA, 2000). In order that incineration is therefore safe, and hopefully publicly acceptable, it must be ensured that emissions limits are consistently met, and further research must be conducted, in a continual effort towards optimising the waste incineration process.

2.1.5 Legislation Controlling Incineration in the UK

Legislative restrictions on atmospheric pollutant emission from incineration are rigorous (Table 2), and solid residues are also tightly controlled. Nevertheless incineration is still publicly unpopular, with atmospheric emissions (which are inherently widely distributed) causing the most concern. The EC waste incineration directive [2000/76/EC], adopted by England and Wales, and replacing earlier legislation [89/369/EC and 89/429/EC], limits the concentrations of certain species in products from incineration, within the context of the EU waste legislation framework (European Community Legislation, 2000a, European Union, 2005).

emission	units	EU	UK IPR 5/3		EU 2000/76/EC (all plant)
parameter		1989/369/EC			
		(new plant)			
particulate	mg m ⁻³	30	30	ſ	10 (daily average)
-	-			{	30 (100% of ½ hour averages)
	_			l	10 (97% of ¹ / ₂ hour averages)
organic	mg m ⁻³	20	20	ſ	20 (100% of ½ hour averages)
compounds				l	10 (97% of ½ hour averages)
CO	mg m ⁻³	100	100	ſ	50 (daily average)
				-	150 (95% of 10 min averages)
				L	100 (100% of ½ hour averages)
HCI	mg m ⁻³	50	30	ſ	10 (daily average)
				1	60 (100% of ½ hour averages)
				l	10 (97% of ½ hour averages)
SO _x as SO ₂	mg m ⁻³	300	300	ſ	50 (daily average)
				_ {	200 (100% of ½ hour averages)
				L	50 (97% of ½ hour averages)
NO _x as NO ₂	mg m ⁻³	-	350	٢	200 (daily average, new plant, and existing
					> 6t/hour with staged implementation)
				Ì	400 (100% of ½ hour averages)
	_			ļ	200 (97% of ½ hour averages)
HF	mg m ⁻³	2	2	ſ	1 (daily average)
				1	4 (100% of 1/2 hour averages)
				L	2 (97% of ¹ / ₂ hour averages)
heavy metals	:			ſ	Average values over the sample period (30
	_			L	minutes - 8 hours)
class I Hg	mg m ⁻³	0.2	0.1	ſ	0.05 (new plant)
				L	0.1 (existing plant until 2007)
Cd	mg m ⁻³	0.2	0.1	ſ	0.05 (new plant – sum of Cd +Tl)
				J	0.1 (existing plant until 2007 - sum of
					Cd+Tl)
class II				(sum of Class II and III metals, not including
As, Co, Se	$mg m^{-3}$	1	1		Se and Zn (now no longer regulated, also
Ni					including Sb, Mn and V.
					0.5 (new plant)
class III				1	1.0 (existing plant until 2007)
Ph Cr Cu	mg m ⁻³	5	1	F	
7n, CI, Cu	, mg m	5	•		
Zai					
			1	(0.1 (example such a sum the second second of
dioxins TEQ	ng m	-	$\frac{1}{(torget 0, 1)}$		0.1 (average value over the sample period of
			(larger 0.1)		
C		month	dan		as detailed
reierence		month	uay		as detaned
perioa		101 1.0- 110/	101 10- 110	,	1011 Do 110/ 02 dos
Reference		101 KPa, 11%	$\frac{101}{2}$ kra, 11%	0	101 kra, 11% 02, dry gas
conditions		O_2 , ary gas	O_2 , ary gas		

Table 2: Incinerator gaseous pollutant concentration limits under different legislation

A second piece of legislation which has had significant impact on the role of incineration in waste management is the landfill tax directive. This tax, on waste which is land-filled, has helped to redress a cost imbalance between landfill and other waste treatments such as incineration, which have traditionally been significantly more expensive (Table 3). This tax was introduced in 1996, and increases annually (Table 4), thus increasing the economic viability of incineration as a waste treatment option. The intention is to continue annual increases in the rate of this tax to a "medium to long term rate of £35 per tonne" (H M Revenue & Customs, 2005a).
Table 3:	Estimated cost of	f waste disposal i	in the UK by	y different means ((Williams,	2005)
					(

647
£4/
£31
$\pounds 19 \cos t + \pounds 18 \tan = \pounds 37^{(2)}$

⁽²⁾ after 1st April 2005

Table 4: 7	The landfill tax levy	(H M Revenue	& Customs,	2005a, H M	Revenue & Customs	, 2005b)
------------	-----------------------	--------------	------------	------------	------------------------------	----------

effective date	end date	tax cost per tonne	
01 10 96	31 03 99	£7	
01 04 99	31 03 00	£10	
01 04 00	31 03 01	£11	
01 04 01	31 03 02	£12	
01 04 02	31 03 03	£13	
01 04 03	31 03 04	£14	
010404	310305	£15	
010405	310306	£18	

Thus it is seen that the legislative framework in which incineration takes place is rigorous, and controls on the process are stringent. Nevertheless, incineration for waste management remains unpopular, due to perceptions of damage caused by incineration. The following sections will examine what pollutants are significant during incineration, and how their effect can be minimised.

2.1.6 Environmental Concerns Arising from Incinerators

Figure 4 is a schematic diagram of the incineration process, and from it can be seen all of the products (desirable and otherwise) which arise from the process. Using an input of waste alone, electricity is produced, along with bottom ash (which is relatively inert), air pollution control (APC) residue (collected by the bag filters and boiler, and significantly hazardous), and stack gas. Although the legislation tightly limits air emissions from incineration, it is pollutants in the stack gas (the majority of which is carbon dioxide and water) which generally cause the most public concern (Williams, 2005).

These are the products of incineration in which pollutants can be found. Typical heavy metal and dioxin concentrations in these residues are shown in Table 5. Many of the heavy metals, as well as organic pollutants are toxic to humans, and many other species besides. The physical and chemical form in which the pollutant leaves the incinerator is significant, as it affects its distribution in the environment, and thus the exposure route to susceptible targets. This is why airborne contamination is of such concern, as its distribution cannot be controlled, whereas solid residues may be more reliably localised and immobilised, for many years at least.

Table 5: Typical concentrations of different pollutants found in incinerator residues

species	concentration in bottom ash (mg Kg ⁻¹)	concentration in fly ash (mg Kg ⁻¹)	concentration in stack gas $(\mu g m^{-3})$
arsenic ¹	10 - 80	40 - 120	<50
cadmium ¹	0.5 - 10	50 - 1000	<10
lead ¹	350 - 5000	2500 - 12000	<50
mercury ¹	<1	1 - 30	<50
tin ¹	250	1700	-
PCDD/PCDF's Total	1-3 ng Kg ⁻¹	10 ng Kg ^{-l}	0.1 ng m ⁻³
I-TEO (see below) ²			-

1 - (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997).

2 - (Whiting, 2001).

Pollutant Distribution in Incineration Products

Many pollutants are found to some degree in bottom and fly ash, clean-up residues, and emitted gas. Their partitioning depends on the physical properties of the material concerned, and their environmental impact is affected by which product of incineration they are found in. For metals, their volatility is very important, with iron being found almost exclusively in bottom ash, whereas cadmium, which is far more volatile, is found more in fly ash [and possibly in emitted gas] (Vogg et al., 1986, Abanades et al., 2001). It has been shown that as reactor temperature increases, concentrations of volatile metals left in bottom ash decrease, implying that they must be lost to APC residue or atmosphere (Zhang et al., 2001a). It is desirable to concentrate as much as possible of the toxic material into the APC residue, which is already a hazardous substance, so that bottom ash toxicity is minimised, so long as atmospheric emissions of trace pollutants remain negligible. Nevertheless, the question remains as to what to do with the residues which arise from incineration, and the next section will consider this question. The following section will consider in detail the nature of the pollutants, and their effects, which mean that such considerations are required.

Incinerator Residue Disposal

Most bottom ash is land-filled usually after the recovery of ferrous metals by electromagnetic separators. Therefore, any pollutants remaining in the ash should not be readily leached, as this may cause contamination of waterways. Usually, bottom ash is sufficiently inert not to require additional processing. As well as disposal to landfill, processed bottom ash has also been used in the construction industry, as an aggregate, or constituent of building blocks (O'Connell, 2002).

APC residue is also land-filled, but unlike bottom ash, its composition means that it must be disposed of as hazardous waste (due to the heavy metal and trace organic contaminants), and pre-processing is required, in order to reduce the leaching of pollutants from the residue. Weathering, chemical treatment, or thermal treatment (vitrification) are most common. An unfortunate side-effect of the vitrification process is possible release of volatile metal species during the process. Also, processing may lead to worsened leaching characteristics for some metals (e.g. chromium), despite reducing overall leaching, due to the different chemical reactions which occur in the process (Kirk et al., 2002, Yoshiie et al., 2002, Evans and Williams, 2000, Park and Heo, 2002a, Park and Heo, 2002b).It is an unfortunate reality that as APC technology improves, the amount and toxicity of the residue tends to increase. It is possible that metal extraction for re-use may become viable, but this option does not seem to have received a great deal of attention as yet (O'Connell, 2002). However, as the pressure to increase environmental standards rises, and final disposal costs increase, it is to be anticipated that the pressure to recover metals from wastes will increase.

groups have investigated such technologies, with one claiming the ability to extract heavy metals from solution at the parts per million (ppm) levels in an environmentally and economically viable way, using reactive polymers (Tiravanti et al., 1996). Wet gas cleaning processes may lead to liquid residues, but the toxicity of liquid from wet scrubbers, and associated disposal problems has resulted in them being used very little in the UK, with dry or semi-dry clean-up being preferred (O'Connell, 2002, Williams, 2005).

Finally, the incineration process produces stack gas. This is composed primarily of carbon dioxide and water, with small amounts of hydrogen chloride and fluoride, sulphur dioxide, oxides of nitrogen, dust, carbon monoxide, organic products of incomplete combustion, and trace amounts of heavy metals, dioxins and furans. Although the concentration of pollutants in the stack gas is low, the volumes produced are large, and once the gases have passed through the APC system, the plant operator has no control over where these pollutants end up once they leave the stack. The only control possible is to ensure that the stack is tall enough to ensure that the gases will dilute with the air, and become distributed over a wide area, so that ground-level concentrations arising from the process are not harmful (Williams and Evans, 2001, European Community Legislation, 2000a). This is why, despite very low concentrations of pollutants, the effect of this incineration product must always be considered carefully, along with the effect of the solid products.

The next section will examine the nature of the pollutants encountered during incineration, why they are of environmental and toxicological concern, and how their effect can be minimised during waste incineration.

Organic Pollutants

Organic pollutants arising from incineration have two likely sources; either they were present in the incinerator feed and were not destroyed, or they were formed from products of incomplete combustion (PICs) during the incineration process. Organic pollutants are typically highly stable species, with long half-lives in the environment. Examples include polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls dibenzo-p-dioxins polychlorinated (PCDDs), and polychlorinated (PCBs). dibenzofurans (PCDFs). These families of organic compounds encompass a large number of specific molecules, each of which has different toxicities. Rather than quantify each one individually, toxic equivalence schemes (TE, TEQ) have been established, to allow easy comparison of total harmful organic compound output as shown in Figure 5 (Hester and Harrison, 1994, Van den Berg et al., 1998).

Equivalence factors for dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans For the determination of the total concentration (TE) of dioxins and furans, the mass concentrations of						
the following						
dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans shall be multiplied by the following equivalence factors	before					
summing:						
2,3,7,8 — Tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD)	1					
1,2,3,7,8 — Pentachlorodibenzodioxin (PcCDD)	0.5					
1,2,3,4,7,8 — Hexachlorodibenzodioxin (HxCDD)	0.1					
1,2,3,6,7,8 — Hexachlorodibenzodioxin (HxCDD)	0.1					
1,2,3,7,8,9 — Hexachlorodibenzodioxin (HxCDD)	0.1					
1,2,3,4,6,7,8 — Heptachlorodibenzodioxin (HpCDD)	0.01					
Octachlorodibenzodioxin (OCDD)	0.001					
2,3,7,8 — Tetrachlorodibenzofuran (TCDF)	0.1					
2,3,4,7,8 — Pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF)	0.5					
1,2,3,7,8 — Pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF)	0.05					
1,2,3,4,7,8 — Hexachlorodibenzofuran (HxCDF)	0.1					
1,2,3,6,7,8 — Hexachlorodibenzofuran (HxCDF)	0.1					
1,2,3,7,8,9 — Hexachlorodibenzofuran (HxCDF)	0.1					
2,3,4,6,7,8 — Hexachlorodibenzofuran (HxCDF)	0.1					
1,2,3,4,6,7,8 — Heptachlorodibenzofuran (HpCDF)	0.01					
1,2,3,4,7,8,9 — Heptachlorodibenzofuran (HpCDF)	0.01					
— Octachlorodibenzofuran (OCDF)	0.001					

Figure 5: Toxic equivalences for different dioxins and furans (European Community Legislation, 2000a)

In waste incineration, the concentration of such molecules in the waste feed is normally small. Consequently, concentrations in bottom ash are low, as organic pollutants tend to form in the energy recovery part of the incinerator, which is at optimal temperature for the reactions required (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997, Hester and Harrison, 1994), Unfortunately, the plant temperature regime required for efficient heat energy recovery, (i.e. a reduced rate of gas cooling) allow gases to remain in the "temperature formation window" for a longer time, and thus APC residue and stack gas are at risk from organic pollutants.

While it may be possible to remove organic pollutants from the gas stream, a more preferable approach is to prevent their re-formation, through careful control of incinerator conditions. Burner and flue temperature, gas composition, redox environment and the presence of species, which may catalyse reactions (i.e. particulates) are all factors known to influence organic pollutant production, and incinerator design and operation specifications are designed to ensure (as far as possible) complete burn-out of organic pollutants (Williams, 1998, European Community Legislation, 2000a). Nevertheless, some production of organic pollutants is unavoidable, and the gas clean-up, which usually includes activated carbon injection to absorb organic pollutants, ensures that the stack gas concentrations are acceptable Table 5). Performance is monitored with a combination of continuous process monitoring for CO (the simplest product of incomplete combustion) and general "organic content", and twice yearly more comprehensive testing for the most toxic organic pollutants from combustion, dioxins and furans (Williams, 2005, European Community Legislation, 2000a).

Inorganic Pollutants

The main inorganic pollutants of concern are metals and metalloids, notably heavy metals such as cadmium, lead, and mercury. Whilst the form (i.e. oxidation state and

compound) of the pollutant may well be significant, limits are set for total elemental output, with the EU and US having slightly differing specified metal lists, and maximum permissible concentrations (Hester and Harrison, 1994, European Community Legislation, 2000c).

Volatile metal species tend to be found largely as small ($<10\mu$ m) particulates (PM₁₀) in the stack gas, though these are largely removed by the air pollution control devices (Table 5). Less volatile metals are found in the bottom ash. Unlike organic pollutants, metals which are present in the incinerator feed must ultimately be present in the incinerator output, either in gaseous emissions or solid residue, as elementally they cannot be destroyed (though their speciation may change). Therefore, the aim in control of these components must be subtly different from those for organic pollutants. If the metals cannot be removed from the feed (often the most desirable solution), their effect in the incinerator output must be minimised. Presence as particulates in flue gas is seen as highly undesirable, as their distribution cannot then be controlled, and such small particles can become trapped in the lungs, where the physiological effects of toxic metal compounds tends to be particularly significant.

Therefore, it is the more volatile metals, such as lead, cadmium and mercury, which cause the most concern. Nevertheless, the concentration of these metals in the APC residue is not a particular problem, provided that atmospheric emissions are minimised (Williams, 2005). Although it would also be desirable from an environmental point of view to convert metal containing species into the least toxic compound possible, legislative limits do not encourage this practice as they merely set maximum concentrations for a given metal, in a given residue, although non-leachable forms are favoured. (Williams, 2005). However, ever since the first experimental investigations of metal partitioning in an incinerator, there has been a great deal of interest in how metals behave under these conditions (Brunner and Monch, 1986, Linak and Wendt, 1993).

Information on the partitioning of different metals between different residues, and the reactive processes causing transportation of these metals is limited (Lockwood and Yousif, 2000, Morf et al., 2000, Linak and Wendt, 1993). Analysis is made more complex by the variability and lack of homogeneity of the residues, which can make sampling errors highly significant (Reimann, 1989). The data on gaseous emissions is even more limited, with traditional analysis techniques only allowing average values to be obtained, and with legislative drivers only requiring the measurement of specific metals, and at relatively infrequent intervals. New data on the presence of volatile toxic metals in incineration, their behaviour, and their variation with time would be highly useful for an improved understanding of the processes involved, which should lead to improved incinerator operation. A more detailed review of the information available on metallic pollutants will be made in section 2.2.

2.1.7 Technological Improvements to the Waste Incineration Process

Having established that emissions from incinerators are a justifiable cause for concern, the technological implementation of the incineration process can help to minimise the environmental effects. By employing efficient combustion, clean-up and monitoring technology, the negative impact of incineration can be minimised.

Combustion Chamber Technology

The exact design of the combustion chamber is important in determining how efficient and effective the combustion process is. To minimise pollution from incineration, it is essential that the waste is fully combusted, at high temperature. Therefore, EU legislation states that the gases from incineration must always be exposed to a temperature of 850 °C for 2 seconds (European Community Legislation, 2000a).

The exact design of the combustion chamber (grate type, geometry, air injection) will have an effect on the combustion efficiency, and associated pollution, but is not specified in the legislation. Thus a large number of combustion chamber designs exist, all of which function slightly differently (e.g. rocker grate, stocker grate, forward reciprocating grate, reverse reciprocating grate) (Williams, 2005). Modern computational methods, when applied to existing incineration plants, have suggested that relatively minor changes to the combustion chamber (e.g. its internal geometry) could have a substantial effect in improving combustion efficiency, as may changing the way in which waste is fed into the combustion chamber (Nasserzadeh et al., 1995, Hart, 2001). Such new information means that newly designed incinerators may be much better designed than previously.

Despite the wide variety of different deigns employed for the combustion chamber, most possess a variety of common features: a means of introducing waste to the combustion process, a means of transporting waste and incineration residues through the furnace (moving grate), refractory and high-temperature steel enclosure (usually with means of energy recovery by steam generation), injection of primary air below the grate, and injection of secondary air (to ensure complete combustion of organic components) above the grate. How these elements are incorporated in the design, and how they are operated during plant use, will have an effect on the combustion process, and the pollutants which arise from the process (Williams, 2005, Daniel et al., 1988), and although each design cannot be considered in detail here, the effect of these on combustion efficiency cannot be ignored.

Air Pollution Control Technology

Historically, flue gases from incinerators contained many different polluting materials at high concentrations, which were released to the atmosphere. However, as environmental awareness and regulatory burden grew, pre-release clean-up of gas streams became an integral part of the incineration process. Initially, water sprays, cyclones and electrostatic precipitators were used to remove particulate matter (Greenberg et al., 1978). As technology has progressed, these have been replaced in the UK with sophisticated scrubbers and bag filters, which remove many pollutants, notably particulates, acidic and corrosive gases, heavy metals, and organic products of incomplete combustion (Hester and Harrison, 1994). However, throughout the world, a variety of different devices, with different specifications, are still used (Russel and Vogel, 2003, Kefa et al., 2003).

Cyclones use centrifugal force to cause particulates caught in the gas stream to collect on the walls of a conical container. Dirty flue gas is pumped axially into the container, and follows a helical path down the cyclone. Particles collect on the cyclone walls, and drop down to a dust collector beneath. When the gas reaches the bottom of the cyclone, it forms a vortex, and flows back up the centre of the cyclone, and out of the top of the device. This allows the removal of larger particulates, down to about 15 μ m. This allows some clean-up of the gas, but alone does not provide sufficient particulate removal to meet current EU regulations (Williams, 2005, European Community Legislation, 2000a).

In an electrostatic precipitator (ESP), an electrostatic field is used to give particulates a negative charge. The particulates in the flue gases then collect on the positive electrode, which is periodically cleaned by physical means, the extracted dust being collected and disposed of. Between 97% - 99.5% of particulates can be removed by an efficient EP, and the contaminants need not be solid (i.e. may be liquid or tar) for effective removal. Removal of particles down to less than 1 µm is possible. This technology is used in many countries, but is not capable of reliably meeting current EU regulations, as ESP's are relatively inefficient at removing small particulates between 0.1 µm and 1.0 µm (Linak and Wendt, 1993, European Community Legislation, 2000a).

Large fabric filters (baghouse filters) are an essential part of gas clean-up, in order to meet current emissions limits (European Community Legislation, 2000a, Hester and Harrison, 1994). Very small particulates are trapped on fabric filters, which are periodically cleaned by pulsing air through them, counter to the normal flow of flue gas. Collected dust falls due to gravity, and is collected in a sealed container. As particulates build up, this tends to increase trapping efficacy, but will reduce flow through the filter.

In a wet scrubber, flue gases are passed counter-current to a spray or fine mist of absorbent liquid, such as a solution of lime or calcium hydroxide, and pollutants are removed by chemical reaction. Acidic flue gases, such as SO_2 , HCL, HF dissolve, and are removed from the flue gas. The resulting acidic liquid then removes soluble metal species. Removal efficiencies are high (>90%), but the system has drawbacks; the flue gases are cooled, and become moisture-saturated, which means they have to be reheated before exhausting to air, which is energy-inefficient, and large volumes of polluted liquid are produced, which require processing before they can be disposed of (Williams, 2005).

A further development of the Scrubber arrangement is the dry or semi-dry scrubber. Instead of a liquid, dry fine particles, or saturated droplets are injected counter to the flue flow. Lime is used to adsorb acidic gases. In the semi-dry scrubber, the flue gas temperature is sufficient to desiccate the lime droplets, giving particulates which can be collected. Activated carbon can be used to remove heavy metal and dioxins/furans. Resultant contaminated particles are collected in downstream fabric filters, and can be re-cycled several times before being unable to adsorb further material. Dry scrubbers can operate at a higher temperature than wet scrubbers, so are more energy efficient. Removal efficiencies may be slightly lower than for a wet scrubber, but the technique tends to be preferred due to the reduced production of contaminated waste streams. (Williams, 2005).

Selective catalytic reduction (SCR) of nitrogen oxides is possible with a transition metal catalyst, and the addition of ammonia or urea. Water and N_2 are produced. Heavy metals deactivate the catalyst, so the process takes place after the fabric filters. NO_x is found in flue gases from combustion of N-containing fuels, and also from high temperature combination of molecular N_2 and O_2 during the combustion process. Careful process (gas composition, temperature) control can limit NO_x formation, so

many plants operate without this control technology, though it is to be expected that its use may become mandatory in the future (Williams, 2005).

Assessing Pollution from Industrial Processes

Having established that the products from a process such as incineration may be toxic, monitoring of emissions must take place, as well as safe limits being set. Emissions monitoring is thus conducted for three main reasons; to ensure that legislative requirements are being met, to optimise process to minimise emissions, and to demonstrate to the public that a process is being run in an environmentally responsible manner possible (Scott, 1995, Meyer, 1995).

It is not currently possible to continuously monitor the vast number of possible organic and inorganic emissions from incinerator stacks, and periodically, discrete samples are analysed for dioxin and metal content. CO, NO_X , SO_2 , HF, and HCl are monitored continuously, along with incinerator temperature, to ensure legislative compliance. CO is released during incomplete combustion, and thus acts as a surrogate indicator for conditions likely to cause high levels of dioxin emission. High temperature combustion would make high metal emissions likely.

Although continuous monitoring of metals and metalloids is not yet required, it is to be expected that such monitoring will one day become mandatory, with current EC legislation indicating that the introduction of such measurement techniques is expected, when the technology becomes available (European Community Legislation, 2000a). There is therefore currently significant research interest in new continuous emissions monitoring technologies for metals.

So it is seen that incineration is set to play a significant role in municipal waste management for the foreseeable future, and that despite careful controls on operation, in order to minimise potentially harmful emissions, further work is still required to optimise incineration processes, and improve public acceptability of this waste management option. Subsequent work reported in this thesis concentrates on the occurrence, measurement, and effects of metallic pollution from incineration, and considers how improved process engineering can help to understand the processes leading to metal emissions, with a view to their minimisation.

2.2 Metals in Municipal Solid Waste Incineration

2.2.1 The Fate of Metals in Incinerators

The problem of metals in incinerated waste was introduced in section 2.1.6. As explained, metals are elements, which cannot be created nor destroyed, and so any metals present in incinerated waste must be found in the incinerator output (bottom ash, APC residue, or stack gas). The chemical speciation of the metal may change, as the metal component may react chemically to form a new compound, but the amount of total metal will be constant. The partitioning of metals between the residues is a complex process which is incompletely understood (Reimann, 1989, Linak and Wendt, 1993).

Key variables identified in determining metal partitioning are:

• The nature of the incoming waste – the physical and chemical nature of the incoming metal of interest, and of the waste matrix.

- The physical-chemical properties of that metal its boiling point, reactivity etc.
- The physical-chemical environment in the furnace temperature, reactive gases and particles present, residence time.
- The physical-chemical properties of the flue gas treatment system temperature, rate of cooling, pollution control devices, reactive and non-reactive sorbents.

Inert (non-combustible, non-volatile) solids remain on the grate, and exit the incinerator in the bottom or grate ash. For most metals, we may think of this as the "default", unless some active process occurs to cause its removal from the burning bed. If the metal (in any chemical form) is to leave the burning bed other than in the bottom ash, it must be via the raw flue gases. An active transport process must occur to transport the metal with the flue gases, and two possible mechanisms exist. For volatile metals, the heating of the metal in the furnace may cause it to evaporate, and the vapour will be transported through the incinerator along with other gaseous combustion products. Alternatively, for non-volatile metals, small solid particulates containing the metal may be entrained in the gas stream (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Belevi and Moench, 2000a). Thus volatilisation and entrainment are the two most important processes in metal transport in incinerators, and anything which affects these processes is therefore of interest.

Air pollution control (APC) devices are designed to minimise the atmospheric pollution by capturing pollutants as solid or liquid residues. For metals, this means capturing the entrained metal particles, and the particles or liquid droplets which have arisen from metal volatilisation, but which may since have coagulated and/or condensed. Capture of metals does not eliminate the problem of metals from incineration, as the APC residue will contain these components, but these are much more manageable than the uncontrolled release of pollutants to the atmosphere (Hester and Harrison, 1994).

If a material which entered the incinerator did not remain in the bottom ash, and was not removed by the APC system, it must be present in the emitted stack gas, as there is no other route which it could have taken out of the incinerator. It has been noted earlier that the emission of metals in the stack gas is undesirable, , and therefore it is imperative to ensure that incinerator APC's are designed to remove as near as possible all metals which were released from the burning bed.

In the following section, the different factors which determine metal partitioning will be examined, and it will be shown how manipulation of these different variables can effect changes in metal partitioning, with the aim of minimising the impact of metal pollutants in waste incinerators.

2.2.2 Factors Affecting Metal Partitioning

It has been explained that any metal entering the incinerator must exit the incinerator in the bottom ash, APC residue, or stack gas. The proportion of different metals found in each residue changes from sample to sample, and from incinerator to incinerator. This may due in part to differences in metal content of the incoming waste stream, but it is apparent that the partitioning characteristics of different metals are different, and that for a given metal, the partitioning changes with other changes in the incinerator operating environment. The subsequent sections show what is known about how the partitioning of a metal may be altered, and how this could be exploited to achieve a desired outcome.

The Nature of the Incoming Waste

It should be evident that the physical and chemical nature of the incoming waste may affect the partitioning of the metal within the incinerator. For instance, lead is found in metallic form, in batteries and leaded solder, which is found on printed circuit boards in all electronic items [prior to it's prohibition in 2006] (European Community Legislation, 2002b). Lead is also present in waste in lead compounds in paints, dyes and plastics, although the trend is towards the decreased general use of lead compounds (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Thompson, 2004). Clearly, a reduction in the amount of lead entering the incinerator will result in a reduction to the amount in the incineration residues. Previously, differentiation has been made between metals which were intimately associated with combustible fuel, and those which were present in non-combustible components of waste (Law and Gordon, 1979), and it was concluded that silver, cadmium, chromium, manganese, lead, tin and zinc emissions could be reduced by the selective removal of non-combustible material from the waste stream. They also suggested that the emissions of aluminium, barium, cobalt, iron, lithium, sodium, nickel and antimony might be reduced by the same means.

Furthermore, each lead compound will have different thermodynamic and chemical properties, such as boiling point and reactivity, and as such will behave differently in the furnace. The physical nature of the metallic input to the incinerator may also be important. Residence times are sufficiently short that non-equilibrium kinetic conditions may apply in the incinerator environment, and particle size may dictate how completely reactions can occur within the limited time available in the incinerator, and thus large metallic items may behave very differently from disperse metal particles. For example, a leaded solder joint on a printed circuit board is likely to behave significantly differently from a lead stabiliser in a PVC plastic product, which again will behave differently from the lead in a large lead-acid battery (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000). Metals which are present as components of combustible waste will therefore behave very differently from those present in "non-combustible" bulk waste items, which may be largely unaffected by the combustion process (Law and Gordon, 1979).

The nature of the surrounding waste matrix is also known to affect the partitioning of metals between the different incinerator residues. In addition to the characteristics of the incoming metal of interest, the characteristics of the remaining incoming waste at the same time will affect metal distribution (Williams and Evans, 2001, Linak and Wendt, 1993). It has even been observed that the method of introduction of the waste to the incinerator may affect partitioning (Linak and Wendt, 1993). This applies particularly to hazardous liquid wastes, which may be fed continuously, or batch-wise, (e.g. in barrels). The logical inference from this finding is that good mixing of municipal waste will tend to remove localised regions of high concentrations of a particular species, and so minimise the effect of local conditions on partitioning behaviour.

Volatile metals may be removed from the burning bed, into the flue gases, by evaporation. Often, however, the metal chloride is more volatile than the metal itself, and formation of the metal chloride, or even other metal compounds, is significant to metal transport (Abbas et al., 1996, Perry and Green, 1998, Linak and Wendt, 1993). Where the concentration of different metals is high and of chlorine and other anions low, the transport mechanism may become saturated. As a result the partitioning of a

particular metal can change with the amount of that metal, other metals, and different anions in the feed. F, Cu, Mo, Pb, Sn, Zn, Br and Sb have been identified as being sensitive to variations in input quantity and physical form (Belevi and Moench, 2000b). However, the factors described above are all physical characteristics of the waste input. These are difficult to manipulate for a mass-burn incinerator. Some plants do sort incoming waste, or process it (e.g. by shredding), but it is generally found that such additional processing is uneconomic (Williams, 1998), although it may be highly environmentally beneficial (Rydh and Karlstrom, 2002).

The chloride anion, particularly as provided by the burning of PVC, has been identified as a species critical in increasing the carry-over of semi-volatile metals from the furnace to the gas phase. The chloride anion (or radical) is able to convert metals to metal chlorides (and potentially other metal species to metal chlorides). In general, the chloride of a metal is more volatile than the metal itself, so allows for increased transfer from the solid to the gas phase, and so evaporative transport from the burning bed (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Evans and Williams, 2000, Zhang et al., 2001a). The nature of the incoming chloride has also been shown to be important (Wey et al., 1999); they demonstrate that while chlorine present in PVC affects metal partitioning, inorganic chloride from sodium does not affect metal partitioning. It is thus evident that a complex mixture of physical factors, chemical thermodynamics and kinetics determine the partitioning of metals. Having identified the importance of the chloride anion, some groups have suggested the tailoring of incinerator parameters to enhance metal carry-over, in order that APC residue will be further enhanced in trace metals. However, to date, there appears to be no practical utilisation of such theories, possibly because of problems of corrosion and deposition caused by these metal salts (Belevi and Moench, 2000b, Bryers, 1996).

The effect of other anions such as sulphur and oxygen may also be important (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Although metal sulphates are normally more volatile than the native metal, sulphates may reduce transfer of metal to the gas phase by competing with the even more volatile metal chlorides. Even the moisture content of the waste may affect metal partitioning and reaction chemistry in the burning bed (Zhao et al., 2004).

Having considered aspects of the chemistry of the waste matrix which may enhance transfer of metals from the burning bed, it is prudent also to consider factors which may enhance their retention in the bottom ash. Although data is sparse for waste combustion, much has been obtained on coal combustion, and this suggests that silicates (Si_2O_3) and aluminosilicates (SiO_2Al2O_3) may help to trap trace metals in the bottom ash (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Silicates and aluminosilicates are usually present in the fuel as their sodium salt, but the sodium cation may be displaced, for example by potassium, or by a heavy metal ion.

Numerous experiments have been conducted to investigate the effect of such absorbent materials on heavy metal partitioning. Some have investigated reactive sorbents in the gas clean-up system, at relatively low temperatures (Uberoi and Shadman, 1990, Uberoi and Shadman, 1991a), while others have considered absorbtion in conditions approximating to those found in the furnace (Chen et al., 1997, Chen et al., 2001). For sorbents at furnace temperatures it has been shown that both chemical reaction and physical absorption play a role in trapping the metal in the furnace bed, although, it is dubious whether simulated conditions accurately reflect real incinerator conditions.

Nevertheless, such experiments help to indicate how the matrix surrounding a metal on the burning bed of an incinerator may help to trap it in the bottom ash.

Thus it is seen how changes in metal concentration in the incoming waste to an incinerator may affect pollutant concentrations in the different residues, and the percentage partitioning between those residues. It is therefore significant that the concentration of different metals in the waste differs, as would be expected, and the range for a given metal is also highly variable, corresponding to a highly diverse waste stream. This can be seen in Table 6, which shows the elemental composition of municipal waste as analysed in a number of different studies. It is important to remember that variations in data given by different groups may reflect different source waste compositions in different areas or at different times, as well as different sampling and analysis techniques.

metal	USA ¹ (g tonne ⁻¹)	Europe ² (g tonne ⁻¹)	Vogg ³ (g tonne ⁻¹)	Belevi & Moench ⁴ (g tonne ⁻¹)	Wiles, 1996 ⁵ (g tonne ⁻¹)	International ash working group (1997) ⁶ (g tonne ⁻¹)		
aluminium				11000 -	22000-			
				13000	73000	10.00		
antimony			50	41 - 74		10-60		
arsenic				2.7 - 4.1		3-9		
barium				370 - 430	400-3000	730		
bromine		10 10	•••	110 - 140				
cadmium	2 – 22	10 - 40	20	11	0.3-71	5-15		
calcium				24000	37000-	10000-35000		
11		5 000		(000 7200	120000			
chlorine		15000 -		6900 - 7300	800-4200			
chromium	20 - 100	100 - 450	-	310 - 360	23-3200	40-400		
cobalt				3.4 - 3.7				
copper	80-900	450-2500	100	780 - 820	190-8200	200-1000		
fluorine		50 - 250		180 - 210				
iron	1000 - 3500	25000 -	-	27000 -	4100-	25000-50000		
		75000		31000	150000			
lead	110 - 1500	750 - 2500	1500	530 - 700	98-14000	400-1000		
lithium				9 - 10				
magnesium				3200	400-26000			
manganese				220 - 270	83-2400	200-500		
mercury	0.7 – 1.9	2 - 7	5	2.9 - 4.2	0.02-7.8	0.5-5		
molybdenum				9 - 11				
nickel	9 – 90	50 - 200	-	100 - 110	74300	20-130		
phosphorus				690 - 960		****		
potassium				2300 - 2500	750-16000	5000		
silicon				37000 -				
				38000				
sodium				4800 - 5100	2900-	3000-15000		
		2000		1000 1000	42000			
sulphur		2000 - 7000		1300 - 1400	1000-5000			
tin				71 - 74		120		
titanium				1500		1300		
zinc	200 - 2500	900 - 3500	3000	1300 - 1600	610-7800	600-2000		
1 (Law and Gor	rdon, 1979)			2 (Williams, 199	8)		
³ (Vogg et al., 1	1986)			4 (Belevi and Mo	ench, 2000b)		
⁵ International Ash working group, 1994, reported in (Wiles, 1996) ⁶ (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997)								

Table 6: The composition of municipal solid waste as reported by different gr	roups
---	-------

The Physical-Chemical Properties of the Metal of Interest

For a given metal, physical and chemical properties will affect metal partitioning. For example, cadmium metal boils at 1035 K, so at the temperature of a MSW incinerator, the metal may evaporate, and be carried as a gas out of the burning bed. In contrast, nickel only sublimes at 3000 K, well above the temperature in an incinerator, and so an evaporative transfer route is not significant for that metal, although nickel compounds may be volatile. Any of these species may exhibit significant volatility below their boiling point, if they have a high vapour pressure, so in considering a complete model of metal behaviour, it is insufficient to consider boiling point alone, (although it is a good initial indicator) and a more sophisticated model of metal volatility is required. Table 7 indicates the boiling points of various metal-containing species, and shows why chlorine helps mobilise metals, because chlorides are often more volatile than the metals themselves. It is therefore important to consider both the speciation of the metal entering the incinerator, and furnace conditions which may allow reaction of the metal to form new compounds in-situ (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Paoletti et al., 2001).

Table 7:	Difference in boiling point	between metals and their	r compounds (Abbas et al., 1996)
----------	-----------------------------	--------------------------	----------------------------------

compound	Cd	CdO	CdCl ₂	Zn	ZnO	ZnCl ₂	Ni	NiO	NiCl ₂
boiling point (K)	1035	1832*	1240	1180	1700*	1005	3000	3000	1260
* Denotes sublimation.									

The Physical-Chemical Environment in the Furnace Having seen that the volatility of a metal will affect its partitioning, the converse of this is that for a given species, changing the furnace temperature will affect its partitioning (Belevi and Moench, 2000b). Changing the temperature will also affect chemical reactions occurring, and thus is likely to affect the metal partitioning (Delay et al., 2001). For example the rather exotic species CrO_2Cl_2 is predicted, by some thermodynamic models, to exist only in a narrow temperature window around 425°C (Linak and Wendt, 1993).

If chemical reaction is to be important in determining metal partitioning, then reaction environment will be vital. In waste incineration, the average temperature in the furnace generally is around 800-950°C, with additional burners operating if the temperature falls below 750°C, and waste supply being cut if temperature rises over 950°C (although flame temperatures in specific regions may be much higher). The excess air under which the incinerator is operated will affect the redox conditions in the burning bed, and so will affect redox reactions of metal species. Thus it is reactions which can occur in this sort of environment which must be considered when studying the effects of reactivity on metal partitioning (Williams, 2005, Yang et al., 2002, Paoletti et al., 2001).

It is also thought that excessive under-fire air may enhance entrainment of dust particles, and that water content and calorific value of the waste may affect metal partitioning (Brunner and Monch, 1986, Morf et al., 2000). As entrainment is known to affect metal partitioning, any variable affecting this process will, in turn, affect the partitioning of metals (Williams and Evans, 2001). As at least some reactions occurring in the burning bed are known to be under kinetic control, residence time in the high-temperature combustion zone will be important (Lockwood and Yousif, 2000).

The Physical-Chemical Properties of the Flue Gas Treatment System

When the raw flue gas leaves the combustion chamber, it is a complex aerosol comprising of major, minor and trace gases, and entrained particles. Volatile metals are present as vapours, and entrained metals as particulates, of varying sizes. As the gas passes through the energy recovery and APC devices, it is subject to changes in temperature, chemical environment and speed of movement. Volatile metal vapours may cool sufficiently to re-condense, and the aerosol will mature, according to a number of processes of aerosol dynamics, which have been extensively studied (Linak and Wendt, 1993). The flue gas is subject to further chemical reaction, interaction with sorbents in scrubbers and particle capture by ESP or bag filter. Remaining gases are then released through the stack. An understanding of all the processes occurring between evolution of raw stack gas and emission of processed gas is vital to the understanding of the partitioning of metals in the flue gas.

It is important to consider chemical reactions occurring as flue gas passes through the post-combustion chamber parts of the incinerator. A specific example is antimony transport. A volatile chloride species is implicated in partitioning in the bed, but it is thought that it is converted back to Sb_2O_3 in oxygen-rich conditions in the flue system. This species would have condensed by the filters, and so would be trapped (Paoletti et al., 2001). Thus it is seen that the processes involved in the development of the flue gas, from leaving the burning bed, to the APC device, is not simple, and cannot easily be explained quantitatively.

The consensus of literature opinion is that the major constituents of fly ash (ash particles) are Cl, K, Zn, Na, Ca, Si, and Pb, Al, in the form of oxides, silicates and aluminosilicates. The trace elements usually found in fly ash are Ag, As, Br, Ce, Cr, Cu, Hg, Mg, Mn, Ni, Rb, Sb, Ti, Tl and Zr. Spherical particles are found in the ash, and are found to be aggregates of polycrystalline, amorphous and glassy material, and are mainly composed of calcium, sodium and potassium aluminosilicates of complex structure. They are also enriched in more volatile elements, which have arisen from vaporisation and condensation (Ontiveros et al., 1989, Linak and Wendt, 1993, Chang et al., 2000a, Evans and Williams, 2000).

Scanning electron microscopy-energy-dispersive-x-ray techniques have been used to show that particles are made up of agglomerations of smaller ones. Although the bulk of the larger particles is of aluminosilicate material, individual vapour depositions of specific metals can be seen on the surface (Evans and Williams, 2000). X-ray diffraction has been used to identify various metal and metal compounds deposited on flue gas particles (Wey et al., 1999), and this evidence supports the proposed routes of ash formation by entrainment and volatilisation/condensation/deposition,

The overall characteristics of the ash produced have also been investigated (Greenberg et al., 1978). A bimodal size distribution was found, with over 75% of volatile metals were found in particles of $<2\mu$ m. More recently it has been shown that the size distribution of fly ash collected on a bag filter from a small-scale model incinerator is bimodal (Thipse et al., 2002). Analysis of the different fractions showed that their composition varied significantly as shown in Table 8. For instance, the 75-150 μ m fraction was found to contain more than 40% of each of the total aluminium and silicon found in the fly ash. These findings for waste incineration ash support similar findings for the volatile metal content of ashes from other thermal sources, for example

from steelworks, where volatile metals are also significantly enriched on the smallest particles (McDonnell et al., 1989).

		-	•	-		•		,	
percentage fou fraction	nd in	size total Mass	Al (%)	Cr (%)	Fe (%)	Hg (%)	Ni (%)	Pb (%)	Si (%)
0 - 75 μm		10	42	8	11	7	7	4	43
75-150 μm		28	20	12	12	19	11	16	21
150-300 μm		21	18	20	20	38	18	43	19
300-1000 μm		40	15	25	25	24	27	32	11
1000-1200 µm		1	5	35	32	12	37	5	6
overall ash comp	osition	(%)	0.12	0.025	13.35	0.069	0.028	0.03	2.11

Table 8. Variation in composition of fly ash particles with size (Thipse and Dreizin, 2002)

The distribution is due to the different transport properties involved. Large particulates are transported by entrainment, whereas vapours of volatile species subsequently undergo nucleation and condensation, forming much smaller (sub-micron) particles. Coagulation and coalescence occurs as the aerosol evolves, leading to an increase in the average particle size in the aerosol (Mulholland et al., 1991, Mulholland and Sarofim, 1991, Thipse et al., 2002). A third transport mechanism has been demonstrated for viscous metal salts, involving the formation and explosive breakdown of non-volatilised particles called cenospheres (Mulholland and Sarofim, 1991). However, this mechanism only applies to a limited number of metal salts (e.g. nickel nitrate), so it is unclear how significant this pathway is.

Thus the results of a large amount of literature support the proposed transport mechanisms of entrainment and volatilisation, with subsequent nucleation, condensation and coagulation. Once these have been accepted, it can be assumed that temperature gradient, gas velocity and residence time will all affect particle size distribution (PSD). Perturbation of the PSD will affect particulate capture, and so metal partitioning (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Increased cooling rates will favour homogeneous nucleation over heterogeneous condensation, leading to more small metal particles, which will escape APC's. Gas velocity will affect coagulation and particle deposition, and residence time will alter the maturity of the developing aerosol and so the PSD will tend towards larger, more easily capturable particles with increased residence times (it is an interesting aside that greater particulate loading in the raw flue gas, i.e. from "dirtier" fuels can result in improved metal capture (Abbas et al., 1996).

The processes involved in aerosol formation and development, and their mathematical description, have been developed in detail, and are discussed in further detail in section 2.6.2. These processes are common to aerosols from a variety of thermal processes (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Barton et al., 1990). Once a vapour has been formed, and the temperature of the gas then drops, homogeneous nucleation or heterogeneous condensation onto existing particles occurs, giving minute (nanometre) particles of metal or metal salt. Condensation may occur onto any existing particle of any size, but the relative surface area of small particles is much larger than that of large particles, and thus there is more metal deposition on the smaller ones, leading to the observed enrichment of volatile metals on sub-micrometer particles (Greenberg et al., 1978).

The minute particles formed by nucleation would have no hope of being trapped by APC devices, but fortunately the exhaust aerosol develops further before reaching them. These particles tend to collide with one another, which may lead to coagulation,

with adhesion or agglomeration causing larger particles. Provided that the aerosol is sufficiently developed before it reaches the APC device, particles should have grown large enough for capture (Linak and Wendt, 1993). This supports the observation that many of the larger particles are agglomerations of smaller ones (Evans and Williams, 2000). Once more surface area to volume considerations ensure that coagulation tends to occur more between small particles, maintaining enrichment of metals in the submicron ash fraction. Thus it is been explained how the observed size distribution and composition of ash particles arises from the different transport mechanisms, of entrainment, and vaporisation (with subsequent nucleation, condensation and coagulation)

However, the presence of reactive capture systems must also be considered for a complete understanding of the behaviour of metals in waste incineration. Scrubbing systems were introduced with the intention of reducing emissions of acidic gases, such as HCl and SO_x. They operate by the injection of a sorbent, typically slaked lime [Ca(OH)₂] which reacts with the acidic gas, forming solid calcium salts, which are subsequently removed by the particulate capture system. It was found that these systems also reduced metal emissions significantly. There are two possible reasons for this, one being the reaction of metallic species with the sorbent, and the other being the physical trapping of metallic species by scrubber particles or droplets, and their subsequent capture (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000). In either case, the larger solid particulates formed are captured more effectively by the capture Some systems now simultaneously inject activated carbon, which is an device. effective reactive absorbent for small residual amounts of metallic vapours (mainly mercury and possibly cadmium), and also residual organic pollutants (Morf et al., 2000).

Injected sorbents can behave like any other particulates in the flue gas aerosol, acting as nucleation points for volatile metal vapours below their saturation point, and as surfaces for coagulation. However, statistical analysis of the metal concentrations observed on different particles, and experiments on desorption of metals from sorbents indicated that reactive absorption mechanisms, known as chemisorption, also occur, (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Evans and Williams, 2000, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000, Chen et al., 2001, Uberoi and Shadman, 1991b). The effect of reactive absorbent processes is that more than one factor, including chemical identity of the absorbent, and the available surface area for absorption, which is not (necessarily) the same as total measured surface area, affect metal capture. Thus the process can no longer be accurately mathematically described, as its complexity increases significantly (Williams and Evans, 2001, Evans and Williams, 2000).

Finally, the particulate removal part of the APC system must be considered when examining metal partitioning. In order to minimise atmospheric emissions, development of particle removal technology has been significant in the last 30 years or so, as explained in section 2.1.7. As shown in Table 9, the different technologies available do reduce atmospheric emissions significantly, and so play a significant role in determining the partitioning of material between APC residue and flue gas. Particle capture efficiency by bag filters is size dependent, and for ESP's is dependent on size and electronic properties, so the choice of system affects how well metals are captured.

pollutant	raw gas	cyclone	ESP	ESP + w	et ESP + dry
				scrubber	scrubber
dust	3000	500	100	50	50
HCI	1150	1150	1150	50	50
HF	9	9	9	1	1
SO _x	500	500	500	100	250
NO _x	250	250	250	150	150
Pb	30	9	3	1.0	0.2
Cd	1.8	0.3	0.2	0.04	0.02
Hg	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.05

Table 9: Levels of pollutant found before and after APC device (mg m⁻³) (Williams, 1990)

Electrostatic precipitators and bag filters remove particulate matter from the flue gas in a non-selective matter. They are least effective for very small particulates, and for vapours, although bag filters are significantly more efficient than ESP's at particulate capture, with typical removal efficiencies in excess of 99.9 %. Consequently, mercury is poorly trapped, unless activated carbon injection is employed, as it often passes through the APC device as a vapour (Chang et al., 2000b).

Investigations at a Taiwanese incinerator revealed an overall particulates removal efficiency of 99.93% for the dry lime scrubber and bag filter. Examination of the particle size distribution showed that 70% of the material was less than 4.6 μ m, in diameter. Metal depositions on the different fractions were such that around 80% of the Cu, Pb and Zn was found to be found on the 70% of the particles of less than 4.6 μ m (Table 10) (Chang et al., 2000b). Thus it is seen that effective small particulate capture is required for effective metal removal from the raw flue gas of waste incinerators.

Table 10: The mass and composition of particles collected before the APC device (Chang et al., 2000b)

metal	concentration (mg Nm ⁻³)*	particles <4.6 µm	particles 4.6-10 .9µm
Zn	15.5 - 260	75 - 92	8 - 25
Pb	6.3 - 26.0	80 - 96	4 - 20
Cu	1.1 - 1.6	75 - 94	6 - 25

*N Denotes normal cubic meter, with 11% O2 dry gas at atmospheric pressure and 273 K

The result of an effective APC system is a much cleaner flue gas emission to the atmosphere, and a solid APC residue requiring further treatment and disposal, at the rate of about 60kg of residue per tonne of waste incinerated (Wiles, 1996). Typical analyses of this residue are given in Table 11. It can be seen that in general, newer incinerators have better capture of metals than older ones, although a changing input waste composition may complicate comparison of the data. It should be noted that the vastly different values for calcium correspond to whether or not a calcium compound is used in gas clean-up, and in order to compare data, it may be necessary to normalise with respect to calcium. It is interesting to note that the wet scrubber gives much better removals than dry techniques do, but despite this dry techniques are generally favoured at present, because liquid residues from wet scrubbing present a significant disposal problem (Williams, 1998).

Table 11: Typical APC residu	e metals analyses	(g tonne ⁻¹)
------------------------------	-------------------	--------------------------

group reference	sample	Al	Ba	Ca		Cd	Cr	Cu	Fe	ŀ	Ig	K
Brunner & Moench, 1986	ESP dust					260		1100	3000	8 0		
Ontinveros et al. 1989	CaCO ₃ scrubber + bags	79600	1940	60000		230	420	780	1340	- 00		10134
Ommiveros, et al., 1969	wet NaOH scrubber + bags	-	2353	9800		597	35	1900	-	-		39200
	post-1990 Incinerator	-	-	-		67	-	318	1560) <	2	-
Evans and Williams, 2000	certified reference material (old?)	-	-	-		361	-	1052	1846	50 1	6	-
	certified values	-	-	-		470	-	1302	2130	0 3	1	-
Belevi & Moench, 2000b	APC residue	33000	1800	175000		410	740	1090	9600) 9	0	29000
Wiles, 1996 ¹	dry/semidry APC residue	12000-83000	51-14 0	00 110000-	350000	140-300	73-570	16-1700	2600	-71000 0	.1-51	5900-4000
(Table 11continued)												
group reference	sample	Mg	Mn	Na	Ni	Pb	Zn		F	S	C	1
Brunner & Monch, 1986	ESP dust	-	-	-	-	6200	320	000	2000	28000	5	4000
Ontinueros et al. 1090	CaCO ₃ scrubber + bags	15900	910	16100	200	8380	-		-	-	-	
Oniniveros, et al., 1989	wet NaOH scrubber + bags	-	-	37350	50	4271	-		-	-	-	
	post-1990 Incinerator	-	-	•	-	780	54]	8	-	-	-	
Evans and Williams, 2000	certified reference material (old?)	-	-	-	100	7900	210	57	-	-	-	
	certified values	-	-	-	123	10870	257	70	-	-	-	
Belevi & Moench, 2000b	APC residue	38000	550	38000	120	14400	360	000	5100	3000	2	82000
Wiles, 1996 ¹	dry/semidry APC residue	5100-14000	200-900	7600-29000	19-710	2500-100	000 700	00-20000	-	1400-250	00 6	2000-380000

¹. Data from the IAWG, 1994, as reported in (Wiles, 1996)

Following effective APC systems, the final emissions of metals to the atmosphere are extremely low, as shown in Table 12. Thus it is clear that the APC system, and the associated processes occurring during aerosol development, have an enormous effect on the partitioning of metals from incineration. Temperature gradient, residence time and gas velocity, as well as APC device sorption materials may affect the partitioning of metals between APC residue and stack gas, and it is therefore important not only to consider what APC system is employed but also how it is operated.

metal	limit (2000/76/EC) (mg m ⁻³)	extractive test 1	extractive test 2
	(European Community Legislation,	$(mg m^{-3})$	$(mg m^{-3})$
	2000c)	(Fountain, 2002)	(Fountain, 2002)
Hg	0.05	0.00014	0.00016
Sum of Cd + Tl	0.05	0.00047	0.00026
Sb	+	<0.00073	0.0041
As	+	<0.00073	<0.00074
Pb	+	0.0015	0.00074
Cr	+	0.0018	0.0048
Co	+	<0.00022	<0.00022
Cu	+	0.0058	0.00074
Mn	+	0.080	0.0020
Ni	+	0.0061	0.021
V	+	< 0.00022	<0.00022
sum of all marked ⁺	0.5	0.096	0.034

Table 12: Limits for, and analyses of stack gases emitted from a UK incincrator

Complex Furnace Reactions, and Local Deviations from Bulk Conditions

It has been explained how the chemical and physical properties of a metal help to determine its partitioning, as do the associated incinerator and gas clean-up system conditions. Therefore, a given metal will partition according to its own properties, and the incineration environment. However, there will also be many other metals undergoing the same processes simultaneously, and thus consideration of the holistic problem must be made. Examples of metal-metal interaction are observed in the displacement of sodium by potassium in aluminosilicates (Linak and Wendt, 1993), and by the competition of cadmium or lead with sodium for capture by sorbents (Davis The importance of metal-metal interactions is indicated by the et al., 2000). identification of species such as NiCr₂O₄ and PbAl₂Si₂O₈, which are seen to contain more than one metal, and are known to affect partitioning. It is extremely hard to assess the importance of such metal-metal interactions in the partitioning process, given the lack of data on the subject. However, it is important to remember such factors, if only as sources of additional information, when conventional explanations are observed to break down in practice.

Another aspect which has not been investigated in the literature, but which is likely to affect metal volatilisation, is the catalysis of reactions involving metals by co-present species or particles. Finally, it is important to remember that a mass-burn incinerator is a large, inhomogeneous process. Although bulk measurements of temperature, oxygen and acidic gas content are useful, they may not reflect conditions in all parts of the incinerator. Thus in local areas, the physical-chemical conditions experienced by a particular burning system may differ dramatically from those observed for the average of the whole system, so causing a deviation from expected behaviour, possibly having a significant impact on metal partitioning (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Yang et al., 2002, Wendt, 1994). It has already been shown how such local conditions, which are affected by the waste feed input, cause variations in organic pollutant emissions from

incineration of hazardous waste, and it is likely that inorganic pollutants follow similar patterns (Hart, 2001).

The physical – chemical environment of local areas of the burning bed, which may differ significantly from the bulk conditions, may be extremely important. They may cause local equilibria which are significantly different from the measured bulk properties, and so may lead to combustion products for metals which are not conventionally expected (Yang et al., 2002, Wendt, 1994). Various "exotic" metal species have been suggested as being important in metal partitioning, although in general chlorides, oxides, and possibly sulphates are considered to be the only major bulk components (Vogg et al., 1986, Abbas et al., 1996, Morf et al., 2000, Thipse and Dreizin, 2002). However, detailed predictions suggest the possible importance of species such as Ni(CO)₄, NiO₂H₂, CrO₂Cl₂, as well as reporting that other species, such as PbCl₄ may not to play as large a role as is conventionally expected. Mixed-metal compounds, such as NiCr₂O₄ are also reported, which may indicate the importance of the effect of one metal on the partitioning of another (Linak and Wendt, 1993).

Summary

It can be seen from the data presented above that modern incinerators are capable of producing gaseous emissions which are well below those considered by regulatory bodies to be acceptable. In addition, a bottom ash is produced, which is relatively inert, and the toxic components are mainly enriched in the APC residue. However, the factors affecting partitioning are many and complex, and are at best incompletely understood. In particular, the effect of local non-equilibrium conditions is thought to be important, but has not been investigated significantly experimentally. Thus improved knowledge of what factors affect metal partitioning, and how these factors can be manipulated may be important in optimising the incineration process. The next section will consider the behaviour of individual metals, looking at how they arise in the waste stream and at what concentration, how they behave during incineration, and why, for technical or toxicological reasons, their behaviour may be of significance.

2.3 Metals of Concern in Incineration: Their Partitioning, Toxicity (and Other Adverse Effects), Sources, and Major Uses

Given the vastly different properties of different metals and metal compounds, it is important to consider how significant these are in waste incineration and why. The subsequent section examines the properties of a number of metals individually, considering their partitioning between the different incinerator residues, sources in the waste stream, and negative effects in incineration products, in order to obtain an overview of why they give cause for concern in waste incineration.

It should be borne in mind that information provided may not be directly comparable, as it comes from a large number of different studies, which have employed different techniques. It is thus more important to examine general properties, than specific studies on particular metals. The availability of data on a particular metal generally reflects its toxicological, engineering, and ecological significance, with detailed studies on just one metal in some cases, and only fleeting incidental references to others. The word toxicity means that a substance has an adverse effect on an organism (usually a human being). Although this sounds straightforward enough, complications immediately arise, and it is soon discovered that all substances, even the most benign, are toxic at high enough dose. Having identified some metals from combustion processes as being potential toxins, the cause of toxicity, and safe emission limit must be determined. The list of metals chosen for this work is based around those specified by both EU and US legislation, along with some of emerging, or technical rather than environmental or toxicological interest.

The first thing which is important to consider is how much exposure to a substance is to be considered safe. Some species are toxic at any measurable dose, whereas others need to be present over a threshold dose to cause an effect, the body being able to deal with trace amounts. Some toxins are rapidly broken down or excreted, whereas others accumulate in the body, meaning that long-term very low-level exposure can cause a significant effect.

A second, related aspect which is of is of importance is the duration of exposure. In the case of a fixed source, such as an incinerator, a fairly constant level of pollutant emission may be anticipated for a number of years, whereas some incidents, such as an accidental emission, may release a higher concentration of a substance for a shorter term. The "safe" exposure for a short period is likely to be higher than that for continued exposure, particularly for bio-accumulating toxins. Therefore, both short and long-term occupational exposure limits may be set, with different acute and chronic effects being observed for short and long-term exposure respectively.

The route of exposure (whether inhalation, ingestion, instillation, or absorption through the skin) determines uptake by an organism, and therefore the effect. Once a "toxic" species is in the body, the body tries to break it down and excrete it. Removal of small particulate matter from the lungs can be particularly problematic, leading to the concern about airborne pollution. Toxicity issues are further complicated by the fact that a substance itself may be non-toxic, while a break down product is.

The concept of synergy is most important when considering environmental toxins. Two toxins may be present at a below-toxic level, but if both affect the same biological pathway, then the combined dose may be above a safe threshold. In the case of metals, this may be particularly significant for those which are found in the body at a high oxidation state, causing oxidative stress to cells, where the effect of more than one oxidative stress will be cumulative.

Therefore, to classify a metal as being "toxic" is simplistic. The chemical form, oxidation state, and presence of aggravating compounds may all be significant, in addition to possible increased sensitivity of some population groups. Indeed, many metals have been shown to be essential, including Fe, Co, Cu, Cr, Mn, Mo, Na, Se, Sn, and Zn, but may still be toxic in sufficient quantity. Several are regulated in incinerator emissions, and it is to be assumed that emission limits are set on the basis of the best available information on optimum and harmful exposure. A good first indicator of the possible toxicity of a substance is the time weighted average (TWA) exposure limit for employees, as determined by the US occupational safety and health administration (OSHA), and these are given below for different metals. The average is for an eight hour average working day. These limits tend to be precautionary, being set low if there is a possible, but not fully understood effect, or if the specified material

may be a precursor to something more toxic (Goyer, 1996). Similar UK workforce exposure limits are also given (HSE, 2005).

Of course, when considering the toxicity arising from products of incineration, it is important to consider how abundant they are (naturally, and in specific applications and waste types), and how they behave in the incineration process, as this will control where they end up following incineration, and as a result what their effect on the environment or health may be. Section 2.2.2 examined what factors affect the distribution of different metals in incinerator residues, but did not consider the specific behaviour of different metals in detail.

There follows a brief indication of metal toxicity, along with uses, and behaviour during incineration (Table 13, Page 39). It must be emphasised that the information about metals and their common compounds should not be assumed to be exhaustive, but indicates why they are significant in waste incineration. Inclusion of a metal does not necessarily mean that it is of major environmental or toxicological concern, but may reflect its high abundance in nature and/or the waste stream.

Thus it can be seen that a great deal of information exists, on how metals occur in waste, behave in incinerators, and affect the biosphere if released in an uncontrolled manner. However, there are still significant gaps and inconsistencies in the information, particularly with respect to the incineration process itself. To achieve improved process understanding, accurate, and rapid techniques are required to analyse the metal-containing products from incineration, preferably on a time-resolved basis. The next two sections will consider the analysis of metals in waste and incinerator products, and will examine how these may be used to gain new information on how and why metals behave in the way that they do, while they are incinerated.

Table 13: The metals chosen for investigation, and some information on their toxicity and industrial significance

metal	notable industrial uses (1)	typical	typical	volatility and partitioning behaviour	comments on occurrence in waste and distribution	workforce exposure limit (5)	comments on toxicology ⁽⁷⁾
		concentration	concentration	during incineration ⁽⁴⁾		UK workplace exposure limit	
		in earths	s in municipal waste ⁽³⁾				
aluminium	Many and varied uses as alloy in	8.2%		not volatile in combustion. ≥90%	found significantly in "bulk" items in waste	metal dust 5 mg m ⁻³	Toxicity from incineration not a major concern,
	construction, automotive, aeronautic			normally found in bottom ash	therefore inhomogeneous distribution	inhalable dusts, 10 mg m ⁻³ ,	but some forms can be toxic under specific
	etc.					repairable dusts 4 mg m^{-3} , soluble solts 2 mg m^{-3} .	conditions.
antimony	Allovs, batteries, semiconductors,	0.2 ppm	10-60 ppm	significant volatility. 45-75% found in	Data on partitioning is inconsistent. Theory	0.5 mg m^{-3} total Sb	Known toxin, but not one of the most highly toxic
5	flame retardants	FF		APC residue	predicts higher volatility (Paoletti et al., 2001).	As for US limit	metals.
arsenic	Specialist alloys, wood preservatives	2.1 ppm	3-9 ppm	typically 70% of As found in bottom	Expected to be more volatile (volatile compounds	0.05 mg m ⁻³ , total inorganic	Known carcinogen and toxin, with a low exposure
	pyrotechnics, semiconductors			ash, although predicted volatility is	known). Slag formation on bed suspected.	As. 0.1 mg m ² all As and As	limit as a result. Arsine regulated separately
cadmium	Electroplating batteries low-	0.15 ppm	5-15 ppm	nigner volatile although figure varies	Metal oxide and chloride all potentially volatile.	0.005 mg m ⁻³ total Cd	Highly toxic, with multiple sites of effect. Bio-
	melting alloys, stabilisers in PVC	0.15 ppm	5-15 ppm	between studies between 60-90%	Slag formation may reduce volatility. Thought to	0.025 mg m ⁻³ for most Cd	accumulating. Extremely low exposure limit as a
	(being phased out).				be very inhomogeneous in waste.	compounds	result.
calcium	Cement, as a generic alkali in	5.0%	1-3.5%	non volatile. \geq 90% in bottom ash	distributed through a variety of wastes, mainly	15 mg m ³ carbonate,	Essential to life. High exposure limit reflects low
	industrial processes				transferred to APC residue by entrainment	sulphate, 5 mg m ⁻ hydroxide	toxicity. Some more harmful Ca compounds have
						m^{-3} inhalable, 4 mg m^{-3}	lowor minus.
						repairable, hydroxide 5 mg	
. .		1.40				m ⁻³ , oxide 2 mg m ⁻³	
chromium	Plating, alloys, hardening, wood	140 ppm	40-400 ppm	non volatile. $\geq 95\%$ in bottom ash	Some potentially volatile Cr compounds have been	$Cr(III) 0.5 mg m^{-7}$	Cr (VI) highly toxic and carcinogenic. Other Cr
	preservatives, fungicities, catalysis.				suggested, but seem not to be of major importance	$Cr(0) 1 \text{ mg m}^{3}$	Oxidation states naminal, but of fai less concern.
						As for US limits, except	
						$Cr(0), 0.5 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$	
cobalt	ferrous alloys, colourant in ceramics	30 ppm	3-4 ppm ⁽⁷⁾	non volatile. \geq 90% in bottom ash	very little data available	0.05 mg m ⁻⁹ , total inorganic	not of major concern as a toxin, although
	and paints					0.1 mg m^{-3}	minatation effects can be more severe
copper	widespread uses - electrical and	68 ppm	200-1000	not significantly volatile in mass	CuCl and CuCl ₂ thought to be important in the	metal dust 1 mg m ⁻³	An essential nutrient, but can be toxic at higher
	electronic equipment, coinage, water		ppm	balance terms, $\geq 90\%$ in bottom ash,	limited volatility seen. Form in which metal enters	as for US limits	concentration. From incineration, not of major
	pipes, construction, wood			but evidence of volatile transport	incinerator may be important (in bulk metal items,		concern, although effects on lungs higher than via
	fungicides			available	and distributed in combustible waste).		outer exposure routes.
iron	extremely widespread -	6.3%	2.5-5.0%	non volatile. ≥95% in bottom ash	mainly found in "bulky items" in waste so	oxide, dust and fume 10 mg	Essential to life, not a major toxin. Reflected in
	construction, automotive etc				inhomogeneous in waste stream	m^{-3} Fe, iron oxide fume 5 mg	high exposure limit.
						m^{-} , iron sails (as re), 1 mg m^{-3}	
lead	batteries, electronics, plumbing,	10 ppm	400-1000	volatile. 30-50% found in APC	Found in numerous applications, though being	0.05 mg m ⁻³ total inorganic	A highly toxic metal, with multiple sites of action.
	ammunition, stabiliser in PVC		ppm	residue	phased out. Metal, and its chloride may be	Pb	Bio-accumulating. Reflected in low exposure
	(being replaced)	20.0/	0.22.0((7)	non malatile. S000/ in hottom and	important in volatility.	10 mg m^3 for λ (cO	limit.
magnesium		2.9 %	0.32 %	non volatile. $\geq 90\%$ in bottom asn	No suggested volatility. I fansier to APC residue is by entrainment	oride inhalable dust 10 mg	industrial hygienists (ACGIH) limit. OSHA has
					by childhinnen.	m^3 , repairable dust, 4 mg m	no limit, reflecting non-toxicity of this element.
						- 3 -	
manganese	alloys, batteries, matches, fireworks,	0.11%	200-500 ppm	non volatile. \geq 90% in bottom ash	numerous sources in waste, notably batteries, where	1 mg m ⁵ Mn fume,	Probably an essential nutrient, though toxic at
	porcerain				the MhO ₂ powder may wen be entrained	$m g m^{-3}$	concern normally.
mercury	Batteries, dental work, electronics	0.067 ppm	0.5-5 ppm	Most volatile metal. ≥95% volatilised.	sources in waste should be diminishing, as use is	0.025 mg m ⁻³ total inorganic	Very low limits reflect extreme toxicity. Also
-	(lamps), laboratory equipment,				discouraged	Hg (ACGIH)	bio-accumulates, and organic mercury which may
	pesticides. Being phased out.					0.05 mg m ^o metal vapour	form in environment, is even more toxic.
nickel	stainless alloys, coinage, catalysis	90 mag	20-130 ppmp	Non volatile, >95% in bottom ash.	most forms of Ni in waste are in bulky items which	1 mg m ⁻³ Ni metal 0.1 mg m ⁻	Not highly toxic, but a major cause of contact
	colourant in green glass	<i></i>	F F F	<u> </u>	limit release on burning bed	³ soluble Ni compounds	dermatitis and therefore of environmental
						Water soluble 0.1 mg m^{-3} ,	concern. Possibly carcinogenic.
						water insoluble U.5 mg m ⁻³	

metal	notable industrial uses ⁽¹⁾	typical	typical	volatility and partitioning behaviour	comments on occurrence in waste and distribution	workforce exposure limit (5)	comments on toxicology ⁽⁷⁾
		concentration	concentration	during incineration ⁽⁴⁾		UK workplace exposure limit	
		in earth: crust ⁽²⁾	s in municipal waste ⁽³⁾				
potassium	biologically significant, used in fertilisers	1.5	0.5%	has significant volatility, with 20-30% found in APC residue	Chloride probably responsible for volatility. Widely distributed in waste. Important in boiler corrosion	Short term limit of 2 mg m ⁻³ . No long term limit. <i>no set limit</i>	essential to life, not of major concern as a toxin
silicon	Significant (essentially inert) component of geological structure of earth. Used in electronics, construction, glass making.	27%	3. 7-3 .8% ⁽⁷⁾	Non volatile. ≥95% in bottom ash.	found largely in non-combustible wastes, largely unaffected by combustion process	most forms 6 – 10 mg m ⁻³ , though some forms more highly regulated. Most forms 10 mg m ⁻³ total inhalable, 4 mg m ⁻³ total repairable.	not of toxicological concern in normal geological forms
sodium	Sodium salts have widespread uses, e.g. in paper, glass, soap, petroleum industries. Flavouring in food, essential to life.	2.3%	0.3 – 1.5%	Not very volatile, with >90% remaining in bottom ash. However, there is good evidence of volatile transfer routes.	Found in wide variety of wastes. Volatile in coal combustion, so probably volatile at higher waste combustion temperatures (chloride).	No limit for metal or general compound classification. Sodium bisulphate 5 mg m ⁻³ , though specific compounds more regulated. As for US limits.	essential nutrient, not of toxicological concern in common forms
thallium	historical use as rodent poison, specialist glass products, semiconductors	0.53 ppm	0.2 ppm	Very scarce data. Appears to be non-volatile.	may participate in slag-forming reactions on burning bed	0.1 mg m ⁻³ total soluble T] (skin contact) <i>As for US limits</i> .	highly toxic, so common use is rare (compare concentration in rocks and waste)
tin	Metal plating, alloys. Significant in glass-making industry, historically used in biocides.	2.2 ppm	120 ppm	Significantly volatile. About 50% transfer to APC residue.	Widely used, mainly in alloys, plating and glasses. Chlorine probably important in volatility.	2 mg m ⁻³ total inorganic Sn 0.1 mg m ⁻³ organic tin As for US limits.	Tin in inorganic form not of major toxicological form, although organic forms (not thought to arise during incineration) highly toxic.
vanadium	Steel Alloys, catalysis	190 ppm	-	Very scarce data. Appears to be non-volatile.	mainly present in waste as alloys, in "non- accessible" form	No general limit for metal, though. V ₂ O ₅ has short term limit of 0.05 mg m ³ .	respiratory effects seen from occupational exposure, but not an environmental toxin
zinc	alloys, galvanizing, batteries, paints, plastics, many other processes and products	79 ppm	600-2000 ppm	Significantly volatile. About 40-50% transfer to APC residue.	Very widely used, in both combustible and non- combustible wastes. Metal, chloride and oxide may be important in volatility.	Zinc oxide, 10 mg m ⁻³ . Zinc chloride 1 mg m ⁻³ . Zinc distearate, 10 mg m ⁻³ , inhalable dust, 4 mg m ⁻³ repairable dust, zinc chloride fume, 1 mg m ⁻³	Essential to life, and not conventionally considered toxic. However, some compounds (e.g. chloride) more harmful, as is inhalation exposure.
 (Winter, (Winter, (Winter, (Winter, (Van De (Linak a Limit se (HSE, 2) (Goyer, (Belevi a) 	1993, US National Safety Cou 1993) or Sloot et al., 1997) and Wendt, 1993, Belevi and M t by the US occupational safety 005) 1996, Nicolas and Descotes, 19 and Moench, 2000b)	ncil, 2005) oench, 2000 and health 996)	a, Belevi and administration	Moench, 2000b, Van Der Sloot n (OSHA), time weighted averag	et al., 1997) e for 8 hour working day (Goyer, 1996)		



2.4 Analysis for Metals in Municipal Solid Waste and Incineration Residues

Section 2.1.7 explained the need for analytical methods which allow the quantification of metals in the residues from incineration, and if possible in the waste itself, in order to identify the presence and partitioning characteristics of different metals in the incineration process. When selecting an analytical method, it is most important to remember what is trying to be achieved, and to choose a technique which is capable of meeting those requirements. Usually, as with most operations, there is a payoff between the absolute quality of the results, and the cost and complexity of achieving them. Thus questions which must usually be answered are (Fifield and Haines, 1995):

- What is the analyte: what needs detecting, and in what matrix?
- What concentrations of analyte are anticipated: thus what detection limits are required?
- What precision and accuracy are acceptable?
- What turn-around time for analysis is acceptable: is a continuous, on-line technique required?
- Are in-situ measurements required, or is laboratory analysis acceptable?
- Can the process be improved by automation, or are the techniques operator reliant, and therefore expensive?
- What capital costs and running costs are involved?

Any chemical analysis is essentially a modular system, comprising of a number of essential steps, as given below:

Sample Collection. A sample of the material to be analysed must be collected. The sample must be representative of the bulk of material being analysed.

Sample Pre-treatment. The sample may need to be altered in some way to prepare it for chemical analysis. For example, if the sample is solid, and the analytical technique used requires a liquid sample, then it must be fully dissolved. If the analyte is at very low concentration, it may need concentrating (e.g. by reducing the sample volume) to a level where it can be measured.

Instrumental Analysis. The prepared sample must be analysed for the species of interest. Usually, analysis must be both qualitative and quantitative or semiquantitative.

For the analysis as a whole to be a success, each of these steps must be conducted in a satisfactory manner. Although sample collection may sound simple, obtaining a representative sample may be anything but straightforward, and ensuring that it is still representative when it reaches the analytical stage is even harder. Although pretreatment is often essential, it must be done with care, to ensure that the level of analyte being analysed is, in fact, reflective of the concentration in the original sample. When the sample is then analysed, the analysis must be capable of measuring the species of interest (i.e. specific), at the concentration encountered (i.e. sufficiently sensitive), in the matrix encountered. Usually, the analysis must be quantitative, or at least semi-quantitative (i.e. giving a good approximation to the actual concentration found in the sample) (Fifield and Haines, 1995). By answering the questions posed above, it is possible to define which techniques (of sample collection, pre-treatment and analysis) may be capable of achieving analysis to the required parameters. Having identified candidate techniques, an informed decision may be made on the basis of merits and drawbacks of different techniques (Fifield & Haines, 1995). However, in most cases, the first decision is the choice of instrument used, with the sample collection and pre-treatment techniques being optimised subsequently for the instrument which is being used for analysis.

For metals in municipal waste incineration, it is essential to know which metals (of those identified in section 2.3) are present, at what concentration. It is also desirable to know how concentrations vary with time, and what degree of homogeneity is observed in the samples taken. Some preliminary information on what values may be expected has been given in section 2.2.2. In order to obtain this, and further data, it is necessary to identify fundamental methods of unambiguously and quantitatively identifying multiple metals simultaneously, and consider how these techniques may be applied to the solids, liquids and gases which arise from waste and its incineration.

2.4.1 Analytical Instrumentation

Fundamental Detection Principles

In order to analyse a species effectively, a satisfactory detection technique must be found. In the case of metals, this means identifying some measurable parameter of that element which is specific to that one species, and which may be fairly readily detected. In terms of most basic chemistry, the atomic number of each element is unique, and so is characteristic of the element. However, it is not readily directly measured.

Mass Spectrometry

Linked to atomic number is atomic mass. Mass spectrometry is an established technique for determining the mass to charge ratio of species present in a sample which is ionised for analysis (Equation 1). Hence mass spectrometry can be used to determine atomic mass, provided that ionisation is controlled to minimise ionisations of more than one.

$$M + e^- \to M^+ + 2e^- \tag{1}$$

Atomic mass can be used to identify elements, provided that resolution is high enough, and that there is not too much interference from other species which have the same nominal mass as the metal being analysed. Illustrative interferences encountered during metal analysis by low-resolution mass spectrometry are shown in Table 14. Methods are available to overcome such problems, but add to the complexity of the analysis (Beauchemin, 2002). Quantification is possible by mass spectrometry, as detection is by means of the electronic current generated by the ions produced. Ionisation is proportional to the concentration of a species present in the sample, and the current is then proportional to the number of ions (of a given mass) which are present.

Table 14:	Possible interferences	in mass spectrometry	(Klinkenberg et al., 19	197)
-----------	------------------------	----------------------	-------------------------	------

Mass	26	27	54	55
Species	²⁶ Mg	²⁷ Al ¹² C ¹⁵ N	⁵⁴ Fe	⁵⁵ Mn ⁴⁰ A - ¹⁵ N
	CN	$^{13}C^{14}N$	40 Ar ¹⁴ N	AI N

For mass spectrometry, various spectrometers may be used. These include Single focusing, double focusing, Ion-trap, quadrupole or time-of-flight mass spectrometers. Typically, selection is based on the cost, size, and resolution of the different detection systems, and the ease with which it may be coupled to different instruments. Mass spectrometry is inherently more sensitive than optical techniques, but suffers from instrument fouling if used with dirty samples. Its use is therefore generally restricted to trace determination in relatively clean samples (Willard et al., 1981). Therefore, the techniques are not the most straightforward to apply to highly contaminated samples from waste incineration, so they are not considered in further detail here.

Optical Emission and Absorption Techniques

The other broad detection category is by **electromagnetic interaction** of species with their environment. Electromagnetic radiation (e.g. light, infra-red or ultra-violet radiation) which interacts with matter becomes quantised, and provided that the energy of **absorbed or emitted light** can be measured accurately, this can be shown to be characteristic of the analyte. Both atoms and molecules can be analysed by such electromagnetic techniques, from low energy Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, through to high energy Vacuum Ultra-Violet (VUV) spectrometry (Haines, 1995). The quantification of light which may interact with an atom occurs because of the behaviour of electrons in that element. These may only be at specific, discrete energy levels, and transfer of electrons between these levels requires the absorption or emission of specific quantities of energy, in the form of quantised electromagnetic waves.

The simplest and most familiar example of the quantisation of light interacting with matter is the flame test. It is why sodium salts make a flame burn with a bright orange colour, whereas copper salts cause the flame to turn blue-green. The most well-known and simple scientific study of the interaction of an element with electromagnetic radiation was with Hydrogen. Briefly, in 1885, Balmer discovered that the wave-number of the visible absorption lines of hydrogen were related (2). Further discoveries by Lyman, Paschen, and Rydberg led to the generalised formula (3):

$$\widetilde{\nu} \propto \frac{1}{2^2} - \frac{1}{n^2} \tag{2}$$

(where $\tilde{\nu}$ is the wavenumber (cm⁻¹), and n is an integer >2).

$$\widetilde{\nu} = \Re_H \left(\frac{1}{n_1^2} - \frac{1}{n_2^2} \right) \tag{3}$$

(where \Re_H is the Rydberg constant (=109677 cm⁻¹), $\tilde{\nu}$ is the wavenumber (cm⁻¹), n_1 is an integer, and $n_2 = n_1 + \ge 1$). This formula, and subsequently developed theory explains the quantisation of light which interacts with matter, and also why it differed for different elements (Atkins, 1994). It fully explains the observed spectra for elements, as shown in Figure 6 for hydrogen.



Figure 6: The hydrogen spectrum (Berg, 2003)

From early observations that the light absorbed or emitted by a species was characteristic of the elements it contained, irrespective of the molecules in which that element was found, the whole field of atomic spectrometry developed. Instrumental techniques have grown in complexity, and accuracy, speed, and quantification have all improved, but the underlying principles by which metals are identified remain the same.

For a complex system being analysed, there may be interferences at some wavelengths, where more than one element has an emission line at a similar value, making quantification difficult. However, optical techniques can still be used to identify all elements, as alternative lines may be found, because each element has far more than one transition line, as illustrated by Figure 6, which shows the transitions for the simplest element, hydrogen. More complex elements may have hundreds of transition lines (Haines, 1995). If an interference-free line cannot be found, modern instruments offer various computational corrections to improve measurements where spectral emissions overlap. For metallic elements, two types of **optical technique** dominate the analytical field; **absorption** and **emission spectrometry** of atomic or ionic species. Either technique aims to identify the characteristic transition wavelengths of an element of interest

Absorption spectroscopy involves exposing a sample to a broad range of wavelengths of electromagnetic radiation (a continuous spectrum such as a white light), and observing which are absorbed by the sample, causing excitation of the species to a higher energy level. This technique can work very well, but has some drawbacks. Firstly, it can be difficult to accurately measure absorption of one closely defined frequency, when detectors are easily saturated by the remaining un-absorbed light spectrum. Secondly, accurate resolution can be difficult where there are a large number of trace species present in a complex sample, or when molecular constituents in the sample matrix lead to broad-band emission of light (Winter, 1994, Skoog and West, 1986).

Emission spectroscopy still relies on the detection of specific light wavelengths, which are characteristic of particular elements. However, instead of exposing the sample to visible electromagnetic waves, and looking for "absences" in the transmitted spectrum, the sample is excited to a much higher energy level, usually through an ionisation technique, and observation is made of the wavelengths emitted by species as they return to the ground state. Once excited, species loose energy to return to the ground state, by emitting photons. These photons are quantised because transitions can only occur between accessible energy levels of the species. Thus provided accurate measurement can be made of the emitted light, to a high resolution, identification of all elements can be made (Winter, 1994, Skoog and West, 1986). Typical continuous, emission and absorption spectra are shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Continuous, emission and absorption spectra (Anonymous, 2003)

Once identification of a species is made, quantification of the analyte in the sample will be required. For emission spectroscopy, the intensity of emission can be measured electronically, and is proportional to the concentration of the species present, provided that the concentration does not exceed an upper detection limit, beyond which linearity is lost, due to saturation of the detector. Complex optical systems (diffraction gratings) are required to separate the emitted light into separate wavelengths, in order that detection of specific emissions can be measured separately. Recent advances in spectroscopy technology have been significant, and it is now possible to simultaneously detect and quantify a large number of different elements (typically around 40), taking advantage of complex detection systems that were not available previously (Skoog and West, 1986, Fifield and Haines, 1995).

Detection was first achieved using photo-multiplier tubes (PMT's). Diode arrays were then used, and now Charge-Coupled-Devices (CCD's) are available, offering all the advantages of solid-state electronics. In essence, the CCD is similar to that found in a digital camera. The advance of detector technologies has allowed simultaneous detection of multiple elements, rather than sequential detection (Fifield and Haines, 1995). The move from diode arrays to CCD's has also allowed an advance in background correction abilities, leading to reduced matrix effects (Hassaine et al., 2001). The ability to record the whole analytical spectrum, which has been made possible through CCD detection is most useful in research and development applications, as it allows the user to confirm and re-quantify results after they have been collected, and examine spectral interferences in far more detail (Poole et al., 2005).

Different Instrumental Excitation Techniques.

If mass spectroscopy or emission spectrometry is to be used to identify metals in analytical samples, it is necessary to obtain excited atoms and ions, from which light and/or electrons is emitted. This requires that atoms in the sample become highly energised, and thus a source of excitation energy is required. Traditionally, this has been a thermal source, such as a flame or furnace although the field of instrumental chemical analysis has changed considerably in recent years due to the introduction of plasma-based excitation sources (Fifield and Haines, 1995, Thompson and Walsh, 1989).

Thermal Techniques.

Classical instrumental analysis techniques employed thermal excitation sources, leading to Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (FAAS), and ElectroThermal Atomic Absorption Spectrometry (ETAAS), one example of which is the graphite Furnace AAS (GFAAS). These are all electromagnetic absorbance detection systems, but they differ in that they have thermal excitation sources. These tend to give poorer detection limits for hard-to-ionise elements due to lower excitation temperatures, and have the drawbacks of absorption over emission spectrometry which were outlined above. However, for relatively low energy excitation sources such as these, this is still preferable to emission spectrometry (Ward, 1995).

Flame Emission Spectrometry (FES), also known as flame photometry, is an emission technique based on a thermal source. However, a complex experimental set-up, using high temperature combustion is used to get good atomic/ionic emission from a flame source (Ward, 1995).

Through such techniques, sensitive, specific analysis of trace or ultra-trace concentrations of metals became possible. However, significant subsequent improvements became possible with the introduction of non-thermal excitation sources. Due to their higher excitation energies, these sources made mass spectroscopy techniques, as well as spectrometry techniques, available for the analysis of metals, as significant ionisation of analytes could be readily achieved.

Plasma Techniques.

A plasma is a "...discharge in which densities of ions and electrons are high but substantially equal"; a region in which a significant proportion of the species present are ionised (Tonks and Langmuir, 1929). In analytical chemistry a plasma can be a useful ionisation method, for mass spectrometry or emission spectroscopy (Mollah et al., 2000). The temperature in a plasma is typically in the region of 6000 - 8000°C, and ionisation of atoms is substantial, leading to strong emission signals for optical detection, or large numbers of ions for mass spectrometry. One drawback over cooler ion sources is that the increased emission makes line overlap in emission spectrometry (i.e. interference) more common. This problem may be overcome with higher resolution detectors, through selection of different emission lines, or through computational correction of interferences (Fifield and Haines, 1995).

Numerous methods have been used to generate plasmas, many of which can be used in an analytical context. The use of the popular Inductively Coupled Plasmas as ion sources for spectroscopy was first developed in 1964-5 (Greenfield, 1964, Wednt and Fassel, 1965). Since then, research into these techniques has been substantial, to the point where any regular review of any aspect of analytical chemistry will contain tens or hundreds of references to developments in the field of ICP techniques (Beauchemin, 2002).

The Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) is by far the most common plasma type in general analytical chemistry. A radio-frequency electromagnetic field is applied to a sample of gas, which becomes ionised as a result of the high energy density in the region. The plasma may be sustained in air, Helium or Argon (Baldwin et al., 1995, Gomes et al., 1997, Mollah et al., 2000), but most standard analytic techniques use an **Argon Plasma**, as the argon helps to maintain a stable plasma, and ionise the analytic sample, which is introduced into the middle of the plasma, and undergoes ionisation (Figure 8) (Fifield and Haines, 1995, Thompson and Walsh, 1989).



Figure 8: The ICP torch (Tyler and Horiba, 2000)

Depending on the analytical requirements, other plasma generators may be employed. The simplest is the electric spark, which causes ionisation through electric discharge. Laser Induced Plasmas, Microwave Induced Plasmas, and Capacitively induced plasmas have all been generated, and used for analytical purposes, but for general sensitive analytic work, none are as popular as the argon ICP (French et al., 2000, Meyer and Barnes, 1985). This tends to mean that although justification can be made for these other techniques for specific applications, the ICP is better for general work, purely because of the wealth of expertise available on their use.

Temporal stability and reliable ionisation are the characteristics which make argon ICP so popular. Laser and spark sources are pulsed, i.e. discontinuous, which makes spectral interpretation more difficult. In addition, these sources provide higher energy upon discharge, which can cause ionisations of greater than one, which adds to the complexity of the resultant spectrum (Fraser, 1999). The plasma volume created is smaller with these ionisation techniques, which means that ensuring the ionised sample is representative of the bulk is more difficult (Hunter et al., 2000), although in specific applications this can be an advantage (e.g. laser ablation allows the distribution of a metallic species throughout a solid sample to be determined to see whether surface and bulk properties are different (Beauchemin, 2002).

However, for general analytical work, the argon ICP appears to be the most useful method of generating ions. Those ions may be identified and quantified by mass spectrometry or optical spectroscopy, which are each discussed below.

Calibration Strategies.

In essence, whichever analytic system is chosen, the basic means of calibration is the same. A set of standards of known concentration are used to construct a calibration curve. Ideally, measurements are in the region of linearity of the curve. The limit of detection (DL) of the curve is the point at which an analyte signal is usually taken to be twice the magnitude of the standard deviation (SD) of the background (zero) signal. although higher detection limits may be used in more difficult analytical applications. However, a liquid sample cannot be readily introduced into an ion-generating region. so a means of aspiration is required. This is achieved with a nebuliser. Most are variations on a pneumatic nebuliser, which rely on the flow of a gas to aspirate the sample. Some are more sophisticated and use an ultrasonic vibration to generate smaller sample droplets at greater efficiency (Willard et al., 1981, Gomes et al., 1997). For the analysis of liquids, this system works well, provided the sample matrix is similar between samples and standards, and nebulisation efficiency remains constant. However, it is impossible in this context to review every nebulisation and calibration system available, and further detail will only be examined for the actual analytical system employed.

Summary

It can be very difficult to decide between different analytical techniques, especially given the wide variation between systems, depending on their optimisation. Frequently, the choice is based more on cost and availability than on absolute analytical parameters. It has been explained that ICP techniques now dominate the field, and with good reason, and that OES is preferable to MS, if OES is adequate. However, the choice is still not always obvious, and a summary of salient points of different systems is given in Table 15.

parameter	FAAS	ICP-OES	ICP-MS
initial Cost (f^1)	10 000 - 15 000	~ 50 000	110 000 - 115 000
running Costs ¹	low	medium	high
multi-element capability	separate measurements	simultaneous	simultaneous
overall advantages	good for general analysis	good for general	good for trace and ultra
	of a limited number of analytes: robust, cheap	sensitive analysis	trace analysis of "clean" samples
overall disadvantages	sensitivity, inability to measure multiple	sensitivity for some elements and ultra-	cost and stability
	elements simultaneously	trace analytes	

Table 15: A comparison of different analytical techniques

¹ (Cox, 2002)

For the analysis of metals in incinerator residues, ICP-OES was selected as the best overall analytical technique. Given the high concentrations of analyte expected, it was felt that the extra cost and complexity of a mass spectrometry system could not be justified, and there were also considerable concerns about the suitability and durability of a mass-spectroscopy based system for such contaminated samples. Plasma excitation was clearly advantageous for such samples, as the sample matrix is frequently difficult (amorphous, and variable), and an argon ICP was chosen. Given that it is among the most common techniques, within the field of advanced instrumental methods for metals, this was felt to be an advantage, because the technology was relatively robust, and the amount of information on system use was relatively high, which was felt to be an advantage for a research tool.

2.4.2 Sample Collection and Pre-Treatment for ICP-OES Detection

Conventionally, ICP-OES is used for the analysis of metals in liquid samples. Indeed, most standard analytical techniques for metals are designed to analyse liquids. As explained, incinerators produce solid residues, which usually require extensive pretreatment prior to analysis, and gases, which require special sample collection procedures, as well as pre-treatment.

It should be noted that it is possible to analyse gases directly by ICP-OES, but techniques for doing this are experimental, being at the development stage still. Given the advantage identified in being able to sample incineration products continuously, gas analysis techniques for metals would be a great advance, as continuous monitoring of stack gas could be employed. However, this is a very specialist application of ICP-OES, and will be addressed separately in section 2.5. (Nore et al., 1993, French et al., 2000, Clarkson et al., 2003, Poole et al., 2005).

Liquid samples are therefore the easiest to analyse by ICP-OES. They may be analysed directly, possibly following dilution, or treatment (e.g. with acid) to break down complex structures in the sample matrix (e.g. suspended solids). Dilution may be required to ensure that the analyte concentration is within the range of linearity of the calibration curve of the instrument. (Fifield and Haines, 1995). Compared with solid residues, obtaining a representative sample of a liquid is relatively straightforward. However, given that incinerator operating conditions and waste feed change from day-to-day and week-to-week, it is difficult to assess whether a sample of water taken for analysis on a particular day is representative of that effluent stream all the time. However, because water samples mix well, and don't suffer from concentration gradients, it should be possible to obtain a sample of less than a litre, which is representative of the effluent stream at the time the sample is taken (Fifield and Haines, 1995, Van Der Sloot et al., 1997, Morf and Brunner, 1998). **Gaseous** samples require trapping to be analysed in the liquid phase. This may be achieved using impinger solutions. Alternatively, a solid sorbent may be used to trap the gas, which is then treated as a solid sample (see below). Isokinetic sampling is employed to ensure representative particulate sampling, and heated sample lines are used to minimise condensation and deposition. Gases are usually difficult to sample, and the methods employed are complex, and difficult to accurately implement (Cooper, 1994, Clarke, 1998, Fifield and Haines, 1995). While it is possible to obtain a representative, isokinetic sample of flue gas for a particular monitoring period (typically of $\frac{1}{2}$ hour to 8 hours), it is questionable whether that sample is representative of the gas stream, if such samples are only taken once or twice a year (Clarke, 1998, Poole et al., 2005, Van Der Sloot et al., 1997). However, at present this is considered to be the best way to measure metals, until continuous monitoring techniques become available (European Community Legislation, 2000a).

Solid Samples from incineration would tend to be highly inhomogeneous and so would lend themselves more to solution analysis than any of the solid analysis techniques, assuming that information is required on the bulk composition rather than on specific constituents of a particular incineration product. While samples are only taken infrequently, this is certainly the case. Usually, a strong mineral acid, or acid mixture (e.g. hydrofluoric acid, hydrochloric + nitric acid, perchloric acid mixture) is used to dissolve the sample. Remaining solids may have to be filtered off or compacted by centrifugation, but it must be borne in mind that some of the analyte will very possibly be lost in this way, particularly if the analyte is poorly soluble in the acid chosen. Ash samples can be dissolved and analysed in solution successfully, as can solid sorbents used to trap gaseous samples (Beauchemin, 2002, Ward, 1995).

For some analytes, a great deal of information can be gained by analysing samples directly as solids (e.g. by X-ray or neutron diffraction). Although these techniques are extremely powerful, and can give important information such as molecular arrangement and chemical speciation, they are not capable of routine quantitative analysis. For incinerator residues, and waste, the high sample inhomogeneity means that the sort of sample which may be analysed by such means is unlikely to be representative of the bulk material, and therefore these techniques are not reviewed further here (Fifield and Haines, 1995).

In order to obtain a representative sample of residue from an incinerator, or even of waste itself, extremely large samples are required, due to the fact that these streams are so inhomogeneous. For a detail study, several kg of APC dust would be required to be taken and mixed to a homogenous form. Similarly, for bottom ash, tens or hundreds of Kg are required, sampled periodically over an extended sample collection time. For waste, hundreds of Kg, or even tonnes may be required, again sampled for an extended period. Indeed, the problems of sampling waste are so great that it has been suggested that it is better to analyse the incineration residues, and calculate waste composition from this, rather than trying to analyse the waste itself (Belevi and Moench, 2000b, Morf and Brunner, 1998, Van Der Sloot et al., 1997).

Thus all the products of incineration may be presented for analysis, with varying degrees of ease depending on the sample matrix. Standard methods for the analysis of incinerator residues exist, based around the techniques discussed (British Standard 1756, 1971, British Standard 3405, 1983, British Standard EN13657:2001, 2001, US

EPA Standard 3050B, 1996, Reimann, 1989). Details of the methods which have been used for this work, which are based on these standard methods are given in Chapter 3 and Appendix 2. However, it has been seen that due to sampling problems, and the complexity of the sample preparation, these methods can only give incomplete information on metal behaviour during incineration. The methods for solid residues are unlikely to be able to give good time-resolved information on temporal variations in the process. Therefore, section 2.5 is dedicated to the examination of new continuous monitoring techniques, which may give further information on temporal variations in metal concentrations in gases, so providing new information on the incineration process.

2.5 On-Line analysis of Metals in Environmental Samples

As with any other field, environmental analytical chemistry is constantly developing. As analytical technology improves, as does any electronics-based technology, detection limits improve, analysis times are reduced, instrument cost and size are reduced, and resolution is improved. However, as well as these continual improvements, a step-change in analytical requirements is being observed. Historically, samples would be collected of a material of interest, such as an ash, soil, or process water, and would be returned to the laboratory for analysis, as explained for incineration samples in section 2.4. However, as environmental awareness has grown, and legislative requirements have become more rigorous, there has been a move towards the requirement for **Continuous**, **On-line**, **automated analysis** of process products.

Continuous monitoring is preferable, in that it allows real-time data acquisition (which may be linked to feedback control systems). Such data can be directly related to current process conditions, and specific problems or optimisations can be identified. Thus it can immediately be seen if there is a problem in a process, and as such if emissions are above set limits. In this case, corrective action can immediately be taken, provided that results are available rapidly enough. This is in contrast to traditional discrete sampling, where the results may take days or weeks to arrive, and when they do, they are time-averaged for the length of the monitoring period (as determined by the size of the sample collected). If the emissions are excessive or the product unsatisfactory, it is too late to alter the process, and modifications or improvement can only be made retrospectively. However, the advantages of on-line monitoring are accompanied by increased equipment complexity and cost, if indeed such equipment is available, although these may be offset by reduced sample preparation requirements and costs (Ward, 1995).

If metal emissions in incinerator residues were to be measured continuously, this would provide extra information for the regulators, and also information on plant operation, which would allow process optimisation. Sampling after the APC device would indicate stack emissions, and pre-APC measurement would give measurements which were indicative of the composition of APC residues. There would seem to be little interest in continuous measurement of bottom ash composition, which is probably technically near-impossible in any case, given its inhomogeneity, and difficulties associated with obtaining representative samples as a result (Reimann, 1989).

With modern analytical instrumentation, continuous monitoring of some sample streams may be quite straightforward. The analytical instrumentation is essentially the

same as that described in section 2.4, with relatively minor modifications of the sample introduction system for on-line analysis. A liquid sample can be pumped from the process to the analyser, and provided that extensive pre-treatment is not required, can be introduced as a standard liquid sample, with the instrument set to take multiple measurements (Spectro, 2005). Even homogeneous solids, such as steel samples, can be analysed in a completely automated manner (Kamphoff, 2004). Inhomogeneous solid samples are more problematic, although a solid analysis technique could in theory be used, or an automated dissolution system could be created. Laser ablation could be used to continuously introduce solid samples to an ICP, but there appears to be no literature references to the use of such techniques to samples of this nature.

Gaseous samples can be introduced continuously to a plasma, or indeed a plasma can be generated inside a duct carrying a gas. External plasmas require that an isokinetic sample of gas be pumped to the analyser, and this can lead to problems of deposition in the line, and so inaccurate sampling and analysis (Gomes et al., 1997, Seltzer, 2000). Frequently, the instrument itself will require modification to accept a gaseous sample stream. In-situ plasmas overcome this problem, but may suffer other problems, such as contamination or degradation of detection optics, or the intrinsic limitations of the type of technique applicable in this manner. Frequently, such instruments are custom-made for the purpose, so lack the flexibility afforded by using a standard analytical instrument (Woskov et al., 1996, French et al., 2000, Trassy, 1996). Nevertheless, for relatively clean and stable gas streams, accurate, sensitive monitoring of metals in gases can be achieved (Klinkenberg et al., 1997). However, the application of continuous monitoring techniques to the relatively difficult matrix of flue gas is still in the developmental stage, and is the focus of the following section.

2.5.1 Continuous Emissions Monitoring Technologies for Metals in Gases

Experimental Continuous Emissions Monitoring (CEM) techniques began appearing in the literature in the mid-1990's (Nore et al., 1993, Seltzer and Green, 1994, Peng et al., 1995). Previously, there had been very little by way of multi-element continuous monitoring which may have been applicable to gaseous emissions from industrial processes. The techniques applied to gaseous emissions, described in the literature, are inductively coupled plasma – mass spectrometry (ICP-MS), laser induced plasma/breakdown spectrometry (LIPS/LIBS), spark-induced breakdown spectroscopy (SIBS), Air inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (Air-ICP-OES), and also Argon inductively coupled plasma – optical/Atomic emission spectrometry (Air-ICP-OES or Air-ICP-AES) (Klinkenberg et al., 1997, Flower et al., 1994, Fraser, 1999, Gomes et al., 1996, Meyer and Lee, 1994).

All these techniques rely on the formation of ions in a plasma. Optical Emission detection systems appear to be dominating the field, due to their lower cost (Gomes et al., 1997), although as shown above, there was little early consensus over the choice of plasma source. However, high water or CO_2 levels in the sample reduce sensitivity, due to the strong molecular absorptions of plasma breakdown products from these molecules, making the acquisition of good quality data non-trivial (Seltzer, 1998).

Since their first introduction to the literature, there has been significant interest in CEM techniques for flue gases, but little sustained research support, meaning that only one metals CEM is commercially available (French et al., 2000, Cooper, 2004). This unit is a quasi-continuous monitor, only producing 1 result about every 20 minutes. While this is a great advance for end-of-process regulatory monitoring, it does not
have the temporal resolution desired for combustion system investigation, where the aim would be to link output changes to process or input changes on a minute-byminute basis. In section 2.5.2 the main components of a metals CEM will be described, and their function discussed. This will be followed by a review of the techniques developed so far, with an assessment of their suitability for the monitoring purposes described in this work.

2.5.2 Key System Components

The basic components of the metals CEM are the same, regardless of the actual analytical system involved; a continuous sample collection system, often with a subsampling system, a calibration system, an excitation source (plasma), a detection system (optical spectrometry or mass spectroscopy), and a computer control/data collection system. Wide variations are seen in how these components are realised, depending on other parts of the system and its specification. For example, sample lines between 1-40 m have been used, depending on the size of the detection unit, (and thus how remote it must be from the stack) and the availability of optical linking systems(Woskov et al., 1996, Gomes et al., 1997, Seltzer, 2000).

Sampling Line and Sub-Sampling System

For effective continuous monitoring, a system is required to transport the sample from the source (e.g. flue) to the analytical instrument. In the case of gases, isokinetic sampling is required, after which the sample is pumped continuously, at high temperature (above the dew-point of the gas or its components), to the analysis system (Clarke, 1998). In order to maintain sample integrity, and avoid particulate deposition in significantly contaminated gases, the tube diameter must be relatively large (8 - 14 mm), and so sampling volumes are large, in order to maintain velocity, which again is required for good particulate transport. For large, remote analysers, these sampling devices need to be of significant length. However, the volumes of gas transported from the stack are far too large to be introduced to an analytical instrument, and a subsampling, or may be based on a closed-loop sampling system. These sampling systems are difficult to design and operate successfully, and are often one of the largest sources of error in metals CEM (Trassy et al., 1997, Trassey, 2001, Clarke, 1998).

Sometimes, depending on the plasma type, the plasma may be produced in the gas stream being analysed, negating the need for a sample extraction system. For example, laser techniques may be operated in this way. However, optical linking to the detector system is required, and can be problematic. Generally, the additional design and robustness requirements of an in-situ device approximately balance out the advantages of an in-situ sampling system over an extractive sampling device, leading to similar sensitivities, stabilities, and drift etc (Woskov et al., 1996). Smaller, stack-based devices often suffer problems with inferior analytical systems, which do not match the performance of standard laboratory instruments, hosed further away (Timmermans et al., 2003, Trassy, 1996).

Calibration System

In the analysis of liquids, both the calibration standard solutions and the samples are introduced to the analyser by nebulisation, which produces a sample aerosol. However, for gases, calibration is less straightforward, as gaseous standards are effectively unavailable. The technique most commonly employed is to use a nebuliser and some sort of aerosol drying system to introduce aerosols of dry metal particulates in order to calibrate the instrument. However, the method is subject to some criticism, as it is not clear how representative the calibration is of the actual sampling conditions. Careful characterisation of the nebuliser, and matching of the transport gas to the analyte gas is required (Gomes et al., 1997). Selection of an appropriate nebuliser, and optimisation of its operation, is most important, as nebulisation efficiencies can vary widely, leading to variations in instrument sensitivity (Seelig and Broekaert, 2001). Various other calibration methods have been tried, but this is by far the most established (Fraser, 1999, Trassy, 1996).

Excitation Source

Excitation sources in metals CEM are at least as varied as in conventional analysis (section 2.4.1) Further excitation sources such as microwave plasmas, lasers, and electric sparks have been suggested for stack monitoring. The main differences are in size and power, which dictates the size and remoteness of the monitoring system, and hence the sample collection requirements. Details of different plasma sources are given for individual techniques in section 2.5.3. However, for effective particulate and molecular gas excitation, a high power source is generally required (French et al., 2000, Trassy, 1996, Trassey, 1997).

Detection and Control System

As with excitation sources, the type of detection and control system used is widely variable. The control is now always PC-based. However, there does seem to be a significant quality difference between different detectors, with a noticeable difference in many cases between results obtained with commercial instruments, adapted for gas analysis, and with custom instruments, where the detection systems are often inferior (French et al., 2000, Trassy, 1996, Trassey, 1997, Timmermans et al., 2003, Woskov et al., 2000).

2.5.3 Existing Metals CEM Techniques – Key Features

Of course, the precise nature of the systems used depends on their intended purpose. Research based machines tend to be larger, and possibly less robust, whereas systems designed for eventual permanent installation in process plant may be more robust and cheaper, at the expense of giving less detailed and less sensitive measurement. A brief description of each of the published techniques is given in Table 16, with an overview of the relative merits of each, and their current status in the market.

2.5.4 Selection of a System for Metals CEM in a Municipal Waste Incinerator

Thus it is seen that many different systems, with different configurations have been investigated for metals monitoring in stack gases and other gases. For the current work, argon ICP-OES was selected as the most appropriate technique, due to its established use in metals analysis and the resulting amount of information available on the technique, the flexibility of the system (i.e. a commercial instrument), and the good detection limits seen from ICP-OES in stack gases (French et al., 2000). Full details of our specific system are given in Chapter 3.

Table 16: Comparison of different metals CEM techniques

system	extractive or in-situ measurement?	key features / details	capital cost	typical detection limits(mg m ⁻³)	history	Selected references
Ar-ICP-OES (US group)	extractive	Established ICP instrumentation. Biggest weaknesses sample line (possible deposition?) and sample interface (closed loop or virtual impactor).	moderate	0.005-0.0001	Developed mid-late '90s. Less published work recently, understood not to be under active development.	(Seltzer, 2000, Seltzer and Meyer, 1997, Meyer and Lee, 1994, Meyer, 1991)
Ar-ICP-OES (French group)	extractive	Established ICP instrumentation. Sampling and calibration still the biggest issues. Seems now to be an entirely laboratory-based system.	moderate	0.01-0.0002	Developed mid-late '90s, from air-ICP initial work. Tool now in use for laboratory furnace investigation. Good quality publications relatively often. Still Active.	(Trassy and Diemaizonek, 1994, Trassey, 1997, Trassy, 1996, Abanades et al., 2001, Abanades et al., 2003)
air-ICP-OES (US group)	stack-mounted extractive	improved running costs (no argon), fair detection limits, advantages of in-situ technique (less sampling issues)	moderate	Not available	Developed mid-late '90's. No recent publications, assumed to be abandoned at present.	Reported in (French et al., 2000)
air-ICP-OES (French group)	extractive	improved running costs (no argon), some sensitivity issues		0.01-0.001	Developed mid-late '90's. No recent publications, assumed to be abandoned at present.	(Gomes et al., 1998, Gomes et al., 1996, Nore et al., 1993)
Ar-MIP-AES	stack-mounted extractive, could be in- situ	potentially very good, but some sensitivity issues	moderate	0.1-0.001	Developed mid-late '90's. No recent publications, assumed to be abandoned at present.	(Woskov et al., 1999, Woskov et al., 1996)
air-MIP-OES	extractive	potentially good, but only demonstrated in the laboratory to date	moderate	0.0004-0.0029 in lab conditions	Developed late 1990's. No publications since 2001, assumed to be abandoned at resent.	(Seelig and Broekaert, 2001)
laser induced breakdown / plasma	in-situ, laboratory tests extractive	Most developed in-situ technique. Some detection limit issues. Of interest as in-situ	high at present but potentially	0.4-0.002	Continued development mid-1990's onwards. No information on current developments since 2001.	(Flower et al., 1994, Peng et al., 1995, French et al., 2000, Zhang et al., 1999,
spectroscopy (LIBS/LIPS)		technique. Calibration issues remain.	competitive	0.0001-0.06	Most prolific CEM publishers over a sustained period.	Zhang et al., 2001b, Buckley et al., 2000)
laser induced breakdown / plasma spectroscopy (LIBS/LIPS)	extractive at present, but could be in-situ	only demonstrated in laboratory so far, limited range of elements investigated	presumed to be potentially competitive	0.4-0.002	first publication 1994, most recent 2000	
spark induced breakdown / plasma spectroscopy (SIBS/SIPS)	in-situ	In situ monitoring device, therefore of interest. Suffers detection limit problems. Running costs could be low.	lower	0.001-0.1	Developed mid-late '90's. No publications for air monitoring since 2001. assumed to be abandoned at present.	(Fraser, 1999, Fraser et al., 2000, Hunter et al., 2000)
`MIP-OES	near-stack extractive	Minimises the problems of sample transport by being near stack. However, detection system leaves much to be desired. Interesting as only group to attempt to measure contaminated (pre clean-up) stack gas.	moderate	not given, but stated to be poor compared with Ar-ICP techniques	First paper published in 2003, therefore assumed to be still active. Thus of interest as unique in examination of contaminated gas.	(Timmermans et al., 2003)
ICP-MS (speculative characteristics for flue gas monitoring)	extractive	highest sensitivity available if required	high	demonstrated to be <0.001 ng m ⁻³ in some case	has not been applied to stack monitoring, but shown good potential elsewhere	(Klinkenberg et al., 1997)
X-ray diffraction of depositions collected on a filter	extractive	Automated system giving a result every 20m or so. Commercially available, understood to be expecting regulatory endorsement soon. Uses commercial XRF. Time resolution not suitable for system variation investigations in MSW incineration.	will be competitive if sold in volume	less than required limits, not given specifically	under commercial development for many years (1990's), but very few literature publications	(Cooper, 1994, Cooper, 2004)

2.6 Theoretical Prediction of Metal Behaviour in Thermal Systems

The aim of modelling the behaviour of metal compounds in incinerators is to determine where the metals entering the incinerator leave the incinerator, either in the bottom ash, APC residue, or flue gas. Having seen how important this is, in terms of the incineration process, its environmental impact, it should be clear why an improved theoretical understanding of how metals behave in such systems is important. Following initial experimental investigations of metal partitioning, many studies have attempted to model the behaviour of metals in incinerators and other combustion systems, with varying degrees of success, and using different modelling techniques (Brunner and Monch, 1986, Linak and Wendt, 1993, Barton et al., 1990, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000). Essentially there are two main approaches to this task, as explained below:

In thermodynamic equilibrium modelling, it is assumed that all the components in the fuel are exposed to the conditions found in the combustion system, and reach full thermodynamic equilibrium with one another, yielding solid, liquid, and vapour products (Delay et al., 2001, Wu and Biswas, 1993). Both pure species and mixtures (slags and melts) may be obtained. The volatility of different products determines which species leaves the furnace as a vapour (which is captured in the APC device, or emitted with stack gas), or are retained in the solid (bottom ash). These studies not only give indications of the species which are important in metal transport, but can also indicate which system variables (e.g. plant temperature, chlorine concentration in waste) may have a significant effect on metal distribution (Wu et al., 1994). However, if they are solely thermodynamic in nature, they cannot account for entrainment, which is also important in metal transport.

A second equilibrium calculation can be performed for the gas cooling in the APC system, for those species transferred to the gas phase, to determine whether they are trapped by the APC devices as the temperature falls, or whether they are emitted to atmosphere. In such a calculation, it could be assumed that all condensed species were captured by an efficient APC. Theoretically, a thermodynamic calculation could be applied to a lime or activated carbon scrubber system, but this does not appear to have been done to date.

The other main approach is to use aerosol dynamics to predict what will happen to metal vapours, or airborne particulates, which are carried from the furnace in the flue gas stream. Some information on particulate transport was given in section 2.2.2. Nucleation, condensation, coagulation and deposition are described mathematically, and these calculations are used to predict what will happen to the aerosol size distribution by the time it reaches the APC device. Capture by the APC device is based on the size of particles in the aerosol, as the capture efficiencies for different (non-reactive) particles are relatively well known (Lockwood and Yousif, 2000, Wu et al., 1994). These models identify the need to incorporate more thermodynamic and reactivity data, to improve model accuracy. The other major limitation of aerosol dynamic models is that they only apply to evaporative transport mechanisms, and do not account for entrained material, even though aerosol dynamics ought to be able to describe entrainment.

Initially, models fell into one of these two distinct categories, either using theories of aerosol dynamics, or of thermodynamic equilibrium. However, more sophisticated recent models began to integrate the two techniques, using thermodynamic predictions

to assess which metals leave the combustion chamber with the stack gas, and using aerosol dynamics to predict the fate of these compounds on their course through the incinerator (Barton et al., 1990, Wu et al., 1994). Such models evidently have more potential to describe the partitioning of different metals overall, but to date, such methods have been limited in their success, often requiring extensive empirical correction, due to the limitations of the underlying modelling approaches.

Ideally, the aim of modelling metal behaviour in a combustion system would be to produce a fully descriptive kinetic model, of how and why any metal behaves the way it does in the system. Numerous reactions would have to be considered in terms of equilibrium and kinetics, and aerosol dynamics would have to be calculated in full. However, the input data requirements (in terms of the fuel, and the process), would be extremely significant, and any results would be highly specific to a particular plant working under specific conditions. Work on a simplified kinetic model of this nature has been begun for mercury (Sliger et al., 2000). Although still under development, this technique shows very promising initial results.

However, a major problem of increasing model complexity is the data availability, both to create the model, and as an input for the model, if it is to account for variations in the process. In fact, this is often the main problem with any of the modelling approaches when applied to MSWI. Information on the waste feed, or the nature of the combustion on the burning bed, is simply not known to the required accuracy. Even if it were, such values would be subject to change with combustion conditions to a degree where the modelled results would vary unacceptably, given the range of operating conditions which may normally be encountered, unless the model was run for multiple combustion conditions, according to the data obtained on the combustion process at a given time. Thus the need for improved modelling techniques is always balanced by the need for better information on the incineration process on which the model can be founded.

The verification of the accuracy of models can also be a problem. This is especially true for MSWI, where the input waste is particularly poorly characterised. In contrast, models for coal or hazardous waste incineration, where the input composition is better known, have been more verifiable (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Delay et al., 2001). For a waste stream as diverse and inhomogeneous as municipal waste, it is doubtful whether any model could ever be fully quantitative and fully predictive of residue compositions, unless it was an on-line model, which was able to re-calculate results on the basis of the waste input (which would need to be well known), and the combustion conditions, on minute-by-minute basis. Nevertheless, the models which are available allow us to gain an improved understanding of how physical and chemical parameters determine metal partitioning, and investigate theoretically how changing processes can change metal behaviour. This has already been seen to some extent for particle behaviour in section 2.2.2 (Delay et al., 2001, Yousif et al., 1998). This section reviews existing information on the techniques available, and what they tell us about the combustion process.

2.6.1 Thermodynamic Modelling

In this technique, all the components in the waste are considered to be in equilibrium with one another, and predictions are made as to which species are formed, and at what concentration for all the elements considered. The volatility of these predicted products is used to judge whether these will then partition into the bottom ash, or be carried in the gas phase through the incinerator. These models can be extremely useful, as they consider what species may form, and which are important in determining metal volatility or non-volatility (Fernandez et al., 1992).

Underlying Principles

The thermodynamic principles involved are essentially simple. Any reactant mixture is in equilibrium with any possible reaction products, at any given temperature. Reaction will occur if enthalpy of formation (reaction) is exceeded, and a mixture of starting materials and products will result. The equilibrium point is dependent on the thermodynamics of the possible reactions, and on the heat capacities of the products (Atkins, 1994):

$\Delta \mathbf{G} = \Delta \mathbf{H} - \mathbf{T} \Delta \mathbf{S}$

(where G is the Gibbs free energy $(J \text{ mol}^{-1})$, H is the enthalpy $(J \text{ mol}^{-1})$, T is the temperature (K), and S is the entropy $(J \text{ K}^{-1} \text{ mol}^{-1})$

and

$\Delta \mathbf{G} = -\mathbf{R}\mathbf{T}\,\ln\,\mathbf{K}$

(where G is the Gibbs free energy $(J \text{ mol}^{-1})$, R is the gas constant (8.31451 J K⁻¹mol⁻¹), T is the temperature (K), and K is the equilibrium constant (no units), which is dependent on the quotient of the reaction products and the reaction starting materials).

These two basic physical equations can be used to predict the equilibrium distribution between a set of reactants and products at a given temperature, through minimisation of the Gibbs free energy, provided that the necessary physical data is available for all the compounds concerned. For a simple reaction, with a limited number of reactants and products, such as the reaction between a metal and oxygen, calculation of the global energy minimum is simple. Essentially, the question to be answered is whether the metal or its oxide is more stable at the temperature and oxygen concentration being considered, and if an oxide, then which oxidation state.

In essence, the principle of the prediction gets no more complex than this, but actual calculation increases dramatically, as further reactants and possible products are introduced, especially when non-binary systems are considered, (e.g. those where there are more than one metal which may react with an anion, and where more than one anion is available to react with each metal). In these situations, actually describing a problem which may be solved can be challenging, and the computational requirements for a solution can be significant. In many cases, the data requirements for accurate calculation are substantial, and much of the data has to be assumed or approximated (Argent, 2004). Further details of the computational method actually used are given in Chapter 4.

Literature developments of Thermodynamic Modelling techniques

One of the first attempts at thermodynamic prediction of possible reactions in a MSW incinerator was in 1988 (Lee, 1988). Unusually, this work casts governing equations in the form of chemical potentials, rather than Gibbs free energy, for their own convenience, but this in no way affects the results obtained. The model is useful from

(4)

(5)

an illustrative point of view, but the detail is subject to some criticism, as it considers insufficient reacting species, most notably for slagging reactions, which tend to increase the proportion of volatile metal which is retained in the bottom ash(Paoletti et al., 2000, Delay et al., 2001). Significant improvements have been made in the data available for such modelling in the intervening years (Argent, 2004).

Nevertheless, early predictions for Hg, Pb, & Cr are obtained. It is predicted that 100% of mercury and lead entering the furnace leave as vapour, in all of the operating conditions considered. The high transfer to gas phase reflects the lack of consideration of slagging reactions. However, the important combustion variables of temperature, chlorine concentration and excess air are identified and considered, though not simultaneously, due to the limitations of the computations available at that time (Lee, 1988).

The initial work by Lee on thermodynamic predictions of metal behaviour in incinerators was based on a wealth of similar information obtained about other systems, most notably the thermodynamics of the behaviour of trace elements in coal combustion and other "hot" processes. Thus the work had a good basis, with considerable expertise being available on the technique. It was followed by work which sought to rationalise observed experimental data on the composition of incinerator residues by using thermodynamic predictions (Fernandez et al., 1992). The work essentially uses thermodynamics to answer the question "if I see a product in the fly ash, how did it get there – as metal, as chloride, or as oxide?" by considering which of these species are thermodynamically possible, and is a very useful approach, given the known constraints on modelling waste combustion, given the inhomogeniety of the system (Linak and Wendt, 1993).

In some cases, the full range of necessary compounds involved in metal partitioning are not considered, in particular metal-metal interactions are not included, and there is evidence that a lack of appropriate thermodynamic data is the reason for this. Specifically, the work does not consider bottom ash "complexing" reactions through slag formation, nor the role of sulphur in suppressing volatility. The work gives a good thermodynamic rationale for fly ash / gas partitioning in terms of APC device temperature and metal chloride volatility. These thermodynamic predictions could be seen as an "upper limit" of metal transfer to the fly ash and gas phases, as most of the reactions which enhance volatility are included, but those which may suppress it are not (Lee, 1988).

A more recent review gives some examples of equilibrium calculations in waste combustion systems, which are essentially similar to those already described, but with somewhat better consideration of "competing reaction products", i.e. the reaction of metals with sulphur, which tends to depress volatility, as well as with chlorine, which is usually considered as it tends to enhance volatility (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Further equilibrium analysis of waste incineration was attempted in the same year, but the results contribute little more to the knowledge about such combustion systems, due presumably to limitations in the data available, and computational power (Wu and Biswas, 1993). More recent work on clinical waste incineration has shown a far more sophisticated approach to the calculation, reflecting the improved techniques available, but is not directly applicable to municipal waste, due to the differing input composition and incineration technology (Delay et al., 2001). Nevertheless, it demonstrates the improvements which could be made to available modelled results, with the advantage of modern thermodynamics packages and computers.

Limitations of thermodynamic modelling

Although the early work on thermodynamic prediction of metal partitioning is generally excellent, it also demonstrates well the difficulties generally encountered with the technique. Firstly, there is an incomplete availability of data on the thermodynamics of all the reactions which may be significant, and the computational techniques may not allow the simultaneous inclusion of all the species required. The second problem is the inherent one: that the assumption of equilibrium is reasonable in a municipal incinerator. Clearly, this is a significant assumption for a large and heterogeneous system such as a municipal waste incinerator. (Linak and Wendt, 1993, Delay et al., 2001). A more detailed consideration of these limitations is given in Chapter 4, along with consideration of how these difficulties can be minimised.

Summary

It has been shown that thermodynamic modelling is a well established technique, developed for use in other industrial processes, but applicable to MSW incineration. The value of the technique has been shown in the modelling of waste incineration systems, provided that the "problem" (modelled situation) can be adequately described, and that the relevant data to define the problem is available. Although there has been significant work already in modelling municipal waste incineration systems, there is also considerable room for improvement, through use of better input data, and use of the newest computer programmes, which allow a more comprehensive consideration of the "whole system" equilibrium. As will be seen below, the use of thermodynamic modelling is probably the best available technique for estimating transfer of metals to the gas or particulate phase, as a means of generating input data for aerosol dynamics modelling. Possible methods of overcoming the problems identified with the assumption of global equilibrium, and specific application of the technique to MSW incineration are considered in detail in Chapter 4.

2.6.2 Aerosol Dynamics modelling

The fundamental basis of aerosol dynamics is extremely simple. An aerosol is a collection of liquid or solid particles in a gas. For incineration, the aerosol is generated in the burning bed, through evaporation and entrainment, and develops as it passes through the incineration system. Aerosols change through condensation, coagulation, and deposition, as well as through particle generation, and in the case of an incinerator, these processes all occur between the burning bed and the APC device, which serves to remove nearly all of the solids and liquids from the aerosol at the end of the incineration process.

The mathematics of aerosol dynamics are very well understood on a theoretical basis, (Friedlander, 1977). This book is the fundamental reference source for most subsequent computational modelling involving particle dynamics, although modifications to the theory may be required for specific situations (Lockwood and Yousif, 2000). The mathematics involved is extremely complicated in some parts, but appears to work well, if appropriate input parameters can be measured or estimated. Once again, the data requirements are demanding, and this provides particular problems for poorly characterised combustion beds used for MSWI. Indeed, even for relatively well characterised flames from pulverised fuels, it is the availability of data which limits the use of such models (Lockwood et al., 1998). The full details of the

mathematics are not included here, as it is largely incorporated into existing commercially available modelling programmes, and so a general overview only is given (Linak and Wendt, 1993).

The main group to investigate the use of aerosol dynamic models in combustion systems have generally avoided municipal waste combustion, presumably because of the complexity of the problem. Despite a proliferation of high quality papers on other combustion systems, their avoidance of municipal waste suggests that this technique may not be the best for rationalising the behaviour of municipal waste during combustion (Lockwood et al., 1998, Yousif et al., 1998, Lockwood and Yousif, 2000, Dajnak et al., 2003)

It would appear that they have done more work on the condensation of particular metals (Cd, Pb, Hg), to refine the models according to improved knowledge of these processes. However, their work is on better defined fuels, such as sewage sludge and coal, so the problem of unknown input is less significant. Thus the direct transfer of their work to an MSWI could be extremely problematic, as it is has concentrated more on obtaining accurate results for a specific situation, rather than obtaining a generally acceptable model.

However, at a conceptual level, much of the work by the group is extremely relevant. Their refinement of the model with consideration of slagging reactions, and of the form of metal entering the combustion system (carbonate//organically bound) is both sensible and useful. Most of the aerosol modelling is simplified by considering a bimodal PSD of just two sizes ($<0.5\mu$ m and $>10\mu$ m), which while being a significant assumption, seems to be a reasonable simplification of the problem, and which appears to work in practice!

The group uses a small scale test furnace for its work, so all the models are well verified against experimental evidence, though the agreement between the results is not always ideal.

The majority of the work by the group used essentially the same aerosol dynamic principles. However, they seem to have progressed a long way in the areas of empirical model refinement and verification for particular metals, leading to very good agreement between modelled and observed behaviour, as shown in Table 17. Rather than describe in detail their refinements in this literature review, such information will be included in subsequent model development as and when required.

Table 17:	Agreement	between	modelled	and	measured	enrichment	of hea	vy metals ir	n submicron
particles fi	rom coal con	nbustion	(Yousif et	al.,	1998)			-	

metal	experimental value	predicted value	
cadmium	22.3	20.12	
lead	11.6	10.03	

Underlying Mathematics

A General Dynamic Equation (GDE), also known as the Convective diffusion mass balance equation is described, and is seen to be common to many of the modelling techniques described subsequently (Linak and Wendt, 1993):

$$\frac{\partial n(x,t)}{\partial t} + \nabla .n(x,t)v = \nabla .D\nabla n(x,t) - \nabla nc + R_{v}(m^{-3}s^{-1})$$
(6)

where n is the particle number size distribution term (m^{-3}) , and the equation describes the number of particles per unit volume in the particle volume range v to v+dv at position x and time t.

v is the gas velocity (ms⁻¹), D is the diffusion coefficient (m²s⁻¹), c is the particle migration velocity resulting from external forces including gravity (ms⁻¹), R_v is the particle source term (m⁻³s⁻¹) (at position x and time t).

This general equation describes the spatial and temporal evolution of a PSD function n(v,x,t) (number of particles n in the particle volume range v to v+1, with convective and diffusive terms. Internal processes alter the nature of the aerosol cloud, i.e. coagulation, condensation and nucleation affect particle density and size distribution, so these must be accounted for.

Thus the source of particles, R_v , comprises of 3 terms, describing coagulation (R_{coag}) (m⁻³s⁻¹), condensation (R_{cond}) (m⁻³s⁻¹), and nucleation (R_{nuc}) (m⁻³s⁻¹):

$$R_{\nu} = R_{coag} + R_{cond} + R_{nuc} \tag{7}$$

Further equations are given in the paper for the generation of each term, though these are not repeated here. They are based on well established aerosol dynamic principles (Friedlander, 1977). The result is the generation of an aerosol of particles which is well defined. Number density considerations then explain the observed enrichment of volatile metals on the surface of smaller particles, which have a far higher number density. The aerosol particle size distribution (PSD) evolves with time, as particles coalesce and drop out of the gas stream.

2.6.3 Combined models for specific applications

Having seen that both thermodynamic and aerosol dynamic models can be extremely powerful tools in explaining and predicting metal behaviour in combustion systems, but that they also have significant drawbacks, it is interesting to consider how these models may be combined. A multi-part model, incorporating a thermodynamic model and a aerosol dynamic model, was produced as shown in Figure 9 (Barton et al., 1990). It was designed for hazardous waste modelling, so significant changes would probably be required for its successful application to MSWI, but it illustrates how combined models can overcome some of the limitations of individual techniques.



Figure 9: The Sub-Models Involved in the Aerosol Dynamic Modelling of a Hazardous Waste Incinerator (Barton et al., 1990)

The thermal model is empirical, and describes the changing temperature profile on the bed. The reaction/phase behaviour model is based upon thermodynamic equilibrium. Although little detail is given of the actual thermodynamic model, although it is assumed to be generally similar to the approaches already outlined, and may cause significant error, given the known non-equilibrium tendencies of such combustion systems. The entrainment model is again empirical, being specially devised for this model.

The fundamental model comprises of two parts. Homogeneous condensation modelling is based on the classical Becker-Doring theory, and homogeneous condensation is based on the kinetic theory of gases. This equation applies for particles much smaller than the mean free path of the gas, which is typically 0.25 μ m in an HW incinerator, and so significant error may be introduced here (Friedlander, 1977, Barton et al., 1990).

Another group has worked on a combined thermodynamic and aerosol dynamic modelling approach (Wu et al., 1994). They produced a limited thermodynamic equilibrium and mass transfer based model with limited success and considerable room for improvement. It contained several empirical corrections for un-explained phenomena and was compared with potentially questionable raw data. It was, however, one of the first papers to apply such a combined modelling technique to a MSWI, so is significant for that reason. A schematic overview of the modelling strategy is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10: The components of a combined thermodynamic and mass transfer model of MSW incineration.

Mass transfer is described by the equation:

$$M_{I} = (0.037 \,\mathrm{Re}_{L}^{0.8} \, Sc_{i}^{0.6} D_{i} W C_{sat,i}) f_{i} = m_{th,i} f_{i}$$
(8)

Where Re = Reynolds number (dimensionless), Sc = Schmidt number (dimensionless), D (cm²s⁻¹) is the diffusion coefficient of the metal vapour in air, W (cm) is the width/diameter of incinerator, C (gcm⁻³) is the saturation concentration of the *pure* metal $M_{th,i}$ (gs⁻¹) is the ideal entrainment rate of metal i in the gas and f (dimensionless) is an empirical constant accounting for binding of the metal to the waste matrix. F is calculated by taking the ratio of the measured mass flow rate $M_{m, i}$ (gs⁻¹) over the theoretically calculated rate $M_{th, i}$ (gs⁻¹).

$$f_i = \frac{M_{m,i}}{M_{th,i}} \tag{9}$$

Collection efficiency of the fabric filter is calculated using a stage efficiency for each particle size range:

$$n_j = 1 - \exp(\frac{-4aE_{\sum j}t}{\pi d_j})$$
(10)

where n_j (dimensionless) is the stage efficiency, α (dimensionless) is the solidity of the fibres, E i(dimensionless) s the fibre capture efficiency, t (cm) is the filter thickness, d (cm) is the fibre diameter.

E is the total collection efficiency, determined by a number of different collection efficiencies, based on different collection methods:

$$E_{\sum j} = E_{R,j} + E_{I,j} + E_{D,j} + E_{DR,j}$$
(11)

Where the separate components are for interception, impaction, diffusion and interception-diffusion respectively (each dimensionless).

The total APC device efficiency for a metal i can is calculated using:

$$n_i = \frac{\sum n_j \cdot \Delta m_{j,i}}{m_i} \tag{12}$$

where $\Delta m_{j,i}$ (g) is the fraction mass of metal i of particle size d_{pj} , and m_i (g) is the total mass of metal i.

Thus if the efficiency of the bags is known, along with the mass flow rate into the filters, then the emission of metallic aerosol not collected, $M_{out, i}(g)$ is:

$$M_{out,i} = M_i (1 - n_i) \tag{13}$$

The thermodynamic model is relatively advanced for its time, considering 6 metals (As, Cd, Cr, Hg, Pb, Sn), with a variety of oxide and chloride compounds for each. However, metal-metal interaction, including slagging reactions, are largely ignored. An empirical correction factor is used to account for non-ideality, such as a lack of equilibrium. This factor is again calculated using the ratio of the observed and calculated transfer coefficients to the raw flue gas. Although such empirical factors may not seem an ideal solution to a modelling problem, the result is a model which does at least provide realistic predictions of metal behaviour (Wu and Biswas, 1993).

Summary

Knowledge of aerosol systems is very good, and thus the modelling can be accurate and informative. Many groups have invested considerable time and effort in the development of the understanding of aerosol dynamics in combustion systems. The limitations are knowing how much metal is present in the vapour phase, and is thus available to condense, and whether this condensation is solely passive, or if it is reactive (i.e. "sticky" melts). Most of the work focuses on fuels which are better characterised than is MSW.

It is therefore once again apparent that good fundamental data and thermodynamic predictions will precede the further useful development of this strategy in connection with metal behaviour in MSWI. The best aerosol dynamic techniques often rely on the input of other modelling strategies, such as thermodynamics, to provide data for the aerosol dynamic modelling stages, so cannot be used in isolation. Indeed, without a good basis of thermodynamic data, the aerosol dynamic models can become highly empirical, and so loose their value in rationalising observed measurements with fundamental scientific principles.

2.6.4 Full Kinetic Modelling

It has been explained that the assumption of equilibrium may not be reasonable for a "real" combustion system, but the problem has not really been addressed. Computationally, obtaining an equilibrium or aerosol dynamic solution can be extremely complex, and the added aspect of a kinetic correction would make it even more so. Although empirical kinetics are understood to a certain degree, a full kinetic explanation for all the reactions required, at furnace temperatures, is a long way from realisation, and remains a significant challenge. An interesting recent development is in computational methods of inferring reaction kinetics through Gaussian modelling of molecular geometry. Rather than calculate reaction kinetics from experiment, which can be very complex, and require specialist equipment for very fast reactions, reaction kinetics can be calculated from information on molecular geometry and reactivity.

One paper looked at homogeneous reactions between metals and chlorine or oxygen (Hranisavljevic and Fontijn, 1997). In this case, a homogeneous reaction is one in which both reactants are in the same phase. The paper shows, both computationally and experimentally, that Cd in its ground state does not react with O_2 or HCl, but will react with Cl_2 . The authors infer that Zn will behave the same, and that Hg will not react appreciably with either Cl_2 or O_2 in a homogenous fashion. The paper "proves" a potential homogenous route for CdCl₂ and ZnCl₂ production, but doesn't consider heterogeneous routes. In that the work finds no homogeneous routes for mercury, so only heterogeneous routes must be considered for a complete model of metal behavior in incineration.

Using similar techniques a kinetic model was produced, supported by good experimental evidence, for oxidation of mercury by chlorine species (Sliger et al., 2000). It was an impressive attempt to incorporate computational prediction of the kinetics of reactions (based on molecular geometry and transition state energies) into a more conventional thermodynamic prediction of likely reaction routes. As it deals with mercury, all products are gas-phase at the temperatures considered, so the additional complexities of aerosol dynamics can be ignored. It can be seen in Figure 11 that agreement between experimental data (squares) and the model (solid black line) is very good. Although the work is very interesting, it is not envisaged that such methods could be included in a more general model for multiple metals, except at the most empirical level, due to the ever-increasing complexity of the modelled problem.





The computational prediction of kinetics is most interesting, and offers great potential for further work in the future. The use of reaction geometry and molecular symmetry is becoming routine in the understanding of reactions of simple molecules, and as computation becomes faster, and the technique more universally applicable at a range of temperatures, it may be anticipated that it could provide extremely useful information on combustion reactions.

However, despite the very interesting results from this type of modeling, it is evident that the technique is as yet insufficiently developed to be able to provide kinetic predictions for the whole of a combustion system at the present time. The work presented in these two papers, which must represent many months of work, considers just some of the possible reaction routes of a handful or reactants. Many more reactions would have to be considered to describe the whole combustion process. As more work is done in the area kinetics may well become a very powerful tool capable of providing further useful information on which to base "total" models of the behavior of metals in incinerators. If computational methods and computing power continue to increase as they have done in recent years, it may be anticipated that such techniques will grow in their application to combustion in the near future, as have thermodynamic techniques in the recent past. Recent developments already indicate that this is a powerful technique which has the potential to contribute a great deal to the understanding of reactions in combustion systems (Backreedy et al., 2003).

2.6.5 Overview of Modelling Techniques for Metals in MSW Incinerators

It has been shown that thermodynamic, aerosol dynamic, kinetic, and combined model predictions can be powerful tool in predicting and explaining the behaviour of reactions occurring in thermal systems at high temperatures. It has also been seen that further development of such models to describe municipal waste incineration would be beneficial, as computational limitations experienced in earlier models are being overcome with faster hardware and more sophisticated software. Furthermore, it has been shown that such thermodynamic data can provide a source of input data for aerosol dynamic modelling of incineration processes, which can better describe the overall behaviour of vapours and particles in an incineration system. It is clear that computer modelling may help to explain and predict metal partitioning in waste combustion systems working under different operating conditions.

2.7 Chapter Summary

This chapter has reviewed the current knowledge, as presented in the literature, on the behaviour of metals in municipal waste incineration. Background information has been given on the nature of municipal waste, and its arising, and of pollution concerns caused by waste incineration.

Detailed study has been made of how metals partition in waste combustors, and why this is of environmental, toxicological, and environmental concern. The sources of these metals in waste have also been examined.

Analytical techniques have been described which allow for the analysis of metals in incinerator residues, in order to obtain further information on metal partitioning during combustion. A need has been identified for improved techniques of continuous flue gas monitoring, to obtain new information on the combustion process.

Finally, it has been shown how computer modelling techniques can increase understanding of the behaviour of metals in incinerators. However, the nature of these models can become extremely complex, and both data and computational requirements may be high. While the information available on the combustion conditions and waste input remains as it is, it would seem futile to attempt to develop such a complex model for such a variable combustion process. It is therefore thought better to concentrate efforts on obtaining new fundamental experimental data on the incineration process, particularly with respect to temporal variations, rather than to produce highly sophisticated models without adequate practical verification. Nevertheless, thermodynamic and other modelling could be extremely useful for analysing and explaining the data obtained, and for sensitivity analyses, to see which factors are most important in determining metal partitioning, and hence causing temporal fluctuations. The use of smaller-scale laboratory combustion experiments, using a test furnace, may help to prove suggested links between observed and modelled predictions of metal behaviour.

The remainder of this thesis describes new advances made in analytical methods for investigating temporal variations in waste combustion systems, which have substantially increased the knowledge on how these systems operate. Using the data obtained from these experiments, thermodynamic models have been used to link these temporal variations to changes in both waste feed and incinerator conditions. A series of calculations have formed a sensitivity analysis for the effect of different variables on the combustion system, and have also considered the effect of inhomogeneity of the waste feed.

Experimental Programme

Having identified that further information was required on the release of metals during waste combustion, particularly with respect to temporal variation in signals, a unique continuous monitoring system was designed, built and tested for the purpose. Collaboration between the University of Sheffield and SPECTRO Analytical Instruments GmbH & Co Kg led to the production of a unique, movable laboratory, capable of the continuous monitoring of elemental pollutants in gaseous samples, and based upon ICP-OES technology.

The development of this Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory (CEML) allowed the real time investigation of elemental pollutant emissions in the gaseous and particulate phases. This system provided sensitive and simultaneous multi-element detection of entrained metal aerosols and vapours by direct injection of a stream of sample gas into the spectrometer, using a specially modified plasma torch. Direct analysis of metals in the sample stream eliminated the need for time consuming, labour intensive and often un-reliable conventional solids analysis procedures, and enabled continuous monitoring of process emissions.

This chapter describes the analytical facility in detail, describing its optimisation and testing; including preliminary laboratory furnace experiments, and goes on to describe a detailed investigation into metal behaviour at a full-scale commercial incineration plant, using this unique instrument.

3.1 Description of the Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory

3.1.1 External Appearance

The CEML is a self-contained mini laboratory that is transportable using a crane and lorry. The CEML was designed and built by project collaborator Spectro AI, (Kleve, Germany). The dimensions of the CEML are 6.5m x 2.4m with an overall height of 3.5m, and a nominal weight of 7.2 Tonnes. The laboratory is shown in Figure 12. The laboratory requires a mains power supply of 30-40 kVA, which is supplied through an externally mounted 40kVA transformer, to allow for variations between on-site power supplies. The configuration generally used is for a 3-phase, 415V, 63A supply. Other than this, the only external requirements for this self-contained laboratory are mains water, and liquid argon deliveries about every 5 days during continuous operation.



Figure 12: Photograph of CEML system during transport from Buxton research site.

3.1.2 Schematic Overview of Laboratory Design

The internal design of the laboratory is based around the requirements for successful continuous monitoring of flue gases. These are: the continuous isokinetic withdrawal of a sample from the process being monitored, a secondary isokinetic sub-sampling stage (to reduce the sample volume to that required for analysis), a detection system, which can be calibrated for flue gas analysis, and a means of recording the data obtained. These schematic components are summarised in Figure 13.

ICP Torch



Figure 13: Schematic diagram showing CEML configuration

In addition to these essential components, the laboratory is required to provide a robust, clean, temperature-controlled environment in which successful analytical measurements could be made at industrial locations, with little external support. To facilitate this, the cabin is fully air-conditioned, and was equipped with normal "wet chemistry" facilities, storage space, personal protective equipment (PPE), and a range of spares in order that the system can be repaired or adapted as required during on-site work. The options available also mean that the instrument can easily be re-configured for conventional analysis of liquid samples.

3.1.3 Inductively Coupled Plasma - Optical Emission Spectrometer (ICP-OES).

The main instrumentation in the CEML is a Spectro Ciros-CCD ICP-OES (Figure 14) with radial view configuration (SPECTRO Analytical Instruments, Kleve, Germany). Unlike axially viewed plasma systems, the radial plasma optics are especially suited for field analysis as no optical interface cooling is required, which is advantageous as cooling systems can be unreliable. The torch used for flue gas analysis was a custom built demountable torch, designed to allow for the higher flow of coolant gas and higher power needed to sustain the plasma whilst using atmospheric and flue gases as the sample matrix. Calibration was via an ultrasonic nebuliser, which provided a dry aerosol of metals to the ICP, and also normalised the water content of gas samples introduced to the system.



Figure 14: SPECTRO CIROS ICP-OES system used in the CEML

The detection system used with the inductively coupled plasma is optical emission spectroscopy (OES). The "CIROS" name of the ICP-OES stands for CIRcular Optical System. The CIROS detectors do not require on-chip cooling and produce the fastest throughput of any solid-state detector ICP. When atomic species reach the plasma, the energy applied causes excitation, or ionisation, and characteristic emission of radiation occurs as elements return to lower energy levels (relaxation). The radiation emitted is of specific wavelength, thus allowing un-ambiguous identification of different elements. Emitted light is passed to the spectrometer optics via an optical fibre, where metal emissions are measured by means of a CCD array. The radiation intensity, which is proportional to the concentration of the element in the analyte, is recalculated internally from a stored set of calibration curves and can be shown directly as percent or measured concentration. The CCD detector is capable of measurement of a large number of wavelengths at the same time, and thus simultaneous quantitative detection is possible for a large number of elements using this detection system. A wide range of wavelengths may be measured (125 nm - 770 nm), which means that there are usually several good (interference free) emission lines available for most metals, meaning that accurate quantification is possible. Many of these emission lines are not available on older instruments, due to less sophisticated optical and detection systems. The detectors in the CIROS have a pixel resolution of 9 picometers (0.009nm), and are well suited for difficult matrices like flue gas, as high resolution reduces interferences from overlapping emission lines.

Analytical Plasma

The plasma torch consists of three concentric quartz tubes, with the inner tube containing the sample gas aerosol and Argon support gas, and the outer tubes containing an Argon gas flow to cool the tubes and shape the plasma, and is based on

the design by Trassy (Trassey, 2001). A radio frequency (RF) generator (1000-1700 W, 27 MHz) produces an oscillating current in an induction coil situated around the tubes. The induction coil creates an oscillating electric field, which produces an oscillating magnetic field. The magnetic field in turn sets up an oscillating current in the ions and electrons of the support gas. These ions and electrons transfer energy to other atoms in the support gas by collisions to create a high temperature plasma, as shown in Figure 15. The torch is demountable, with interchangeable quartz tubes,. For gas phase analysis the diameters of the tubes are larger than in torches used in aqueous analysis, and the RF power used is generally higher (1600-1700w). The basic reason for these differences is that gas samples have large concentrations of molecular gases (N₂, CO₂, O₂), and excitation of such molecular species absorb large amounts of energy from the plasma. Thus high RF power is used to ensure adequate excitation of analyte species, and this in turn requires higher argon flows and a larger torch, in order that the plasma shape, and stability is maintained.



Figure 15: Schematic diagram of a plasma (left), photograph of plasma (right)

In operation, the sample aerosol is instantaneously decomposed in the plasma (plasma temperature is in the order of 6000 - 10000 K) to form analyte atoms and ions. As they loose energy through a process known as relaxation, the ions and excited atoms emit light of a characteristic wavelength depending on the electronic transitions occurring. Figure 15 shows a schematic diagram of the structure of the plasma. There are three distinct zones that are of interest. Lowest is the atomic emission zone or induction zone, where the energy from the RF coil is focussed. This area has a lower excitation temperature than higher in the plasma and emissions here are primarily atomic. The temperature of the plasma increases and reaches a maximum towards the middle, in the ionic emission zone. It is in this zone that the best analytical measurements will usually be made. It is possible to optimise the analysis by adjusting the torch height so that the spectrometer window is in line with the optimum region for the elements being determined, although for multi-element determination, a compromise position must be chosen. Above the ionic emission zone, the plasma temperature falls, as energy is dissipated away from the plasma. Ions and electrons recombine to form atoms, and further light is emitted as further relaxation occurs in the region known as the re-atomisation zone. Surrounding all three of these zones is the

outer zone, which is primarily comprised of argon gas, which isolates and helps to maintain the plasma.

3.1.4 Laboratory Equipment, Services and Facilities

Sample Collection System

The laboratory is equipped with a specially designed sample collection system, to ensure that the sample reaching the ICP is representative of the bulk gas being measured, and does not degrade, or deposit, before reaching the plasma. A primary sample is taken isokinetically from the gas being measured, at a relatively high flow rate. This is then sub-sampled for introduction into the ICP. A sophisticated calibration system ensures that quantification is accurate and precise.

Primary Sample Collection

The sampling line that is used in the CEML is a 40m-heated line with a 12mm PTFE lined internal tube. The sampling line, heated in three segments, can be operated at temperature up to 200°C. This line allows for collection of representative gas samples from the standard access points on most industrial plants. The sample is pumped through the sample line with a high flow rate heated membrane pump, which is operated directly from a mains circuit. Operating at a nominal flow of 120L min⁻¹, the actual flow is controlled by a valve, with the flow being measured by a rotameter. The sample line (laboratory and sampling ends, including sample probe in-situ) is shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16 - Photograph of heated sampling line at laboratory and sampling end (inset)

The probe used was an adapted BCURA probe (Figure 17); which had a series of interchangeable tips of different diameter, allowing isokinetic sampling from gases with a range of velocities.



Figure 17: The adapted BCURA sampling train

Secondary Sampling Head

The secondary sampling head has been developed to allow the sub-sampling of the main flue gas sample at a flow rate that can be introduced into the plasma (Figure 18). Simply, it is a second isokinetic sampling stage, based around smaller mass flows. The main flow of gas is up, from the heated transfer line to the pump. The sub-sample is collected by the side arm at 0-260 mL min⁻¹ using a double-headed peristaltic pump. The tubing used is Tygon Silicone with a i.d. of 1.6mm. The pump is the Master Flex supplied by Cole-Palmer. The pump heads are set out of phase to reduce the pulsing of the sample.



Figure 18: The sub-sampling system at the laboratory end of the transfer line.

Nebuliser

Calibration standards are aspirated into the plasma, usually using an ultrasonic nebuliser in conjunction with a cyclonic spray chamber (Spectro USN200 Ultrasonic Nebuliser). Sample gas with additional argon is used as the nebuliser gas. The addition of water to the sample gas using the nebuliser, and subsequent desolvation and condensation normalizes the moisture content of the gas stream, thus reducing analytical error. Also the ability to add standards into the gas stream is useful for quality control, through the addition internal standards, and periodic calibration check standards during extended sampling runs.

An ultrasonic nebuliser was chosen because it offered higher aspiration efficiency, leading to greater sensitivity, and because integral drying of the sample with heater and peltier cooler reduced the effects of moisture on the plasma. However, long-term reliability and consistency problems were encountered with this complex electronic device, which meant that a more conventional pneumatic nebulising system with a modified lichte nebuliser was used in some situations, and for liquids analysis. Thus both options were made available, being interchangeable as required.

For calibration purposes, the gas matrix used must closely match that encountered in the flue gas being measured. When the gas composition in the flue gas was consistent, and could be obtained "clean" (i.e. without significant metal concentrations), the flue gas itself was used as a calibration matrix. Alternatively, a synthetic "flue-gas like" matrix could be synthesised from the calibration gas cylinders (oxygen, carbon dioxide, nitrogen), which are described below. Matching of the calibration gas matrix to the sample composition ensures an accurate calibration, essential for reliable quantification. Where the analyte matrix varied significantly with time (e.g. variable carbon dioxide content of the flue gas), a series of calibrations were performed, and the ICP signal was correlated both to analyte concentration and matrix composition.

Computer Control and Data Collection System

The operation of the ICP-OES is via computer control. A second PC and printer allows on-line data processing simultaneously with data collection. These two computers are networked, and may also be connected to an external network, to allow communication with other facilities.

The operation and data collection system used to control the ICP-OES operates under Windows 2000. Initially, the programme used was Spectro Smart Analyser, but during the course of the project, this was upgraded to the Spectro Vision platform.

Both are flexible, custom designed control software packages for the Spectro instrument, allowing the user to develop analytical methodologies that are applicable to the desired application. The software allows the users to choose from either a library of elemental lines or to specify emission lines of choice. The system also allows optimisation of normal operational parameters, such as flow rates for sample, coolant and carrier gas, torch position with respect to detector, and RF energy for plasma generation. This overall degree of control is rarely seen in modern analytical instruments and is particularly useful in a research environment such as this, where the sample matrixes, and thus the operating parameters, are often highly un-conventional. In terms of this project, the main advantages of the new "vision" software over the older programme are an improved stability, general layout and simplicity of operation, and the ability to save the entire measured spectrum for each result, allowing recalculation of results, and examination of different regions of the spectrum at a later date, if it is subsequently discovered after measurement that omissions have been made in the method used.

Power

Power requirements for the CEML are relatively high, due to the power consumption of the ICP itself, the heated sample lines, and air conditioning, as well as general equipment in the laboratory.

Internally, electrical power is distributed throughout the CEML from a switching panel, which provides 3-phase, 415V to the ICP-OES and a single phase, 240V supply on various circuits throughout the lab. All the major systems are on individual circuit breakers, and where appropriate residual current devices. This allows for both ease of operation and increased safety. All power outlets within the CEML meet the required standards, and are of European socket design, reflecting the origin of the equipment. The CEML also has battery powered emergency lighting, which operates in the event of power failure.

Argon Supply

Argon used by the ICP-OES is supplied from either four-200bar gas cylinders or from a liquid argon tank. The preferred alternative is the use of liquid argon, which is supplied from an externally mounted 230L capacity Cryotank. The liquid argon Cryotank meets the latest EU safety standards and can be transported whilst loaded. Liquid argon is both cheaper and provides higher purity argon gas than do the cylinders. The Cryotank is filled as required from a road tanker, either directly to the tank if access allows, or through a fill point at the far end of the CEML. A 230L tank of liquid argon will supply the CEML with argon gas for approximately one month of normal operation, or 5 days of 24-hour continuous monitoring, having only a minimal (~2%) bleed off. Alternatively, the CEML may be run from argon gas cylinders operating on an automatic change-over system. However, the rate of gas consumption is approximately 2 x 200bar cylinders for every 10 hours of operation, making this an expensive way to operate the CEML.

Calibration Gases

The calibration gases are used to prepare artificial gas mixtures that mimic the gas compositions found in the flue gases, as is required for accurate system calibration. Oxygen, nitrogen and carbon dioxide were used. The gas cylinders are externally mounted, and gases are piped to a set of rotameters inside the cabin, which were used to set the desired gas mixture being fed into the analytical system.

Climate Control

To ensure optimum performance from the ICP-OES, the CEML has full climate control using a heating-cooling air conditioning system, as the operation of the instrument is temperature-sensitive. This well specified 10kW system provides both temperature control, and cleans the air in the laboratory, even in extremes of ambient temperature as may be found near operational units during on-site measurement.

Water Supply

The CEML can be connected to the mains water supply through an extension hose. There is a sink, which drains externally. The CEML also has an on-line deionised water system, which connects to the main water supply. The deionised water is supplied through a separate tap at the sink. There is also a conductivity meter that is used to measure the efficiency of the ion exchange cartridge.

General Fittings and General Laboratory Equipment

The CEML is supplied with one 150cm x 45cm workbench, one 200cm x 45cm computer desk, and one 150cm x 45cm computer desk. The CEML also has three storage cupboards and an automation cabinet. The automation cabinet was used to house gas analysers for CO, CO_2 and O_2 during some of the on-site testing. There is a 4-figure balance in the lab, allowing for accurate measurement of solid samples and, if necessary, standards.

The laboratory is a self-contained unit, and must provide all equipment for a sustained programme of measurements. Thus the unit is equipped with all the general glassware and equipment generally required in an analytical laboratory, including volumetric glassware, sample tubes, pipettes, measuring cylinders, beakers etc. The lab also has space to accommodate a reasonable quantity of spares and disposables, such as replacement peristaltic tubes, disposable sample containers, standards and reagents.

It should be apparent from the description above that the laboratory has been designed with a high degree of adaptability, as well as being equipped with a state of the art analytical instrument. The CEML is generously specified, and is capable of providing for the varied needs for analytical work in the harshest industrial environment. Thus the laboratory may be taken on-site for a programme of continuous monitoring, and is able to be adapted and optimised on site by an experienced operator, to allow successful measurements to be made, in a range of challenging analytical situations. Nevertheless, the nature of continuous monitoring requirements are such that the laboratory may operate continuously for many days at a time, with minimal supervision, meaning that reliability, robustness and safety have been paramount in the design of the unit,. With careful planning, the laboratory is quite capable of running for a week, 24 hours a day, with just occasional checks to ensure that everything is operating as it should be.

3.2 Development and Optimisation of the Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory

3.2.1 Initial Investigation of Normal Operating Parameters

Standards and Calibration

Elemental calibration standards were prepared from a 20 ppm stock multi-element standard solution (Bernd Kraft GmbH Salze & Lösungen, Duisburg, Germany) covering the range 0.01 - 20 ppm. Standards used were 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 5.0, 10.0 and 20.0 ppm in each metal. These were introduced via the USN, which was also supplied with sample gas from the peristaltic pump (0-260 L min⁻¹), and nebuliser Argon (0.8 1 min⁻¹). Normal ultrasonic nebuliser conditions are shown in Table 18, and are those recommended by the equipment manufacturer. Previous work on the transport properties of the USN (mass-flow calculations), showed that when nebulised, the standard solutions used corresponded to aerosol concentrations of 1.1 ng m⁻³ to 2.2 mg m⁻³. Details of this calculation, which was periodically repeated (notably after repair/alteration to the USN system), are given in Appendix 3.

 Table 18 USN operating conditions

parameter	value
heater temperature	150 -160 °C
cooler temperature	0 - 2°C
carrier gas flow	0- 0.32 L min ⁻¹ .

Line Selection, Plasma and Torch Optimisation, and Calibration in Flue Gases Initial experimentation with the CEML quickly confirmed expectations that ICP operating conditions, and gas sample composition had a significant effect on signal quantification for metals being measured. A programme of experimental optimisation of the system for the analysis of metals in flue gases was undertaken, the key aspects of which are detailed below.

Line Selection and Background Correction

Most elements have a series of characteristic emission wavelengths which may be used to quantify metal concentrations. Initially, the most sensitive line was selected for each element, as recommended by the instruments generalised "optimal line" list, or by the recommendation of expert staff at CAS (Centre for Analytical Sciences, University A list of some of these initial lines is given in Table 19. of Sheffield). background correction is a second measurement, taken just to the side of the emission line. This value is subtracted from the measurement of the intensity at the emission line, and effectively "zero's" the measurement each time, accounting for spectral shifts which may occur due to matrix changes. However, both the emission line and the background may suffer interference (from other emissions which overlap with the intended one). Thus the line selection and background corrections must be carefully chosen for successful quantification. Background correction was particularly important in this work, due to the flue gas matrix, which was more variable than a typical liquid matrix, and so tended to lead to greater spectral shifts, which would otherwise affect signal quantification.

element	wavelength (nm)
carbon	247.856
nitrogen	174.273
oxygen	130.485
aluminium	167.078
antimony	206.833
arsenic	189.042
cadmium	214.438
chromium	283.563
cobalt	238.892
copper	324.754
iron	259.94
lead	261.418
manganese	257.61
nickel	341.476
sodium	589.592
thallium	190.864
tin	242.949
vanadium	309.311

Table 19: Generally suitable emission lines used initially for ICP detection, from liquid analysis

Initially, air, and "synthetic flue gas", made up from the calibration gases supplied with the laboratory were used as a matrix in which to introduce standard solutions to produce calibration curves, to verify whether quantification could be achieved on the suggested emission lines. It was immediately seen that carbon dioxide level had a significant effect on some analytical line signals. The effects were variable, and included increasing or decreasing the gradient of the calibration line (i.e. sensitivity), or changing the intercept (i.e. signal zero noise). Some lines were rendered completely inappropriate, due to emissions from molecular gases over the region in which the emission line was situated, while others required careful use in the unusual matrix of a gaseous sample. Illustrative results are shown in Figure 19 - Figure 22.

Figure 19 illustrates the importance of the selection of an appropriate emission line for quantification, and also of a suitable background correction. It shows the measured emission signal in counts per second (cps) for cadmium, arsenic, and nickel. Although the cadmium emission line at 226.502nm has good sensitivity, it is not an ideal quantitative line without further confirmation (via a second monitored line), as it may suffer from a slight interference from As (0.04%, if analyte and interference are present at the same concentration). In addition, careful background is required, as background correction in the region of 226.45nm would tend to suffer from interferences from nickel.



Figure 19: Emission spectrum in the region of the Cd II 226.502 nm wavelength

Figure 20 shows the calibration curve for cadmium, as measured on the more reliable 214.238nm wavelength. It can be seen that carbon dioxide concentration affects line sensitivity. Additionally, the y-axis intercept value changes, indicating that the gas matrix not only affects sensitivity, but background noise. However, the sensitivity of the line is much lower, leading to a count value of about half of that for the 226.502nm line, meaning that this wavelength is less good for the smallest signals. It is therefore useful to monitor both lines.



Figure 20: Calibration curve for cadmium on the Cd II 214.438 nm wavelength

Figure 21 shows the calibration curve for copper. The change in sensitivity with changing gas composition can be seen again. However, this curve differs from the cadmium plot, in that the 10% carbon dioxide line is more sensitive than the 20% carbon dioxide line, whereas for cadmium the converse is true. This reflects the fact that the effect of changing the gas matrix is not straightforward, and must be checked for each element line. The results for air and calibration gas are hard to compare, due to changes in the lab air local composition, differing moisture contents, and other more complex composition differences.



Figure 21: Calibration curve for copper

Figure 22 shows the calibration curve for thallium, which in many ways is a worstcase scenario. Poor sensitivity is indicated by a low count value, even for the highest concentration standards. Line gradient (sensitivity) changes with gas composition, and increased carbon increases the zero signal by a large amount, whereas air decreases the zero signal (due to spectral shift) such that a "negative value" is obtained for a background corrected signal. However, even such severe difficulties can be accounted for through careful experimental technique and system optimisation. Nevertheless, for some elements, it is better to pick an alternative emission line, rather than to try to make use of what is the "best line" for more conventional measurement conditions, and this was done for several metals.



Figure 22: Calibration curve for thallium

Thus it quickly became apparent that some of the analytic lines used for general analysis were inappropriate for flue gas monitoring. Section 3.2.2 describes a systematic investigation into the most appropriate emission line for each element. But it was also important to optimise other analytical parameters relating to the plasma source, as detailed below.

Signal Integration Time

The results presented for calibration of the instrument show how analyte concentration affects instrument response in counts per second (CPS). Theoretically, therefore, this response is independent of measurement time (as it is a derivative of time). However, in reality, in order to obtain a result from the CCD detector, sufficient photons must reach the CCD to give a measurable signal, whilst too many must not reach the detector, causing overload (saturation). Where numerous analytes are being measured at different concentrations, and with different inherent sensitivities, it can be difficult to obtain conditions which are optimal for all elements.

Therefore, the Spectro Ciros has 5 separate integration phases within a measurement, of different durations. These operate sequentially, to allow different integration times for different elements. For most gas-phase monitoring, a very long integration time of 44 seconds was used, to obtain maximum sensitivity for trace elements (whilst also providing short integration phases within this time to measure bulk constituents). At other times, a shorter integration time of 24 was used, in order to obtain better

temporal resolution of changing signals. While the phase time is an important variable, it is difficult to simply demonstrate its effect, and the values chosen largely arose from advice from other users of the ICP system, and of our own experience. Typical integration times, and the associated phase times are shown in Table 20.

phase	24 second liquid measurement	24 second gas measurement	44 second measurement (clean flue gas measurements)	44 second measurement (un-clean flue gas measurements)
1	3	3	3	1
2	3	3	3	1
3	3	3	3	4
4	5	5	15	8
5	10	10	20	30

Table 20:	Integration	and	nhase	times	for	OES	detection
I ADIC AV.	megranon	anu	phase	cume 3	101	O LO	ucicciion

Plasma Optimisation

The torch used was the custom built demountable torch described in section 3.1.3 . Standard instrumental settings did not give optimal sensitivity with the modified torch, so optimum conditions were determined experimentally by measuring plasma temperature. In this experiment, the electronic temperature within the plasma was measured by comparing the intensities of sixteen iron emission lines resulting from the introduction of a 1000ppm Fe standard solution to the plasma via the USN. This method was provided to us in a calculation by Trassy (Trassey, 2001), based upon the relative populations of different excitation levels of iron, which can be used to calculate temperature from statistical thermodynamics theory. The ratio of the intensities of the different emission lines varies with temperature, as the Boltzmann distribution of energy levels of electrons in the iron change. For analytical purposes, a high temperature is desirable to ensure adequate excitation of all elements, but stability is also required, such that small fluctuations in measurement conditions (e.g. sample matrix) do not unduly affect signal quantification.

Using this method, plasma gas flows, i.e. injector flow (sample and nebuliser gas), auxiliary flow, coolant flow, and RF power were optimised. Sample gas flow is set on the external peristaltic pump (secondary sampling pump), while the rest of the variables are controlled by the operating software. The results of these experiments are given below.

Injector Flow

The gas through the torch injector was made up of two separate flows; the sample gas (from the flue) and the nebuliser "make up" gas (argon).

Sample Gas Flow Rate

The gas was sub-sampled from the primary pump using the secondary sampling head and a peristaltic pump. In order to achieve the lowest limits of detection it was necessary to have the largest sample flow rate that the plasma could sustain, as the more sample enters the plasma, the more may be excited to give analytic emissions. Figure 23 shows the sample gas flow rate against plasma temperature, and it can be seen that increasing sample flow rate decreases plasma temperature somewhat. This is due to the quenching effect of molecular gases in the sample matrix, which very effectively absorb energy from the plasma. Thus a balance must be made between increasing sensitivity by increasing sample throughput, and decreasing it by reducing excitation temperature. A sample flow rate of 240 mL min⁻¹ was chosen, as the negative effect of plasma cooling was small compared with the positive effect of increasing sample throughput. At higher flow rates, plasma stability became a problem, with the plasma being "blown out", and at lower flow rates, maintaining the sample "channel" through the plasma can be problematic, reflected by the increased variability (deviation from a smooth trend) at low flow rates.



Figure 23: Chart showing effect of sample gas flow on plasma temperature

Nebuliser Flow

The nebuliser flow is an argon "make up" gas that provided extra argon (to help sustain the plasma), mixed with the sample gas, and to provide enough flow to break through the viscous surface of the underside of the plasma. The optimum nebuliser flow rate provides enough flow to achieve its purpose without reducing the temperature of the plasma to such a level as to lose sensitivity, or reducing the gas residence time in the plasma so much that the atoms/ions are not fully excited before leaving the plasma. Figure 24 shows effects of increasing nebuliser flow rate on plasma temperature. It can be seen that the effect of this variable is significant, with high flow rates having a detrimental effect, with the gas sample effectively being "diluted" with argon. A reasonably low value of 0.7-0.8 L min⁻¹ was selected, but values below this were avoided, due to the occurrence of plasmas stability issues, when the sample gas was unable to effectively maintain a channel through the centre of the plasma.



Figure 24: Chart showing effect of nebuliser flow on plasma temperature

Auxiliary Flow

The auxiliary flow was the argon flow which passed between the injector and middle tubes of the plasma torch, and is used to form and sustain the plasma. It can be seen from Figure 25, that there is a general and gradual decrease in plasma temperature with the increase in the auxiliary flow rate, though the effect is quite small. Having shown this variable to be relatively unimportant, a typical value of 0.8 L min⁻¹ was selected, which avoided possible problems with heat from the plasma melting the top of the torch.



Figure 25: Chart showing auxiliary flow rate against plasma temperature

Coolant Flow

The coolant gas flowed between the middle and outer parts of the plasma torch, and serves two main purposes, cooling the torch wall, and forming the distinctive "flame" shape of the plasma. For gaseous analysis it was necessary to operate the plasma at higher generator power settings and thus there was the need to use higher coolant flows, to avoid melting the torch.

Figure 26 shows the effects of increasing coolant flow rate against plasma temperature. It can be seen that there is an increase in the temperatures of the upper energy levels transitions as the flow rates increase, up to the maximum allowed by the instrument, of 20 L min⁻¹. It should be noted that coolant flows below 17 L min⁻¹ could not sustain the plasma under the gaseous measurement operating conditions, i.e. the plasma was effectively "blown out". In order to achieve maximum plasma temperature, and to ensure a stable plasma (by observation of the plasma discharge shape), the highest possible coolant flow rate, of 20 L min⁻¹, was selected. This is significantly higher than the "standard" value for a liquid torch, which is 14 L min⁻¹ for this instrument.



Figure 26: Chart showing effect of coolant flow on plasma temperature

RF Power

The energy to sustain the plasma was provided by the RF coil, which surrounds the torch. Variation in RF power affected the temperature of the plasma and therefore the efficiency of the plasma to ionise the sample. Figure 27 shows the effect of changing RF power on plasma temperature, and it can be seen that (as would be expected), higher powers give higher plasma temperatures. It has been explained that molecular gases have a quenching effect on the plasma, so this variable becomes particularly important. Therefore, the highest possible value, of 1700w was selected initially. However, this appeared to place significant strain on the RF generator and oscillator electronics, with the oscillator having to be replaced after about two years. Thus after this, the power was dropped marginally, to 1600 or 1650w, a compromise between performance and longevity.



Figure 27: chart showing the effect of RF power on plasma temperature

Summary

The initial optimisation experiments were essential in gaining an understanding of how the plasma, torch and detector respond to various variables, and how they may be optimised for gas analysis. A summary of the normal operating parameters determined are shown in Table 21. Signal integration times of 22 or 44 seconds were often used: 44 seconds to give high sensitivity for very low concentration elements, as required for end-of-pipe flue gas analysis, and 22 seconds for better resolution of highly temporally variable signals.

parameter (units)	value	
generator frequency (MHz)	27.15	
radio-frequency power (kW)	1.6 - 1.7	
coolant gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	20.0	
auxiliary gas flow rate (1 min $^{-1}$)	0.8	
nebuliser gas flow rate (1 min^{-1})	0.7-0.8	
sample gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	0.125 - 0.240	
injector tube diameter (mm)	1.8	
stabilisation time (s)	15	
read time (s)	22 or 44	

 Table 21: ICP operating conditions

3.2.2 Systematic Investigation of the Effect of Bulk Gas Matrix on Sensitivity

Having successfully determined a generalised set of optimised ICP-OES conditions for measurement in a gas matrix, the challenge of using the system for measurements of specific elements in a gas stream was investigated. The composition of the bulk gas, notably the carbon dioxide concentration, had been found to have a large effect on some signals, which needed to be accounted for in order to achieve accurate quantification. In some cases, the simplest solution was to select a different line, which suffered less interference from carbon dioxide emissions, or which was quenched less by the presence of carbon dioxide. Thus each analytic line used was carefully checked, to make sure that the effects of the sample matrix did not have an unacceptable detrimental effect on signal response. In other cases, no line was unaffected by carbon dioxide, and calibrations in a range of gas compositions were required, along with careful use of the background correction facility.

Different gas compositions were investigated. Using the calibration gases and massflow controllers, elemental calibration measurements were taken at different carbon dioxide concentrations, to reflect the variable carbon dioxide content of gas samples to be analysed. Artificial dry flue gas mixtures were prepared with carbon dioxide concentrations of 0%, 5%, 10%, and 20%.

For some elements, it was not possible to find an analytic line completely unaffected by changing bulk gas composition. However, with the CCD detector it was possible to set the background corrections so that interferences from carbon molecular and other species were reduced. However, lead in some unfortunate cases to a negative result for some measurements, where the background correction point was not ideal.

Finally, the lines selected needed to reflect the concentrations of different metals which were expected. For example, the most sensitive lines would be required for heavy metals such as Cd, Hg and Tl, but the most sensitive lines for Na or Ca may not be appropriate, due to saturation. Thus careful selection of appropriate lines was required

Having checked the signal, background, and effect of carbon dioxide on various emission lines for many metals, the best available lines were selected for quantitative measurements. Lines were chosen systematically, by examination of the full emission spectrum for the analyte. Single elements standards (1000 ppm) were used to ensure that the signal was due to the analyte, and not the interference of another species in the multi-element standard, or sample matrix. Generally, the most sensitive line without major interference was chosen. However, the emission lines used were under constant review, depending on the requirements for a particular piece of work, so other lines are used for various experiments reported in this thesis. If the line was not a standard analytic line, it also had to be manually added to the software "lines library".

Carbon dioxide concentration was also measured in the gas matrix, by monitoring a carbon line, to allow correction for changing sample matrix composition. Thus a carbon dependence factor for each line could be used to correct the data obtained, depending on the measured carbon concentration. Such correction could either be achieved manually, or by using multi-variable regression analysis within a data handling package, such as Excel. The full results of the systematic line selection for lead and mercury is given in Figure 28 - Figure 31. Table 22 summarises the lines selected by a similar process for "normal" metal measurements in flue gas for other metals.
element	wavelength (nm)
carbon	247.856
nitrogen	174.273
oxygen	130.485
argon	430.010
aluminium	396.152
antimony	252.852
arsenic	193.759
cadmium	226.502
chromium	283.563
cobalt	238.892
copper	324.754
iron	259.940
lead	405.785
manganese	257.610
mercury	253.652
nickel	341.476
sodium	589.592
thallium	276.800
tin	242.949
vanadium	309.311

Table 22: Emission lines used for early flue gas monitoring

Lead

The emission line generally used for lead was 405.785nm, and the spectrum at this wavelength is shown in Figure 28. The sensitivity of the line is good; the right hand scale is for lead, and the left hand scale for all other elements. There are no significant elemental interferences to this lead line. Nevertheless, to confirm quantification, quantification was frequently confirmed on the 261.418nm or 283.305nm wavelength.



Figure 28: The emission spectra for various elements near the lead I 405.785 nm line

The effect of carbon on the Pb I 405.785nm wavelength is shown in Figure 29. The figure shows that the carbon baseline is quite variable, and although the sensitivity (slope) of the calibrations changes very little with carbon dioxide concentration, the

background (intercept value) increases significantly with increasing carbon. Thus although quantification is perfectly possible on this line, it must be in conjunction with carbon dioxide measurement, so that an appropriate carbon correction can be made.



Figure 29: The effect of carbon dioxide on the sensitivity of the Pb I 405.785 emission line

Mercury

Mercury is notorious as an element difficult to quantify using ICP-OES. The emission line usually selected for mercury monitoring in flue gas was at 253.652nm, and this region of the spectrum is shown in Figure 30. The carbon signal is shown on the right hand axis, with all others being on the left hand axis. It can be seen that the sensitivity of the mercury line is relatively low, and that broad-band emissions due to iron complicate the spectrum. The other problem is the carbon interference, with a peak to the right of the mercury emission line. The high resolution of the Spectro Ciros instrument has clearly improved the ability to make quantitative measurements on this emission line, compared with previous spectrometers.



Figure 30: The emission spectra for various elements near the mercury I 253.652 nm line

Given the expected difficulties of detecting mercury, the calibrations with different levels of carbon dioxide, as shown in Figure 31, are really very good. The noise caused by carbon is minimised through careful background correction, and the effect of carbon on sensitivity, though observable, is not problematic. However, the intrinsic low sensitivity of the emission will lead to a relatively high LOD, though still well below the legislative emission limit for mercury. Nevertheless, given the complexity of the emission spectrum in this region, it was considered good practice to confirm any measurements made, via the monitoring of the 194.227nm, 296.728nm, and 435.835nm wavelengths.



Figure 31: The effect of carbon dioxide on the sensitivity of the Hg I 253.652 nm emission line

Sampling system and heated sample line Characterisation

In all analytical systems the collection and preparation of the sample is fundamental to delivering accurate and reproducible results. The taking of a gas sample was complicated by the effects of temperature and pressure on the sample volume, as it travelled from the flue, via the heated sample line to the secondary sampling head, and finally to the ICP. To accurately quantify gas phase concentrations, there was a need to characterise the sample line and understand the mass flow of sample throughout the system.

The need for this sample line characterisation was highlighted by gas flow measurements made (using rotameters) at either end of the heated sample line. It was noted that when atmospheric air was sampled, a flow rate measured at about 120 l min⁻¹ in the laboratory correlated to an air sampling rate of about 65 l min⁻¹. It was quickly established that this was not due to erroneous measurements, or leaks in the system, but due simply to the expansion of the sample gas as it was heated from atmospheric temperature to the temperature of the line, as expected from fundamental gas behaviour laws. The gas volume underwent further change at the secondary sampling stage (which was under slight vacuum), as the temperature began to drop.

A detailed study of the temperature, pressure and volume profile of the sampling system was undertaken. Due to the multiple factors which affect this sampling parameter, the sample enrichment/dilution factor had to be re-evaluated whenever sampling parameters or nebuliser parameters were changed. It was found that when measurements were made on-site, the volume changes down the sample line were small, as the sample line temperature could be matched to the sampling temperature. However, when measuring hotter flue gas from the test furnace, there was significant sample "concentration" due to cooling/contraction, leading to a sample line enrichment factor of about 2.1. Detail of the calculations involved in quantifying gas-phase concentrations between sampling and measurement, which were performed for every different monitoring situation, are given in Appendix 4

Summary

The preliminary experimentation described in section 3.2 optimised the CEML for the measurement of the metals of interest in a flue gas matrix, as simulated using calibration gases, and provided an essential preliminary basis for subsequent work. Further testing was conducted using a laboratory scale furnace, which was spiked with volatile metals, and the equipment was eventually used in full-scale plant tests, monitoring concentrations of metals in an operational municipal solid waste incinerator. This initial work was essential in configuring the system for measurement of emissions from combustion systems, and although analytical development work was ongoing, it provided a sound basis on which further refinements could run in parallel with the use of the system to make valuable measurements in real systems.

3.3 Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory Testing and Calibration with a 30kW Test Furnace

Having developed the CEML such that it was capable of making measurements of metal concentrations in flue gases, a programme of testing was conducted before use for studying volatile metal behaviour in combustion systems. Simple tests were

conducted using flue gas from the furnace as a matrix, into which aqueous standards were introduced in the laboratory, in order to confirm that measurements of metals could be made in flue gases. Subsequently, a full quantitative trial of the whole analytical system was performed using mercury, which was volatilised in the furnace. These tests showed the system to be both sensitive and accurate for measurements in a real combustion system.

3.3.1 Furnace Description

The test furnace was a small steel device with refractory lining. It was heated with an electrically controlled gas oil burner, capable of operating at between 28 and 60 Kw of thermal output, with the burner set for a thermal output of 30-32 Kw. The full operating specifications of this burner are given below. The furnace was located in a laboratory at the Buxton research facility, with the exhaust passing through a vertical chimney for release to atmosphere without any gas clean-up. Gases were sampled by the CEML from a sampling point in the chimney, located on the roof outside the laboratory, about 500mm from the top of the flue. The furnace and chimney are shown in Figure 32. The furnace was fitted with a number of side access ports, one of which was modified to allow the introduction of solid samples, on a stainless steel sample probe. The port allowed spikes of metals and metal compounds to be introduced into the furnace.



Figure 32: The test furnace and flue

Fuel Oil Characterisation

The main characteristics of the fuel oil used by the burner are given in Table 23.

 Table 23: Fuel oil characteristics for the laboratory furnace

property (units)	value	comments
density (kg m ⁻³)	853	measured at 15 °C
carbon content (%)	87.3	
hydrogen content (%)	12.5	
oxygen content (%)	0	
nitrogen content (%)	0	
sulphur content (%)	0.2	
ash content (%)	0	
moisture content (%)	0	
net calorific value (MJ Kg ⁻¹)	41.5	

Burner Characterisation

The main burner operation characteristics are given in Table 24

Table 24:	burner characteristics	for the	laboratory	furnace
-----------	------------------------	---------	------------	---------

property (units)	value	comments
fuel consumption (cm ³ min ⁻¹)	51	$= 7.25 \text{ E}-04 \text{ kg s}^{-1}$
air flow (kg s ⁻¹)	2.744 x10 ⁻²	Excess air = $+165\%$

General furnace properties

Other miscellaneous properties of the furnace are given in Table 25.

Table 25:	Furnace parameters (measu	red after furnace had been run	for 2 hours)
-----------	---------------------------	--------------------------------	--------------

property (units)	value	comments
temperature at first access port (°C)	1032	200 mm from burner
temperature at second access port (°C)	740	750 mm from burner, usually used for solids introduction
chimney height (mm)	1950	
chimney ID (mm)	160	
chimney wall thickness (mm)	9	
flue gas temperature at sampling port	350	
flue gas velocity at sampling port (m s ⁻¹)	2.28	
flue gas flow rate at sampling port (m ³ min ⁻¹)	2.74	$0.0458 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$

Characterisation of combustion products

A summary of the experimental and calculated data on the combustion characteristics of the furnace is given below (Table 26). This data was required to calculate the concentrations of metals placed in the furnace, and to calibrate bulk gas measurements from the ICP to known values. Measurements were made using dedicated analysers which were calibrated immediately prior to use.

Table 26: Laboratory furnace flue gas concentrations

property (units)	value	comments
oxygen (%)	13.7	dry gas
carbon dioxide (%)	5.7	dry gas
mass flow rate (kg s^{-1})	2.82×10^{-2}	
Adiabatic flame temperature (°C)	850	

The data given above, in Table 23 - Table 26 were used to obtain the mass-balance results given in Table 27.

flue gas component	mass flow (Kg s ⁻¹)	composition (% wt)	composition mol)	(%composition (% dry gas)
H ₂ O	8.16x10 ⁻⁰⁴	2.896	4.651	the star and a star with an b
CO ₂	2.32x10 ⁻⁰³	8.240	5.414	5.68
O ₂	3.98x10 ⁻⁰³	14.135	12.771	13.39
N ₂	2.10×10^{-02}	74.730	77.164	80.93

Table 27: Mass-balance characteristics of the laboratory furnace

3.3.2 Initial CEML Flue Gas Monitoring

Experiments were conducted to confirm whether the flue gas from the test furnace was successfully being sampled and measured by the ICP, and whether metals could be measured in that matrix. Elemental emission lines for various elements, including metals and bulk matrix gases (carbon and oxygen) lines were monitored continuously using the test furnace described in 3.3.1 to provide a real flue gas matrix.

Figure 33 shows the results of one experiment. For the first two sections, the furnace was switched off, and the measured oxygen level is high, with the measured carbon level being low, corresponding to the analysis of ambient air. In the third section, the furnace is turned on, and a rise in carbon, and corresponding fall in oxygen signal, is observed, as expected. This confirms that flue gas is actually being sampled successfully, and is reaching the plasma. Qualitatively, the results are as would be expected for air and flue gas, and it confirms that measurements can be made in the matrix.



Figure 33: Chart showing the stability of the system under various conditions

To measure stability over an extended period of time, ten consecutive sample points were taken and the relative standard deviation calculated. The area of the sample point is coloured in blue on the chart. With only the secondary pump in operation, it can be seen that percentage relative standard deviation (RSD) of 0.67, 1.31 and 1.74 were obtained for oxygen, argon and carbon, respectively. The values suggest a stable system with low levels of drift.

The second stage of the experiment took measurements with both the primary and secondary pumps in operation. Percentage RSD values for oxygen, argon and carbon of 0.70, 0.44 and 0.77 were obtained. This slight overall improvement is thought to be an effect of the primary pump providing a larger amount of sample to the secondary pump, thus reducing its work and reducing pulsing of the sample gas into the plasma.

The final part of the experiment used the same conditions as above but with the furnace in operation. It can be seen in the chart that the carbon levels increase, and the oxygen and argon levels fell, this relates to the carbon dioxide emitted from the furnace. Oxygen concentrations will fall, due to oxygen consumption by the furnace, and a drop in argon signal results from the quenching effect of increased carbon dioxide in the plasma. The stability was measured as before, with percentage RSD values of 1.66, 0.89 and 2.64 being observed for oxygen, argon and carbon, respectively. These variations are very reasonable, given the expected variation in the furnace performance over time, and the difficulty of making ICP-OES measurements in the gas matrix

From this experiment, it was concluded that the analytical system could operate with a reasonable stability under the operating conditions expected for flue gas monitoring. Further experiments also demonstrated that the analytical system remained stable over longer monitoring periods, of up to several hours.

Having established that reliable measurements could be made in the flue gas matrix, basic experiments were used to show whether the target analytes (i.e. metals) could be measured. Calibration standards were introduced to the plasma via the USN, with the sampling system being used to supply combustion exhaust gas from the furnace to the ICP, at a rate of 150 ml min⁻¹. Calibrations were produced for all target analytes, with illustrative results being shown in Figure 34 and Figure 35.

Aluminium

Figure 34 shows the calibration curve for aluminium measured in air and in flue gas, on the Al I 396.152 nm wavelength. As expected, line intensity is affected by the presence of carbon dioxide, but not to such an extent that this cannot be corrected for computationally. Thus it is seen that successful elemental measurements can be made in the flue gas matrix.





Manganese

Figure 35 shows the calibration curve for manganese, measured on two different emission lines, and in both air and flue gas. Once again, the flue gas matrix has some effect on signal intensity as expected, but good calibration characteristics are still possible. The higher sensitivity of the 257.610 nm line used is illustrated well, showing why it is a better emission line for measurement of trace concentrations of this metal.



Figure 35: Manganese calibration curves in air and flue gas, measured on two wavelengths

Thus, by brief examination of all the analytic lines used, it was seen that the effect of real flue gas was sufficiently similar to that of the calibration gas synthetic flue gas mixtures that successful measurements could be made in the real matrix. This was in spite of real flue gas being somewhat more complex than the calibration gas mixtures, containing water vapour, oxides of nitrogen and sulphur, and other trace compounds, in addition to the bulk gases. Therefore a successful basic on-line metal monitoring system had been developed, calibrated and briefly tested, and could be used and developed through further on-line emissions monitoring experiments.

3.3.3 Analytical System Calibration Verification

The normal calibration strategy adopted for the CEML is the introduction of aqueous standards to the plasma using a USN or modified Lichte nebuliser, which introduces a standard aerosol after the secondary sampling head, immediately before the ICP. Concentrations at this point were calculated following mass balance experiments on the USN, and the sampling system prior to this was carefully characterised to allow proper quantification for the whole CEML system. Although this calibration method was generally satisfactory, it was considered useful to confirm the calibration of the whole system at a more fundamental level.

Known amounts of volatile metal were placed in the hot furnace, and flue gas emissions were measured using the CEML, following appropriate calibration. Having also completed mass balance studies for the furnace, the amount of metal accounted for in the flue was compared with the known amount added, in order to test the quantification of the whole analytical system, including ICP-OES, USN, and sampling system. This was particularly important for the sampling system, which was had the largest potential for introducing unknown inaccuracies into the measured results, due to possible deposition problems.

It should be emphasised that several assumptions and simplifications are made in using this experimental set-up, for example that volatilisation rate is constant over each measurement period, and that all the metal is volatilised and is not deposited in the system. It is therefore to be expected that quantification in the experiment will be less accurate than in the more ideal instrument-based calibration, but nevertheless provides a good indicator of the accuracy of quantification of the whole system.

For accurate comparison of calculated metal input, and measured metal output, it was necessary to know the period over which emission took place. The ICP sampling time was therefore reduced to 24s, in order to obtain better time-resolved data. Although this will lead to a decrease in absolute sensitivity, reasonable detection limits were still obtained. Other than this, the ICP operating conditions were the standard ones, given in Table 20 and Table 21.

Small spikes of elemental mercury were added to the stainless steel sample introduction probe, which was placed in the furnace to allow evaporation. Sample masses between 0.0015g and 0.0258g were added, as shown in Table 28. The practicalities of the experimental system prevented smaller samples being introduced to the furnace, as they could not accurately be weighed or handled, so all spikes were above anticipated detection limits.

time from start of experiment (hh:mm:ss)	mass Hg added (mg)
00:10:28	2.9
00:17:00	1.5
00:24:25	1.5
00:32:16	7.5
00:40:33	1.9
00:48:24	12.0
00:56:15	20.6
01:07:11	25.8
01:25:31	6.9
01:33:49	15.1
01:41:15	12.3
01:55:39	14.7

Table 28: Metal spikes added to furnace during experimental run

The concentration of metal present in the flue gas of the furnace was measured throughout the experiment using the ICP. The measured gas-phase concentrations were used to calculate the total amount of metal accounted for in the flue gas, and the mass of metal added was compared with the output.

Calibration

The calibration obtained using nebulised aqueous standards is as shown in Figure 36. The linearity and sensitivity observed are excellent.



Figure 36: The Calibration Curve for Mercury Measured at the 253.653 nm Emission Line

Continuous Measurements

The emission profile for mercury observed in the flue gas of the furnace during the metal spiking experiment is shown in Figure 37. Twelve emission events are clearly observed, corresponding to twelve spiking events, two of which have been excluded from calculations as outliers (shown in red in Table 28). These outliers may result from impurities in the mercury used, or other uncontrollable variables in the relatively complex experimental configuration. The maximum concentrations on the profile are

approximately 8 mg m⁻³, for a furnace spike of 25 mg of mercury, and good baseline resolution and stability is observed between the spikes.



Figure 37: The Emission Profile for Mercury during the Metal Spiking Experiment.

Calculation of Total Mercury in Flue gas based on Measured Concentration

A spiking event in the furnace results in a spike in mercury in the flue gas of up to 8 mg⁻³, and typically lasting 3 - 4 minutes. A measurement of mercury in the flue gas was recorded every 26 - 27s. As the total flow of gas through the test furnace was known, the total amount of mercury released in the flue gas during a single measurement event could be calculated according to the following equation, assuming that emission was constant during each individual measurement period:

$$M_{Hg} = C_{flue} FT \tag{14}$$

Where M_{Hg} is the mass of mercury released during one measurement event (mg), C_{flue} is the measured concentration of mercury in the flue (mg m⁻³), F is the flow of gas through the flue per second (0.0458 m³ s⁻¹), and T is the time for the measurement (26-27s) The total emission of mercury for the whole spike peak could be calculated using the equation, Where M is the mass (g) of metal measured:

$$M_{Total} = \sum_{PStart}^{PStop} M_{Hg}$$
(15)

A comparison between the amounts of mercury added to the furnace and the calculated amount released in the flue gas are shown in Table 29. This data is shown in Figure 38. Agreement between the measured and calculated values is very good. It is generally seen that there is slight over-quantification of the smallest peaks, presumably due to imperfect background corrections for small signals. Large signals are generally well quantified. It may be of concern that within an experiment of 10 data points, 3 are excluded as outliers, showing significant under-quantification. However, given the nature of the experimental setup, this is considered reasonable, and it is seen that where quantification can be classified as "successful", it is actually very accurate.

mass of mercury added to furnace (g)	total calculated mercury exiting furnace via flue (g)	comments
1.5	1.269	Contract Active Store A
1.5	0.479	excluded as outlier
1.9	1.122	
2.9	1.864	
6.9	6.617	
7.5	3.639	excluded as outlier
12.3	12.944	
14.7	11.045	excluded as outlier
20.6	21.788	
25.8	25.287	

Table 29: A comparison of mercury additions to the test furnace with calculated mercury emissions from the furnace



Figure 38: A comparison of mercury additions to the test furnace with calculated mercury emissions from the furnace

This experiment showed that it was possible to quantitatively measure emission concentrations for elements in the gas phase using ICP-OES. It confirmed that the use of a nebuliser to generate an aqueous aerosol standard was an acceptable method of calibration of a gas-phase measurement system. Notwithstanding the significance of the effect of changing gas composition (water, oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations), the experiment demonstrated that a good correlation could be achieved between measurements of gas phase metal and known metallic input in laboratory conditions, indicating that the CEML was fit for the intended purpose of gas-phase measurements of metal concentrations.

3.4 Use of the CEML to Investigate the Behaviour of Metals in Combustion Systems

The purpose of developing the CEML system for measurements of metals in flue gases was to investigate the volatilisation behaviour of different metals in combustion systems. Various experiments were conducted with the CEML and test furnace, in order to test the operation of the analytical system, and to investigate the volatilisation of different metals, and to confirm whether existing theories of metal volatilisation reflected experimental observations. It was generally found that elements and compounds predicted to be volatile were detected in the flue gas, and that non-volatile elements and compounds were not, though there were a few exceptions, which are considered in the results. This programme of work not only aided system development, but provided extremely valuable verification of existing predictions of metal behaviour in thermal systems, and showed that reactions in the burning bed could enhance or suppress the volatility of particular metals.

These tests were conducted over an extended period of time, in conjunction with continued analytical system development. It is therefore difficult to give a full list of normal operating conditions, due to changes made as the work developed, and the results are best considered as non-quantitative tests, as full system calibration would have been required each time, if results were to have been fully quantitative. Nevertheless, typical CEML operating conditions for these experiments are as given in Table 20 and Table 21, with more detail, where appropriate, given along with the results. Generally, the shorter (24 second) measurement time was used.

3.4.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds

As seen in Chapter 2, it is predicted that metals such as cadmium, lead, mercury and zinc are volatile in combustion systems, either as the native metal, or as a compound such as the metal chloride, and this has indeed already been shown to be true for mercury (and hence not repeated here). In these experiments, small amounts (typically about 0.2g) of various metals and metal compounds were added to the test furnace, on the sample introduction probe, and the metal content of the flue gas was monitored by the CEML. Despite the small quantity of metal added, these should yield large and easily identifiable peaks in the CEML results, given the instrument sensitivity, and sample dilution in the furnace gas, and this is clearly the case where metals were found to be volatile. A list of the species added to the furnace is given in Table 30.

species	mass (g)	boiling point (°C)	presence in gas stream	comments
-		(Weast et al., 1988)	expected	
Al	0.5g	2467	no	
Al ₂ O ₃	1.0g	2980	no	
Ca	0.6g	1484	no	
Cd **		765	yes	
CdCl ₂ **		960		
Cr	0.7g	2672	no	
Cu	0.5g	2567	no	
CuCl ₂	0.2g	993*	no	decomposes to CuCl
CuCl	0.2g	1490	no	-
Fe	0.2g	2750	no	
FeCl ₂	0.2g	NA		melts at ~670, sublimes
КОН	0.2g	1320	no	
Mg	0.5g	1107	no	
NaOH	0.2g	1390	no	
Ni	0.9g	2730	no	
NiCl ₂	0.2g	973*		sublimes
Рb	2g	1740	no	
PbCl ₂	0.2g	950		
Sn	1.0g	2260	no	As Sn/Pb alloy
SnCl ₂	0.2g	652	yes	
Zn	0.7	907		
ZnSO₄	0.2g	600*		decomposes
ZnCl ₂	0.3g	732	yes	_

Table 30: Metals and metal compounds added to the laboratory furnace to assess volatility

3.4.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System

It has been explained in the literature review (Chapter 2) that the burning bed of an incinerator is a complex reacting system, and that reactions of metals or metal compounds with other species on the burning bed may enhance or suppress volatility. Using the experimental system available; with the laboratory furnace to provide a combustion environment, and the CEML to monitor gaseous products, studies were conducted into whether reactions could occur between different species on the bed, helping to increase understanding of how metals behave in combustion systems.

A list of the different reactant combinations added to the furnace, along with a brief explanation of the purpose of each experiment, is given in Table 31. Obviously, the list is not exhaustive, but the results of these experiments served to illustrate how complex the combustion system was, and how important it was to consider a range of species and reactions of each metal being studied.

Table 31:	Reactants added to	the laboratory	furnace to	assess burning-bed	volatilisation reactions
-----------	---------------------------	----------------	------------	--------------------	--------------------------

species 1	species 2	expected products	comments
Sn	HONH ₃ Cl	SnCl ₂	non-metallic source of HCl
Sn	NH₄I	SnI_2	source of HI
Sn	I_2	SnI_2	source of I ₂
Sn	S		
Sn	PVC	SnCl ₂	"real" source of HCl
Sn	PVC	SnCl ₂	with S also present, to test effect of competing anions
Pb	HONH ₃ Cl	PbCl ₂	
Pb	ZnCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Pb	SnCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Pb	NiCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Pb	CuCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Al	HONH ₃ Cl		to see if HCl source can volatilise "non-volatile"
			metals
Al	$ZnCl_2$		to see if volatile salts can volatilise "non-volatile"
			metals
Al	SnCl ₂		to see if volatile salts can volatilise "non-volatile"
			metals
Al	NiCl ₂		to see if volatile salts can volatilise "non-volatile"
			metals
Al	CuCl ₂		to see if volatile salts can volatilise "non-volatile"
			metals
Zn	HONH ₃ Cl	ZnCl ₂	to see if HCl source can volatilise "non-volatile"
	_		metals
Zn	SnCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Zn	NiCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Zn	CuCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals
Zn	PbCl ₂		to test "competition" for anions between metals

3.5 Continuous Emissions Monitoring at a Large-Scale Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator

A robust system had been developed which was capable of making unique accurate, and reliable measurements of concentrations of metals in flue gases (as vapours and as small particulates). The CEML was used for two campaigns of measurement at a commercial MSW incinerator. The first study investigated the concentration of metals in the flue gas emissions to atmosphere, and the second examined the concentrations in the raw flue gas, prior to gas clean-up. Each on-line study was supported by a series of conventional measurements of metal concentrations in solid incinerator residues, which helped to confirm the accuracy of the new on-line measurements. Although the study of emitted flue gas was technically much less demanding, it revealed far less about the fluctuations in metal volatilisation from the burning bed, and the study of a highly contaminated, dusty un-cleaned flue gas gave a far more useful insight into the fluctuating concentration of different metals released from the burning bed.

For each study, the CEML was transported to the plant by lorry and for the duration of the sampling regime was left on the trailer, which is seen in Figure 39. The plant provided power and water to the CEML, and liquid argon was supplied on-site by Cryoservice (Worcester, UK). After arrival at the plant, the CEML was powered up and the ICP-OES was allowed to equilibrate for 24 hours before use. Each measurement campaign lasted one week, with 2 days before for set-up and 1 after for preparation for transport, with one study being completed in December 2002, and the second being completed in July 2004.



Figure 39: CEML arrival at the MSWI prior to installation of steps

3.5.1 Description of Industrial Plant

The test site selected for this work was a mass-burn MSWI plant, which is shown schematically in Figure 40. The plant had 2 lines, each incinerating up to 12 tonnes of waste per hour, with an average throughput of approximately 10 tonnes per unit per hour. The grate was a Martin reverse reciprocating grate, and the furnace walls were water cooled, providing heat to the energy recovery system. Furnace temperature was measured by the plant operator using two thermocouples, one on either side of the furnace. The plant was operated so as to maintain the temperature between 850°C and 1100°C, and with excess combustion air leading to an oxygen level between 6% and 14%, measured in the radiation shaft. The combustion chamber was followed by the energy recovery boiler, and an economiser, resulting in a final flue gas temperature after the economiser averaging 130°C. The heat generated by the process was used to generate 13 MW of electricity, and also provided heating to local buildings, through a district heating system. Hot flue gases were used to generate steam for the energy recovery system, through radiative heating of the water walls of the combustion chamber and superheater, and by convective heating of the multi-tubular heat exchanger and economiser.

Flue gas treatment comprised of a dry scrubbing system using hydrated lime to control acidic gas emissions, and activated carbon to trap heavy metals and organic micropollutants. Fabric filters were used to collect the fly ash and scrubber products, and were designed to remove particulate matter down to a minimum of 5μ m. The emitted flue gas was continuously monitored beyond the fabric filter by the plant operator, for temperature, and concentrations of CO, SO₂, NO_x, HCl, O₂, H₂O, and dust, using a CODEL system (CODEL International Ltd, Bakewell, UK).

Two flue gas sampling points were used in the course of this work. Cleaned flue gas measurements were made beyond the fabric filters, in a straight section of ducting, before the ID fan, and the mixing of the flue gases from the two lines before the stack. Un-cleaned flue gas was sampled after the economiser, and before the sorbent injection of the flue gas clean-up system. Each sampling point was fitted with a standard 4" BSP port in a vertical section of ducting, well away from any bends or other

obstructions in the flue, with the port for "clean" gas being the one used for the environment agency extractive emissions testing. The sampling points are indicated on the schematic diagram, Figure 40. The CEML sample train was connected to one of these ports, at which point the ducting measured about $0.9m \times 0.9m$, and continuous on-line emission monitoring of flue gas was undertaken.



Figure 40: Schematic diagram of the incinerator plant, showing the sampling locations

During the combustion trials, the plant was burning unsorted municipal waste, collected from homes and businesses in the surrounding area. Information on the composition of this waste is extremely difficult to obtain, with no specific information available on elemental composition, although it is known that the average calorific value of the waste delivered to the plant in the year 2001 was 10.50 MJkg⁻¹. General estimates of the composition of municipal waste were given in the literature review (Chapter 2). Ultimately, given the difficulties of obtaining accurate, consistent, and representative data on waste composition, given its inhomogeneity and seasonal and regional variability, it might be considered better to use the analyses of incinerator residues to back-calculate the incoming waste compositions, along with the new online monitoring data presented, give a better indicator of the composition of the original waste than has previously been available.

Data Collected

In addition to the data collected using the CEML, the measurements made by the plant during the monitoring time were made available. Data was collected for furnace conditions (temperature and oxygen), measured at the top of the radiation shaft, as were temperatures of the flue gas before and after the economiser. The full set of emission data, recorded by the CODEL system, was obtained for cleaned flue gas, following the bag filters. At this point, temperature, oxygen (%) and flow (cubic metres per second), and data on sulphur dioxide, hydrogen chloride, particulate, and other emissions were recorded. These measurements were made in the line 1 ducting, immediately prior to the point where the gases from the two incinerator lines meet at the base of the stack. The bulk composition, temperature and flow data were used to normalise the CEML results to standard reference conditions, and to see how metal emissions changed with plant conditions. In order to simplify comparison of data from different sources (i.e. plant and CEML), one value was used per minute, with the last data point from any one minute being used in the event of multiple measurements within the period.

Plant recorded data had been normalised to 11% O₂, dry gas, 1 atmosphere, 273 K. Accordingly, CEML measured data was converted to the same conditions using the general correction (14), which for these specific reference conditions simplifies to (15):

$$C_{ref} = C_{meas} \frac{T_{meas} x (21 - O_{2meas}) x (100 + H_2 O_{meas})}{T_{ref} x (21 - O_{2ref}) x 100}$$
(16)

Equation 1: General calculation of normalised concentrations from measured concentrations

$$C_{NTP} = C_{meas} \frac{T_{meas} x(21 - O_{2meas}) x(100 + H_2 O_{meas})}{273000}$$
(17)

Equation 2: Calculation of normalised concentrations from measured concentrations for NTP required for MSW incinerators

Cref	is the concentration of metal at reference conditions (mg m^{-3})
CNTP	is the concentration of metal at NTP (mg m ⁻³)
C _{meas}	is the concentration of metal measured (mg m^{-3})
T _{meas}	is the temperature at the measurement point [taken to be the
	plant economiser outlet temperature] (K)
T _{ref}	is the reference (NTP) temperature (K)
O _{2meas}	is the measured flue gas oxygen content at the measurement
	point [taken to be the plant measured oxygen measured
	beyond the bag filters] (%)
H ₂ O _{meas}	is the measured flue gas water content at the measurement
	point [taken to be the plant measured water measured beyond
	the bag filters] (%)

Additional Samples Collected

Where:

During on-site continuous emissions monitoring experiments at the MSWI, samples of bottom ash, and APC residue were collected daily. During the monitoring of uncleaned flue gas, fly ash (before lime addition) was collected in the cyclone, and this was also preserved. These samples were analysed for metal content, allowing further information to be gathered on the distribution of metals in the furnace, and so allowing some confirmation of the on-line measurements made by the CEML.

Although a formal sampling strategy was not adopted, care was taken to ensure consistent methods were used. Samples of bottom ash and APC residue were taken at about the same time each day, between 3:00 and 4:00 pm. It is appreciated that the collection protocol adopted would not fully satisfy the rigorous requirements to ensure representative sampling (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997), but it was the best achievable in the conditions encountered, and the samples size was large enough that they should have been reasonably representative of the bulk material.

Bottom ash was collected beyond the quench pit, from the grating which was used to separate bulky items from the main ash. About 10 kg was collected, with large, identifiable items such as masonry or bulk ferrous metal being rejected from the sample at the point of collection (anything over about 200mm in any dimension). At this point the residues from the two incinerator lines were mixed. Samples of about 5kg of APC residue were collected from an access point in the transport system for used lime/APC residue, before mixing of the residues from the two lines. Thus collection was as close as possible to "fresh" APC residue, prior to damping with water. Fly ash, which was collected in the BCURA sampling probe during un-cleaned flue gas analysis, was removed periodically from the cyclone, and amounted to about 3-5 kg per working day (8-10 hour monitoring period). Collected samples were stored in sealed plastic containers at room temperature until analysis.

3.5.2 Analysis of Solid Residues from Municipal Solid Waste Incineration

The formal method used in the laboratory for the analysis of solid incinerator residues is given in Appendix 2. This method, which was developed internally from information given in the relevant British/EU and American standards (British Standard EN13657:2001, 2001), is summarised below.

Pre-Preparation of Laboratory Samples

Given the large particle sizes encountered, particularly for bottom ash, samples were ground prior to acid digestion using a cross-beater rotary mill (Model 16-150, Glen Creston Ltd, Middlesex, England), in order to reduce inhomogeneity. The raw sample was mixed, coned and quartered, with half of the sample being retained, and half being ground until it was small enough to pass through a 0.5mm mill mesh. For samples with a large initial particle size, they were first ground to pass through a 5mm mesh. Although the upper particle size limit was therefore 0.5 / 5mm respectively, the majority of the resultant particles were much smaller than the mesh screen in the mill, and sample homogeneity was much improved. The resulting residues were mixed, and stored again in sealed plastic containers. For convenience of handling, laboratory sub-samples were taken in 50ml polypropylene sample tubes for analytical purposes.

Digestion Method

Two strong acid digestion methods were used, although both were digestions using a mixture of concentrated hydrochloric and nitric acids (aqua regia). The first was a conventional thermal digestion, where the samples were boiled in the acid mixture in an electrical heating unit. The second was a microwave-assisted sealed tube digestion, which had the advantage of offering more "harsh" digestion conditions (and hopefully better digestion as a result), but was only capable of using a smaller sample.

It is appreciated that the aqua regia digestion procedure employed will not give a "true total content" for some metallic elements, notably silicon, aluminium, and possibly calcium. However, the use of more aggressive reagents, such as a hydrofluoric acid / aqua regia / perchloric acid mixture was avoided due to the highly corrosive reagents involved, and the known drawbacks of this technique, i.e. the possible loss of Cr, Si, Ag, As, B, Ca, K, Mo, Sb, Se and V leading to poor quantification (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997). Although not perfect, it is believed that the aqua regia digestion used presents the best "compromise conditions" for general analysis, given that the main interest was in heavy and trace metal content, not in bulk "inert" constituents. It should be noted that the method is not appropriate for mercury analysis, due to the risk of loosing mercury vapours at the temperatures involved in the digestions.

Thermal Digestion

For the thermal analysis, 2.0 g samples of solid were weighed accurately on a 4-figure balance, and placed in 350 ml pyrex tubes of a Büchi 6-Sample Digester (Fisher

Scientific, Loughborough, UK). 15ml of hydrochloric acid was added, followed by 7.5ml of nitric acid, and the samples were boiled for 2 hours. The temperature was maintained such that a reflux was maintained on the tube sides, which were air cooled, and the sample volume was conserved. The samples were periodically agitated, to ensure that the whole of the solid sample was exposed to the acid mixture.

Microwave Assisted Digestion

Samples were digested using an Anton Paar Multiwave 3000 microwave digester (Anton Paar, Hertfordshire, UK). 8 samples were digested simultaneously. 0.5g of solid was weighed accurately on a 4-figure balance, and placed in the digestion vessel. 6 ml of nitric acid was added, followed by 1ml of hydrochloric acid. The samples were placed in the microwave, and were microwaved at 1400w, ramped linearly from zero over 5 minutes, and held at full power for 20 minutes.

Sample Analysis By ICP-OES

Digested samples (from either digestion method) were allowed to cool, filtered or centrifuged to remove or compact any insoluble material, and diluted to 50 ml with deionised water. These samples were collected in 50ml polypropylene tubes, and were stored at room temperature prior to analysis by ICP-OES. For major constituents (e.g. aluminium, calcium, sodium), 10-fold, 100-fold or even 1000-fold dilution of the initial sample was required, to obtain concentrations in the measurable range.

The samples were analysed for aqua-regia soluble metal content using the Spectro Ciros ICP-OES in the CEML, which is described in 3.1 . The ICP was fitted with the standard torch for liquid analalyses, and a modified lichte pneumatic nebuliser. The system was calibrated using 0, 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 5, and 10 ppm multi-element standards (Bernd Kraft GmbH Salze & Lösungen, Duisburg, Germany). To prevent concentrated samples contaminating subsequent analyses, the most dilute (1000 or 100-fold diluted) form of each sample was analysed first, followed by the 10-fold diluted, and then the undiluted. Between different samples, 10% HNO₃ was run through the ICP for two minutes, to remove residual sample contamination. The main ICP operating parameters, which are standard conditions for liquids analysis, are given in Table 32.

parameter (units)	value	
generator frequency (MHz)	27.15	
power RF (kW)	1.4	
plasma gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	12.0	
coolant gas flow rate (1 min^{-1})	1.0	
nebuliser gas flow rate $(1 \min^{-1})$	0.8	
injector tube diameter (mm)	0.8	
stabilisation time (s)	15	
read time (s)	12-24	

Table 32: ICP operating parameters for solids analysis

Some of the solid samples were also analysed by an independent laboratory (SUMAC, University of Sheffield), to provide verification of the data obtained. A full method is not available for the samples digested externally, which were provided un-prepared to that laboratory, but is known to have consisted of an acid digestion, and ICP-OES analysis.

3.5.3 Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions

The CEML was connected to the plant sample port with the 40m heated sample line. The path of the heated sampling line, from the port, to the CEML, is shown in Figure 41. Compared with the complexity of measuring metal concentrations in the uncleaned gas, measurements of the emitted flue gas was relatively straightforward. Gas was isokinetically sampled from the 4" BSP sample port after the bag filters, (described in section 3.5.1) using the 40m-heated sampling line and BCURA probe (described in section 3.1.4) (with smallest tip fitting). The use of the cyclone was not necessary as the gas was essentially free of large particulates. The sample line was operated at a temperature of 200°C. A sub-sample was taken, using a double head, out of phase, peristaltic pump via a secondary sampling stage at 0.24 L min⁻¹. The sampling port is shown in Figure 42.

Other than this difference at the sampling head end of the analytical system, the CEML was essentially the same as for un-cleaned gas, described in section 3.5.4. The nebuliser and ICP-OES conditions differed slightly, as shown in Table 33 and Table 34. However, due to the fact that the gas volumes (sample and nebuliser argon) differ significantly between the two experiments, and also because the USN performance was significantly changed following a major overhaul, the concentrations of the 0-10 ppm standard solutions corresponded to $0 - 2.1 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$ in the gas phase, and thus were significantly different from the subsequent work, where sensitivity was much improved. Nevertheless, the concentrations in each case accurately represent the gas-phase concentration of the standards reaching the ICP.



Figure 41: The path of the heated sample line, from the plant duct to the CEML



Figure 42: The heated sample line and probe, connected to the flue gas duct sampling point.

Table 33:	ICP operating	parameters for	flue gas	monitoring
-----------	----------------------	----------------	----------	------------

parameter (units)	value
generator Frequency (MHz)	27.15
power RF (kW)	1.7
plasma gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	20.0
auxiliary gas flow rate (1 min^{-1})	0.8
aerosol carrier gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	0.7
sample gas flow rate (1 min ⁻¹)	0.24
injector tube diameter (mm)	1.8
stabilisation time (s)	15
read time (s)	44

Table 34: Operating conditions for the USN

parameter	target Value	typical High Value	typical Low Value
desolvator temperature	160° C	161° C	158° C
condenser temperature	2° C	2.5° C	1.5° C

Due to the relatively simple analytical matrix, and low analyte concentrations, quantification, and long-term system stability were very good in clean flue gas. The CEML was therefore left running for long periods (in excess of 24 hours), and this is reflected in longer uninterrupted results profiles. Other than this, the only significant point of note is that the air conditioning was damaged during transportation to the plant, and thus the laboratory was operated with electric heaters, and without air cleaning, but nevertheless, successful measurements were made. The results of the experiments detailed above are given in Chapter 5.

3.5.4 Pre-clean-up measurements

Sample Train

The CEML was connected to the plant sample port with the 40m heated sample line. The use of the adapted BCURA sampling probe (section 3.1.4), ensured isokinetic

sampling (as far as possible), and removed large particulates (dust and grit). The BCURA sampling device, which consisted of a sampling tip, sampling probe, minicyclone, isolation valve, and outlet to heated sample line, was assembled and used according to the instructions (BCURA, 1996), which are in accordance with the appropriate British Standard (British Standard 3405, 1983). Particulates were removed using the cyclone supplied with the BCURA equipment, having been fitted with a custom-made large-capacity particulate receiving device (2L), to allow use for extended periods of use. The sampling device was equipped with an isolation valve so that the sample probe could be left in the flue overnight, closed off, to minimise air ingress or deposition on the probe. In addition, when not in use, the probe tip was rotated through 180°, to minimise particle deposition in the probe tip. The entire sampling train was lagged and insulated with glass fibre tape and expanded foam pipe insulation, to minimise heat loss and associated depositions. The laboratory heated sample line was maintained between 150° C and 160° C throughout the week, slightly higher than the economiser temperature, in order to minimise depositions, which were problematic within the sampling train.

The static pressure drop in the flue was 2.5 kN m⁻³, and the pressure differential across the cyclone 0.8 kN m⁻³. Due to the use of the CEML primary pump, rather than the original BCURA pump, the cyclone pressure drop was rather low, so the smallest sample head (0.0002 m²) was selected, according to the BCURA manual (BCURA, 1996). This gave slightly sub-isokinetic sampling, but was as near as possible to isokinetic.

Given that the cyclone was put in place to remove particles over 10 μ m, and that the remaining gas sample should only contain smaller particles and vapour, the sampling methodology was adequate, as deviations from isokinetic conditions have minimal effect on the smallest particles, i.e. less than 5 μ m (Clarke, 1998), which will actually reach the ICP and undergo effective analysis (Trassy, 1996), and in any case, have the highest concentrations of volatile metals (Greenberg et al., 1978). A traverse of the stack was not conducted, as once more the distribution of such particles through the stack is reasonably consistent, and temporal variations in the on-line data would have been complicated by the introduction of a further variable.

Due to technical difficulties with the equipment, only one channel of the 2-head out of phase peristaltic pump was used, at maximum speed, so corresponding to an analytical sample flow of 125 ml min⁻¹. This was mixed at a t-piece connector with nebuliser argon flowing at 0.5 l min⁻¹, and was transported through the USN to the ICP. The USN was operated nebulising 10% HNO₃, (supplied through one 0.89 mm bore peristaltic pump tube) to standardise normalise sample water content during on-line monitoring. The other main USN conditions are given in Table 35, and the ICP-OES operating conditions are listed in Table 36.

parameter	target Value	typical High Value	typical Low Value
desolvator temperature	170°C	171°C	168°C
condenser temperature	0°C	0.5°C	-0.2°C

Table 35: Operating conditions for the USN

Table 36: ICP operating parameters

Parameter (units)	value	
generator frequency (MHz)	27.15	
power RF (kW)	1.65*	
plasma gas flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	20.0	
auxiliary gas flow rate (L min $^{-1}$)	0.8	
aerosol carrier gas flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	0.5	
Sample gas flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	0.125	
injector tube diameter (mm)	1.8	
read time (s)	44	

* - the power was reduced slightly, with the aim of reducing the stress on the instrument, following the failure of the oscillator board in 2003, after continued full power operation.

The ICP-OES was calibrated using 0-10 ppm EPA standard solutions (which correspond to 0-4.4 mg m⁻³ in the gas phase) in a range of gas matrixes produced from the calibration gases. Six gas compositions were used, comprising of 79% nitrogen, and 0-21% oxygen, with the remainder being carbon dioxide. Multi-variable linear regression analysis was used to correlate analyte emission signals with both concentration of metal and concentration of oxygen, and for each data point collected, the plant oxygen measurement was used to select the correct calibration statistics for the sample matrix at the point of measurement. For a few lines, the effect of carbon dioxide was insignificant, in which case simple linear regression was used to correlate count value to analyte concentration. On-line calibration checks were performed occasionally during experimental runs by nebulising a known standard during flue gas measurements, and were generally found to be quantified within the \pm 20% demanded for CEM technologies, after a correction had been made for the signal due to metal in the flue gas at the point of calibration check.

Achieving reliable analytical measurements in the un-cleaned flue gas was very challenging. The un-cleaned gas provided an extremely difficult analytical matrix, with very high particulate loading, and very high and variable concentrations of a number of metals, along with trace concentrations of others. The heated sample line and analytical instrument was only designed for sampling of small particulates and gases, with particle sizes not over 10 μ m, hence the use of the sampling train at the plant end of the line to remove larger particulates, and during long monitoring periods, problems were experienced with the deposition of large particles, leading to poor quantification.

Given the extreme conditions for analysis, and limited particulate sampling, the results are best considered as semi-quantitative indicators of volatile metal concentration in the flue gas (present as vapour or particles less than 10μ m), with recognition that changing gas composition, limited sample deposition, and high plasma particulate loading will all have lowered analytical accuracy from its ideal optimum. Nevertheless, the data presented is unique, and illustrates a number of extremely interesting features observed in un-cleaned incinerator flue gas. The results of this unique experimentation are given in Chapter 5.

Thermodynamic Prediction of Equilibrium in a MSW

Incinerator

The concept of thermodynamic prediction of equilibrium in MSW incineration was introduced in Chapter 2. A range of available computational packages are reviewed which may be used to predict the thermodynamic equilibrium condition of complex systems. Thermodynamic equilibrium calculations have been calculated using the FactSageTM programme, to predict the equilibrium behaviour of metals in a waste incinerator. Predictions were made for waste in the combustion chamber, and during gas cooling in the energy recovery system. A range of operational and input values were considered (e.g. chlorine concentration), in order to assess the sensitivity of the combustion system to changes in feed and operational conditions. The aim was to discover whether the known behaviour of waste incinerators could be rationalised through thermodynamic explanations, and further to examine whether temporal variations in metal concentrations could be attributed to thermodynamic and compositional changes in the waste combustion environment.

A number of "specific items" were identified in the waste stream whose behaviour it was thought may differ significantly from the overall equilibrium during the initial waste combustion stage. Attempts were made to calculate the equilibrium around such items on the burning bed, in order to assess how significant inhomogineity in the waste feed may be in influencing metal partitioning. Items considered included batteries, lead-containing PVC, and the glass from a cathode ray tube display screen. It was thought that data obtained on the equilibrium around such items may help to further rationalise observed partitioning behaviour which were not fully explained by bulk composition calculations.

The computational package used was FactSageTM, one of the most comprehensive and versatile thermodynamic prediction systems available. It was particularly useful in this context as it is very good at the prediction of slags and melts, which can suppress volatility, and are therefore believed to be significant in determining the partitioning of metals in MSWI. The capabilities of this package are discussed in detail, following a short explanation of why this programme was chosen in preference to others which were available. Here it is appropriate to acknowledge the contribution to the project by Professor Bernard Argent, in the Engineering Materials Department of the University of Sheffield, who gave advice in the selection of appropriate modelling techniques, and the specific computational package, and used his copy of the FactSageTM software to produce the equilibrium calculations required.

4.1 Thermodynamic Equilibrium Prediction

The concept that reaction thermodynamics influences the extent and nature of reactions in chemistry has been in common usage for many years. The realisation that equilibrium products can be calculated for a system if the Gibbs energy is minimised is a powerful tool in predicting chemical reaction. It also allows reaction outcomes to be manipulated by changing the conditions (e.g. temperature or pressure) under which the reaction is performed (i.e. Le Chatelier's principle). Such calculations can be performed for a simple reaction using a paper, pencil, and a calculator, provided that the experimental data (equilibrium constant and reaction Gibbs energies) are known (Atkins, 1994).

From this principle, it was recognised that thermodynamic predictions could provide a useful indicator to the behaviour of complex industrial processes (including combustion), where a large number of reactants and products were possible. Furthermore, a greater understanding of the thermodynamics could allow manipulation of the equilibrium products. However, the mathematical requirements for such calculations were far more complex than for a simple reaction, and therefore a computational method was required to calculate the results. Consequently a number of complex systems. Some of these programmes are general, and are applicable to numerous systems, and others are designed for more specific applications (Factsage, 2005, Infochem, 2003, Nenes et al., 1998).

Although there are a variety of user interfaces, the databases utilised overlap significantly, being effectively compilations of all thermodynamic data currently available (and relevant to the equilibrium being considered). Despite the variety of programmes, the thermodynamic approach remains the same; at its simplest the minimisation of the total Gibbs energy for the system under consideration. The computational problem remains in obtaining that energy minimum in a complex system. In part, this is achieved by the software packages themselves, but there is also considerable onus on the user to specify a problem to solve which makes the simplifications necessary in order to achieve a result, without introducing serious error through over-simplification, for example by failure to consider a possible set of reaction products (Argent, 2004).

The advances in computational thermodynamic equilibrium programmes have been significant in recent years. Increases in computing power have allowed much more complex systems to be modelled in reasonable time, and the sophistication of the thermodynamic packages has increased as the technology has become established, and the technique more common. Both the user computing packages (user interface, underlying computational methods, operating system for the software), and the thermodynamic information on which the models are based, have undergone significant improvement in recent years (Argent, 2004, Factsage, 2005, Powell and Holland, 2001).

There have been significant expansions to the underlying thermodynamic databases used in the calculations. Most significant for this work is the fact that slagging reactions, such as the formation of alkali metal melts ("glasses"), which may serve to trap heavy metals in vitrified materials, can now be considered. There have also been significant increases in the number of reactant and product species which may be considered, which means that the whole combustion system may be calculated as one equilibrium, whereas in the past, reactions for different metals would have to be considered separately, for computational reasons. Thus the treatment of metal-metal interactions has improved substantially, and the results from modern calculations should better reflect the equilibrium of the system as a whole, rather than some part of it (Argent, 2004, Factsage, 2005, Powell and Holland, 2001, Wu and Biswas, 1993). Nevertheless, there remains a lack of thermodynamic data, leading to assumptions which may lower the accuracy of the model. Generally, these assumptions are interpolation of data for known compounds to provide general data for further compounds, for which measured values are not available. However as data availability increases (whether measured by experiment, or calculated mathematically), so does the ability to accurately estimate values for those where data is still unavailable. Thus the ability to predict the equilibrium for complex systems has improved significantly in recent years, and it is to be expected that improvement will continue in years to come, making thermodynamic calculations a sophisticated and powerful tool in predicting and explaining the behaviour of complex systems (Kemper, 2005, Argent, 2004, Powell and Holland, 2001).

4.2 Application of Thermodynamic Equilibrium Calculation to Municipal Solid Waste Incineration

Despite the great advances in thermodynamic equilibrium prediction tools, and the potential accuracy of the results obtained, a great deal of care must be exercised when applying such a technique to the combustion of municipal waste, as introduced in Chapter 2. The majority of the difficulties lie not in obtaining a good prediction of the thermodynamic equilibrium of the system, but in considering how far the assumptions of thermodynamic equilibrium are reasonable for such a system.

Firstly, in order that thermodynamic equilibrium is reached, it must be assumed that all the reactants are well mixed (homogeneous), and that reactions are able to reach equilibrium (i.e. the system is time-stable). Clearly, neither of these assumptions are strictly true for municipal waste combustion. Given the known inhomogeniety of the waste stream, it is likely that the assumption of good mixing is most significant, although kinetics may also be a factor (Delay, 1998). Thus it must immediately be acknowledged that a thermodynamic model will not give a full, quantitative prediction of the behaviour of waste during incineration, as the assumptions are significant, although such a model could still yield extremely useful information about how the system behaves.

Secondly, in order to obtain a good thermodynamic model of a system, it requires that the whole process is well characterised. Both the elemental input and the temperature at which equilibrium is obtained must be well known. Again, this is evidently a significant assumption for waste combustion, and considerable effort has to be made to ensure that the model inputs reflect the inputs to the incinerator. In some cases, where these values are known to change significantly with time, or their exact values are very poorly known, the best technique is to consider a range of values, and thus obtain a range of predictions for different conditions, and this has been done for some parameters in the waste combustion models.

Finally, it must be emphasised that thermodynamic models only predict evaporative transport routes for metals, and do not consider the effects of entrainment, which are significant in waste combustion (Belevi and Moench, 2000b, Linak and Wendt, 1993). Thus these three influences mean that the models produced in this work are not expected to be predictive and quantitative, but rather to see how observed data may be explained, and how changes to the waste input or combustion conditions may affect metal volatilisation. To this end, the models produced are extremely valuable, but it must be remembered that there are significant known errors associated with applying

the modelling technique to this particular system, and interpret the results accordingly (Argent, 2004).

4.3 Choice of Thermodynamic Equilibrium Package to model Municipal Solid Waste Incineration

As the popularity of the use of thermodynamic modelling packages has increased, the number of different software packages and data sets has increased. Rather than review a number of essentially similar programmes, this review concentrate on the one chosen for this work, and explain why it was selected. Three packages were considered in detail for calculating the equilibrium condition for waste combustion: NTData, THERMOCALC, and FactSageTM. (Powell and Holland, 2001, Factsage, 2005).

NTData is an older thermodynamic equilibrium calculation package, which does not run under windows. Although the data obtained using this programme can be extremely detailed for well specified problems, the less convenient user interface meant that the programme was not considered appropriate for this work. Highly accurate models were not felt to be beneficial, given the variability in the waste feed and operating conditions, which could not be fully accounted for in a static model in any case (Argent, 2004), making an extremely sophisticated thermodynamic prediction rather meaningless.

ThermoCalc is a Windows[®] based thermodynamic equilibrium prediction programme. It shares many data sets with the NTData, but has an updated user interface. It is capable of giving highly detailed information on the equilibrium composition of complex reaction mixtures. However, the user interface is still relatively difficult to use, and it was considered that the value of more detailed information, at the expense of a more difficult calculation was questionable, given the limitations already described for applying conditions of thermodynamic equilibrium to waste combustion, and the inherent error introduced by the assumptions made (Powell and Holland, 2001, Argent, 2004).

The FactSageTM suite of programmes was chosen, for modelling MSW Incineration, as this was felt to be the most useful thermodynamic equilibrium prediction system available in-house for this problem. FactSageTM was developed by the University of Montreal, and is a windows based application designed for predicting the thermodynamic equilibrium in a variety of systems. It is a highly robust thermodynamic prediction tool, with a wide freedom to vary the input parameters, and so to examine "extreme" situations which may differ widely from generally assumed conditions. It was thought that this may be useful for developing "limiting cases" for thermodynamic behaviour within the burning bed for municipal waste combustion. where "non-standard" situations are frequently encountered. The programme is also very good at considering slagging reactions (aluminosilicate and alkali metal melts). which are believed to be significant in the trapping of metals in the bottom ash of incinerators. However, for the majority of calculations, only oxide slag melts could be considered, as adequate data were not available to consider more complex slag formation (e.g. for chloride and sulphate metal salts).

The ability to use the programme to calculate equilibrium for a wide range of input parameters requires that the problems solved are specified with care; otherwise unrealistic situations may be modelled, with the consequence of obtaining unrealistic answers. Thus attention is required to obtaining good input data, and to using experience and discretion in determining which species should be considered (Factsage, 2005, Argent, 2004, Delay et al., 2001).

The FactSageTM application is based on two earlier programmes, FACT (Facility for the Analysis of Chemical Thermodynamics) and ChemSage[©]. It combines the powerful and comprehensive thermodynamic calculation capabilities of ChemSage[©] with the more convenient Windows[®] interface of FACT. The FACT programme was developed at the Ecole Polytechnique in Montreal, Canada, and the ChemSage programme by Dr Gunnar Eriksson, in Germany. The current FactSage Application has been developed by GTT Technologies (Chemsage, 2005, Factsage, 2005).

The package was used to calculate the minimal Gibbs energy for a multi-component phase equilibrium, using the EQUILIB programme. The input parameters were carefully chosen to reflect the typical composition and incineration conditions of MSW. The data for this was assembled from a large number of sources, and thus a range of values for most parameters was obtained, due to the variability of the waste stream. A single value was chosen from the range by excluding outliers, and taking an approximate mid-point of remaining values, with extra weighting being given to more "reliable" data sources, and the plant-specific experimental data.

Up to 40 different components (elements or compounds) can be specified as the input for the thermodynamic calculation and up to 1500 products can be considered in the most recent software version (Factsage, 2005). Priority was given to those elements with particular environmental, structural, or reactive properties. Along with toxic "heavy metals" and major "bulk elements" (such as Fe), alkali metals and alkali earth metals were included because of their tendency to participate in slag/melt formation, reducing volatility, and chlorine was included because of its tendency to enhance volatility of some metals. However, the improvements in the most recent version of this advanced computational package mean that the modelled situation was not generally limited by computational constraints, unlike previous similar calculations. In general, the elements not modelled were trace or ultra-trace metals with low reactivity and volatility, and these were only excluded if computational constraints required it.

Where necessary some product species were excluded from the specified problem. This included species which would not be expected in the given prediction conditions. or for which adequate data was not available for the modelled conditions. To assist in these decisions, the thermodynamic data sets in the programme include the temperatures over which a particular species is likely to form, so those which lie outside the available temperature range could be ignored. Although the programme provided as much information as possible about which species were likely to be significant in a given equilibrium, the good specification of the input parameters relied largely on the experience and expertise of those using the software. In addition, a postcalculation equilibrium activity calculation was performed, to ensure that no significant species were accidentally excluded from the initial part of the calculation. This calculation was used to check that no products predicted to have high activity $(>10^{-5})$ had been excluded from the main calculation, and amend the prediction if necessary (Argent, 2004). The results obtained were examined in the "results" and "figure" modules of the software, and could also be exported as data files for use in other programmes.

4.3.1 Solution Method

The thermodynamic solution desired was the lowest total Gibbs energy (G). For a particular set of elements, this was determined for a given temperature and pressure, by summing the product of the molar Gibbs energies (g) and the corresponding mole numbers (n) for all the compounds formed at equilibrium, and adding terms for the Gibbs energy of mixing.

The Gibbs energy (KJ mol⁻¹) of a single compound at any temperature is given by:

$$g = \left(\Delta H^{\circ} + \int_{298}^{T} Cp dT\right) - T\left(S^{\circ} + \int_{298}^{T} \frac{Cp}{T} dT\right)$$
(19)

Where:

and

e: ΔH° is the molar enthalpy of formation (KJ mol⁻¹) S° is the absolute molar entropy (KJ K⁻¹ mol⁻¹) Cp is the constant pressure molar heat capacity (KJ K⁻¹ mol⁻¹)

The total Gibbs energy function (G) (KJ mol^{-1}) of the whole system, is given by the sum of these components, with two further terms to account for the Gibbs energy of mixing:

$$G = \sum_{i=1}^{m} n_i g_i + RT \sum_{j=1}^{a} n_j \ln(X_k P) + RT \sum_{k=1}^{b} n_k \ln(X_k)$$
(20)

Where:R is the gas constant (= $8.31451 \text{ J K}^{-1} \text{ mol}^{-1}$)andX is the mole fraction (dimensionless)

This equation applies to ideal solutions. In order to deal with real solutions, the mole fraction X_k of substance k is replaced with the activity, a_k , where the activity can be expressed in terms of the product of the mole fraction X_k , and the activity coefficient γ_k (ie $a_k = \gamma_k X_k$). However, for dilute solutions where information is limited, the activity constant is often assumed to equal one, and this assumption was made in most of the calculations for MSW incineration.

The thermodynamic solution will also obey the Gibbs Phase rule:

$$F = C - P + 2 \tag{21}$$

Where:F is the number of degrees of freedom (dimensionless)
C is the number of chemical components (dimensionless)andP is the number of phases at equilibrium (dimensionless)

For vapours in equilibrium with one another, the method used for thermodynamic equilibrium prediction assumed scheil cooling. This was used for predicting the cooling behaviour of flue gases passing through the energy recovery system of the incinerator. In this method, equilibrium is calculated at a given temperature for all gaseous species, but it is assumed that any condensed species are removed from further equilibrium calculation. The temperature is then decreased, and another iteration is performed, until the specified lowest temperature is reached. Predictions of metal volatility in the combustion chamber were used to provide the input parameters (elemental concentrations) for the gas cooling calculations.

4.3.2 Output Format

The thermodynamic calculation predicts the amount, and state, of all of the specified product compounds arising from the equilibrium of the input elements that were specified in the definition of the problem. The results could be expressed in a number of ways, including profiles of the activity of different products over a range of temperatures and percentages of a given element found in all the possible compounds predicted. These two formats were the ones most frequently used in this work.

4.4 Prediction of Thermodynamic Equilibrium for Municipal Waste

Using the computational package FactSageTM, with the method described above, a series of calculations were performed to examine the thermodynamic equilibrium for the combustion of municipal waste. Various calculations were performed, for a range of possible waste and combustion scenarios, using the data given in section 4.4.1 – section 4.5, below.

The FactSage databases for gases and solid compounds were used. However, no database could be expected, or is available to give complete coverage of the slag forming potential of all the elemental components modelled (Ag, Al, As, Ba, C, Ca, Cd, Cl, Co, Cr, Cu, F, Fe, H, Hg, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, N, Na, Ni, O, Pb, S, Sb, Si, Sn, Ti, Zn). The FactSage "slag ?" database was used excluding sulphides, sulphates, fluorides and chlorides. Oxides covered were Cu₂O, As₂O₃, ZnO, PbO, Cr₂O₃, CrO, Fe₂O₃, NiO, K₂O, Al₂O₃, CaO, Ti₂O₃, TiO₂, SiO₂, Na₂O, MnO, FeO, MgO. It must be recognised that this approach is not an approved use of the database as a very little is known about many of the potential interactions between the oxide components. The approach is used with the expectation that the behaviour of the major slag forming components Al₂O₃, CaO, FeO, Fe₂O₃ and SiO₂ should be reasonably covered with a less satisfactory coverage of the alkaline oxides. The availability of data for the slagforming potential of trace heavy metals is even poorer, and for many of the calculations, such interactions could not be modelled, leading to higher volatilisation than seen in practice. For typical municipal waste only, attempts were made to overcome this limitation, as explained in section 4.4.1.

The total number of possible gaseous and solid compounds for the elements included in the calculations is far greater than can be used by the EQUILIBRIUM program of FactSage and use was made of a facility PREDOMINANT to identify the most important species to use in the final calculations.

For scheil cooling of the gas from 950° to 300°C formation of slag was not predicted but consideration was given to the possibility of a salt solution based on the carbonates, chlorides, fluorides, hydroxides, nitrates and sulphates of the alkali metals. In the absence of data on the most important trace elements calculations were undertaken for ideal solutions of antimony, cadmium and lead chlorides so as to obtain an impression of whether salt solutions were likely to be important.

4.4.1 Prediction of Equilibrium Products from Typical Municipal Waste

Due to its inherent inhomogeneity, and poor characterisation, an adequate description of "typical municipal waste" is extremely difficult, as explained in Chapter 2.

Nevertheless, it was important to consider how "typical" waste would be likely to behave under "typical" combustion conditions, so a series of calculations were performed at combustion temperatures, for a composition of waste which was considered to be typical, based on the best information available from numerous sources.

In the first set of calculations, the modelling parameters are exactly as given in section 4.4, but as indicated, this led to over-estimation of the volatilisation of some heavy metals, as their ability to dissolve in slag melts could not be properly modelled. Therefore, in a second series of calculations, the oxides BaO, Sb_2O_3 , SnO_2 , CdO and CoO were allowed to dissolve in the slag as ideal solutions. Again, this approximation is not an approved use of the database, as it fails to consider the enthalpy of interactions between the slag and these oxides, due to the lack of data. However, the low concentrations of the trace elements makes the absence of interaction information about the oxides of these elements less important, and so the calculation provides a "limiting case" situation for reduced heavy metal volatilisation, due to slag formation.

Input Parameters

The parameters chosen for the initial calculation, which was for the burning bed equilibrium of general municipal solid waste during incineration, are shown in Table 37. Water was specified separately from fuel hydrogen and oxygen, as water content of the fuel can have a significant effect on the thermodynamic equilibrium, of the reaction. These starting components account for 99.9% of the waste by mass. This is an excellent mass-balance closure, given that there will be some contribution from elements not listed, and that there is uncertainty associated with the figures given, due to the heterogeneous nature of the waste. The data is a complex summary of a variety of information from different sources, selected in order to give a good overall mass-balance, and includes data from our own experimentation.

element	waste composition (ppm)	typical range (ppm)	comment
Ag	5		
Al	16000	6000 - 16000	
As	5		
Ba	300		
С	318000		total content
Ca	20000	10000-35000	very difficult to get a consistent estimate due to masking effect of Ca from lime injection
Cd	12		
Cl	9000	6000 - 14800	
Со	3		
Cr	200		
Cu	1000		very variable – large range of values
F	150		
Fe	25000	10000-50000	very variable source data
Н	42000		H as fuel only
H_2O	300000	280000-320000	Not included in separate H or O values. Range from item to item probably significantly higher.
Hg	1		
Κ	3000	2000-5000	
Li	10		
Mg	3600	1000-4000	
Mn	300	300	
Мо	10	10	
N			from air, calculated to give correct flue gas composition
Na	5000	2000-7500	
Ni	100	100	
0	200000 from fuel	5-15% in bulk flue gases	figure calculated set to give 11 % O2 in flue gas (or other level as specified)
Pb	750	300-1000	
S	2000	1200-4000	
Sb	40		
Si	50000		probably an underestimate due to poor solubility of silicates in most analyses
Sn	250		·
Ti	1600		
Zn	1500	500-3000	

Table 37: Input parameters for thermodynamic calculation of "typical municipal waste"

Calculations were performed assuming a pressure of 1.0 atmosphere (which is a reasonable assumption, although in practice the furnace is kept under a very slight negative pressure), and a normal oxygen level of 11%, which is typical for the bulk properties of a municipal incinerator, although levels on the burning bed may be significantly lower, and this is considered in section 4.4.2. It was very difficult to specify an equilibrium temperature, as the temperature profile changes along the bed, and the bulk temperature may be significantly below the localised high temperatures. Thus the thermodynamic equilibrium was calculated for a range of temperatures between 700°C and 1300°C, corresponding to the widest range of the temperatures anticipated on the plant (Yang et al., 2002).

In terms of correlation to metal partitioning in a MSWI, it was assumed that any metal species present at equilibrium as solid or liquid would be found in the bottom ash, and that any species present as gases would be transported in the flue gas, and captured in the APC device, as it is known that essentially all heavy metals [with the possible exception of mercury] are effectively captured. Thus a two-part partitioning model was established. Scheil cooling calculations (introduced in section 4.3.1) were used to predict the temperatures at which metals would condense from the flue gas, and the species which would be likely to form.

4.4.2 Variable Sensitivity Study

Given the known heterogeneity of the waste stream, it was appreciated that the composition of waste burning at a particular time, or in a particular part of the furnace, could differ significantly from the "typical composition" specified above (Reimann, 1989, Delay et al., 2001). This is indicated in Table 37 by the typical range of concentrations quoted for some elements.

Further calculations were therefore conducted for "bulk municipal waste", considering high and low values for some of these waste input parameters, in order that the sensitivity of the equilibrium position to changes in composition could be assessed. From previous work, it was thought that as well as temperature and oxygen, moisture [water] content, chlorine, sulphur and alkali (Na + K) could have an important influence on metal partitioning (Belevi and Moench, 2000a, Delay et al., 2001, Abbas et al., 1996, Zhao et al., 2004). In some cases, two factors were altered together (e.g. chlorine and alkali content), as it was anticipated that a change in one could have an effect on the influence of another. Table 38 indicates the input parameters selected for sensitivity study. The "high" and "low" values used for this study were usually twice and half the "typical" value for a particular input, as this seemed normally to represent the range of values expected for each parameter. Unless otherwise stated, all other variables took the "typical values" stated in Table 37, while the variable being studied was altered. Although the value of considering enhanced dissolution was investigated for typical municipal waste, the general slag solution model (excluding Ba, Cd, Co, Sb and Sn) was used for the variability sensitivity studies, to reduced calculation complexity, and minimise the potential error introduced by the modelling technique.

sensitivity study parameters	typical composition (ppm)	low value used	high value used	purpose / comments
Cl	9000	4500	18000	to see effect of high/low Cl
H_2O	300000	150000	600000	to see effect of high/low water
0	11%	5%	21%	Only low value used, to represent oxygen starvation during intense combustion. High oxygen not normally encountered (would correspond to poor combustion).
O and H ₂ O				High water and high oxygen used to represent poor combustion, low oxygen and water to represent intense combustion, to see combined effect from multiple factors
Na	5000	2500	10000	to see if alkali has effect on heavy metal transport, due to its known interactions with Cl
Na and Cl				high Cl and low Na, and low Cl and high Na used to further examine relationship between heavy metal transport by Cl and effect of alkali on this

Table 38: The input parameters selected for sensitivity studies, and the ranges examined

4.4.3 Results: "Typical" Municipal Waste Equilibrium

Waste Combustion Equilibrium

The results of the thermodynamic equilibrium prediction of the combustion products from "typical" municipal waste, combusted at a range of expected temperatures is shown in Table 39 [Page 126] for all key elements. The table indicates the distribution between gaseous, solid, and slag phases, and shows the key species identified for each. Compounds predicted down to at least 0.005% are shown, with the most significant species predicted at lower concentration being shown, where none are predicted in significant quantity. In this calculation, dissolution in the slag was not allowed for the trace metals Ba, Cd, Co, Sb and Sn, for which mixing data was not available.

These results clearly differentiate the elements into volatile, semi-volatile, and nonvolatile, broadly as expected under the incineration conditions specified. For example, oxygen, mercury and chlorine are completely volatilised, Aluminium and silicon are not volatilised significantly at all, and sodium, tin and lead are volatilised to some extent. For the semi-volatile metals, volatilisation is almost always seen to be higher at higher temperature. Slag formation is generally seen to be increased at higher temperature, at the expense of less pure solids remaining. However, for some volatile metals, such as potassium, slag formation reduces at the highest temperature, as gaseous products become the most significant. Chlorides are seen to be significant in volatilisation, as are oxides and native metals for some elements. For the more volatile metals such as lead, chlorides tend to be more important to volatilisation at lower temperatures, with oxides and native metals dominating at higher temperatures. For only slightly volatile metals such as cobalt or copper, the chlorides remain the significant volatile species throughout the temperature range considered.

Table 40 [Page 127] shows how the equilibrium combustion products change for the elements Ba, Sb, Sn, Cd, and Co when approximations are made to allow the dissolution of the oxides of these metals in the slag melt. For Cd, Co, and Sb, this significantly reduces the volatility of the metals, as slag formation becomes more important. For all the others, the importance of pure species is reduced, as more slag formation occurs, even if this does not affect volatilisation significantly. However, for barium, the effect is small, as dissolution in the slag remains low. Although the
equilibrium distribution of other metals remains broadly the same, it should be noticed that the change in modelling conditions causes perturbation to the equilibrium position, so the exact mass distribution values for other elements changes slightly (please note that the lowest temperature shown in this calculation is increased to 750°C, due to the very low slag formation at lower temperatures).

Figure 43 - Figure 45 illustrate how the composition of the equilibrium products from incineration (second calculation) change with temperature. While many of the compounds remain in almost constant amount throughout the temperature range (e.g. carbon dioxide, oxygen and water content), others increase (e.g. Zn) or decrease (e.g. ZnCl₂) with changing temperature. It is quite clear that slag formation is minimal at low temperatures, with the amount of slag significantly increasing over about 825°C. For the volatile metals Cd and Pb, the amount dissolved in the slag decreases with temperature, as volatilisation increases.

Table 39:	Predicted distribution o	of elements among major species:	percentage of tota	il amount (wt %) at diffe	rent temperatures, and	key species
-----------	--------------------------	----------------------------------	--------------------	---------------------------	------------------------	-------------

element	products predicted	700°C	key species	850°C	key species	950°C	key species	1300°C	key species
Al	Al in slag	0.00		34.22	Al2O3	42.90	Al2O3	100.00	Al2O3
	pure solid	100.00	CaAl2Si2O8, NaAlSi3O8, KAlSi2O6, Mn3Al2Si3O12	65.77	CaAl2Si2O8	57.10	CaAl2Si2O8, KAlSi2O6	0.00	
As	As in slag	0.00		100.00		100.00	As2O3	99.98	
	pure solid	100.00	Ca3(AsO4)2	0.00		0.00		0.00	
Ba	gas	0.00		0.00	BaCl2	0.01		0.28	BaCl2, Ba(OH)2, BaO
24	pure solid	100.00	BaSO4	100.00	BaSO4	99 99	BaCrO4	99.72	(BaOYSiO2)
C	gae bond	100.00		100.00		100.00		100.00	(D_{10})
C	gas Ca in claa	0.00	02,00	16 08		25.05	CoO	00.00	CoQ, CO
Ca	Ca III slag	100.00	Calling Mancansiand	10.20 92.02	CaA128:208	55.05 64.05	CaA125:208	0.02	
	pure sond	100.00	Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSO4, CaSiTiO5, (CaO)(MoO3)	63.02	MgOCaOSi2O4, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO5	04.95	MgOCaOSi2O4, CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fe2Si3O12	0.02	
Cd	gas	2.87	CdO, Cd, (CdOH)	100.00	Cd, CdO (CdOH)	100.00	Cd, CdO (CdOH)	100.00	Cd, CdO (CdOH)
Cl	pure solid gas	97.13 100.00	(CdO)(SiO2) HCl, PbCl2, ZnCl2, LiCl,	0.00 100.00	HCl, NaCl, PbCl2, ZnCl2,	0.00	HCl, CuCl, KCl, NaCl,	0.00 100.00	HCl, KCl, NaCl, Cl,
Co	gas	0.22	CoCl2, CoCl3	2.02	CoCl2, CoCl3	6.52	CoCl2, CoCl3	48.29	CoCl2, CoCl, Co
	pure solid	99.78	(CoO)(Cr2O3)	97.98	(CoO)(Cr2O3)	93.48	(CoO)(Cr2O3)	51.71	(CoO)(Cr2O3)
Cr	gas	0.00	CrO2	0.00		0.00		0.41	CrO2
	Cr in slag	0.00		0.00	Cr2O3	0.11	Cr2O3,CrO	35.33	Cr2O3, CrO
	pure solid	100.00	(MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3)	100.00	(MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3)	99.89	BaCrO4, (MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3)	64.26	(MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3)
Cu	gas	1.96	(CuCl)3, CuCl, CuF	18.33	CuCl, Cu2O, (CuCl)3, CuF	71.42	CuCl, (CuCl3), Cu, CuF,	73.09	CuCl, Cu, CuO, CuF
	Cu in slag	0.00		5.07	、	28.58	Cu2O	26.91	Cu2O
	pure solid	98.04	(CuO)/Fe2O3)/s	76.59	(CuO)(Fe2O3)(s	0.00		0.00	
F	gas	100.00	HF. OAIF2. LIF	100.00	HF, OAIF2, LiF, NaF, KF	100.00	HF, OAlF2, LiF, NaF, KF	100.00	HF, KF, OAIF2, NaF
Fe	gas	0.00	FeCl2	0.00	FeCl2	0.00	FeCl2	0.02	Fe(OH)2, FeCl2, FeO
	Fe in stag	0.00		0.00		0.06	Fe2O3	25 44	Fe2O3
	pure solid	100.00	Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,	100.00	Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12	, 99.94	Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,	74.54	Fe2O3
	-		(CuO)(Fe2O3), (NiO)(Fe2O3)		(CuO)(Fe2O3) (NiO)(Fe2O3))	(NiO)(Fe2O3)		
Н	gas	100.00	H20, HCl, HF	100.00	H20, HCl, HF	100.00	H20, HCl, HF	100.00	H20, HCl, HF, H2
Hg	gas	100.00	Hg, HgCl2, HgCl	100.00	Hg, HgCl2	100.00	Hg, HgCl2	100.00	Hg
К	gas	0.32	KCl	1.83	KCl	8.20	KCl, KOH, (KCl)2, KF	76.29	KCl, KOH, KF
	K in slag	0.00		98.17	K2O	78.19	K2O	23.71	K2O
	pure solid	99.68	KAISi2O6	0.00		13.60	KAlSi2O6	0.00	
Li	gas	100.00	Lich (Lich)2 Lioh Lif	100.00	LICL LIOH. (LICI)2. LIF	100.00	(LiCl. LiOH. LiF.	100.00	LiCl, LiOH, LiF
Ma		0.00	Lioi, (Lioi)2, Lioit, Li	0.00	MoCl2	0.00	(,,,	0.00	Mg(OH)2
1418	Bas Mainelaa	0.00		5 30	Ma	15.00	ΜαΟ	99.18	ΜαΟ
	pure solid	100.00	MgOCaOSi2O4, (MgO)(Cr2O3)	94.61	MgOCaOSi2O4, (MgO)(Cr2O3)	84 .10	MgOCaOSi2O4	0.82	(MgO)(Cr2O3)
Mn	gas	0.03		0.07	MnCl2	0.03	MnCl2	0.01	MnCl2
	Mn in slag	0.00		99.93	MnO	99.97	MnO	99.99	MnO
	pure solid	99.97	Mn3A12Si3O12	0.00		0.00		0.00	
N	pare sona	100.00	N2 NO	100.00	N2 NO	100.00	N2 NO	100.00	N2. NO
Na	gas	0.29	$N_{2}CL (N_{2}CL)?$	2.81	NaCl (NaCl)2 NaOH	271	NaCl NaOH (NaCl)2 NaF	7.80	NaCl NaOH, Na, NaF.
ING	gas Na in alan	0.29	Naci, (Naci)2	2.01	NaCi, (NaCi)2, NaCii	07.20	Na2O	07 20	Na20
	Na in siag	0.00	M 419'200	97.19	NazO	91.29	11420	0.00	14420
.	pure solid	99.71	NaAISISU8	0.00	NIGIA NECODA	0.00	NECIO NECOLDO NECI	1.24	NECTO NECOLO 2 NECT
NI	gas	0.02	NICI2, NI(OH)2	0.10	NICI2, NI(OH)2	0.41	NICIZ, NICOHJZ, NICI	1.24	$\mathbf{N} \in [\mathbf{O} \cap \mathbf{D}^{2}, \mathbf{N}] \subset \mathbf{N} \in \mathbf{O}$
	Ni in slag	0.00		0.50		0.10		96.70	NIO
~	pure solid	99.98	(NiO)(Fe2O3)	99.35	(NIU)(Fe2U3)	93.44		0.00	01 001 1120 120
0	gas	99.49	02, CO2, H2O, NO	99.50		99.51	02, CO2, H2O, NO, SO2	99.51	U2, CU2, H2U, NU
	O in slag	0.00		0.21	SiO2, Na2O, CaO, K2O MgO	0.25	S102, AI2O3, CaO, Na2O K2O, Ti2O	0.44	SiO2, AI2O3, CaO, MgO, Na2O, FeO, Ti2O
	pure solid	0.51	NaAISi3O8, CaAl2Si2O8 MgOCaOSi2O4	, 0.28	CaAl2S12U8, MgOCaOSi2O4	0.24	Carizoizoto, MgOCaOSi2O4 Pho pholo pholo ph	0.04	PRO PROL DE DECIO
РЬ	gas	100.00	PDC12, PDO, PDC1	91.80	POCIZ, POU, POCI, PD	04.85 15 17	PUCI, PUCIZ, POCI, PD DKO	77.12 199	PUC, PUCI, PD, PDC12,
	Pb in slag	0.00		8.14	PDU	15.17		U.00	500 802 80
S	gas	1.52	SO2, SO3	96.50	SO2, SO3	100.00	202, 203, 20	100.00	sur sus, su
	pure solid	98.48	CaS04, BaSO4	3.50	Bas04	0.00		0.00	(CLASID) OL CLAT
Sb	gas	0.14	SbCl3, (SbO2H2)	1.23	(SbO2H2), SbCl3, SbOH	8.50	(3002H2), SDC13, SDOH	100.00	(2002112), 20, 200H
	pure solid	99.86	SbO2	98.77	SbO2	91.50	8:00	0.00	8:02
Si	Si in slag	0.00		56.85	SiO2	64.15	5102	99.88 0.10	SIU2
	pure solid	100.00	NaAlSi3O8, CaAl2Si2O8 MgOCaOSi2O4, SiO2 KAlSi2O6, Ca3Fe2Si3O12 CaSiTiO5 Zn2SiO4	, 43.15 ,	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO SiO2, Zn2SiO4	35.85 5,	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, CaSiTiO5 KAlSi2O6, Ca3Fe2Si3O12 Zn2SiO4	0.12 5, 9,	(BaO)(SIO2)
Sn	gas	0.00		0.00	-	0.00	SnO, (SnO2H2), SnCl2	100.00	SnO, (SnO2H2), SnCl2
	pure solid	100.00	SnO2	100.00	SnO2	100.00	SnO2	0.00	
Ti	Ti in slag	0.00		9.67	TiO2	37.36	TiO2	100.00	T1O2, T12O3
	pure solid	100.00	CaSiTiO5	90.33	CaSiTiO5	62.64	CaSiTiO5	0.00	
Zn	gas	5.15	ZnCl2	8.55	ZnCl2	10.82	ZnCl2, Zn	10.06	Zn, ZnCl2
	Zn in slag	0.00		5.08	ZnO	41.30	ZnO	89.94	ZnO
	pure solid	94.85	Zn2SiO4	86.37	Zn2SiO4	47.88	Zn2SiO4	0.00	
						_			Page 126

element	products predicted	750°C	key species	850°C	key species	950°C	key species	1300°C	key species
Al	Al in slag	0.48	Al2O3	34.27	Al2O3	42.98	Al2O3	100.00	Al2O3
	pure solid	99.51	CaAl2Si2O8, NaAlSi3O8, KAlSi2O6, Mn3Al2Si3O12	65.73	CaAl2Si2O8	57.02	CaAl2Si2O8, KAlSi2O6	0.00	
As	gas	0.00	AsF3	0.00	AsF3	0.00	AsF3	0.02	AsN, As
	As in slag	1.43	As2O3	100.00	As2O3	100.00	As2O3	99.98	As2O3
	pure solid	98.57	Ca3(AsO4)2	0.00		0.00		0.00	
Ba	gas	0.00	BaCl2	0.00	BaCl2	0.01	BaCl2	0.28	BaCl2 Ba(OH)2
Da	Ba in claa	0.00	BaO	0.00	Baciz Bac	0.01	BaO	1.26	BaO
	Da ili siag	100.00		100.00		0.01	BaC-O4	08 46	
0	pute solid	100.00	Ba304	100.00		100.00		100.00	
C	gas	100.00	002	100.00	002	100.00		100.00	
Ca	Ca in slag	0.04	CaO	17.02	CaO	35.18	CaO	99.98	CaO
	pure solid	99.96	CaAl2S12O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSO4, CaSiTiO5, (CaO)(MoO3),	82.98	CaAI2S12O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO5, (CaO)(MoO3)	64.82	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, (CaO)(MoO3)	0.02	(CaO)(MoO3)
			Ca3(AsO4)2						
Cd	gas	0.78	CdO, Cd	0.45	CdO, Cd	6.55	Cd, CdO	98.49	Cd, CdO, CdOH
	Cd in slag	99.22	CdO	99.55	CdO	93.45	CdO	1.52	CdO
Cl	gas	100.00	HCl, PbCl2, ZnCl2, NaCl, LiCl, KCl, CuCl, Cl, Cl2,	100.00	HCl, NaCl, PbCl2, ZnCl2, CuCl, LiCl, KCl, (CuCl)3,	100.00	HCl, CuCl, KCl, NaCl, ZnCl2, PbCl2, Cl, LiCl,	100.00	HCl, KCl, NaCl, Cl, CuCl, LiCl, ZnCl2, ClO,
			(CuCl)3, AgCl, HOCl, ClO, (LiCl)2, MnCl2, (NaCl)2		Cl2, AgCl, PbCl, HOCl, ClO, (NaCl)2, MnCl2, NiCl2		(CuCl)3, Cl2, PbCl, AgCl, ClO, HOCl, NiCl2, MnCl2		HOCI, BaCl2, Cl2, NiCl2
Co	gas	0.09	CoCl2	0.00	CoCl2	0.01	CoCl2	0.01	CoCl2
	Co in slag	99.91	CoO	100.00	CoO	99.99	CoO	99.99	CoO
Cr	gas	0.00	CrO2	0.00	CrO2	0.00	CrO2	0.41	CrO2
	Cr in slag	0.00	Cr2O3	0.00	Cr2O3	0.11	Cr2O3	35.39	Cr2O3, CrO
	pure solid	100.00	$(M_{PO})(C_{r}^{2}O_{r}^{2})$	100.00	(MgO)(Cr2O3)	99.89	BaCrO4. (MgO)(Cr2O3)	64.20	(MgO)(Cr2O3)
Cu	gae	3 03	CuCL (CuCl)3	18 34	CuCl (CuCl)3	71 31	CuCl (CuCl)3 Cu CuF	73.08	CuCl Cu CuO CuF
Cu	gas Cuim alog	0.00	Cuer, (cuer)	5 10	Cu2O	28.60	$C_{\rm u}$	26.02	Cu2O
	Cumsiag	0.00	Cu2O (Cr-O)(T-2O2)	J.10 7656	Cu2O	20.09	Cuzo	20.92	Cuzo
F	gas	98.07	HF, OAIF2, LiF	100.00	HF, OAIF2, LiF, NaF	100.00	HF, OAIF2, LiF, NaF, KF, CuF	100.00	HF, KF, OAIF2, NaF, Lif CuF
Fe	200	0.00	FeC12	0.00	FeC12	0.00	FeC12	0.02	Fe(OH)? FeCl?
гс	gas Es in star	0.00	FeCiz	0.00	Foo	0.00	Foo Foo	25 16	$E_{a} = \frac{10012}{10012}$
	pure solid	100.00	FeO Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,	100.00	FeO Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,	0.00 99.94	Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,	25.40 74.52	Fe2O3
			(CuO)(Fe2O3), (NiO)(Fe2O3)		(CuO)(Fe2O3), (NiO)(Fe2O3)		(NIO)(Fe2O3)		
H	gas	100.00	H2O, HCl, HF	100.00	H2O, HCl, HF, OH	100.00	H2O, HCl, HF, OH	100.00	H2O, HCl, OH, HF, H2
Hg	gas	100.00	Hg, HgCl2	100.00	Hg, HgCl2	100.00	Hg, HgCl2	100.00	Hg
ĸ	gas	0.68	KCI	1.82	KĊI	8.22	KCI, KOH, (KCI)2	76.29	KCl, KOH, KF, K
	K in slag	432	K20	98.18	K2O	78.13	K2O	23.71	K2O
	pure solid	95.00	KAISi206	0.00		13.65	KAISi2O6	0.00	KAISi2O6
т:	pure sonu	100.00		100.00		100.00		100.00	LICI LIOH LIF LIO
	gas	100.00	LICI, (LICI)2, LIOH, LIF	100.00	LICI, LIOII, (LICI)2, LI	160.00	M-O	00.17	MaO
Mg	pure solid	100.00	MgO (MgO)(Cr2O3)	5.41 94.60	MgOCaOSi2O4,	84.01	MgOCaOSi2O4,	0.83	(MgO)(Cr2O3)
\ {=	~~~	0.05	MarC12	0.07	(MgU)(Cr2U3)	0.03	MnC12	0.01	MnCl2
IVIII	gas Maria ala	0.05		0.01		0.00	MnO	00 00	MnO
	Min in sia	g 0.05		99.93 0.00	MIIO	0.00	NHIO	0.00	14mo
	pure solid	99.90	Mn3A12513O12	0.00		100.00	(0, 0)	100.00	$(C_{2} \cap Y) = (C_{2} \cap Y)$
Mo	pure solid	100.00	(CaO)(MoO3)	100.00	(CaU)(MoU3)	100.00		100.00	
N	gas	100.00	N2, NO	100.00	N2, NO	100.00	NZ, NU	100.00	NZ, NU
Na	gas	0.67	NaCl, (NaCl)2	2.786	NaCl, (NaCl)2	2.69	NaCI, NaOH	7.804	NaCI, NaOH, Na, NaF
	Na in slag	j 1.02	Na2O	97.21	Na2O	97.31	Na2O	92.20	Na2O
	pure solid	98.31	NaAlSi3O8	0.00		0.00		0.00	
Ni	gas	0.05	NiCl2	0.16	NiCl2	0.41	NiCl2, Ni(OH)2	1.240	Ni(OH)2, NiCl2, NiCl
	Ni in slag	0.00	NiO	0.50	NiO	6.22	NiO	98.76	NiO
	nure solid	99.95	(NiO)(Fe2O3)	99.34	(NiO)(Fe2O3)	93.38	(NiO)(Fe2O3)	0.00	
0	gas	99.49	02, CO2, H2O, NO	99.50	O2, CO2, H2O, NO, SO2, SO3	99.51	02, CO2, H2O, NO, SO2, SO3	99.51	O2, CO2, H2O, NO, OH SO2
	O in slag	0.00	SiO2	0.21	SiO2, Al2O3, Na2O, CaO, K2O	0.25	SiO2, Al2O3, CaO, Na2O, K2O, TiO2, MgO	0.44	SiO2, Al2O3, CaO, MgO, Na2O, FeO, TiO2
	pure solid	0.50	NaAlSi3O8, CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, KAlSi2O6,	0.28	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO5,	0.24	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Fe2O3, CaSiTiO5, KAlSI2O6,	0.04	Fe2O3, (BaO)(SiO2), (MgO)(Cr2O3), (CaO)(MoO3)
			SiO2, CaSO4, CaSiTiO5		(CuO)(Fe2O3), Zn2SiO4		Ca3Fe2Si3O12, Zn2SiO4		
РЬ	gas	99.99	PbCl2, PbO, PbCl	91.82	PbCl2, PbO, PbCl	84.77	РЬО, РЬСІ2, РЬСІ, РЬ	99.12	PbO, PbCl, Pb, PbCl2,
	Pb in slag	0.01	PbO	8.184	РЬО	15.23	РЬО	0.88	РЬО
S	gas	12.01	SO2, SO3	96.50	SO2, SO3	100.00	SO2, SO3	100.00	SO2, SO3
~	Dure solic	87 99	SiS2, CaSO4, BaSO4	3.503	BaSO4	0.00		0.00	
	r		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-					

Table 40: Predicted distribution of elements among major species: pa	percentage of total amount (wt %) at different temperatures, allowing enhanced slag dissolution
--	---

	t U III Siag	0.01	100						
S	gas	12.01	SO2, SO3	96.50	SO2, SO3	100.00	SO2, SO3	100.00	SO2, SO3
	pure solid	87.99	SiS2, CaSO4, BaSO4	3.503	BaSO4	0.00		0.00	
Sb	gas	0.23	SbCl3, (SbO2H2)	0.21	(SbO2H2), SbCl3	0.56	(SbO2H2), SbCl3	10.32	(SbO2H2), Sb, (SbOH)
	Sb in slag	8.145	Sb2O3	99.7 9	Sb2O3	99.44	Sb2O3	89.68	Sb2O3
	pure solid	91.62	SbO2	0.00		0.00		0.00	
Si	Si in slag	1.14	SiO2	56.96	SiO2	64.21	SiO2	99.88	SiO2
	pure solid	98.86	NaAlSi3O8, CaAl2Si2O8,	43.04	CaAl2Si2O8,	35.79	CaAl2Si2O8,	0.12	(BaO)(SiO2)
	1		MgOCaOSi2O4, SiO2,		MgOCaOSi2O4,		MgOCaOSi2O4, KAlSi2O6,		
			KAlSi2O6, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,		Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO5,		CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,		
			CaSiTiO5, Zn2SiO4		Zn2SiO4, SiO2		Zn2SiO4		
Sn	gas	0.00	SnCl2, (SnO2H2), SnCl4	0.00	(SnO2H2), SnCl2	0.00	SnO	0.19	SnO
	Sn in slag	100.00	SnO2	100.00	SnO2	100.00	SnO2	99.81	SnO2
Ti	Ti in slag	0.03	TiO2	9.7 0	TiO2	37.56	TiO2	100.00	TiO2, Ti2O3
	pure solid	99.97	CaSiTiO5	90.30	CaSiTiO5	62.44	CaSiTiO5	0.00	
Zn	gas	6.31	ZnCl2	8.56	ZnCl2	10.84	ZnCl2	10.05	Zn, ZnCl2
	Zn in slag	0.00	ZnO	5.11	ZnO	41.68	ZnO	89.95	ZnO
	pure solid	93.69	Zn2SiO4	86.34	Zn2SiO4	47.49	Zn2SiO4	0.00	

Page 127



Figure 43: Principal gaseous compounds from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures



Figure 44: Principal slag components from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures



Figure 45: Principal pure solid species from "normal" MSW combustion over a range of temperatures

Waste Cooling Equilibrium

Figure 46 - Figure 48 illustrate the predicted products from scheil cooling of MSW incineration gases. The major products predicted are N_2 , O_2 , CO_2 , and H_2O , with only small amounts of other species. Although the model does not fully reflect the clean-up achieved by the plant due to lime injection (significant amounts of HCl are predicted to remain but are not seen in the cleaned gas from the plant following the lime scrubbing stage), the model is most helpful in indicating likely species to be found in the APC residue. It is seen that (with the exception of mercury), nearly all metal species are predicted to condense at a temperature above 400°C, suggesting that all metals will have condensed before gas clean-up. This reflects the near-complete removal of metals from flue gas observed in most modern incinerators, as solids can be effectively removed during clean-up, whereas vapours are removed less effectively.

Numerous species are predicted to be removed as pure solids, mainly as sulphates, chlorides, hydroxides and carbonates. It is extremely interesting to note that the fall in temperature significantly alters the main equilibrium products, moving away from chloride species, and towards sulphates, which because of their lower volatility, aid condensation. In addition to the pure solids, a fused salt melt is predicted, which helps to remove metallic gases, and is comprised mainly of metal sulphates and chlorides, with some hydroxide, fluoride, and carbonate components. Unlike the main combustion calculations, where melt data was limited to oxides for computational reasons, all melt-forming species were included in the calculations for gas cooling, where data was available.



Figure 46: Predicted major gaseous products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration



Figure 47: Predicted minor gaseous products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration







Figure 49: Predicted solid products following scheil cooling of combustion gas from MSW incineration

Summary

Thus it is seen that thermodynamic equilibrium combustion calculations predict a complex combustion product mixture, with gaseous, solid, and slag phases. Volatility is promoted by halogens, as well as oxides and native metals in some cases, and temperature has significant effect on the extent of volatilisation. If enhanced slag dissolution is permitted for heavy metals, volatilisation tends to decrease, but the assumptions required to perform this calculation are more significant, and thus the two models (with and without enhanced slag formation) tend to provide "limiting case scenarios". Gas cooling has a significant effect on the equilibrium composition, and by the temperatures at which the flue gases undergo clean-up, most metallic species have condensed (as sulphates, chlorides, hydroxides and carbonates), and so would be efficiently removed by the clean-up processes. Even without the effect of sorbent injection on the efficiency of the clean-up system, it is seen that an effective bag filtering system should remove most metallic pollutants before flue gases are discharged to atmosphere.

4.4.4 Results: Variable Sensitivity Equilibrium Study

Having established that thermodynamic equilibrium calculations could provide significant information on the distribution of different metals in the products from incineration, and indicate how changing operating conditions (e.g. temperature) could affect metal volatility, a series of calculations were conducted to examine how sensitive the equilibrium product distribution was to variations in different input variables, relating to the furnace operation, and waste input parameters. Calculations were completed at a range of temperatures, but the results presented below are all for predictions at 950°C, as attempts to consider two independent variables simultaneously led to excessive complexity in the results obtained, and the interpretation of those results. Further predictions for gas cooling were not completed, being beyond the scope of this work.

Alkali and Chlorine Variation

Table 41 shows the predicted effects of changing the amount of alkali and chlorine on the equilibrium products from municipal waste combustion. From these data, it is seen that the effect of changing chlorine or sodium concentration is predicted to be significant in the volatilisation and/or slag formation for some metals. Increased sodium increases dissolution in the slag for many elements, including Cu, Pb and Zn. Increased chlorine increases volatilisation of these elements, and of less volatile ones such as Mn and Ni. Where both chlorine and sodium affect metal distribution, the combined effect of altering both variables together can be highly effective in altering metal distribution. For example, Zinc volatilisation increases by about 10% with doubling Cl concentration, and increases about 50% with halving Na concentration. When Cl is doubled and Na halved, the change is nearly 60%.

Figure 50 - Figure 57 illustrate the effect of changing chlorine content and alkali content on metal distribution during waste combustion at 950°C. The range of chlorine/alkali variation shown corresponds to the typical maximum/minimum concentrations expected in normal municipal solid waste, from literature values. These clearly show the same trends as seen in the tabulated data, with slag formation increasing significantly with increasing alkali content (Na and K in the figures, just Na in the table), and with volatile chloride formation tending to increase with increasing chlorine concentration. However, as slag formation affects the composition of solid residues, as well as gaseous products, an increase in slag formation does not always

correspond to a decrease in metal volatilisation, it may just correspond in a reduction in the amount of pure solid compound remaining.

Table 41: Variable sensitivity study: effect of changing chlorine and sodium concentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C (wt %)

element	products	typical	twice Cl	half Cl	half Na	twice Na	twice Cl	half Cl	key species
	predicted	MSW					half Na	twice Na	
Ag	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	AgCl, Ag
Al	Al in slag	42.90	41.79	43.76	22.22	76.21	21.10	77.74	AI2O3
	pure solid	57.10	58.21	56.23	<i>7</i> 7.78	23.79	78.90	22.26	CaAl2Si2O8, KAlSi2O6
As	As in slag	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	As2O3
Ba	gas	0.01	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.00	BaCl2
	pure solid	99.99	99.95	100.00	99.99	99.99	99.95	100.00	BaCrO4(s)
С	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	CO2(g), CO (at higher temperatures)
Ca	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	CaCl2
	Ca in slag	35.05	32.97	37.15	11.71	70.63	11.17	72.17	CaO
	pure solid	64.95	67.03	62.85	88.29	29.37	88.83	27.83	MgOCaOSi2O4, CaAl2Si2O8, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, CaSiTiO5, (CaO)(MoO3)
Cd	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	Cd, CdO, (CdOH)
Cl	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	HCl, NaCl, KCl, CuCl, LiCl, ZnCl2, Cl, PbCl2, LiCl, (CuCl)3, Cl2, PbCl,
Co	gas	6 52	25.91	1 64	6.23	8 5 2	25 11	2.08	CoCl2 CoCl3
0	pure solid	03 48	74 00	08 36	0.25	0. <i>52</i> 01.48	74.89	97 97	$(C_0 \cap V(r^2 \cap 3))$ $(C_0 \cap V(r^2 \cap 3))$
Cr	Cr in clag	0.11	0.07	016	0.01	0.27	0.00	0.28	$(r_2O_3, CrO(only, at lower temperatures)$
CI	or in stag	0.11	00.07	00.10	0.01	0.27	100.00	0.20	$B_{2}C_{r}OA(r) (MaOVC_{r}OA) (C_{2}OVC_{r}OA)$
Cu		77.47	99.93 85.60	2767	76.90	55.15 56.16	05 22	21 21	$C_{12}(C_{12}(C_{12})) = C_{12}(C_{12})$
Cu	gas Cu in claa	71.42	1/1 21	34.08	802	JO. 10 13 84	A 67	56.02	
	ou in siag	20.30	0.00	27.25	0.92 14 20	10.00 0.00	4.07	077	
F		100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	(CuO)(F2O3)
Fe	gas Fa in clog	0.06	0.05	0.08	0.01	010	0.01	0.10	F_{a} F_{a
re	re il siag	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.01	0.19	0.01	0.19	$F_{a}^{(1)} = C_{a}^{(1)} F_{a}^{(1)} = C_{a}^{(1)} + C_$
U	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	120 ucl ucl uc ou
п Ца	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	H_{2} H_{2
rig V	gas	100.00 9 20	14.00	4.00	5 22	16.65	100.00	100.00 9 74	NG KOH (KCI)2 KE
r	gas V in alag	0.20 79.10	95 09	4.05	J.J2 04.69	25.11	80.21	0.7 1 24.21	$K_{CI}, K_{OII}, (K_{CI})_2, K_{CI}$
	K III Slag	12.60	0.00	21.04	94.00 0.00	33.11 19 34	0.00	57.05	K10 K10:006
T;	pure sonu	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	
Ma	gas Ma in cha	15.00	14.06	100.00	2 04	100.00	282	51 77	M_{a}
IniB	Nig in Siag	1J.90 84.10	14.00 85.04	10.15 91.95	2.94 07.06	49.71 50.20	2.02 07.18	J1.77 18.73	$M_{2}O(2_{2}O(3_{1})) = O(2_{1}O(2_{1}))$
) (n	pure sonu	0.02	0.15	01.05	97.00	0.10	0.94	40.25	$M_{\rm H} = C^{1/2} $
1VIII	gas Marin alag	0.03	0.15	0.01	0.20	0.10	0.04	100.00	
Мо	win in stag	100.00	99.0J 100.00	<i>33.33</i>	100.00	39.99 100.00	100.00	100.00	$(C_{2}O)(M_{2}O(3)(s))$
MO	pute solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	
IN No	gas	0.71	5.24	1.24	100.00	100.00	0.42	2.40	No.CI No.CH (No.CI)2 NoF
INA	gas Nationalise	2.71	J.24 04.76	1.54	4.09	4.52	9.45	2.40	NaCi, NaCi, $(NaCi)2$, Nal
NG	iva in siag	97.29	94.70 170	90.00	93.34	93.40	90.57	97.00	
INI	gas Ni in clos	0.41	4.19	0.14	0.41	10.50	0.51	20.12	
	INI III SIAg	0.10	4.17	0.15	0.36	19.33	0.51	70.50	
0	pure sonu	95.44	95.71	91.71	99.01	00.11	97.90	19.39	$(\mathbf{NO}) \mathbf{P} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{P} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{S} \mathbf$
0	gas O in clos	0.25	0.25	99.31	99.31	99.30	014	036	S_{1}^{2} S_{2}^{2} S_{2}^{3} S_{2
	pure solid	0.23	0.25	0.23	0.15	0.35	0.14	0.30	Fe2O3, MgOCaOSi2O4, CaAl2Si2O8, KAlSi2O6, Sio2, Ca3Fe2Si3O12,
F1						oo	00.00	~~ ~ ~	Cashhus, Bactu4, (NiU)(Fe2U3), SnU2, (MgU)(Cr2U3)
РЬ	gas	84.83	93.36	76.64	95.43	83.22	98.09	77.78	PDU, PDCI2, PDCI, PD
	Pb in slag	15.17	6.64	23.36	4.57	16.78	1.91	22.22	РЬО
S	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	SO2, SO3, SO
Sb	gas	8.50	10.08	8.32	8.51	8.46	10.11	8.31	(SDU2HZ), SDCI3, SDUH
	pure solid	91.50	89.92	91.68	91.49	91.54	89.89	91.69	S6O2
S1	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	051F2
	Si in slag	64.15	64.28	63.93	41.81	80.55	39.55	80.84	
	pure solid	35.85	35.72	36.07	58.19	19.45	00.45	19.16	MgUCaU51204, CaA1251208, KA151206, Ca3Fe2S13012, CaS11105, Zn2SiO4
Sn	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	SnO2
Ti	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	TiOCl2(g)
	Ti in slag	37.36	32.91	41.15	11.24	100.00	10.35	100.00	TiO2, Ti2O3
	pure solid	62.64	67.09	58.85	88.76	0.00	89.65	0.00	CaSiTiO5
Zn	gas	10.82	43.39	2.73	10.67	8.46	42.98	2.16	ZnCl2, Zn
	Zn in slag	41.30	34.87	50.39	5.51	91.54	5.25	97.84	ZnO
	pure solid	47 88	21 74	46 88	83 83	0.00	51 77	0.00	Zn2SiO4

Page 134



Figure 50: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of chlorine content (Alpha indicates total chlorine)



Figure 51: Minor gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total chlorine content (Alpha indicates total chlorine)



Figure 52: Slag components from MSW combustion with a range of total chlorine content (Alpha indicates total chlorine)



Figure 53: Solid compounds from MSW combustion with a range of chlorine content (Alpha indicates total chlorine)



Figure 54: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content (Alpha indicates the sodium and 0.6 Alpha the potassium content)



Figure 55: Major gaseous species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content (Alpha indicates the sodium and 0.6 Alpha the potassium content)



Figure 56: Major oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content (Alpha indicates the sodium and 0.6 Alpha the potassium content)



Figure 57: Major solid species from MSW combustion with a range of total alkali (Na + K) content (Alpha indicates the sodium and 0.6 Alpha the potassium content)

Sulphur and Water Variation Table 42 shows the predicted effects of changing sulphur and water content of the fuel on the equilibrium products from MSW combustion.

element	products	typical	twice	half	twice	half	key species
	predicted	MSW	sulphur	sulphur	water	water	
Ag	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	AgCl, Ag
Al	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	OAIF2
	Al in slag	42.90	42.90	42.90	43.23	42.60	A12O3
	pure solid	57.10	57.10	57.10	56.77	57.40	CaAl2Si2O8, KAlSi2O6
As	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	AsF3
	As in slag	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	As2O3
Ba	gas	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	BaCl2
	pure solid	99.99	99.99	99.99	99.99	99.98	BaCrO4
С	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	CO2, CO
Ca	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	CaCl2
	Ca in slag	35.05	35.05	35.05	35.93	34.20	CaO
	pure solid	64.95	64.95	64.95	64.07	65.80	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, (CaO)(MoO3)
Cd	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	Cd, CdO, (CdOH)
Cl	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	HCl, CuCl, KCl, NaCl, ZnCl2, PbCl2, Cl, LiCl, (CuCl)3, Cl2, PbCl, AgCl, ClO
Co	gas	6.52	6.52	6.52	4.71	8.14	CoCl2, CoCl3
	pure solid	93.48	93.48	93.48	95.29	91.86	(CoO)(Cr2O3)
Cr	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	CrO2
	Cr in slag	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.13	0.09	Cr2O3, CrO
	pure solid	99.89	99.89	99.89	99.87	99.91	BaCrO4, (MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3)
Cu	gas	71.42	71.42	71.42	64.65	74.89	CuCl, (CuCl)3
	Cu in slag	28.58	28.58	28.58	32.57	25.11	Cu2O
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.78	0.00	(CuO)(Fe2O3)
F	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	HF(g), OAIF2, LiF, NaF, KF, CuF
Fe	gas	0,00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	FcCl2
	Fe in slag	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.05	FeO, Fe2O3
	pure solid	99.94	99.94	99.94	99.93	99.95	Fe2O3, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, (NiO)(Fe2O3), (CuO)(Fe2O3)
Н	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	H2O, HCI, HF
Hg	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	Hg
ĸ	gas	8.20	8.20	8.20	6.96	9.20	KCl, KOH, (KCl)2, KF
	K in slag	78.19	78.19	78.19	72.17	84.25	K2O
	pure solid	13.60	13.60	13.60	20.87	6.55	KAlSi2O6
Li	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	LiCl, LiOH, LiF
Mg	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	MgCl2
	Mg in slag	15.90	15.90	15.90	16.84	15.02	MgO
	pure solid	84.10	84.10	84.10	83.16	84.98	MgOCaOSi2O4, (MgO)(Cr2O3)
Mn	gas	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.04	MnCl2
	Mn in slag	99.97	99.97	99.97	99.98	99.96	MnO
Мо	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	МоО
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	(CaO)(MoO3)
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	N2, NO
Na	gas	2.71	2.71	2.71	2.28	3.07	NaCl, NaOH
	Na in slag	97.29	97.29	97.29	97.72	96.93	Na2O

Table 42: Variable sensitivity study: effect of changing sulphur and water concentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C (wt %)

element	products	typical	twice	half	twice	half	key species
	predicted	MSW	sulphur	sulphur	water	water	
Ni	gas	0.41	0.41	0.41	0.33	0.48	NiCl2, Ni(OH)2, NiCl
	Ni in slag	6.16	6.16	6.16	7.02	5.40	NiO
	pure solid	93.44	93.44	93.44	92.66	94.12	(NiO)(Fe2O3)
0	gas	99.51	99.51	99.51	99.51	99.50	O2, CO2, H2O, NO, SO2
	O in slag	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	SiO2, Al2O3, CaO, Na2O, K2O, Ti2O
	pure solid	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.24	0.25	CaAl2Si2O8(s2), MgOCaOSi2O4, Fe2O3
Pb	gas	84.83	84,83	84.83	82.25	86.83	PbO, PbCl2, PbCl
	Pb in slag	15.17	15.17	15.17	17.75	13.17	PbO
S	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	SO2, SO3
Sb	gas	8.50	8.50	8.50	12.10	6.74	(SbO2H2), SbCl3, SbOH
	pure solid	91.50	91.50	91.50	87.90	93.26	SbO2
Si	gas	0.00	0,00	0.00	0.00	0.00	OSiF2
	Si in slag	64.15	64.15	64.15	64.06	64.24	SiO2
	pure solid	35.85	35.85	35,85	35.94	35.76	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fc2Si3O12, KAISi2O6, Zn2SiO4
Sn	095	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	S_{nO} (S _{nO2H2}) S _{nC12}
511	pure solid	100.00	100 00	100 00	100.00	100.00	SnO2
Ti	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	TiOCl2
	Ti in slag	37.36	37.36	37.36	39.01	35.84	TiO2
	pure solid	62.64	62.64	62.64	60.99	64.16	CaSiTiO5
Zn	gas	10.82	10.82	10.82	7.83	13.46	ZnCl2, Zn
	Zn in slag	41.30	41.30	41.30	45.11	37.84	ZnO
	pure solid	47.88	47.88	47.88	47.06	48.70	Zn2SiO4

Compared with the effect of changing chlorine or alkali content of the waste input, the effect of changing the sulphur or water content of the waste has only a small effect on product composition. In contrast to previous predictions (Linak and Wendt, 1993), these more complex thermodynamic equilibrium calculations estimate the effect of a doubling or halving of sulphur content to be minimal on the distribution of any of the metals (previous calculations predicted the effects on equilibrium to be small for most metals, but significant for some, such as lead, as it was thought that lead sulphate would be favoured over lead chloride). All of the sulphur is found as non-metallic gases (mainly SO₂, with a trace of SO₃). However, it is important to remember that the slag model did not include sulphate or sulphite components, and the ability to include these could alter the equilibrium products significantly. The water content of the fuel has a discernible, but small effect on metal distribution, with higher water content tending to increase slag formation, and decrease volatilisation, with the exception of Sb, where the reverse is true (presumably due to the volatilisation of Sb via the compound (SbO_2H_2) . Figure 58 - Figure 60 illustrate the predicted effects on the equilibrium products of changing the water concentration over the range typically expected in MSW.

GactSage"



Figure 58: Gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations (alpha indicates water concentration, in the range 25-32%)



Figure 59: Oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations (alpha indicates water concentration, in the range 25-32%)



Figure 60: Pure solid components from MSW combustion with a range of water concentrations (alpha indicates water concentration, in the range 25-32%)

Oxygen, and simulated "poor combustion" and "good combustion" regions

Table 43 shows how changing combustion conditions is predicted to affect the equilibrium for municipal waste combustion. Changing oxygen concentrations are normal during waste combustion (between about 7.5 and 11.5%). The simultaneous increase in water and oxygen, or decrease in both, is to simulate the effect of "poor combustion" of a wet fuel, or rapid combustion of a dry fuel, and see how this affects thermodynamic equilibrium.

		•					
element	predicted products	typical MSW	typical MSW	typical MSW	typical MSW	typical MSW	key species
		11% O ₂	$21\%O_2$	5% O ₂	twice H_2O 21% O_2	half H_2O 5% O_2	
Ag	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	AgCl, Ag
Al	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0,00	OAIF2
	Al in slag	42.90	42.73	43.42	42.46	43.19	Al2O3
	pure solid	57 10	57 26	56.58	57 54	56.81	CaAl2Si2O8 KAlSi2O6
٨c	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	AsF3
ЦЭ	Ac in clog	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	As2O3
Da		0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02	R ₂ Cl2
Ба	gas De in elem	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02	
	Ba in siag	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	
~	pure sona	99.99 100.00	97,77 100 00	77.70 100.00	100.00	100.00	BaClO4, (BaO)(SlO2)
C	gas	100,00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100,00	02,00
Ca	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	CaCl2
	Ca in slag	35.05	34.46	36.46	33.81	35.87	CaO
	pure solid	64.95	65.54	63.54	66.19	64.13	CaAl2Si2O8,
							MgOCaOSi2O4,
							CaSiTiO5, Ca $3Fe2Si3O12$, (CaO)(MoO3)
Cd	aas	100.00	6 19	100.00	100.00	100.00	Cd. CdO. (CdOH)
Cu	Cd in slag	0.00	93.81	0.00	0.00	0.00	CdO
C1	cu in sing	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	HC1 CuC1 7nC12 KC1
U	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	NaCl PhCl2 Cl LiCl
							$(C_{11}C_{11})_{3}$ C12 PbC1 A gC1
Ca	a95	6 52	0.01	6 70	4 54	8 37	
0	gas Co in clog	0.52	0.01	0.70	0.00	0.00	
	Co III slag	0.00	0.00	02 20	0.00	01.63	$(C_{2}O)(C_{2}O_{3})$
<u> </u>	pure solid	93,40	97.77 0.00	93,30	93.40	91,05	(00)(01203)
Cr	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	CI02
	Cr in slag	0.11	0.09	0.15	0.08	0.13	
	pure solid	99.89	99.91	99.85	99.92	99.87	(MgO)(Cr2O3), (CoO)(Cr2O3), BaCrO4, (CoO)(Cr2O3)
Cu	gas	71.42	68.00	64.36	73.19	67.96	CuCl, (CuCl)3, Cu, CuF, CuO
	Cu in slag	28.58	24.31	35.64	23.32	32.04	Cu2O
	pure solid	0.00	7.69	0.00	3.49	0.00	(CuO)(Fe2O3)
F	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	HF(g) OAIF2 LiF
Г Ба	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	FeC12
re	gas Es in slog	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	$F_{0}O$ $F_{0}2O3$
	re in siag	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.04	0.08	$F_{0}(x) = C_{0}(x)$
	pure solid	99.94	99.95	99.92	99.90	99.92	(NiO)(Fe2O3), (CuO)(F e2O3)
н	Øas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	H2O, HCI, HF, OH
11 Ца	640 aas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	Нø
ng V	gas	8 7 0	8 77	6 / 2	0 55	7 10	
ĸ	gas Kin ala a	0.20 70 10	0.11	69 50	9.35	7.12	KCI, KOII, (KCI)2, KI
	K in slag	10.19	03.20	00.39	00.07	72.40	K40 K415:20((-2)
	pure solid	13.00	8.U3	24.99	3.38 100.00	20.33	KAISIZUO(SZ)
Li	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	LICI, LIOH, LIF, (LICI)2
Mg	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0,00	MgCI2
	Mg in slag	15.90	15.25	17.41	14.64	16.77	MgO
	pure solid	84.10	84.75	82.59	85.36	83.23	MgOCaOSi2O4(s),
_		0.02	0.02	0.02	0.00	0.04	(MgO)(CI2O3)
Mn	gas	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.04	MinCl2(g)
	Mn in slag	99,97	99.97 0.00	99,97	yy.yy	99.9 6	MnU
Мо	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	MoU

Table 43: Variable sensitivity study: effect of changing oxygen, and water concentrations in feed waste on equilibrium product distribution at 950°C (wt %)

element	predicted products	typical MSW 11% O ₂	typical MSW 21% O ₂	typical MSW 5% O ₂	typical MSW twice H ₂ O 21% Or	typical MSW half H ₂ O 5% O ₂	key species
	Mo in slag	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	(CaO)(MoO3)
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	N2
Na	gas	2.71	2.91	2.09	3.21	2.35	NaCl, NaOH, (NaCl)2, NaF
	Na in slag	97.29	97.09	97.91	96.79	97.65	Na2O
Ni	gas	0.41	0.40	0.42	0.31	0.50	NiCl2, Ni(OH)2, NiCl
	Ni in slag	6.16	5.53	7.60	5.08	6,96	NiO
	pure solid	93.44	94.07	91.99	94.61	92.54	(NiO)(Fe2O3)
0	gas	99.51	99.69	99.20	99.80	99.19	CO2, O2, H2O, NO, SO2
-	O in slag	0.25	0.16	0.41	0.10	0.41	SiO2, Al2O3, CaO, Na2O, K2O, Ti2O
	pure solid	0.24	0.15	0.40	0.10	0.40	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, Fe2O3, KAlSi2O6, CaSiTiO5
Pb	gas	84.83	86.28	80.06	89.44	82.65	PbCl2, PbO, PbCl
	Pb in slag	15.17	13.72	19.94	10,56	17.35	РЬО
S	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	SO2, SO3
Sb	gas	8.50	0.48	12.64	8.74	10.06	(SbO2H2), SbC13, SbOH
	Sb in slag	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	pure solid	91.50	99.52	87.36	91.26	89.94	SbO2
Si	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	OSiF2
	Si in slag	64.15	64.25	64.00	64.22	64.05	SiO2
	pure solid	35.85	35.75	36.00	35.78	35.95	CaAl2Si2O8, MgOCaOSi2O4, KAlSi2O6, CaSiTiO5, Ca3Fe2Si3O12, Zn2SiO4, (BaO)(SiO2)
Sn	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	SnO, (SnO2H2), SnCl2
	Sn in slag	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	SnO2
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	SnO2
Ti	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	TiOCl2
	Ti in slag	37.36	36.16	40.08	35.17	38.88	TiO2
	pure solid	62.64	63.84	59.92	64.83	61.12	CaSiTiO5
Zn	gas	10.82	10.79	11.16	7.50	13.92	ZnCl2
	Zn in slag	41.30	38.67	47.57	36.35	44.87	ZnO
	pure solid	47.88	50.54	41.27	56.15	41.21	Zn2SiO4





Figure 61: Major gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations (shown for oxygen activities between 0.01 and 0.21, i.e. 1-21%)



Figure 62: Minor gaseous compounds from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations (shown for oxygen activities between 0.01 and 0.21, i.e. 1-21%)

GactSage"



Figure 63: Major oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations (shown for oxygen activities between 0.01 and 0.21, i.e. 1-21%)



Figure 64: Minor oxide slag components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations (shown for oxygen activities between 0.01 and 0.21, i.e. 1-21%)



Figure 65: Pure solid components from MSW combustion with a range of oxygen concentrations (shown for oxygen activities between 0.01 and 0.21, i.e. 1-21%)

Summary

These calculations have shown how normal variations in combustion conditions and bulk waste composition could affect metal distribution during MSW combustion. It is seen that changes in temperature, chlorine, and alkali content have a major effect, while the effects of changing oxygen, water, or sulphur, are less significant for the ranges covered. Where more than one factor is likely to change together (e.g. lower water content, higher combustion temperature, and lower oxygen concentration), the effects can combine almost quantitatively in some cases. However, these calculations only consider the bulk incinerator operating parameters, and the effect of local deviations from bulk conditions are also likely to be significant.

4.5 Prediction of "Local Equilibrium" around Heterogeneous Waste Items

Despite the attempts to consider ranges of concentrations for some components of the waste feed, it was felt that further efforts should be made to consider specific items of waste, known to contain high concentrations of volatile metals. It has previously been suggested that for the combustion of heterogeneous wastes, it would be useful to consider the equilibrium in areas around specific items in the waste stream, though this does not appear to have been attempted before (Delay et al., 2001). Thus a number of "specific items" were identified which had significant volatile metal concentration, and could be well characterised, and the equilibrium around these items was considered in detail.

Determining the combustion temperature for such items was problematic. It is known that the temperature on the burning bed is extremely variable, and is not reflected in

the average bulk temperature of the incinerator gases (Yang et al., 2002). It was thought that different items may experience very different temperatures on the bed, depending on whether the waste was combustible, and so experienced flametemperatures caused by its own combustion, or whether it only experienced the temperature from heat transfer from combustible items near it, if it was noncombustible. Therefore, a wide range of temperatures were examined for each calculation, from 700°C to 1300°C. Once more, oxygen was fixed at 11%. Gas cooling calculations were not performed for the "specific items", as it was assumed that all the flue gases would become well mixed before reaching the cooler parts of the incinerator system.

4.5.1 Rationale for Choice of Specific Items

The items chosen for consideration as "specific items" for thermodynamic equilibrium studies were an alkaline cell (battery), nickel-cadmium cell (battery), zinc-carbon cell (battery), cathode ray tube (television or computer display) glass, a PVC window frame profile, and normal tin-lead solder. The reasons for choosing these items were:

- Each contained a significant concentration of a heavy metal, and so represented significantly "non-heterogeneous" items when the metals are present only in trace amount in the total waste stream
- Each item was normally present in the waste stream
- Each was thought to be a significant contributor to the total amount of that metal in municipal waste incineration
- In addition to heavy metal (lead), the PVC contained chlorine, which promotes volatilisation (lead complexes are used as stabilisers in some PVC)
- These items could be well characterised from literature data
- The items displayed a range of ways of having metals present in the waste feed (from lead present as elemental metal in solder alloy, to as an organic compound, distributed at relatively low concentration in PVC products)
- The metals involved displayed partitioning behaviour in the incinerator which was not adequately explained by "bulk" equilibrium calculations alone

The elemental compositions of the items chosen, as found by literature search, are given in Table 44. Where the data from different sources were inconsistent or incomplete, an inference as to the overall composition of the item was made, using information from all the available sources.

item & reference	component	percentage
alkaline cell/battery	carbon	10
(Duracell, 2004)	КОН	10
(Unyi, 1998)	MnO ₂	30
(Monmouth, 2005)	steel casing (considered as Fe)	30
·	Zn	20
nickel-cadmium cell/battery	Cd (metal)	26
(ChiefSupply.Com, 2004)	CdOH	26
(Monmouth, 2005)	Co	1
	КОН	3
	Ni	17
	NiOH	12
	nylon (insulation etc) $(C_{12}N_2H_{22}O_2)_n$	2
	steel casing (considered as Fe)	13
zinc-carbon cell/battery	carbon	10
(Monmouth, 2005)	Cl (present as $ZnCl_2$)	14
	Mn (presumed to be MnO_2)	38
	steel casing (considered as Fe)	8
	Zn	30
CRT glass	SiO ₂	61.9
(ICER, 2005)	BaO	11.0
	Na ₂ O	9.0
	K ₂ O	7.0
	PbO	5.0
	SrO	2.0
	Al ₂ O ₃	2.0
	CaO	0.7
	ZrO ₂	0.4
	Sb ₂ O ₃	0.3
	F	0.3
	CeO ₂	0.1
	Fe ₂ O ₃	0.2
	MgO	0.1
PVC window frame profile	CaCO ₃ (filler)	6.3
(SpecialChem4Polymers.com.	TiO ₂	5,9
2005)	stabiliser: PbHPO ₃ .2PbO	2.5
2000)	stabiliser: (C ₁₇ H ₃₅ COO) ₂ Pb	1.1
	pure PVC polymer (CH ₂ CHCl) _n	84.2
tin-lead alloy solder*	Pb	40
(RS ltd 2005)	Sn	60

Table 44. The composition of specific waste terms used in incriniouynamic mouching (we	c modelling (wt %)	used in thermodynamic	c waste items"	tion of "specific	The composition	Table 44:
--	--------------------	-----------------------	----------------	-------------------	-----------------	-----------

* EC legislation now restricts use of tin-lead solder, but it is to be expected that it will be found in the waste stream for some time to come, as it has been the most common electronics solder for many years

4.5.2 Isolated Equilibrium Calculations

At first, some items were considered to be completely isolated from the bulk waste matrix around them. Simple equilibrium partitioning predictions were made at a relatively small number of temperatures using only the composition of the items themselves, and combustion air as the input components for the calculation. This presented a "limiting case" scenario, where the partitioning of metals in a specific waste item was entirely unaffected by the environment around it, apart from to heat the waste to combustion temperature.

However, it was felt that the results from such calculations would not be very realistic, as such items on the burning bed would be influenced by other waste burning around them. Attempts were therefore made to refine this modelling technique, having established that the results were indicating some interesting behaviours, which were significantly different from the calculations for general municipal waste.

4.5.3 Specific Items in the Combustion Gas Matrix

A second series of calculations were performed in which the "specific items" were considered to be surrounded by a gaseous atmosphere which was the product of the combustion of "typical municipal waste", as described above. This method sought to account for the fact that specific items would be surrounded by other combusting waste, which would produce a gaseous environment which may influence the partitioning within the specific items. For example, chlorine, which is present in many waste items may help to volatilise a metal in a non-chlorine containing product.

For this calculation, the FactSageTM programme was most helpful, as the gaseous products from one calculation could be used as part of the input for the next calculation. A simple calculation based on the waste composition data available indicated that the "specific items" were relatively uncommon in the waste stream, so the effect of one "specific item" on another was ignored. Thus 100g of the "specific item" was considered to be in equilibrium with 1kg of the flue gas from combustion of "typical waste", reflecting the relative abundance of such "specific items" (National Assembly for Wales, 2004, Belevi and Moench, 2000b). The composition of the bulk components of gas from "general waste combustion" is given in Table 45. In addition, further oxygen was supplied to maintain an overall oxygen level of 11% in the flue gas.

 Table 45: The major component composition of flue gas, predicted by thermodynamic equilibrium calculation of "typical municipal waste" combustion

component C C1 F H N O S percentage 3.6 0.01 0.0002 0.08 74 22.2 0.002								
percentage 3.6 0.01 0.0002 0.08 74 22.2 0.002	component	С	Cl	F	Н	Ν	0	S
	percentage	3.6	0.01	0.0002	0.08	74	22.2	0.002

The possible effect of liquid melts from the typical waste absorbing heavy metal from the specific items was ignored, as it was thought unlikely to happen in incinerator conditions. This is because it is thought that distances between items and melts on the bed would be too great for solid-liquid, liquid-liquid, or solid-solid contact, and it was assumed that only interactions of the specific item with the gas from waste combustion would be possible.

It should be emphasised that these calculations were not intended to give a full, quantitative description of the thermodynamic processes occurring on the burning bed. Rather, the intention was to demonstrate how non-equilibrium behaviour might influence metal partitioning. With the constraints of data availability, it would simply not be possible to consider all the "specific items" which might be present in waste separately, nor to assess fully how separate one "specific item" would be from the "general waste" matrix. Nevertheless, it was hoped that these calculations might indicate how "non-equilibrium" reactions, including local equilibria within the burning bed might contribute to the complexity which is known to exist in metal partitioning.

Thus a series of different thermodynamic predictions were used to try to rationalise the observed partitioning behaviour of volatile metals in combustion. The calculations sought to account for heterogeneity in the waste stream, and for variations in the combustion process, by considering a range of values for key parameters, and a number of important "specific items" in the waste stream. It was hoped that this information would help not only to explain existing partitioning data, but any data obtained on variation in metal volatilisation, as revealed by continuous monitoring.

4.5.4 Results: Prediction of "Local Equilibrium" around Specific Items

Isolated Equilibrium Calculations

Alkaline Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical alkaline battery in 11% oxygen are shown in Table 46 for a range of temperatures. Compared with the predictions for "typical" waste, the results are much simpler, due to the smaller number of components considered. However, the results compare very interestingly with those for typical municipal waste, as they indicate that the volatilisation of both potassium and lead are much lower around the battery than in bulk conditions (typically <2%, compared with up to 100%), presumably due to the lack of halogen ions (and possibly the OH ion). Thus this example illustrates how inhomogeneous mixing on the burning bed could lead to local equilibrium conditions around specific items in the waste, leading to lower volatile metal evaporation than is conventionally expected. A slag melt is not predicted in the isolated equilibrium considered.

Table 46:	The predicted p	percentage	composition	of products	from	combustion	of a	an	alkaline
battery in o	complete isolation	1 from any (other waste (wt %)					

element	predicted products	800°C	1050°C	1350°C	key species
С	gas	53.92	53.92	54.64	CO2
	pure solid	46.08	46.08	45.36	K2CO3
Κ	gas	1.1E-09	1.2E-05	1.57	K, KO
	pure solid	100	100	98.43	K2CO3
N	gas	100	100	100	N2, NO
	pure solid	0	0	0	
0	gas	0.5925	0.5927	59.85	O2, CO2, NO, KO
-	pure solid	0.4075	0.4073	40.15	
Zn	gas	2.9E-11	6.2E-07	0.16	Zn
-	pure solid	100	100	99.84	ZnO

Nickel-Cadmium Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical nickelcadmium battery in 11% oxygen are shown in Table 47 for a range of temperatures. As with the alkaline battery, consideration of the nickel-cadmium cell leads to much lower predictions of evaporation of volatile metals than in the bulk MSW. This applies to cadmium, potassium, and nickel at lower temperatures, although at the higher temperatures, cadmium is predicted to volatilise completely in either situation.

element	products predicted	800	1050	1350	key species
Cd	gas	0.00	0.96	100.00	Cd, CdO
	pure solid	100.00	99.04	0.00	CdO
K	gas	0.00	9.01	100.00	K, KO, K2
	pure solid	99.99	90.99	0.00	K2O2
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	N2, NO
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	
Ni	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	NiO
0	gas	52.18	52.61	67.55	O2, CdO, NO, KO
	pure solid	47.82	47.39	32.45	NiO, CdO, K2O2

Table 47: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a nickelcadmium battery in complete isolation from any other waste (wt %)

Zinc-Carbon Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical zinc-carbon battery in 11% oxygen are shown in Table 48 for a range of temperatures. Once again, the small number of components means that the prediction results are simple. Manganese is seen to be slightly volatile, as $MnCl_2$, particularly at higher temperatures, more so than in typical municipal waste. Zinc is also seen to be more volatile in the isolated equilibrium than in typical municipal waste combustion, but the volatilisation (as $ZnCl_2$) is seen to be limited by chlorine availability (>90% of the Cl is present as $ZnCl_2$), which means that the proportion of Zn volatilised alters little over the temperature range considered for the isolated equilibrium.

Table 48: battery in (The predicted complete isolation	percentage com on from any oth	position of er waste (wt	products fr %)	rom com	bustion o	of a zinc-carbon
					-		

element	products predicted	800	1050	1350	key species
С	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	CO2
Cl	gas	100.00	100,00	100.00	ZnCl2, MnCl2, Cl, Cl2
Mn	gas	1.88E-04	0.21	1.20	MnCl2
	pure solid	99.98	99.79	98.80	Mn2O3, Mn3O4
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	N2, NO
0	gas	63.76	65.79	65.88	CO2, O2, NO
	pure solid	36.24	34.21	34.12	Mn2O3, Mn3O4, ZnO
Zn	gas	25.48	25.38	23.81	ZnCl2
	pure solid	74.52	74.62	76.19	ZnO

CRT Glass

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of typical CRT glass cullet in 11% oxygen are shown in Table 49 for a range of temperatures. Due to the unusual elemental composition of the item, several elements are included in the prediction which are not otherwise considered in the work on MSW incineration. Given that the item in question is a glass product, it is encouraging that the majority of the main components from the thermodynamic prediction are in the slag or gas phases, and not as pure species, indicating the successful modelling of the glass. In order to achieve this, the slag models used for this limited prediction are more complex than those used in predictions for full MSW incineration prediction, and account for chlorides and fluorides in the melt, as well as the oxides used in the main predictions. In the more extensive predictions, these models could not be used, due to lack of data availability for some elements, and the total complexity of the prediction involved. Compared with typical MSW, the volatilisation of aluminium is predicted to increase slightly, through the formation of OAlF₂, while the volatilisation of slag-forming elements (notably Na and K) is reduced, due to the formation of a stable slag phase.

element	products predicted	800°C	1050°C	1350°C	key species
Al	gas	9.9E-07	2.4E-04	0.10	OAIF2
	Al in slag	100.00	99.98	99.90	A12O3
Ba	gas	9.7E-09	2.1E-05	5.7E-04	BaF2 .
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	99.94	(BaO)(SiO2)
Ca	gas	1.1E-10	1.5E-07	2.3E-06	CaF2
	Ca in slag	63.53	100.00	100.00	CaO, CaF2
	pure solid	36.47	0.00	0.00	Na2CaSi5O12
Cl	gas	18.42	83.29	98.85	NaCl, KCl, PbCl, Cl, PbCl2, (NaCl)2, Cl, (KCl)2
	Cl in slag	81.58	16.71	1.15	NaCl, KCl, PbCl2, CaCl2, MgCl2
F	gas	0.65	82.37	94.26	NaF, KF, SiF4, PbF2, (NaF)2, BaF2, OAIF2, PbF, SrF2, ZrF4, (KF)2, OSiF2
	F in slag	13.04	17.63	5.74	NaF, KF, PbF2, CaF2, MgF2
	pure solid	86.32	0.00	0.00	BaF2
K	gas	2.0E-04	0.30	1.54	KF, KCl
	K in slag	99.98	99.70	98.46	K2O, KF, KCl
Mg	gas	1.7E-08	9.9E-06	9.4E-05	MgF2
U	Mg in slag	100.00	100.00	99.99	MgO, MgF2, MgCl2
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100,00	N2, NO
Na	gas	7.8E-04	0.86	3.80	NaF, NaCl, (NaF)2, (NaCl)2
	Na in slag	96.93	99.14	96.20	Na2O, NaF, NaCl
	pure solid	2.99	0.00	0.00	Na2CaSi5O12
0	gas	18.02	18.21	18.60	O2, PbO, NO, Sb4O6
	O in slag	65.63	72.95	72.90	SiO2, Na2O, K2O, Al2O3, PbO, CaO, ZrO2, MgO
	pure solid	16.35	8.84	8.50	(BaO)(SiO2), (SrO)(SiO2), ZrO2, ZrSiO4
Рb	gas	0.57	3.15	31.76	PbO, PbF2, PbF, Pb, PbCl, PbCl2
	Pb in slag	99.43	96.85	68.24	PbO, PbF2
Sb	gas	9.7E-04	100.00	100.00	Sb4O6
	pure solid	99.90	0.00	0.00	SbO2
Si	gas	1.80E-05	0.24	3.81E-04	SiF4
	Si in slag	81.10	91.36	91.83	SiO2
	pure solid	18.90	8.41	8.14	(BaO)(SiO2), (SrO)(SiO2)
Sr	gas	3.7E-10	1.9E-06	1.4E-04	SrF2
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	99.99	(SrO)(SiO2)
Zr	gas	3.85E-08	1.60E-04	4.44E-04	ZrF4(g)
	Zr in slag	0.18	4.91	73.23	ZrO2
	pure solid	99. 82	95.08	26.73	ZrSiO4, ZrO2

Table 49: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of mixed CRT glass in complete isolation from any other waste (wt %)

Overview of Information Obtained from Study of Isolated Local Equilibrium

These simple initial calculations of thermodynamic equilibrium around specific heterogeneous items indicate how local equilibrium conditions can differ substantially from bulk equilibrium, significantly altering metal volatilisation. Where slag formation occurs, this tends to reduce volatilisation, as does lower availability of halogens, and possibly water. In contrast, increased halogen concentration can lead to enhanced volatilisation of some metals in isolated equilibria.

However, despite providing useful "limiting case" scenarios for the combustion of specific items in the waste stream, the complete exclusion of the surrounding combustion matrix appears to be a significant simplification. Further, more detailed calculations were therefore completed (for a larger number of combustion temperatures) where the matrix was accounted for, with 100g of the "specific item" being in equilibrium with 1000g of typical municipal waste combustion gas.

Specific Items in Combustion Gas Matrix

Alkaline Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical alkaline battery in typical MSW flue gas (as predicted in earlier calculations) are shown in Table 50 for a range of temperatures. Once more, these results compare interestingly with those for typical MSW, and also for those for the battery in complete isolation. In the flue gas matrix, the volatilisation of potassium is predicted to be slightly higher at all temperatures in the equilibrium around the battery than in the bulk waste. This is in contrast to the battery in complete isolation, and illustrates the effect of halogens (and OH) in the bulk flue gases in enhancing the volatility of the volatile metals in a specific item in the waste stream. Interestingly, a stable solid sulphate of potassium is also predicted, whereas a potassium oxide slag component is predicted in typical MSW combustion, thus suggesting that slag formation may be retarding volatility. In contrast, the volatility of zinc is suppressed, when compared with predictions for "typical" MSW, presumably due to the competition between zinc and potassium for the limited amount of available chlorine, and the availability of a stable zinc-iron solid compound. The volatility of manganese is also suppressed (it is predicted to volatilise a very small amount in typical MSW, and not significantly at all in the battery equilibrium).

Table 50: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of an alkaline battery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

element	predicted products	700°C	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species
C	gas	97.75	97.77	97.93	98.79	100.00	CO2
-	pure solid	2.25	2.23	2.07	1.21	0.00	K2CO3
Cl	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	KCl, (KCl)2, HCl
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
F	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	KF, HF, (KF)2
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
Fe	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	Fe(OH)2
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	ZnFe2O4 (lower temps),
	•						(MnO)(Fe2O3) (higher temps)
Н	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	H2O, KOH, OH, (KOH)2
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
Κ	gas	1.65	2.57	9.42	47.03	100.00	KOH, KCl, (KCl)2 K, K2SO4, KO, KF, (KOH)2
	pure solid	98.35	97.43	90.59	52.97	0.00	K2CO3, K2SO4
Mn	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	MnCl2, Mn
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	Mn3O4 (lower temps), (MnO)(Fe2O3) (higher temps)
N	gas	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100,00	N2, NO
	pure solid	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
0	gas	89.22	89.53	89.64	90.22	91.54	CO2, O2, H2O, KOH, NO
	pure solid	10.78	10.47	10.36	9.78	8.46	ZnFe2O4 (lower temps),
	•						(MnO)(Fe2O3) (higher temps),
							ZnO, Mn3O4
S	gas	2.28E- 05	0.36	4.91	43.50	100.00	K2SO4
	pure solid	100.00	99.64	95.09	56.50	0.00	K2SO4
Zn	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.38	ZnCl2, Zn
	pure solid	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	99.62	ZnFe2O4, ZnO

Nickel-Cadmium Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical nickelcadmium battery in typical MSW flue gas are shown in Table 51 for a range of temperatures. Although predicted volatility of cadmium is higher than for the isolated Ni-Cd equilibrium, it is still lower than for cadmium in "typical" municipal waste. The volatility of the trace amounts of cobalt (found as an impurity in nickel) is suppressed in the equilibrium around the battery. In contrast to these, the volatility of potassium is higher in the equilibrium around the battery than in municipal waste combustion, presumably mainly because of the lack of availability of a stabilising potassium slag phase in the local equilibrium. The presence of chlorine also increases potassium volatility, compared with volatilisation of potassium from the completely isolated battery.

element	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	700°C	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species	
C	gas	99.22	99.25	99.50	100.0	100.0	CO2, CO	
	pure solid	0.7830	0.7497	0.4996	0.0000	0.0000	K2CO3	
Cd	gas	0.00	0.03	0.3879	4.429	100.0	Cd, CdO, Cd(OH)2, CdOH	
	pure solid	100.0	99.97	99.61	95.57	0.00	CdO	
Cl	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	KC1, HC1, (KC1)2, C1	
Co	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	Со	
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	(CoO)(Fe2O3)	
F	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	KF, HF, (KF)2	
Fe	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	Fe(OH)2	
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100,0	100.0	100.0	(NiO)(Fe2O3), (CoO)(Fe2O3)	
Н	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	H2O, KOH, OH, Cd(OH)2, CdOH,	
	•						Ni(OH)2, H2, HF, HOO, (KOH)2,	
							HC1	
Κ	gas	5.508	9.424	38.87	98.47	100.0	KOH, KCI, K2SO4, K, KO,	
							(KOH)2, (KCl)2, KF, (KF)2	
	pure solid	94.49	90.58	61.13	1.533	0.0000	K2CO3, K2SO4	
N	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N2, NO, NO2	
Ni	gas	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	Ni(OH)2	
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	NiO, (NiO)(Fe2O3)	
0	gas	91.61	91.63	91.79	92.21	94.77	O2, CO2, H2O, CdO, KOH, NO,	
							K2SO4, OH, Cd(OH)2, SO2, NO2,	
							CO, O, CdOH, Ni(OH)2, KO,	
					-		(KOH)2	
	pure solid	8.393	8.371	8.207	7,788	5.232	(NiO)(Fe2O3), $NiO,$	
							(CoO)(Fe2O3), CdO, K2CO3, K2	
-		0.00	0 2514	4 9 2 0	12.07	100.0	K2504	
5	gas	100.0	0.3314	4.839	42.8/	100.0	N2504, 502, 503	
	pure solid	100.0	77.02	7 2.16	57.15	0.0000	K2504	

Table 51: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a nickelcadmium battery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

Zinc-Carbon Cell (Battery)

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of a typical zinc-carbon battery in typical MSW flue gas are shown in Table 52 for a range of temperatures. The predictions are very similar to those for the zinc carbon battery in isolation, with slightly increased volatilisation of zinc and manganese, presumably due to the extra chlorine available from the flue gas matrix. Again, metal volatilisation is significantly increased over predictions for typical MSW.

Table 52: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a zinc-carbonbattery in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

element	predicted	700°C	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species
	products						
C	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	CO2, CO
Cl	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	ZnCl2, HCl, MnCl2, Cl, FeCl2, Cl2,
							ClO, HOCl, FeCl3, ONCl
F	gas	100,0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	HF, F
Fe	gas	2.3E-04	1.3E-03	1.9E-02	1.9E-02	0.2185	FeCl2, FeCl3
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	99.98	99.98	99.78	ZnFe2O4 (low temps),
	-						(MnO)(Fe2O3) (high temps)
Н	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	H2O, HCI, OH, HF, H2, HOCL,
	-						HOO, Fe(OH)2
Mn	gas	5.3E-03	4.5E-02	0.2827	0.2827	1.298	MnCl2
	pure solid	99.99	99.95	99.72	99.72	98.70	Mn2O3 (low temps), Mn3O4,
							(MnO)(Fe2O3) (high temps)
Ν	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N2, NO, NO2
	gas	90.93	91.59	91.63	91.63	91.81	CO2, O2, H2O, NO, OH, SO2, NO2,
							CO, O, CIO, SO3
	pure solid	9.065	8.406	8.368	8.368	8,189	Mn3O4, ZnO, (MnO)(Fe2O3),
	-						Mn2O3, ZnFe2O4
S	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	SO2, SO3, SO
Zn	gas	30.86	32.65	33.41	33.41	32.54	ZnCl2, Zn
	pure solid	69.14	67.35	66.59	66.59	67.46	ZnO, ZnFe2O4

CRT Glass

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of CRT glass cullet in typical MSW flue gas are shown in Table 53 for a range of temperatures. Predictions are not shown for the usual lowest temperature of 700°C as slag formation does not begin at such a low temperature. The enhanced slag models, used in the isolated CRT glass prediction, could not be used, due to the increased number of species introduced by the inclusion of flue gas from normal MSW combustion in the calculation, and the added complexity introduced by doing so. Despite this simplification, the prediction of slag formation remains good. The predictions show volatile elements, such as Na, K, and Pb, which are involved in slag formation, have lower volatility than in normal MSW, due to the stable slag formation.

					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
element	predicted products	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species
Al	gas	2.9E-05	6.4E-05	1.2-04	2.5E-04	OAIF2
	Al in slag	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	Al2O3
Ba	gas	6.8E-07	2.2E-06	7.2E-06	9.2E-05	BaF2
	Ba in slag	3.4E-06	2.5E-05	1.3E-04	3.2E-03	BaO
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	(BaO)(SiO2)
С	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	CO2, CO
Ca	gas	5.3E-09	1.7E-08	5.3E-08	4.2E-07	CaF2
	Ca in slag	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	CaO
Ce	gas	9.8E-18	1.2E-15	6.8E-14	1.9E-10	CeO3H3
	Ce in slag	4.6E-07	2.4E-05	6.9E-04	0.47	Ce2O3
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.53	CeO2
Cl	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	NaCl, KCl, HCl, Cl, PbCl, (NaCl)2,
	C					PbCl2, ClO, HOCl, (KCl)2, FeCl2
F	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	4.0492	HF, NaF, KF, PbF, (NaF)2, PbF2,
	-				E-17	OAlF2, FeF3, BaF2, F
Fe	gas	1.5E-03	1.9E-03	2.6E-03	4.3E-02	Fe(OH)2, FeF3, FeO
	Fe in slag	0.1715	0.7514	3.353	99.96	FeO, Fe2O3
	pure solid	99.83	99.25	96.64	0.0000	Fe2O3
Н	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	H2O, HF, OH, NaOH, HCl, KOH, H2, HOO, Fe(OH)2
Κ	gas	0.1287	0.2087	0.2734	0.4999	KCl, KF, KOH, K, (KCl)2, K2SO4
	K in slag	99.87	99.79	99.73	99.50	K2O
Mg	gas	5.2E-07	1.5E-06	3.8E-06	2.2E-05	MgF2
0	Mg in slag	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	MgO
N	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N2, NO, NO2
Na	gas	0.4423	0.6255	0.7551	1.334	NaCl, NaF, NaOH, Na, (NaF)2, NaO, Na2SO4, (NaCl)2
	Na in slag	99.09	99.37	99.24	98.67	Na2O
	pure solid	0.4722	0.00	0.00	0.00	Na2SO4
0	gas	84.82	84.84	84.86	85.00	O2, CO2, H2O, NO, PbO, OH, SO2, NaOH, NO2, CO, O, KOH, SO3
	O in slag	13.39	13.38	13.36	13.31	SiO2, Na2O, K2O, Al2O3, CaO, PbO, ZrO2, Sb2O3, MgO, FeO, Fe2O3
	pure solid	1.796	1.778	1.774	1.691	(BaO)(SiO2), (SrO)(SiO2), ZrO2, CeO2
Pb	gas	1.032	2.850	13.10	79.65	PbO, Pb, PbCl, PbF, PbF, PbCl2
	Pb in slag	98.97	97.15	86.90	20.35	РЬО
S	985	4,400	100.0	100.0	100.0	SO2, SO3, Na2SO4, K2SO4, SO
	pure solid	95.60	0.00	0.00	0.00	
Sh	gas	4.4E-02	4.7E-02	4.8E-02	4.9E-02	Sb4O6, (SbO2H2)
50	Sh in slag	99.96	99.95	99.95	99.95	Sb2O3
Si	095	1.1E-06	3.8E-07	1.6E-07	2.2E-07	OSiF2. SiF4
51	Si in clag	90.85	90.85	90.86	91 16	SiO2
	nure solid	9.151	9.148	9.137	8.837	(BaO)(SiO2), (SrO)(SiO2), ZrSiO4
S	ane source	7 6F-08	2.5E-07	9.0E-07	2.4E-05	SrF2. SrCl2
21	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	(SrO)(SiO2)
7-	Pure source	5 0F-09	7 8F-09	1 15-08	1 6F-08	ZrF4(g)
7 1	gas Zr in slag	0 3800	1.528	4 987	51.73	ZrO2
	zi ili siag	99 67	98 47	95 01	48 27	$7rO_2$ $7rSiO_4$
	Pure sona	//.06	20,77	22.01	10.47	

Table 53: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of CRT glass cullet in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

PVC window frame profile

The predicted composition of the products of combustion of a lead stabilisercontaining PVC product in typical MSW flue gas are shown in Table 54 for a range of temperatures. In this situation, all of the lead is volatilised at all temperatures, as there is no stabilisation by slag formation. In addition, the example shows how a local equilibrium could lead to calcium volatilisation, which is not conventionally expected.

element	predicted products	700°C	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species
C	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	CO2, CO
Ca	gas	3.1E-04	4.1E-02	0.4662	3.547	100.0	CaCl2, Ca(OH)2
	pure solid	100.0	99.96	99.53	96.45	0.00	CaCl2, CaSO4
Cl	gas	86.30	86.30	86.28	86.34	100.0	HCl, CaCl2, Cl, PbCl2, Cl2, Cl0, PbCl, HOCl, ONCl, PbCl4
	pure solid	13.70	13.70	13.72	13.66	0.00	
F	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	HF, F
H	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	H2O, HCI, OH, HOCI, HF, H2, HOO
N	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N2, NO, NO2
0	gas	99.94	99.94	99.95	100.0	100.0	CO2, O2, H2O, NO, SO2, OH, ClO, NO2, CO, O, HOCl, PbO, SO3, HOO
	pure solid	5.8E-02	5.7E-02	4.6E-02	0.00	0.00	
Рb	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	PbCl2, PbCl, PbO, Pb, PbCl4
S	gas	1.7E-02	1.500	19.71	100.0	100.0	SO2, SO3, SO
	pure solid	99.98	98.50	80.29	0.00	0.00	CaSO4

Table 54: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion of a PVC window profile in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

Conventional tin-lead solder

The predicted composition of the products of "combustion" of conventional tin-lead solder in typical MSW flue gas are shown in Table 55 for a range of temperatures. Unlike the prediction for "typical" waste, where lead is predicted to be volatile at all temperatures, the effect of local equilibrium is to suppress lead volatility, with a significant proportion of the lead in solder being predicted to remain in solid phase at the lower combustion temperatures. At higher temperatures, once more lead is predicted to volatilise completely. As with "typical" waste combustion, tin in solder is not predicted to be volatile in MSW incineration conditions.

		70000	95090	05000	105090	120000	1
element	products	700°C	850°C	950°C	1050°C	1300°C	key species
	predicted						
C	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	CO2, CO
Cl	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	HCI, PbCI, PbCl2, CI, ClO, HOCI,
	-						Cl2, ONCl, SnCl2
F	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	HF, PbF, PbF2, F
Н	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	H2O, HCI, OH, HF, H2, HOO
N	gas	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	N2, NO, NO2
0	gas	92.01	92.04	92.28	93.32	93.34	O2, CO2, H2O, PbO, NO, OH, SO2,
	-						NO2, CO, O, SnO, SnO2, SO3
	pure solid	7.989	7,960	7.724	6.677	6.659	SnO2, PbO, (PbO)4(PbSO4)
Pb	gas	0.6900	2.807	20.06	100.0	100.0	PbO, PbCl, Pb, PbCl2
	pure solid	99.31	97.19	79.94	0.00	0.00	
S	gas	4.0E-03	2.059	61.59	100.0	100.0	SO2, SO3, SO
	pure solid	100.0	97.94	38.41	0.00	0.000	(PbO)4(PbSO4)
Sn	gas	3.7E-12	1.9E-09	1.4E-07	6.8E-06	1.9E-02	SnO, SnO2, (SnO2H2)
	pure solid	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.98	SnO2

Table 55: The predicted percentage composition of products from combustion from tin-lead solder in the flue gas matrix from "typical MSW" combustion (wt %)

Overview of Information Obtained from Study of Local Equilibrium

Thus it is seen how local equilibria around inhomogeneous items on the burning bed can significantly vary from the bulk equilibrium, affecting the volatility of some metals. In some cases, volatility is enhanced, providing explanations for how some "non-volatile" metals may be found in the flue gases or APC residue, and in other cases volatility is suppressed, explaining how volatilisation is not as complete in some situations as is predicted by bulk calculations. The results of calculations where the surrounding gas matrix is included can differ significantly from those for completely isolated specific item calculations, illustrating the importance of understanding the extent of interactions between different items on the burning bed, and the extent of inhomogeneity encountered.

4.6 Summary of use of Thermodynamic Calculations to Predict Metal Volatility

State-of-the-art thermodynamic calculations have been used to predict the equilibrium composition of the products from incineration. One calculation has considered the equilibrium for typical municipal waste combustion at a range of combustion temperatures, and for cooling of the combustion gas. A series of calculations has examined the effect of changing waste composition on equilibrium products. Further calculations of "local equilibrium" around specific metal-containing items in the waste stream have illustrated how non-uniformity on the burning bed could lead to unusual "local equilibrium" metal distributions. Such behaviour can vary significantly from the average on the entire burning bed, and show how routes may become available for enhanced or suppressed volatility for specific metals. The various calculations have served to illustrate how complex the equilibrium on the burning bed may be, and how unusual behaviour in terms of metal emission may be linked to specific items on the bed, or specific combustion conditions or overall waste composition.
Chapter Five:

Results

Information has been obtained from various sources on the partitioning of metals during municipal solid waste incineration. Temporal changes in metal volatilisation have been measured directly, through on-line monitoring of metal concentrations in cleaned and un-cleaned flue gases. Concentrations of metals in incinerator residues have been measured through digestion and analysis of the solids. Indicative data on the volatilisation of different metals and metal compounds in incinerator conditions, including species formed in the furnace, have been studied in the laboratory. Thus a comprehensive picture has been established experimentally of how different metals behave in the furnace environment. Combined with theoretical predictions made in Chapter 4, a unique insight is obtained into how metals behave during waste incineration.

5.1 Use of the CEML to Investigate the Behaviour of Metals in Combustion Systems

The CEML was used to detect vaporisation of metals and metal compounds in a combustion system, using the laboratory furnace described in Chapter 3. These screening experiments served both to check that metals could be detected in a real combustion system using the CEML, and to test preliminary theories about metal volatilisation using a series of different metals and metal compounds. It was also seen that non-volatile metals could react in the furnace to form volatile species, which were subsequently volatilised, indicating that reactions occurring on the burning bed may be significant to metal volatilisation.

5.1.1 Volatilisation of Various Metals and Metal Compounds

Numerous metals and metal compounds were tested for their volatility in the test furnace. According to the data obtained from the literature review (Chapter 2), some of these species were expected to be volatile, while others were not. The data obtained from these laboratory experiments are summarised in Table 56. It must be emphasised that the reactions shown are not supposed to be an exhaustive list of all the possible volatilisation routes possible, but are merely indicative of the sort of compounds which may lead to metal volatilisation in the furnace, adding to the information already available on volatility, reviewed in Chapter 2.

species	mass	boiling point	metal	comments
-1		(°C) (Weast et	seen	
		al., 1988)	in gas	
Al	0.8g	2467	no	as expected
Al_2O_3	1.0g	2980	no	as expected
Ca	0.6g	1484	no	as expected
Cr	0.7g	2672	no	as expected
Cu	0.5g	2567	no	as expected
CuCl ₂	0.2g	993*	yes	slow release seen over several minutes
CuCl	0.2g	1490	yes	more clearly resolved peak seen
Fe	0.2g	2750	no	principal component of probe etc is iron, but iron not
				normally seen during experimental runs
FeCl ₂	0.2g	NA	no	some Fe seen due to furnace flue corrosion
KOH	0.2g	1320	yes	very little seen, not really expected in significant
	-			quantity, and most of material was not volatilised
Mg	0.5g	1107	yes	not really expected, but seen (presumed to be entrained,
-	-			Mg powder was used for this experiment)
NaOH	0.2g	1390	no	as expected
Ni	0.9g	2730	no	as expected
NiCl ₂	0.2g	973*	no	not detected
Pb	2g	1740	по	not detected
PbCl ₂	0.2g	950	yes	significant delay seen between addition and
-	5			volatilisation temperature being reached
Sn	0.6g	2260	no	as expected
SnCl ₂	0.2g	652	yes	as expected
Zn	0.7	907	no	not detected
ZnSO ₄	0.2g	600*	yes	relatively minor peak, due to decomposition of
•	č		-	sulphate?
$ZnCl_2$	0.3g	732	yes	as expected

 Table 56:
 Summary of results obtained for metal volatilisation studies

A typical measured metal emission profiles for an individual experiment is shown in Figure 66. This type of result is typical for the furnace volatilisation experiments, and demonstrates that copper (II) chloride is slightly volatile, being released slowly over several minutes, whereas copper (I) chloride is much more volatile, being released rapidly, and leading to a significant emission peak, which lasts about 3 minutes. This is in contrast to the addition of copper metal to the furnace, which resulted in no measurable copper emission in the flue gas.



Figure 66: The emissions of copper from a laboratory furnace spiked with copper (I) and copper (II) chloride, as measured on the Cu I 324.754 nm emission wavelength

Thus with a series of simple furnace spiking experiments, it was seen that various metal salts could be volatilised in a laboratory furnace, and detected using the CEML. Depending on the material concerned, sometimes the volatilisation was complete, i.e. no solid residue remained (e.g. for mercury, seen in Chapter 3), whereas with others the volatile product was minor, with the majority of the reaction products being solid residues (e.g. for KOH). The results were largely as expected from the existing information on metal volatilisation, though it was found that even in these simple experiments, volatilisation is not straightforward. The emission spike shape and delay after the introduction to the furnace depended on the volatilisation rate, the thermal transfer in the furnace, the volatility of the metal salt concerned, and possibly reactions which lead to non-volatile products. Thus it was inferred that reactivity and kinetics could be important in metal volatilisation, and further studies were made to determine whether reactions in the furnace could also lead to further metal volatilisation. This is the subject of the following section (5.1.2).

5.1.2 Volatile Products from Reactions of Metals in the Combustion System

It has been explained in the literature review (Chapter 2) that the burning bed of an incinerator is a complex reacting system, and that reactions of metals or metal compounds with other species on the burning bed may enhance or suppress volatility. Using the laboratory furnace to provide a combustion environment, and the CEML to monitor gaseous products, studies were conducted into whether reactions could occur between different species on the bed, which would increase or decrease the volatility of certain metal. Again the list of experiments is not exhaustive, but serves to illustrate the sort of reactions which may be important in affecting metal partitioning. In a typical experiment, a non-volatile metal, such as lead or zinc, was placed in the furnace with a compound which could provide an anion, such as chloride. If the metal and anion reacted to produce a volatile product, this was seen in the furnace exhaust. The purposes of individual experiments, and anticipated products were given in Chapter 3, and an overview of the results is given in Table 57.

species	species 2	volatile	comments
1		products	
		seen?	
Sn	HONH ₃ Cl	yes	non-metallic source of HCl, presumed to produce SnCl ₂
Sn	NH4I	yes	source of HI, presumed to form SnI_2
Sn	I_2	yes	source of I_2 presumed to form SnI_2
Sn	S	no	Either Sn does not react, or SnS forms
Sn	PVC	yes	"real" source of HCl in waste, presumed to form SnCl ₂
Sn	PVC + S	yes	Although volatile product is seen, relative magnitude of peak is
			less, suggesting competing reaction with S to form non-volatile
			product
Pb	HONH ₃ Cl	yes	non-metallic source of HCl yields volatile lead compound,
			presumably PbCl ₂
Pb	ZnCl ₂	yes	both Zn and Pb volatilised
Pb	SnCl ₂	yes	Both Sn and Pb volatilised, and some residual Zn
Pb	NiCl ₂	yes	Pb (only) volatilised
Pb	CuCl ₂	yes	Pb volatilised, with a trace of Cu
Al	HONH ₃ Cl	no	some residual Pb volatilised
Al	ZnCl ₂	yes	both Zn and Al volatilised
Al	SnCl ₂	yes	no Al volatilised. Mixture of Sn and residual Pb found in flue gas
Al	NiCl ₂	no	no significant volatilisation
Al	CuCl ₂	yes	significant quantities of Cu released, more than in the absence of Al
Zn	HONH ₃ Cl	yes	significant volatilisation of Zn (presumed to be as ZnCl ₂), residual Pb also volatilised
Zn	SnCl ₂	yes	Zn is major volatile product, some Sn and residual Pb
Zn	NiCl ₂	Yes	Zn is major volatile product, some residual Pb
Zn		Yes	Zn is major volatile product, some Cu, residual Pb
Zn	PbCl ₂	yes	Zn is major volatile product, some Pb

Table 57: Reactants added to the laboratory furnace to assess burning-bed volatilisation reactions

A typical emission profile for a series of furnace reactions is shown in Figure 67. This experiment studied the volatilisation of tin, and it shows that while tin itself is not volatile (hence no tin is seen in the flue gas when tin metal is added to the furnace), tin can react with various halogen sources in the furnace to produce volatile tin products, but that these reactions can be inhibited by sulphur, which does not itself react with tin to form volatile products. It is also shown that waste PVC can act as a suitable source of chlorine for metal volatilisation. Thus the complexity of reaction which may be occurring on the burning bed of a municipal waste incinerator is illustrated, where all these compounds, and far more besides, may be reacting, forming volatile or non-volatile products.



Figure 67: The release of tin in the furnace exhaust following various spiking experiments

Summary

Thus it is seen, from a range of relatively simple experiments, in which solid reagents volatilise or react and volatilise in a furnace environment, that the gaseous products measured using the CEML reveal a complex reaction system. It is seen that reactions can occur in the furnace, promoting or inhibiting the volatility of different metals, and that different metal compounds can interact with one another. The experiments illustrate the range and complexity of reactions which may occur on the burning bed to enhance (or inhibit) metal volatility, but are not intended to be an exhaustive or quantitative study of the factors involved. Thus full calibration of the analytical system was not always required. Instead, the aim was quickly to establish a range of elements and compounds which may be significant in metal volatilisation, and also to establish the success of the CEML in detecting various metals in the flue gas. Where these experiments have also yielded significant information on the volatilisation of particular metals, supporting the thermodynamic predictions made, and the results from experimentation at a municipal solid waste incineration plant, these are referred to in Chapter 6 where the overall findings are summarised for each metal studied.

The experiments indicate that the volatilisation of one metal is dependent on the anions available and other metals present, which may or may not be volatilised themselves. Given the complexity of the system, as demonstrated by the reactions shown, it was determined that the best way to discover more about metal concentrations in the flue gas from municipal waste was to measure them directly, on-site, with the use of the CEML. Nevertheless, these experiments have shown which species may be important in the volatilisation of different metals, which helps to support the findings of the onsite experimentation, along with the thermodynamic predictions of volatility.

5.2 Analysis of solids from a Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator

Two experimental studies were conducted at an industrial municipal solid waste incinerator, which was operating under normal conditions during measurements. The

main focus of these studies was on-line measurements of metal concentrations in flue gas using the CEML. During both studies, and during another site visit, confirmatory samples of solid residues were sampled, to provide further information on the metal concentrations in the system being studied. The results of these analyses are given below.

Samples collected during on-site experimentation were dissolved in a mixture of strong mineral acids (nitric and hydrochloric acid), and analysed for most metals by ICP-OES. Silicates and aluminosilicates were not fully dissolved, so the analysis for silicon cannot be given, and the values indicated for aluminium and calcium may be under-estimates. The analyses of the solids are given in Table 58 (Page 167), although obvious outliers in individual results have been excluded from the summary.

In general, the results of our analysis and independent analysis compare well, although there are the usual differences in quantification for different elements which arise as a result of different analytical methods (sample preparation and analysis), as well as the use of different sample aliquots of an inherently inhomogeneous sample. The effect of sample inhomogeneity is seen if the results for APC residue and bottom ash are compared, with the relative standard deviations for the bottom ash generally being less good than the more uniform APC residue.

Although the relative standard deviations in any one sample set (year) are relatively high, these values (typically <15% for most elements) are quite reasonable figures for the analysis of different samples of the same residues, in some cases collected on different days, and the RSD's for our analysis are not significantly different from those obtained by the independent laboratory. The relative standard deviations are less good when data from three different studies are compared, suggesting systematic changes in the incinerator residue composition on different visits, and possibly changes to the analytical method affecting quantification. However, the overall value of the data is improved by the relatively high number of samples used, and provides a useful crosscheck that the results obtained in this study are in broad agreement with previous work on waste incinerators.

Summary

The data obtained for most elements are generally in good agreement with the available literature on the composition of incinerator residues. These results indicate that the CEML is capable of making quantitative measurements of the metals of interest in normal "liquids analysis" mode, and provides evidence that the incinerator plant was operating normally during the monitoring periods. However, the results do not indicate temporal variations in the system operation, and so the need for continuous monitoring of incinerator gases is seen. Along with continuous monitoring data, these analyses of solid samples help to establish a full picture of the occurrence and distribution of metals in the municipal solid waste incinerator being studied, and to provide verification of the measurements made using our laboratory. The overall findings for distribution of different metals are given individually in Chapter 6.

Table 50. Comparison of average results for the analysis of a number of samples of incinerator residues for metal content in-nouse and by an independent	ependent la	y an indep	ouse and 1	l content in-hous	or metal	esidues for	cinerator	les of	of samp	number o	is of	the analysi	s for	ge results	of averag	parison o	Com	le 58:	Tat
--	-------------	------------	------------	-------------------	----------	-------------	-----------	--------	---------	----------	-------	-------------	-------	------------	-----------	-----------	-----	--------	-----

Sample	Year	Value	Number samples	of Al	As	В	Ba	Ca	Cd	Co	Cr	Cu	Fe	К	Li	Mg	Mn	Na	Ni	Pb	Sb	Si	Sn	v	Zn
APC independent	Residue 2002	Average (PPM)	5	41900	21		720	250800	123		197	679	6640	2085)	10680	468	13150	115	1198		64680	948		6680
APC independent	Residue 2002	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	5	25	46		8 0	7	70		44	15	25	4		16	51	9	126	19		24	55		39
APC Residue	2002	Average (PPM)	7	34894		81	598	220780	103	57	78	914	6896	27191	31	9755	483	22466	110	2705			951	250	7326
APC Residue	2002	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	7	15		13	17	10	14	18	9	4	22	11	8	8	13	7	20	14			12	16	13
APC Residue	2004	Average (PPM)	б	35291	15	72	307	180213	69		7 0	563	7485	18484	39	8042	593	9616	48	1736	197		462	137	6827
APC Residue	2004	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	6	7	6	5	13	6	2		5	7	7	5	3	5	4	4	5	3	10		4	4	3
APC Residue	2005	Average (PPM)	1	22426			505	194355	78	47	85	424	5981	16930) 15	6763	512	9303	25	1387	107		419	112	4139
APC Residue	2005	Relative Standard Deviation of 3 repeats of sample (ppm)	1	1			2	1	2	2	1	3	2	4	7	2	2	1	5	3	5		2	3	1
APC Residue	e All	Average (PPM)	14	34174	15	77	466	201507	86	56	75	728	7097	22727	33	8735	532	16019	77	2196	184		703	192	6884
APC Residue		Relative Standard Deviation (%)	14	15	6	12	35	13	23	18	9	27	16	22	20	14	13	42	49	27	21		38	35	15
Fly ash prior injection	to lime 2004	Average (PPM)	2	37660				129411	38	36	116	351	38194	13663	37	8381	76 0	8490	67	886			1057	98	6663
Fly ash prior injection	to lime 2004	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	2					31	33	30	11	14	31	6	20	5	0	5	13	2			7		4
Fly ash prior injection	to lime 2005	Average (PPM)	5	33378		98	603	140559	32	31	122	368	5475	17375	19	8826	693	7768	40	771	56		324	96	3404
Fly ash prior injection	to lime 2005	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	5	9		9	10	10	5	12	16	16	9	11	9	10	22	12	14	12	17		18	8	16
Fly ash prior	to lime 2005	Relative Standard Deviation of 3 repeats of 1 sample	e	2		2	0	3	3	3	3	1	2	1	1	3	3	0	3	2	8		5	2	3
Fly ash prior	to lime All	Average (PPM)	7	34091		98	603	136843	34	33	120	363	16381	16138	24	8678	712	7974	48	804	56		568	96	4335
Fly ash prior injection	to lime All	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	7	10		9	10	16	19	18	14	14	108	15	39	8	18	11	30	12	17		67	8	38
Bottom	Ash 2002	Average (PPM)	3	58200	22		900	120000	46		211	3688	64400	12467	1	11333	839	9267	118	926	••	165333	3238		4200
laboratory Bottom independent	Ash 2002	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	3	12	16		29	8	23		3	4	28	7		10	8	12	41	14		9	145		19
Bottom Ash	2002	Average (PPM)	6	42743		39	334	72604	32	4	75	1943	54868	4273	15	7091	608	6747	81	1371			1094	191	873
Bottom Ash	2002	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	6	31		45	43	12	40	15	31	66	44	12	24	12	64	21	36	19			142	20	36
Bottom Ash	2004	Average (PPM)	4	42350		67	472	60 7 40	25	40	67	2098	44270	3221	27	5698	785	2490	71	1104			593		2531
Bottom Ash	2004	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	4	65				43		41	36	13	44	7	19	20	35	5	5	23			76		50
Bottom Ash	2005	Average (PPM)	1	125778		91	654	74538		32	55	2934	46998	5645	17		618	3997	71	1117			864	93	2430
Bottom Ash	2005	Relative Standard Deviation of 3 repeats of 1 sample (ppm)	•	2		2	0	3		6	1	3	1	5	3		1	3	6	2			2	3	3
Bottom Ash	All	Average (PPM)	11	42568		49	391	68864	31	21	70	2160	51638	4075	20	6599	673	5195	77	1240			921	186	1973
Bottom Ash	All	Relative Standard Deviation (%)	11	53		58	52	38	50	97	42	54	50	37	45	35	54	52	41	42			128	44	60

Notes: Ag, Be, Tl and Hg were below Limit of Detection throughout the analyses

ratory

5.3 Continuous Measurement of Atmospheric Emissions from a MSW Incinerator

5.3.1 Summary of Data Obtained

Metal concentrations in the emitted cleaned flue gas of a municipal waste incinerator were measured on two occasions. The first study concentrated on metal levels in cleaned gas, and the system was optimised and calibrated for very low concentration measurements. The second study centred on measurements in un-cleaned gas, and limited confirmatory measurements were made in the emitted gas.

Although the results obtained on the two occasions were similar, it is evident that measurements of very low metal concentrations can be optimised when the system is configured for "clean" gas monitoring, rather than using system parameters designed for un-cleaned gas monitoring. This meant that the baseline corrections were much better when the system was optimised for clean gas monitoring, and the low-concentration calibration was also better, which should generally lead to better quantification. However, due to instrument control constraints, it was only possible to monitor a limited number of emission lines during the earlier monitoring of cleaned flue gas, which was completed using an earlier software version. In some cases, the line selected for "clean-gas" monitoring was not the most sensitive, and thus the choice of emission line was revised prior to further work. Therefore it means that for some metals, detection limits obtained for cleaned flue gas were not as low as could be obtained later.

Despite the generally improved measurement parameters in clean gas when the instrument was optimised for this task, measurements of cleaned gas during the uncleaned monitoring had definite value: Firstly, it helped to indicate that the system was essentially giving similar emissions during the two experimental campaigns, which were about 18 months apart. Secondly, it helped to determine realistic instrumental detection limits for measurements in uncleaned gas (see section 5.4.1). Thirdly, it helped to show the direct improvement in pollutant concentration in the flue gas before and after clean-up, as the measurements were directly comparable.

Measured concentrations of all metals in the cleaned flue gases, on either experimental campaign, were found to be extremely low. Some variation was seen in some of the concentration profiles, but for many, the measured signal was essentially at or below the limit of detection throughout, and thus only baseline (zero) fluctuation was observed. Assessment of the accuracy of quantification was made by periodically introducing calibration check standards to the instrument during on-line monitoring, using the ultrasonic nebuliser in the laboratory. These checks are seen in the emission profiles, and are referred to in Table 59.

During the week of monitoring dedicated to emitted gas emissions, nearly 60 hours of data were obtained. The instrument could be operated un-attended, and emissions profiles for periods of over 24 hours could be obtained un-interrupted. For the longer monitoring period, some baseline drift was observed for metals very near zero concentration, although sensitivity was otherwise good. Given that this affects many different elements (not all), it seems likely to be caused by changing USN characteristics, or changing plasma parameters. In the cleaned flue gas measurement campaign, fluctuations were not closely linked to bulk plant conditions. Measured concentration. Individual concentration profiles for different metals are shown in section 5.3.2 - 5.3.21.

Table 22. The many activition will be a concluded on the and capel michan citor in measurements in sufficient inter-	Table 59:	Estimated detection limits	, typical element concentrations and e	experimental error in measurements in emitted flue	gas
--	-----------	----------------------------	--	--	-----

Element	Monitor line (nm)	Detection limit in flue gas [3 σ] (mg m ⁻³)	Maximum variation from average caused by changing carbon dioxide concentration [0- 201(%)	Average metal concentration in un- cleaned gas for a 12 hour period (mg m ⁻³)	Signal variation [relative standard deviation] for a 12 hour period ()	Calibration check error (%)	Estimated error in measured values (%) (empirical estimate from known errors)	Line suitability?
Aluminium	396.152	0.0011	±10	0.0234	1.4	± 50	±50	Sensitivity excellent but qua
Antimony	206.833	0.159	± 20	0.0120	214	±10 for large spikes, smaller not detected	± 100	Sensitivity poor, matrix in during run
Arsenic	189.042	0.361	±100	0.2485	37	±30	±100	No – sensitivity poor, matri
Cadmium	226.503	0.150	±20	0.0033	408	± 20 for large spike, more for smaller	±100 or more	Interference from matrix a poor. However, calibration were it emitted
Calcium	393.366	0.0013	±20	0.0070	108	±20	±25	Yes. However, there may supply, leading to fluctuation
Chromium	283.563	0.0027	-	0.0062	8.2	±10	±10	Yes if true LOD reached
Cobalt	238.892	0.0027	-	0.0208	4.5	±5	±10	Yes if true LOD reached
Copper	324.754	0.0001	±10	0.0006	12.2	±25	±30	Sensitivity excellent but qua
Iron	259.941	0.002	±20	0.0022	45.6	±10	±20	Yes if true LOD reached, so Calcium profile)
Lead	261.418	0.123	±5	0.0272	43.1		NA- detection limit not reached	Yes if LOD was ever rea (sensitivity and matrix prob
Magnesium	285.213	0.0002	±5	0.0010	46.8	± 30 typical	±30	Sensitivity excellent, quanti
Manganese	257.611	0.0056	±20	0.0242	2.01	±30	±30	Yes, though systematic e imperfections
Mercury	253.653	0.112	±10	0.0088	61.8	±40	±50	Interference from matrix However, calibration check emitted, even if quantification
Nickel	341.476	0.0011	±10	0.0097	1.7	\pm 30 typical	±30	Sensitivity excellent, quanti
Potassium	766.491	0.0012	±20	0.0036	39.0	± 30 typical	±30	Sensitivity excellent where matrix changes
Sodium	589.592	0.080	± 20	0.0731	312.	±30	±30	Yes, but measurements near
Thallium	276.787	1.56	±10	0.04	8763	±100+	-	Sensitivity very low, matri LOD not reached, and quan
Tin	242.949	0.043	±5	0.0087	144	±30 for large peaks, more for smaller	-	Poor sensitivity, LOD not better, but peaks would have
Vanadium	309.311	0.0013	±20	0.0011	23.2	±10 for large peaks, more for smaller	±	Yes if true LOD reached, m
Zinc	213.856	Line not sensitive	to Zn, even during calil	bration. Line itself ok, sc	peak selection may have beer	n at fault		

antitative accuracy in variable matrix an issue. Interference very problematic, LOD not obtained

ix interference very high and poor line sensitivity mean quantification is n checks show a peak would easily be detected,

be interference from Ca contamination in water on seen in latter half of profile

antification (calibration) could be better ome interference from matrix change evident (c.f.

ached, but 405nm line would have been better blems)

ification sensitive to matrix changes

error may be introduced through calibration

and low line sensitivity mean LOD is high. ks show a peak would easily be detected, were it ion were imperfect

ification sensitive to matrix changes

LOD reached, but quantification sensitive to

or around LOD

tix interference high. Most of time, theoretical ntification extremely suspect even when it is

t normally reached. 303nm would have been been seen, were they present

natrix variability raises LOD over quoted figure

5.3.2 Aluminium

Figure 68 shows the measured emissions of aluminium in a 24 hour period. Emissions are found to be extremely small, though the emission line is highly sensitive, and the detection limit low. Essentially, there is no significant aluminium detected in the cleaned gas. The sections indicated with red arrows on this, and subsequent figures, are where calibration checks were completed, along with other instrumentation checks. Therefore, the measurements recorded are not of actual metal emissions, and these peaks should be ignored when assessing the atmospheric metal emissions.



Figure 68: Aluminium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 213.856 nm line

5.3.3 Antimony

Figure 69 shows the measured emission profile for antimony. Although some temporal fluctuations are seen, there is significant baseline drift, and the detection limit is high. This, along with the failure to observe the second calibration check standards, suggests that the line is not sufficiently sensitive for measurements in cleaned flue gas, and there appears to be significant matrix interference at low concentrations.



Figure 69: Antimony concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 206.833 nm line

5.3.4 Arsenic

Figure 70 shows the measured emission profile for arsenic. As with antimony, there is significant baseline drift, and sensitivity is low, meaning that detection of small signals is difficult. Most of the variation observed appears to be linked to matrix variation, as it is closely correlated to other profiles (e.g. antimony). However, the absence of any significant spikes suggests that there is very little actual arsenic emission.



Figure 70: Arsenic concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 189.042 nm line

5.3.5 Cadmium

The line monitored in the cleaned gas experiments for cadmium was the 214 nm emission line, which was subsequently replaced by a more sensitive line, with less matrix interference. Thus it is seen in Figure 71 that although the check standards are well quantified, there is significant interference (from oxygen), with high "cadmium" signals frequently coinciding with low oxygen measurements. The measured emissions are all below the theoretical detection limit (which is very high), and baseline drift causes the latter measurements to be recorded as negative values. However, the results do indicate that no significant cadmium peaks are seen, and that emissions are below regulatory limits.



Figure 71: Cadmium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 214.438 nm line

Figure 72 shows cadmium concentrations in cleaned flue gas, as measured during the second experimental campaign, this time measured on the more sensitive 226.503 nm emission line. Recorded results are all slightly negative values, due to the results handling method used, which was optimised for measurement of highly contaminated gases. However, the results do indicate sensitive measurements, but with the absence of any significant analyte peaks, and thus confirm the other clean gas measurements, despite the difference in quantification, which in both cases is a signal varying around the zero position, with the evidence of some systematic drift.



Figure 72: Cadmium concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 226.503 nm line

5.3.6 Calcium

Figure 73 shows the measured concentrations of calcium, when the instrument was optimised for cleaned flue gas measurements. Figure 74 shows measurements of calcium concentration in clean gas when the instrument was being used for un-cleaned flue gas measurements. Direct comparison of the two sets of measurements is difficult, due to the use of different monitor lines for the different work. However, it is clear from the profiles that observable variation in calcium concentration occurs during the monitoring period, and that detection is highly sensitive, as demonstrated by the calibration peaks. While the quantification at near zero concentration is poor when the system is optimised for high contamination levels, measurements optimised for clean gas show good quantification, with low drift, and generally being above the detection limit.



time (hh:mm)

Figure 73: Calcium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 393.366 nm line



Figure 74: Calcium concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 422.673 nm line

5.3.7 Chromium

Figure 75 shows chromium concentrations measured in clean flue gas while the instrument was optimised for such measurements, The profile shows near-zero concentrations of the element, with the calibration checks showing high sensitivity, with detection limits being easily exceeded.



Figure 75: Chromium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 283.563 nm line

5.3.8 Cobalt

As seen in Figure 76, cobalt concentrations are low, and steady, with no significant temporal variation. This metal is effectively not seen in flue gas, and observed variations are due mainly to changing matrix conditions.



Figure 76: Cobalt concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 238.892 nm line

5.3.9 Copper

As with other transition metals measured, the concentration profile for copper (Figure 77) shows that although sensitivity and quantification of calibration standards is good, measured concentrations of copper are extremely low, essentially zero throughout.



Figure 77: Copper concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 324.754 nm line

5.3.10 Iron

As seen in Figure 78, the concentration of iron is extremely low in cleaned flue gas. However, the sensitivity of the emission line is excellent, and temporal variation is discernible. Small amounts of this ubiquitous element are not unexpected (the plant construction is largely of iron, for example), and such concentrations are not of concern.



Figure 78: Iron concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 259.940 nm line

5.3.11 Lead

Figure 79 and Figure 80 show the measured lead emissions. Sensitivity of the line used in the first set of measurements was low, and quantification of the second calibration peak is poor. Once more, there is some systematic drift in measurements optimised for contaminated flue gas. However, both profiles indicate very low lead concentrations, below regulatory limits, and without major temporal variation.



Figure 79: Lead concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 261.418 nm emission line



Figure 80: Lead concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 405.778 nm emission Line

5.3.12 Magnesium

Figure 81 indicates magnesium concentrations measured in cleaned flue gas. Measurements show good sensitivity, and indicate low magnesium concentrations apart from the calibration checks. Nevertheless, some variation is seen in magnesium concentration.



Figure 81: Magnesium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 285.213 nm line

5.3.13 Manganese

Measured concentrations of manganese are shown in Figure 82. Concentrations are extremely low, though sensitivity is excellent. Essentially manganese is not seen in the cleaned flue gas.



Figure 82: Manganese concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 257.610 nm line

5.3.14 Mercury

Measured mercury concentration beyond the bag filters in the monitoring period dedicated to clean-gas monitoring are low, though some baseline drift is observed, as seen in Figure 83. Although concentrations are below the effective limit of detection, due to the low sensitivity of the available emission lines, it is clear that there are no significant mercury peaks, and it suggests that mercury is effectively not seen in the cleaned gas.



Figure 83: Mercury concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 253.652 nm line

In contrast, the emission profile for mercury measured in clean flue gas during the week of monitoring generally dedicated to measurements in un-cleaned gas is shown in Figure 84, after significant efforts were made to improve sensitivity and quantification of this element. This is the only emission profile which shows any significant concentration of metal after the bag filters. The general recorded level is relatively high ($\sim 0.04 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$), though still below regulatory limits, and for a period of about an hour, exceeds emission limits by up to 4 times. In general, these mercury levels are higher than were found in the first measurement campaign, which may reflect improvements in the analytical system in the intervening time, or may reflect differences in the waste charge between the two experiments. It is theoretically possible that the observed mercury peak corresponds to a "memory effect" of mercury in the analytical system following pre-bag filter measurements, but it seems more likely that the signal is a true mercury peak, and that some sort of abnormal waste was burned during the second period of experimentation.



Figure 84: Mercury concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 253.652 nm line

5.3.15 Nickel

Figure 85 shows the measured emissions for nickel. Sensitivity is excellent, with measurements being consistently above detection limit. However, concentrations remain low, and no significant variations are seen; measurements are effectively near-zero throughout.



Figure 85: Nickel concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 341.476 nm line

5.3.16 Potassium

Figure 86 shows the measured emission profile for potassium. Although concentrations are low throughout, measurements are often above the detection limit, and it is clear that some potassium is present in the cleaned gas, though not at a concentration which should cause concern.



Figure 86: Potassium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 766.490 nm line

5.3.17 Sodium

Figure 87 shows the measured concentration of sodium in the cleaned flue gas. Concentrations vary around the limit of detection throughout, and although some metal is clearly present in the gas (as indicated by the small temporal variations in signal), the amount emitted should not be of concern.



Figure 87: Sodium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 589.592 nm line

5.3.18 Thallium

Although an attempt was made to measure a thallium emission line (Figure 88), neither of the calibration check peaks was seen clearly, and it was evident that the line was not sufficiently sensitive for measurements of thallium in the gas phase.



Figure 88: Thallium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 190.864 nm line

5.3.19 Tin

Figure 89 and Figure 90 show measurements of tin in un-cleaned flue gas. The sensitivity of the 242 nm line was found to be relatively low, so the 303 nm line was used in later work. However, both measurements show tin concentrations to be around zero, with no significant temporal variation, despite the sensitivity and precision errors encountered, leading to relatively high detection limits, and "negative" concentration measurements near zero concentration.



Figure 89: Tin concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 242.949 nm line



Figure 90: Tin concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 303.412 nm line

5.3.20 Vanadium

As shown in Figure 91, the measured concentrations of vanadium are extremely small, varying near-zero, and around the limit of detection, despite the excellent sensitivity of the monitor line. Effectively, vanadium was not found in the cleaned flue gas.



Figure 91: Vanadium concentrations in emitted flue gas over a 24 hour period, as measured on the 309.311 nm line

5.3.21 Zinc

Unfortunately, an effective emission line for zinc was not measured accurately during the main measurements of cleaned flue gas. Figure 92 shows the concentrations of zinc found in cleaned flue gas during the period of monitoring which concentrated on uncleaned gas. Despite the now familiar precision problems with near-zero measurements, the results suggest that zinc is not found significantly in the clean gas, and no significant temporal variation is observed.



Figure 92: Zinc concentrations in cleaned flue gas for a 6 hour period, as measured on the 213 nm line

Summary

Data has been presented for numerous elements showing concentrations of metal found in emitted flue gas. While precision and sensitivity is clearly better when the instrument is optimised for clean-gas measurements, all the results suggest that the cleaned gas is essentially free from toxic metal emission. Small amounts of the bulk metals calcium, magnesium, sodium and potassium are observed, and on one occasion a mercury peak is seen, though this was one isolated event in an otherwise "near zero" measurement profile. Effectively, the results show gas clean-up to be entirely satisfactory, and there are no major spikes observed, indeed temporal variation in emission signal is minimal in all cases. If metals are volatilised during combustion, they are effectively removed before atmospheric emission.

5.4 Continuous Measurement of Metal Concentrations in a MSW Incinerator Prior to Gas Clean-up

5.4.1 Summary of data obtained

During the week, about 20 hours of data were collected on metal concentrations in the un-cleaned flue gas, along with about 6 hours of post-flue gas treatment data for comparison. Figure 93 shows typical results obtained for the whole week of on-site monitoring, in this case for lead measured on the 405.778 nm emission line. Measurements in highly polluted, particulate laden gas show high concentrations of volatile metals, and there is significant temporal variation in concentration. However, because of the challenging analytical conditions, measurements could not be made when the instrument was unattended, as frequent checks were required to ensure that the sample line cleanliness and integrity was maintained. Thus it was rare for monitoring to continue uninterrupted for more than two hours, more typically there being a "down-time" of a few minutes every half hour or so, and monitoring could not continue overnight. Thus the data obtained differs significantly in magnitude and volume from those in cleaned gas.



Figure 93: Results obtained for the whole week analytical measurements: Concentration of lead measured on the 405 nm emission line

At three points on Figure 93, the measured "emission" goes off the graph scale. These events correspond to the addition of an on-line standard check. Four general regions of high metal concentration are seen, corresponding to the four days on which on-line monitoring was successfully conducted on flue gas prior to clean-up.

Measurements taken on Wednesday evening and Thursday morning are seen to have much lower analyte concentrations. For this period, the sample line (following thorough cleaning), was transferred to a post bag-filter monitoring location, to measure cleaned, emitted flue gas. About 6 hours of successful data were collected, following several problems re-establishing on-line monitoring. The system had been optimised for pre-bag measurements, and so unfortunately some of the element lines, including the one shown for lead, record "negative concentrations" due to sub-optimal results handling methods. This is because the system was optimised for good quantification of high metal concentrations in the flue gas, rather than for good baseline (near zero) resolution, with changes to the results handling systems (calibration range, way of dealing with matrix CO_2 variation -linear regression or manual correlations). Of course, the condition of the clean-up system may also have altered in the intervening time (age, cleanliness of the bag filters), which will also affect the results.

However, the overall trend is quite clear: the metal concentrations beyond the bag filters are extremely small and without major temporal variation, in stark contrast to measurements made prior to clean-up.

Care should be exercised in interpretation of the data for un-cleaned gas, due to the extremely challenging analytical conditions. For example, in an extended run of several hours, measured values can often be seen to gradually drop through the day, presumably due to particulate fouling of the sampling system, leading to deposition of some of the analytical sample, and so reduced measured values. Nevertheless, the variation observed in the data is far more that is attributable to this source alone.

Due to the known difficulties in establishing accurate measurements in such an environment, the data presented has been carefully checked, and any limitations are stated, and so the results should be taken as semi-quantitative only. Nevertheless, the results are both unique and significant, in the insight which they give into the temporal variation in metal behaviour in the incineration system. The quality is the best available in such a system at the current time. Most of the presented results usually focus on a smaller time-section, so that the detail of unusual emission events, and correlation of emissions to process variables, can be more clearly seen, without complications introduced by longer-term system variations.

Figure 94 shows particularly clearly the observed effect of dropping measured concentrations over a measurement period. On both Tuesday and Wednesday, the general trend in measurements of sodium concentration is to decrease throughout the day, presumably as deposition in the sampling system increases. However, minute-by-minute signal variation is still observed, indicating that the CEML is still successfully monitoring the trends in the emission profile, even if quantification is impeded. Once more the red arrows indicate the addition of a calibration standard.



Figure 94: Results obtained for the whole week analytical measurements: Concentration of sodium on the Na 589.592 nm emission line

Numerous metals were detected in the raw flue gas at high concentrations (1-10 mg m⁻³), some with significant temporal variability. Others were detected simultaneously at concentrations several orders of magnitude lower (0-0.01 mg m⁻³). Some metal concentrations, and their fluctuations could be correlated to some extent with plant (combustion chamber) conditions. Other variations were believed to correspond to changes in the waste feed and local combustion conditions on the burning bed. However, a full mathematical correlation of final metal concentrations to known factors was not possible, nor was really expected, given the complex and heterogeneous nature of the combustion system. The average metal concentration found for numerous different metals, along with an indication of temporal variation, is given in Table 59. Emission profiles for different metals are given in 5.4.2.

Accuracy of Quantification and Detection Limits

Given the variations in measured signals, which are known to be introduced by the changing gas matrix in an industrial combustion system, it is extremely difficult to assess the accuracy of the measurements obtained, and to estimate the true detection limit of the instrument (i.e. the change in signal which is unambiguously due to changing metal concentration, rather than to instrument "noise"). In this situation, a theoretical detection limit from the calibration procedure is hardly a useful indicator of practical detection limit, because it clearly under-estimates the error associated with measurements in the real system (normally in analytical chemistry, the limit of detection is taken to be 2, 3, or 5 times the standard deviation (σ)of the blank signal, as determined during calibration, and quantification in the calibrated range of the instrument is assumed to be accurate to within a few percent).

The rather pragmatic solution proposed for this highly unusual gas matrix, where changing carbon dioxide concentration causes changes in detection limit and instrument sensitivity is therefore as follows. Limited on-line monitoring of cleaned flue gas, beyond the bag filters, was conducted for about 5 hours, and although some small amount of metal may have been present in the cleaned gas, compared with the high

concentrations found in the un-cleaned gas, this effectively represents a blank signal for metal, in the gas matrix in which measurements are made. Detection limits are therefore assumed to be 3σ of the measurements for a 5-hour period in the flue gas, and lead to the detection limits shown in Table 60 (Page 189).

Assessment of the accuracy of quantification was made by periodically introducing calibration check standards to the instrument during on-line monitoring, using the ultrasonic nebuliser in the laboratory. These checks were seen in Figure 93 and Figure 94 amongst others. Account was taken for the signal caused by incinerator metal emissions at the point at which the calibration check was conducted by subtracting the average emitted signal for a 5 minute period either side of the calibration check (excluding the check itself), and the accuracy determined by this method for the measurements made are also given in Table 60 (Page 189). Obviously, this method assesses only the error introduced by the analytical system, not the sampling system, but was the best system available for producing an on-line calibration check.

Given the challenging analytical matrix, these figures are reasonable, and in most cases, measured emissions of volatile metals (certainly during peaks) are well above this detection limit, showing that the analytical system is fit for the intended purpose. Again, the estimated error in the measurements, while not being ideal, is adequate, in order to give a reasonable quantitative indication of metal concentration in the uncleaned flue gas. For a developmental continuous emissions monitor, high accuracy is not normally, expected, with EPA guidelines indicating that a relative accuracy of \pm 20% would be acceptable for cleaned gas (Lemieux et al., 1998).

Data Verification

Given the unique nature of the data obtained by continuous monitoring of highly contaminated flue gas, data verification was not straightforward. On-line calibration checks with aqueous standards introduced in the laboratory were good, but this did not assess the error associated with the sample line (although earlier experiments (section 3.3.3) with mercury injection in a furnace have addressed this to some degree, though not fully resolving issues relating to particulate transport). Ideally, all the results would be cross-checked against the reference method (US EPA method 29), but this was not possible. Nevertheless, the results obtained from this study are in good broad agreement with existing data in the literature, for the analysis of small particulates, and bulk bag-filter residue from waste incineration. These results may be compared by taking the ratio of one volatile metal to another, as shown in Table 61 (Page 190), with lead being used as a reference metal.

Element	Monitor (nm)	line	Detection limit [3 σ] (mg m ⁻³)	Average metal concentration in un- cleaned gas for a 4 hour period (mg m ³)	Signal variation [relative standard deviation] for a 4 hour period (%)	Calibration standard] ¹	n check (%)	[recovery of	Estimated error in measured values (%)	Line good for quantitative measurement?
					Check number	1	2	3	······································	
Aluminium	396.152		0.0205	-0.039	-40.5	100.3	95.8	95.8	± 10	Yes if LOD reached
Antimony	206.833		0.0060	0.009	88.5	112.6	133.4	165.1	$\pm 70^{2}$	No – quantification suspect
Arsenic	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Cadmium	226.503		0.0062	0.014	190.1	82.0	97.7	98.5	$\pm 20^{3}$	Yes
Calcium	422.673		0.0589	0.151	73.3	109.4	100.9	104.0	± 10	Yes
Chromium	283.563		0.0131	-0.046	-8.9	78.5	90.5	92.7	± 25	Possibly if LOD reached
Cobalt	237.862		0.0074	-0.028	-8.3	73.1	88.9	99.4	$\pm 30^{4}$	Possibly if LOD reached
Copper	324.754		0.0057	0.089	34.2	75.3	78.7	7 9.0	± 25	Yes
Iron	259.941		0.0315	0.004	436.2	90.3	89.4	87. 7	± 20	Yes when over LOD
Lead	405.778		0.0126	0.572	32.4	101. 7	97.8	91.7	± 10	Yes
Magnesium	279.553		0.0275	-0.088	-13.8	104.5	94.9	100.1	± 10	Yes if LOD reached
Manganese	257.611		0.0119	-0.041	-8.6	79.3	90.5	106.4	± 20	Yes if LOD reached
Mercury	253.653		0.0143	0.028	17.1	-	76.9	95.5	$\pm 25^{3,4}$	Possibly if LOD reached ⁵
Nickel	221.648		0.0081	-0.009	-142.2	78.2	91.6	97 .0	± 25	Possibly if LOD reached
Potassium	766.491		0.0 766	8.15	32.3	-	112.1	100.1	± 20 ⁴	Yes
Sodium	589.592		0.0438	4.17	28.4	-	104.7	94.4	$\pm 10^{4}$	Yes
Thallium	276.787		0.0130	-0.013	-33.8	85.3	94.7	103.0	± 20	Yes if LOD reached
Tin	303.412		0.0175	0.120	37.1	86.5	95.2	93.4	± 20	Yes
Vanadium	309.311		0.0116	-0.044	-8.12	75.4	85.3	86.6	± 25	Possibly if LOD reached
Zinc	213.856		0.0141	1.20	33.1	85.0	97.2	101.3	± 20	Yes

¹Accounting for metal concentration in flue gas at that time ²Evidently antimony was not accurately quantitatively detected ³Quantification of these elements could have been improved by taking the average of a number of monitored lines, but raw line results are shown here ⁴Poor quantification of the first standard led to overall estimated average falling outside of the desired ±25, but if this standard is excluded, quantification is acceptable. The standard was less well quantified for elements suffering from high "memory effect", as the period of introduction was not long enough to get good stability. ⁵Line suffered poor quantification at high concentration due to saturation, at which point less sensitive 435.835 nm line became better.

element	CEMI.	incinerator	MSW	our APC	comment
QIOINCIIC	un-cleaned	ash	boiler ash	residue	
	flue gas	particulates	before lime	analysis ⁴	
	data ^T	$<2\mu m^2$	injection ³	-	
Al	0	0.165	2.50	15.6	presence of Al clearly size dependent and
					none of data is directly comparable
As	0	0.002	0.002	0.007	good agreement - As found only in trace
_	_				amount in any incinerator waste stream
Ba	0	0.009	0.126	0.212	fair agreement - Ba not found in
					vapour/small particles, but found in
Ca	0.248	0 237	11.0	91.8	CFM and small particulate data in excellent
Ca	0.240	0.237	11.0	71.0	agreement Ca figure in APC residue
					affected by lime injection
Cd	0.0227	0.011	0.024	0.039	good agreement - trace levels of Cd found in
••					all residues (following evaporative transport)
Со	0	0.0001	0.001	0.025	good agreement - Co found only in trace
					amount, probably over-quantified in our solid
					analysis
Cr	0	0.005	0.056	0.034	fair agreement - Cr not found in vapour/small
					particles, but found in significant amount in
~	0.153	0.021	0.0/0	0 222	larger solids
Cu	0.153	0.021	0.009	0.332	experimental plant seems higher than in
					plants examined in the literature, our solids
					and gas data consistent
Fe	0.007	0.093	1.87	3.23	fair agreement - little Fe found in
10					vapour/small particles, but found more in
					larger solid residues
Hg	0.049	-	0.0005	-	not enough data to make comparison
K	14.4	-	1.90	10.4	poor agreement - K transfer in the
					experimental plant seems higher than in
					plants examined in the literature, our solids
	0	0.070	0 521	2 09	and gas data consistent
Mg	0	0.070	0.531	3.98	vanour/small particles but found in
					significant amount in larger solids Our
					solids analysis may be an over-estimate
Mn	0	0.015	0.041	0.24	fair agreement - Mn not found in
14111	Ū	0.010	0.011	••••	vapour/small particles, but found in
					significant amount in larger solids, though
					our solids analysis may be an over-estimate
Na	7.19	1.01	2.09	7.30	poor agreement - Na transfer in the
					experimental plant seems higher than in
					plants examined in the literature, our solids
			1.00	1 00	and gas data consistent
Pb	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	all I by virtue of the comparison
Sb	0.0690	0.025	0.092	0.084	good agreement - trace levels of Sb found in
0	0.200	0.110	0.112	0 3 20	an residues (ronowing evaporative transport)
Sn	0.209	0.110	0.112	0.520	found in all residues (following evanorative
					transport)
7n	2.06	1 24	2.23	3.14	good agreement - significant levels of Zn
4 -11	2.00	·			found in all residues (following evaporative
					transport)

Table 61: Comparison of concentrations of metals found by continuous monitoring of un-cleaned flue gas with analysis of comparable solids (in-house and literature values), standardised with respect to lead

(Table 59)

³ (Belevi and Moench, 2000b)

² (Greenberg et al., 1978)
⁴ (Table 58)

The results are generally in good agreement with one another, given the expected variation from study to study, and the known differences between the materials being compared. Four distinct behaviours are observed. For non-volatile bulk metals. mainly transported by entrainment (e.g. Ca, Fe, Mg), the analysis of vapour and small particulates in un-cleaned flue gas is not directly comparable with the bulk residues, but CEM data for gas and solid analysis compares favourably with data from other sources, giving similar values. For significantly volatile metals, (e.g. Cd, Sn, Zn) the data for gas, small particulates, and solid residues compares well, with all giving similar values. For trace non-volatile metals, (e.g. Ba, Cr, Mn) the data for small particulates and un-cleaned flue gas compares well (with both showing near-zero concentrations of these metals), and our solids data also compares well with literature Finally, for the bulk volatile metals (Na and K, and also Cu), the data values. comparison is less good. Our data indicate that the relative amount of these metals. both in the un-cleaned flue gas and solid residues is unusually high. However, as this trend is common both to our gas monitoring data and solids analysis (which was confirmed by analysis by an independent laboratory - see section 5.2), it is believed that this difference is caused by the specific nature of the plant being studied, which led to greater bulk metal volatilisation, rather than to a significant error in our analytical data. Thus overall it is seen that our data compares with information already available on the incineration process

Emission Profiles for Different Metals

For some volatile metals, a great deal of temporal variation was observed in the concentration-time profiles obtained from monitoring the un-cleaned flue gas, and it was evident that numerous factors were contributing to the overall metal volatilisation process.

However, in discussing the causes of the observed temporal variations in different metals, it was necessary to establish "reference points", of what constituted "normal" metal emission, which included variation due to changing bulk incinerator conditions. In the absence of specific data on the waste input, or local furnace conditions (which it is not normally possible to obtain), it was found that the emission of sodium and potassium could provide just such a reference point. Figure 95 shows the changing concentration profiles for sodium and potassium. Although the magnitudes of the concentrations differ by a factor of about 2, it is seen that for the majority of the time, the two lines overlay remarkably well, indicating that concentrations of the two metals are inter-dependent. Given that both metals are found reasonably evenly distributed in a variety of different wastes, and that their volatilisation is dependent on formation of the metal chloride (discussed elsewhere), it became apparent that the sodium emission profile could provide an indicator of the relative "bulk volatilisation conditions" on the burning bed, and that therefore an assessment of the degree of temporal variation in the emission of other metals could be made by comparison with the sodium profile. This is indicated in Figure 96, which shows that while the normalised potassium signal varies between 0.75 and 1.5 of a sodium concentration, normalised to 1 for each measurement, the lead emission varies between 0.5 and 2, indicating a much higher temporal variation which was not due to bulk incinerator conditions.



Figure 95: Comparison of sodium and potassium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas from municipal waste incineration.



Figure 96: Relative emissions of potassium and lead normalised to the sodium emission profile.

Thus throughout the later examination of the emission profiles of different metals, the normalised sodium profile is used as a point of reference, indicating what "normal" metal emissions arise during those bulk furnace conditions, for an evenly distributed

volatile metal. The measured concentration-time profiles for different metals in uncleaned flue gas are given below, in sections 5.4.2 - 5.4.19.

5.4.2 Aluminium

Figure 97 shows the aluminium concentration profile measured over a 4.5-hour period. There are small periodic fluctuations which are correlated with the plant oxygen level, which are believed to be caused by increased entrainment as air flow in the furnace increases. As well as these peaks there are occasional peaks not connected with any plant changes, or noticeable emissions of other metals, suggesting an unusual volatilisation or entrainment process. Such an event may be linked to the varying waste characteristics, or to unusual localised bed conditions. Thus the concentration profile for aluminium is a particularly interesting one, because although overall metal concentrations are fairly low, significant occasional peaks are seen.



Figure 97: Aluminium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 396.152nm wavelength

5.4.3 Antimony

The concentration profile for antimony in un-cleaned flue gas for a 4 hour period, as measured on the 206.833 nm wavelength, is shown in Figure 98. Concentrations of this metal are fairly high (higher than in cleaned gas), given its low natural abundance, at between 0.0 and 0.2 mg m⁻³. Periodic signal variation with plant oxygen concentration is seen, ranging between 0 and 0.2 mg m⁻³. However, association with plant temperature is not really evident, and it is very interesting that peaks in antimony emission correspond both to high and low points in oxygen level, possibly suggesting both evaporative and entrainment transport routes.



Figure 98: Antimony concentrations for a 4.5 hour period on 20/07/04 as measured on the 206.833nm wavelength

5.4.4 Arsenic

Due to instrumentation problems, measurements of wavelengths in the VUV spectral region were not possible, and as the monitored arsenic line (189.042nm) falls within that region, monitoring of arsenic concentration was not possible.

5.4.5 Cadmium

Concentrations of cadmium in the un-cleaned incinerator flue gas are extremely low, as would be expected for this rare metal. There is some temporal fluctuation, but most of the time concentrations are below the emission limit of 0.05 mg m⁻³. It is unfortunate that some measurements are recorded as negative values, due to the calculation method used. Aside from the fluctuations with furnace oxygen (i.e. air flow) seen for several elements, the concentrations of cadmium are essentially stable, and effectively almost zero. Combustion chamber temperature has no discernible effect.

However, as seen in Figure 99, there are at a number of "emission events", where concentrations are over 0.1 mg m⁻³, more than twice the typical baseline measurement, are recorded. There is no obvious association between these emission events with any particular plant conditions; some occur during high oxygen conditions, others during low oxygen periods. There is no clear correlation with furnace temperature: the emissions do not occur during particularly high furnace temperatures (though one may speculate that the peaks at 10:08 and 10:17 are in fact linked, and would form one continuous peak, had the temperature not fallen to an abnormally low level between these times). During some of the other measurement periods, other similar cadmium peaks are seen, though Figure 99 shows the most frequent and largest peaks. In some of the measured emission profiles, there are no significant peaks for cadmium, with the metal concentration essentially remaining at background level throughout the monitoring period.



Figure 99: Cadmium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 226.503nm wavelength

Given the unusual and potentially significant results observed for cadmium, with most of the significant cadmium peaks seen during one morning of the four days of measurements, it was thought important to ensure that the signals observed were genuine. It was confirmed that the peaks seen on the Cadmium 226nm emission line were also seen on the 228.502 and 361.051nm lines, confirming the presence of cadmium. The spectral scans recorded were manually examined, to confirm that there was nothing unusual happening during the high cadmium emission events. Figure 100 shows a typical scan, with the blue line being a calibration scan with 0.1 ppm Cd (to indicate the presence of the line), the black line showing a typical flue cadmium measurement (a small background of Cd is seen), and the green line showing one of the largest flue cadmium emission events, which occurred on 20/07/04 at 09:50. Cadmium is clearly and unambiguously seen, with no realistic prospect of the signal having been caused by an interference or analytical method error, as the peak wavelength is exactly correct, and the emission is confirmed on multiple cadmium lines.



Figure 100: Emissions at the Cd 228.502nm wavelength during calibration, high cadmium emission, and normal cadmium emission in flue gas.

5.4.6 Calcium

The concentration profile for calcium is shown in Figure 101, as shown on the 422.673nm wavelength. The concentrations measured are fairly low; typically between 0.0 and 0.3 mg m⁻³. The level of calcium in boiler residues tends to be high, but the low measured values here suggests that it is present as particles which are too large to reach the ICP readily. The association of calcium emission with oxygen level is strong, with high calcium nearly always being accompanied by high oxygen (though sometimes there is a slight time mismatch, due to the differing measurement periods on plant and in the lab), confirming theories of entrainment. In general, apart from the cycling with plant oxygen, there is less temporal variation in the calcium profile than for the volatile metals.

However, three peaks are seen on the profile, with calcium levels over 0.5 mg m^{-3} , at 10:17, 10:26, and 11:53.


Figure 101: Calcium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 422.673nm wavelength

5.4.7 Chromium and Cobalt

The measured concentration profiles for chromium and cobalt are shown in Figure 102. Emissions are low (effectively zero, though recorded throughout as slightly negative), and approximately constant. The variation with time closely resembles the variation in plant oxygen (with a 1 minute time lag). It is therefore assumed that the variation observed is due to imperfect background correction for varying bulk gas composition, rather than actual emission variation, and in fact, there is effectively no cobalt in the gas stream at any point, in contrast with most metals examined.



Figure 102: Cobalt and chromium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 237.862nm and 283.563nm wavelengths respectively

Measured chromium emissions are low, and approximately constant. As with cobalt, the variation with time resembles the variation in plant oxygen, without significant exception. Once more it is assumed that the variation observed is due to imperfect background correction for the variation in bulk gas composition, rather than actual emission variation, and that chromium concentrations in the flue gas were effectively zero throughout. The close resemblance of the cobalt and chromium concentration profiles indicate how the observed variation is due more to background correction (zero-signal variation) than to changing metal concentrations.

5.4.8 Copper

The concentration profile for copper, as measured on the 324.754 nm emission line over a 4 hour period, is shown in Figure 103. Concentrations in the gas phase are fairly low, though there is significant temporal variation. Periodic variations are roughly correlated to plant oxygen level, with high copper concentration and high oxygen occurring together (with a slight time lag), implying entrainment. However, there is also limited association with temperature, with low temperatures tending to lead to low levels of copper in the gas phase.



Figure 103: Copper concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 324.754nm wavelength

Possibly the most interesting observation about the copper emission profile is the association with lead and sodium. As shown in Figure 104 - Figure 106, there is some (qualitative) link between lead and copper emissions (bearing in mind unusually high lead emissions between 12:30 and 13:00), and a clear link between sodium and copper emissions. However, the correlation between sodium and lead emissions is much weaker, suggesting that there is a causal link between copper and lead, and copper and sodium, but not directly between sodium and lead.



Figure 104: The relative emissions of lead and copper, normalised with respect to sodium



Figure 105: The relative emissions of sodium and copper, normalised with respect to lead



Figure 106: The relative emissions of sodium and lead, normalised with respect to copper

5.4.9 Iron

The iron concentration profile is shown in Figure 107, as measured for a 4.5 hour period on the 259.941nm emission line. Iron is not particularly volatile, and as a result concentrations are generally fairly low. However, there is significant temporal variation. In addition to the familiar general association with plant oxygen and temperature, it can be seen that when the plant temperature is low for a significant period on either thermocouple, and oxygen concentration is high, for example at 10:13, 11:44 and 13:00, iron emissions are low. The effect of temperature seems particularly high for iron, with emissions falling significantly when either thermocouple

temperature falls below about 850° C. Occasional peaks, seen for example at 12:28, and 13:16, which appear independent of plant variables or other metal emissions, are presumably due to particular sources of iron in the waste, and often seem to be accompanied by low oxygen levels, implying that iron volatility or entrainment is affected by oxidising conditions. Thus the observed profile suggests that metal transport is the result of a combination of entrainment and volatilisation pathways.



Figure 107: Iron concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 259.941nm wavelength

5.4.10 Lead

Typical lead concentrations in flue gas are shown in Figure 108. Compared with the post-bag filter lead levels, the concentrations in the uncleaned gas are very high, typically around $0.5 - 1.0 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$, more than ten times the maximum emission level for atmospheric discharge. As with other volatile metals, correlation can be seen between periods of low temperature and low lead content, and similarly high temperature and high lead content. Again, periodic variations in oxygen concentration and lead concentration are similar.

Compared with sodium, or potassium, lead exhibits greater overall variation in flue gas concentration, with time, on a scale of several minutes to hours. This is seen clearly in Figure 109. For sodium, the emissions between 10:00 and 11:00 and 12:30 and 13:00 overlay well with lead emissions, despite their different relative magnitudes. In contrast, lead emissions are noticeably relatively increased between 13:00 and 13:30, whereas between 12:00 and 12:15, concentrations of lead are particularly low. By contrast, the concentration of sodium or potassium during these four regions is broadly similar.



Figure 108: Lead concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 405.778 nm wavelength



Figure 109: Comparison of sodium and lead concentrations for a 4.5 hour period, showing incomplete correlation

5.4.11 Magnesium and Manganese

The magnesium and manganese concentrations measured in the flue gas fluctuate around zero throughout, with variation observed exactly matching the plant oxygen fluctuation. The manganese profile shows negative measured concentrations throughout measurement, due to imperfect calibration matrix matching, but essentially corresponds to a zero signal. Therefore concentration profiles are not shown, as it is essentially the same as those shown for cobalt and chromium (section 5.4.7). Magnesium is found in APC residue, but the fact that it is not detected here indicates that it is entirely transported by entrainment, in particles too big to reach the ICP.

5.4.12 Mercury

A typical concentration profile for mercury is shown in Figure 110. Although at some points baseline drift is a problem with this element, during this period resolution is good, with emissions varying with plant variables between 0.02 and 0.05 mg m⁻³, so below regulatory limits. Little correlation is observed between measured mercury concentrations and plant variables, apart from the general decrease in signals at 10.15, where plant temperatures are unusually low, which is an observation repeated for most elements.



Figure 110: Mercury concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period on Tuesday, as measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength

Figure 111 shows a different period of measurement of mercury were the emission profile is more eventful. Peaks are seen in the profile at 10:45 and 14:48, the 10:45 peak being much broader than the 14:48 (the peak at 11.30 is a calibration check). Unfortunately there is a gap in the middle of the profile, from 12.36 to 14.11, corresponding to instrument down-time. Where the peaks were seen, the mercury concentration was over the regulatory emission limit of 0.05 mg m⁻³ for a short period. These peaks are confirmed on the 194.236nm line, and are not noticeably associated with any other process or emission events. This is to be expected, as mercury is predicted (by thermodynamics) to be fully volatilised in any normal plant operating conditions.



Figure 111: Mercury concentrations in the un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period on Monday, measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength

Figure 112 shows another region where peaks in mercury concentration are seen, but these peaks are of much larger magnitude than those seen in the previous profile. The peak indicated by the red arrow indicates a calibration check, where a 3.54 mg m⁻³ standard is slightly under-quantified at 2.79 mg m⁻³. This corresponds to 79% of the expected signal, just 1% out of the "acceptable" boundary. There is a period of instrument down time from 13:20 - 13:45, so there is a corresponding gap in the profile.

The peaks in the profile, which are due to mercury from the furnace, are seen to be extremely large – larger than the calibration check - giving high concentrations of mercury in the pre-clean-up flue gas for about 2 hours, with significant peaks within that time. The largest peak concentrations for mercury were almost as large as those for sodium or potassium, the most concentrated metals in the waste stream monitored. Such a result was highly unexpected.

Given the unexpectedly high concentrations observed in this period, a careful crosschecking process was completed, to ensure that these figures were actually due to mercury, and were appropriately quantified. Firstly, reasonable quantification of the calibration check at 2:27 was confirmed, as detailed above. Secondly, the peaks were confirmed on the 194.236nm and 435.832 nm lines, where measured values were found to be similar, with the 435 nm line only being sensitive enough to show these larger peaks, and not some of the smaller ones shown previously.



Figure 112: Mercury concentrations for a 6 hour period on Wednesday, as measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength

Finally, the emission scans of wavelengths near mercury monitor lines were checked, to ensure that measured signals were in fact due to mercury. Figure 113 and Figure 114 show typical scans where signals are seen. Green scan is laboratory calibration blank, black is laboratory calibration 0.1ppm standard, each in matrix of 12% CO₂, 8% O₂ calibration gas. Dark green scan is a flue gas which is approximately blank in Hg, and the blue line is flue gas with high recorded Hg value measured at 14:47 on 19/07/04. Although the scans shown were not the largest peaks seen during the week, the scans during those highest mercury signals were similar (except in magnitude of the measured flue signal), and confirmed that the results were clearly and unambiguously due to mercury from the furnace. Evidence is seen of the shifting spectrum background between the calibration and test conditions, but it is also seen that careful background correction mitigates that potential problem.



Figure 113: Emissions at the Hg 253.653 nm wavelength during calibration, high mercury emission, and normal mercury emission in flue gas.



Figure 114: Emissions at the 194.236nm wavelength during calibration, high cadmium emission, and normal cadmium emission in flue gas.

5.4.13 Nickel

No concentration profile for nickel is shown, as it is essentially the same as those already shown for chromium and cobalt, and various other non-volatile metals. The concentration is a baseline throughout the measurement period, fluctuating about zero. The variation is linked to changes in plant oxygen, being a function of the calculation methods rather than true variation in metal concentration, which is effectively zero throughout. Thus nickel is non-volatile, and is not entrained to any significant extent, and therefore does not have any interesting features from a CEM point of view.

5.4.14 Potassium

The concentration profile for potassium in un-cleaned flue gas is shown in Figure 115, as measured on the 766.491 nm emission line. The concentrations of potassium in the flue gas prior to clean-up are extremely high, with peaks of about 18 mg m⁻³, and minima of about 4 mg m⁻³. Comparison with the sodium profile shows that the concentration profiles are very similar, as explained in section 5.4.1 . However, it should be noted that the profiles are not identical, and cannot be exactly superimposed; though in general, the potassium level is about twice that of sodium. An example of deviation from quantitative comparison between Na and K are the peaks at 9:59 and 12:17 in Figure 95, where the relative amount of sodium is particularly high, and at 10:50, when the relative amount of potassium is high.



Figure 115: Potassium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 766.491 nm wavelength

5.4.15 Sodium

A typical sodium concentration profile for a 4.5 hour period is shown in Figure 116. Measurements were made using the 589.592 nm emission line. There are several breaks in the profile (for example between 10:32 and 10:38) where the analytical system was interrupted to check the sampling integrity. Sodium concentrations are characteristically high, typically between 2 and 8 mg m⁻³, which is in good agreement with the high concentrations of this volatile metal found in APC residues.

There is evident correlation between sodium emissions and both furnace oxygen and temperature, with low temperature and sodium emission generally going together. Typically, the correlation of temperature with sodium can be seen most clearly when both thermocouple measurements are low, and sodium concentrations are correspondingly low. As the temperature rises again, the concentrations of sodium increase once more. Such a motif is most clearly seen at about 10:20 - 10:30. Correlation with plant oxygen is clearly visible, with general variations in sodium and oxygen having approximately the same period, of about 3-5 minutes between peaks. However, this association is neither quantitative nor exactly temporally co-ordinated; generally sodium emissions correspond to, or follow, high oxygen levels.



Figure 116: Sodium concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, measured on the 589.592 nm wavelength

5.4.16 Thallium

The concentration profile for thallium is shown in Figure 117. The concentration fluctuates around zero throughout, with no significant peaks. Slight variations are linked to the oxygen level in the plant, and are a function of the calculation method employed. Effectively, no thallium is detected in the flue gas.



Figure 117: Thallium concentrations for a 4 hour period on 20/07/04 as measured on the 276.787nm wavelength

5.4.17 Tin

The tin emission profile, as measured on the 303.412nm wavelength, for a 4.5 hour period, is shown in Figure 118. Although the concentrations of this metal are relatively low, the temporal variations are large, with the highest concentration peaks being about four times higher than the lowest points. Periodic variations correspond approximately, but not exactly to the plant oxygen concentrations, and there is also an association between low plant temperature and low emissions. In the case of the profile shown, there is a general region of higher average tin concentrations for the first 1.5 hours shown, and lower average tin concentrations for the last 1.5 hours, with a changeover period between. It is assumed that this variation is due to the "availability" of tin in the waste stream.



Figure 118: Tin concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 303.412 nm wavelength

5.4.18 Vanadium

The concentration profile for vanadium is not shown. The variations in concentration correspond to the plant oxygen levels, and are merely a function of the calculation method; the profiles being near-identical to those for nickel, chromium and cobalt.. Thus the measured vanadium levels are approximately constant, and despite a slight background correction error, are effectively zero.

5.4.19 Zinc

The concentration profile for zinc is shown in Figure 119, as measured on the 213.856 nm emission line. The Zn 202.548 nm profile is almost identical, with minimal variation in quantification between the two lines, indicating good analytical precision. Periodic fluctuations are seen, which correspond somewhat to the fluctuations in plant conditions, with concentrations varying between about 0.5 mg m⁻³ and 2.5 mg m⁻³.



Figure 119: Zinc concentrations in un-cleaned flue gas over a 4.5 hour period, as measured on the 213.856 nm line

Figure 120 shows a comparison between the relative concentrations of zinc and sodium, and it is once more seen that general correlation between the concentrations of the two metals is good, particularly for example between 09:30 and 10:30, and again between 13:00 and 14:00. This comparison emphasises the independence of the zinc peaks at 10:40-10:50 and 12:15-12:30 from the emissions of other metals, reinforcing the supposition that they are a result of changing waste feed, rather than plant conditions.



Figure 120: Comparison of sodium and zinc concentrations for a 4.5 hour period.

5.4.20 Summary

Numerous experiments, using both conventional techniques, and state-of-the-art continuous emissions monitoring, have been used to increase the available information on the behaviour of metals during waste incineration. It has been shown that significant temporal variation can be seen for some metals, which can be linked both to changing waste feed, and to changing incinerator conditions. However, it has been shown that flue gas clean-up is consistently effective, with no significant concentration of any metal being detectable for more than a few minutes in the emitted flue gas, with concentrations in the main being temporally stable, and below limits of detection, essentially corresponding to a measurement of zero concentration in the emitted gas.

Chapter Six:

Discussion

The following section combines information obtained on the behaviour of different metals during waste incineration, obtained from a number of experiments and theoretical predictions. The results of continuous monitoring of cleaned and uncleaned flue gas from a full-scale incinerator, the results from municipal waste incinerator solid residues, and the results from laboratory furnace spiking experiments together show how metals partition during incineration, how volatile they are, and how much temporal variation there is in metal concentrations.

The data obtained experimentally has been compared with thermodynamic predictions of metal behaviour during incineration, with good agreement (given the known limitations of each technique, discussed in chapter 5 and 4 respectively), and thus the level of understanding of the processes involved in metal partitioning has increased Overall, the predictions are in excellent general agreement with substantially. experimental data, and the improved treatment of slags in these calculations make predictions considerably more accurate than in earlier thermodynamic studies where volatility tended to be significantly over-predicted, due to the inability to fully consider non-volatile slag products. For some metals, it is seen that there is a link between the concentration of that metal and another; for others, the concentration can be linked to other combustion conditions. For some, the variation is not fully proven, but appears to be related to variations in the waste feed, in some cases corresponding to the combustion of specific metal-containing items. The overall findings for the behaviour of each metal during combustion are given individually, drawing on information from throughout Chapter 4 on thermodynamic predictions, and Chapter 5, the results of experimental studies.

6.1.1 Aluminium

Aluminium is found in significant quantity in both the bottom ash and APC residue from MSW incineration, the concentrations being approximately equal in each. However, aluminium was not found in large concentration in the un-cleaned flue gas, confirming that the majority of this metal found in the fly ash is transported by entrainment, in particles too large to be sampled by the CEML. Occasional small spikes were seen, nevertheless, in the un-cleaned flue gas profile, though no significant spikes were seen in the cleaned gas. It is not clear whether these spikes were caused by an unusual volatilisation process, or by entrainment (for example, of Al₂O₃, either present in the waste, or caused by the oxidation of small pieces of metallic aluminium in the combustion chamber). While small scale furnace studies suggested that aluminium may be volatilised in some limited circumstances, none of the thermodynamic calculations predicted volatilisation of aluminium, with the metal being split between pure solids and slag. In summary, the majority of aluminium is to be found in bottom ash, and no major volatilisation pathways have been found, with limited transfer to the fly ash being mainly by entrainment

6.1.2 Antimony

Due to sensitivity problems with antimony, this metal was not detected reliably in bottom ash samples, and the detection in cleaned flue gas suffered from problems of

interference, again related to poor detection sensitivity. However, antimony was detected in fly ash and APC residue, and in the un-cleaned gases from MSW incineration, at about 0.2 mg m⁻³, a high level considering the low natural abundance of this element. Therefore, our experimental data indicates that volatilisation of antimony is almost complete. The relative concentration of antimony in flue gas, compared with that in bulk fly ash suggests that the majority of transport is evaporative, rather than by entrainment.

Thermodynamic predictions for antimony suggest that complete volatilisation will only occur at higher combustion temperatures, with slag phases and pure solids being important at lower temperatures. When enhanced dissolution of Sb in the slag was permitted, antimony volatilisation was inhibited. Chloride species are not significantly involved in volatilisation, so altering the alkali or chlorine content of the waste has little effect on antimony distribution during incineration. None of the other variables studied had a significant effect on antimony behaviour either. Thus it is seen that although slag formation may inhibit antimony volatilisation (seen for the bulk waste with enhanced slag formation model, and CRT glass), this appears to happen little in practice, hence the failure to detect antimony in bottom ash. In the absence of slag formation, antimony is almost exclusively transferred to the flue gas, though it is removed before atmospheric discharge of the gas.

6.1.3 Arsenic

Experimental data for arsenic was extremely limited. It was detected in incinerator solid residues at the low-ppm level, but sensitivity issues meant that measurements were unreliable, as they were near the detection limit. Similarly, although As was monitored in cleaned flue gas, no specific events were noted in the emission profile. Unfortunately, arsenic was not measured in the un-cleaned flue gas.

Thermodynamic calculations predict arsenic to be primarily found in an oxide-slag melt, with little or no volatilisation. In the absence of reliable experimental data, this is presumed to be the case, though further information on this element would be most helpful.

6.1.4 Cadmium

Cadmium was found at a concentration of about 100-150ppm in fly ash, and around 50ppm in bottom ash. Although not found in significant concentration in cleaned flue gas (partly due to instrument sensitivity and matrix interference issues), significant spikes of cadmium were observed in the cadmium profile in un-cleaned flue gas, with near-zero concentrations being recorded apart from the spikes. The spikes were up to 0.2mg m^{-3} , a high concentration for such a toxic metal, and were of a few minutes duration. The appearance of such spikes was apparently random, and un-correlated to incinerator operating conditions, and the presence of cadmium was confirmed on multiple emission lines by examining the spectral scans recorded by the instrument. It is thought that such spikes would be caused by specific discrete sources of cadmium in the waste, such as a nickel-cadmium battery.

Given that the measured concentration of cadmium in the flue gas and the total gas volume flow rate through the incinerator had been measured, this information could be used to calculate the total mass of the metal present in the flue gas (as vapour or small particulates) to cause the size of peak observed (21):

$$M_m = \sum_{T=0}^{T=1} C_m F_{NTP}$$

Where	Μ	is the total mass of metal accounted for (g) T=0 is the start of the calculation period (s) T=1 is the end of the calculation period (s)
	C_m	is the measured concentration of the analyte in this case and minuml at NITP (ma m^{-3})
and	F	is the flow of gas for this period at NTP ($m^3 s^{-1}$)

An individual peak (as seen in Figure 99 [Page 195]) was calculated to correspond to up to 1g of metal. For a 4 hour monitoring period, the total mass of cadmium accounted for in the flue gas was 4.47g, with 2.63g of this being accounted for during the 6 clearest peaks, over a period of 26 minutes. Thus 59% of the cadmium in the flue gas is accounted for in 11% of the time, indicating that the temporal variation in concentration is highly significant.

It is believed that the most significant source of cadmium in municipal waste will be nickel-cadmium batteries. A typical "AA" size Ni-Cd cell weighs about 25g, and is composed of up to 50% Cd by mass. Therefore, one of the smaller Ni-Cd cells available would contain about 12g of Cd metal. Assuming the quantification of the measurements made is reasonable, this would suggest that only a relatively small proportion of the Cd is volatilised.

General thermodynamic predictions (without enhanced slag dissolution of Cd) suggest that cadmium is completely volatilised above 850°C. However, if CdO is allowed to dissolve in the slag, volatilisation is significantly reduced, except at the highest temperatures. Studies into the effect of changing waste composition do not show any dependence on waste matrix, as volatilisation is always dominant at the temperature studied, without the use of enhanced slag formation models. Nevertheless, volatilisation of cadmium is significantly retarded when specifically considering the equilibrium around a nickel-cadmium battery (just 4% at 1050°C), and at higher oxygen levels, due to the formation of less volatile CdO (compared with Cd, the main volatile species). Given this information, it seems reasonable once more to attribute cadmium peaks in the emissions profile to discrete sources of Cd in the waste, such as Ni-Cd batteries. The near-zero concentration of cadmium apart from these peaks suggests that slag formation may help to minimise Cd volatilisation from more homogeneous Cd sources.

Given that cadmium is found both in bottom ash and fly ash, the data obtained suggests that oxidation of cadmium may be significant, such that although cadmium is found as significant spikes in the un-cleaned flue gas, sufficient material is not volatilised such that cadmium is still found in a measurable (and probably environmentally significant) concentration in the bottom ash. Given the high toxicity of cadmium, the presence of cadmium as spikes of high concentration in flue gas, and presumably in APC residue must be of concern, as occasional high concentration areas are far more likely to be harmful than a lower, uniform concentration in the residue. The most effective way of addressing this problem would be to remove the sources of cadmium from the municipal waste stream prior to incineration: quite simply, if point sources of cadmium in the waste are removed, the problem of cadmium in incinerator

residues is effectively eliminated, and better facilities for alternative disposal of this extremely toxic metal would facilitate this.

6.1.5 Calcium

High concentrations (~12%) of calcium are found both in bottom ash and APC residue (which has had lime added to it). Calcium was observed in the cleaned flue gas at a concentration of up to about 0.05 mgm^{-3} , not a concentration which causes concern, as the element is non-toxic, but a level which indicates that measurements were successful. More calcium was seen in the un-clean gas (up to about 0.2 mgm⁻³, excluding spikes). Occasional spikes were observed in the profile, which were not linked directly to process events, but the general periodic fluctuation in the signal corresponded with the changing oxygen level in the furnace. Given that increased oxygen level will correspond in part to increasing flow of air through the furnace, it is thought that the link is due to increased entrainment at higher flows. Unlike aluminium, it would appear that significant amounts of calcium are entrained at particle sizes which can be analysed by the CEML. The source of the larger spikes (up to about 0.6 mgm⁻³) is unknown, and may be due to entrainment or volatilisation.

Thermodynamic predictions for calcium are that the metal is non volatile in normal combustion, being partitioned between the pure solid and slag phases, irrespective of the variations in input composition. However, the equilibrium calculation for a PVC window profile predicted the formation of CaCl₂ in significant quantity, leading to volatilisation of 3.5% of the Ca at 1050° C, and 100% at 1300° C. Thus a possible explanation is offered for how occasional peaks in the un-cleaned flue gas profile may arise by volatilisation, due to local equilibrium around specific items of waste. However, this has not been proven experimentally, and the possibility of an entrainment "event" cannot be excluded. Nevertheless, the results are extremely interesting, as they demonstrate a possible volatilisation route for a metal which has previously been considered completely non-volatile during waste combustion.

6.1.6 Chromium

Chromium is found at a concentration of about 100-200 ppm in both bottom ash and APC residue. The emission line used for continuous monitoring had excellent sensitivity, and chromium was not observed at significant concentration in either emitted or un-cleaned flue gas, with no spikes being seen in the profile. It is assumed therefore that any chromium found in the APC residue arrives there by entrainment.

Thermodynamic calculations do not predict chromium to be significantly volatile. Although a small amount of CrO_2 is predicted to be volatilised at 1300°C, none of the other variables have an effect on chromium partitioning, and chromium was not an element considered in any of the specific item equilibriums.

Thus chromium is confirmed to be essentially non-volatile, and probably does not present significant concern in the bottom ash, where it is present as an oxide, either as a pure species or dissolved in the slag.

6.1.7 Cobalt

Cobalt is found at about 50ppm in both bottom ash and APC residue. Despite high detection sensitivity, cobalt is not found in significant quantity in cleaned or uncleaned flue gas, and there are no notable features on the profile, except for a tendency to follow oxygen concentration in the un-cleaned gas.

Thermodynamics predict that cobalt could be very slightly volatile at temperatures over 950°C, and high chlorine concentrations could slightly increase volatility, although high oxygen concentrations would inhibit volatilisation. Nevertheless, the majority of cobalt was found as pure solid. Given that intense combustion is likely to cause simultaneous high temperature and low oxygen, this aspect of the prediction is probably not particularly important. Various chlorides of cobalt are implied in transportation, and so consequently high chlorine or low alkali concentration would favour volatilisation, and visa-versa. However, the majority of cobalt is found as pure solid or in the slag, depending on the slag solution model used. Cobalt was not found to be volatile in nickel-cadmium batteries, where it is present as an impurity. However, there was no experimental support for the predicted volatility, and it appears from experiment that cobalt is in fact entirely non-volatile. Enhanced slag formation models for Co in general MSW incineration suggest that slag formation may significantly reduce volatilisation, and the experimental results suggest that this is indeed the case.

6.1.8 Copper

Copper is found at about 3000ppm in bottom ash, and up to 1000 ppm in APC residue. Thus the majority of copper is retained in bottom ash. However, both copper (I) and copper (II) chloride were found to be volatile in a test furnace, and although copper was not found in significant concentration in the cleaned flue gas, it was found in significant concentration $(\sim 0.1 \text{ mgm}^{-3})$ in the un-cleaned gas. Significant fluctuation was seen in the concentration profile with time, which corresponded somewhat, but not exclusively to oxygen concentration (and hence entrainment).

Possibly the most interesting observation about the copper emission profile is the association with other metals. There are some peaks in the copper profile which are in common with other metals, both volatile and non-volatile, including sodium, supporting the fact that copper transport is linked to bulk incinerator properties. However, during comparison of the copper profile with other metals, it was found that the closest association for some parts of the profile was with lead, although this does not correlate well with sodium, indicating the dependence of copper on two other metals, not an interdependence of these two metals. The exact reasons for such an association with lead are not clear, but both metals are primarily predicted to volatilise through chloride formation, with high chlorine or low alkali favouring volatilisation. Although no "specific items" containing both elements were considered, both electronic items and plumbing waste tend to contain both, and a chlorine-limited equilibrium could possibly lead to the observed results.

6.1.9 Iron

Iron is present at about 6000-7000 ppm in APC residue, and about 5-6% in bottom ash, meaning that the majority of the iron is not volatilised during incineration. However, as incinerator components are made of iron containing materials, outliers are sometimes seen in APC and fly ash values, due to contamination with incinerator oxidised construction material. Iron can be seen in the emitted flue gas, but is not found at high concentration. In contrast, it is found at up to 0.1 mgm⁻³ in un-cleaned gas, relatively high for a metal which is generally considered non-volatile. There is significant temporal variation in the concentration profile, with several spikes, which are not readily correlated to incinerator operating conditions. These events could be linked to boiler corrosion events, which remove ferrous material from which the

incineration plant is constructed. Other metal salts, such as V2O5, ZnCl2 and PbCl2 have been linked to such corrosion phenomena (Daniel et al., 1988, Bryers, 1968, Bryers, 1996).

Thermodynamic predictions do not suggest volatility of iron in general MSW incineration, irrespective of changes in operating conditions or waste composition. Iron does not participate significantly in slag formation, and is present mainly as pure solids. Calculation of the equilibrium around a zinc-carbon battery, however, does suggest volatilisation of a small amount (0.2%) of the iron (in the casing) at 1300°C, as iron (II) and (III) chloride.

It is not certain whether the observed spikes in concentration in un-cleaned flue gas are caused by the volatilisation or entrainment of iron. However, unique predictions of equilibrium around specific items in the waste stream suggest a possible volatilisation route, which would not normally be considered.

6.1.10 Lead

Lead is found at about 1000ppm in bottom ash, and 1000-2000ppm in fly ash. Experiments with a laboratory furnace showed lead to be non-volatile, while lead(II) chloride was easily volatilised (although evidence from lead smelters indicates that the metal itself can be volatile). Further furnace studies showed that lead could be volatilised by other metal chlorides, such as zinc or tin, showing that lead chloride formation was highly favoured. Fortunately, lead is not seen in significant quantity in cleaned flue gas, it not being apparent whether observed variation is due to signal variation or background noise. However, lead concentrations in the un-cleaned gas are extremely high (up to 1.5 mgm⁻³), and exhibit significant temporal variation, which is not directly linked to plant operating conditions.

Compared with sodium, for which transfer to the gas stream is linked strongly to bulk plant conditions, lead exhibits greater overall variation in flue gas concentration, with time, on a scale of several minutes to hours. For sodium, the average emissions over any half-hour period are broadly similar, whereas for lead, some are noticeably higher than others

Using sodium and potassium as "reference" metals, whose concentration in the uncleaned flue gas is attributed almost entirely to bulk plant conditions, the long-term variations in lead are interesting. The short-term variations correlate well with sodium and potassium plots, indicating dependence on bulk plant conditions. However, the longer-term temporal variations in lead, with general regions of "higher" or "lower" relative lead concentration, typically lasting around 30 minutes, must be presumed to be due to variation in lead in the feed waste, with wastes with both relatively high and relatively low lead content being fed during the monitoring period. As for most other toxic heavy metals, the majority of the lead in MSW is found a relatively small proportion of the waste, and the implication of the variation observed is that better separation of lead-containing wastes could significantly reduce the concentration of lead in incinerator residues.

Thermodynamic predictions are that lead (as lead II chloride and PbO) is highly volatile in typical municipal waste, although strangely, volatility is higher at low temperatures, as slag formation at higher temperatures inhibits volatilisation. The equilibrium is affected by chlorine and alkali concentration, and a little by oxygen and water concentration, though not by sulphur concentration. Although lead is completely volatilised from isolated PVC combustion (if it contains lead), slag formation inhibits lead volatilisation from CRT glass, so although volatilisation still occurs, some remains in slag. Similarly, the volatilisation of lead from isolated solder is reduced at low temperatures, although in this case slag formation is not predicted.

Thus it is seen that although lead is largely volatile, it is not exclusively transferred to the flue gas and APC residue. Again, thermodynamic predictions of local equilibria around specific items in the waste offer explanations as to why this may be.

6.1.11 Magnesium

Magnesium is found in similar concentrations in bottom ash and APC residue, at around 10000 ppm. It is not seen in significant quantity in un-cleaned or emitted flue gas, implying it is mainly transported by entrainment.

This supposition is supported by the thermodynamic calculations, which do not predict the volatilisation of magnesium in any circumstances, although it should be noted that this element did not feature in any of the "local equilibrium" calculations.

6.1.12 Manganese

Manganese is found at concentrations of 600-700 ppm in bottom ash, and 500-600 in APC residue. It was not found in significant concentration in cleaned or un-cleaned flue gas, and no significant temporal variations were observed, hence it is assumed that any transfer to the flue gas is by entrainment.

Thermodynamic equilibriums show that manganese is essentially non-volatile, though a little volatilisation (<1%) of $MnCl_2$ is predicted, with a dependence on chlorine and alkali concentration. Manganese remained mainly non-volatile in "specific item" equilibrium calculations, although the amount of volatilisation increased slightly in the case of a zinc-carbon battery. However, the main finding for this metal is that manganese is not significantly volatile.

6.1.13 Mercury

Thermodynamic calculations always predict 100% volatilisation for mercury, and as it was not detected in bottom ash, this prediction has not been questioned. However, due to the analytical procedures involved (the heated extraction process), neither was mercury found in the solid residues.

However, mercury was found in significant concentration in un-cleaned flue gas, with the emission pattern resembling that of cadmium. Once more, it is thought that specific items in the waste would lead to these emissions, which were confirmed by examination of the spectral scans of multiple mercury emission lines.

For one part of the measurement period, mercury levels in the emitted gas were found to be high, but this spike was not of significant duration, and is believed to be a "oneoff" event.

However, a major spike (8 mgm⁻³) of mercury was observed in the un-cleaned flue gas. This spike was far higher than anticipated, and although it was unambiguously identified as being mercury, the question arose as to the source of such a large mercury source. The result of calculation of the amount of mercury required in the waste feed to produce that emission event (as for cadmium in section 6.1.4) was that about 90g of mercury must have entered the furnace to cause the emissions, which lasted about and hour and a half.

Obviously there must have been a significant point source of mercury in the waste feed, either several thermometers, a mercury barometer, or similar. Such an item in the feed is possible, but is unlikely to be frequent, and it is just coincidence that such an event happened during the monitoring period. Although caution should be exercised when interpreting the quantification of such large signals (over the highest calibration standard measured), particularly for an element with such a notorious "memory effect" in analytical systems, it is quite certain that an unusual event in the mercury concentration profile was observed by continuous monitoring, and is attributed to a specific source of the metal in the feed waste. Once more, the need for improved management of such toxic waste materials is highlighted. Better public information and more readily available alternatives to putting hazardous items in with general waste could have a significant impact on such undesirable events.

6.1.14 Nickel

Nickel is found at a concentration of about 50ppm in both bottom ash and APC residue, but is not measured in significant concentration in cleaned or un-cleaned flue gas, despite being monitored on a highly sensitive emission line. Thus it is seen that nickel is non-volatile, with any transfer to the flue gas being by entrainment.

Equilibrium calculations predict that nickel will be slightly volatile (~1%), with a dependence on chlorine concentration, and also alkali concentration as a result. However, there is no prediction of volatility for nickel in a nickel-cadmium battery. Thus it is seen how local conditions may lower the volatility to meet observations, as well as raising it, as has been seen for other metals

6.1.15 Potassium

Potassium is a volatile metal, being found at a concentration of about 2.5% in APC residue, and about 0.4% in bottom ash. Potassium is found in high concentration in un-cleaned flue gas (5-15 mgm⁻³), and significant temporal variation is observed. However, it is effectively removed from the flue gas during clean-up, leaving a small though detectable concentration.

Potassium concentrations in the un-cleaned flue gas are closely correlated to sodium concentrations, and it is thought that both are linked to plant operating conditions (temperature and oxygen). A full explanation for such close correlation between the concentrations of the two metals has yet to be found, though the general properties of these two group 1 metals tend to be very similar, although it should be noted that the ratio of Na:K in the flue gas is not simply a function of their relative concentrations in the waste, but also of their thermodynamic properties.

Potassium is predicted to be volatilised between 0.3 and 76% in typical municipal waste, depending on the temperature. Changing alkali or chlorine content can alter that figure by about 10%, though the effect of other variables examined is smaller, though noticeable. Equilibrium around an alkali or nickel-cadmium battery exhibits greater volatilisation of potassium, while slag formation in CRT glass reduces volatilisation almost to zero.

Thus it is seen that volatilisation of potassium is highly dependent on combustion conditions, explaining the variability seen in the concentration of the metal in the uncleaned gas.

6.1.16 Sodium

Sodium is found at a concentration of about 1-3% in APC residue, and less than 0.5% in bottom ash. Given that about 10 times more bottom ash is produced than APC residue, this would correspond to about 20% volatilisation of Na. Concentrations in the un-cleaned gas vary significantly over time, and are thought to link to bulk operation conditions, as explained above for potassium. It is also assumed that changing waste feed will affect sodium content in the waste, and hence the concentration in the flue gas.

Although sodium is found in significant concentration in un-cleaned flue gas (6-10 mg m^{-3}), it is effectively removed from the cleaned gas, leaving a concentration at or about the limit of detection.

Thermodynamic predictions are that up to about 10% of Na is volatilised, with temperature and chlorine having a significant effect. However, sodium is an effective slag-forming element, and this reduces volatility, as seen for the equilibrium for CRT glass. In general, the results of thermodynamic prediction are in good agreement with the experimental data, when taking into account the fact that some entrainment will also occur.

6.1.17 Thallium

Thallium was not detected, either in solid residues, or in flue gas, mainly due to the poor sensitivity of this element in ICP-OES analysis. However, the lines were monitored, and had there been significant thallium peaks, no doubt they would have been detected. Thallium was not included in the thermodynamic predictions, due to the scarcity of data for this element, and so little more has been learnt about its behaviour. However, the available indications are that it is not present in high concentration in the incinerator at any point.

6.1.18 Tin

Tin is found at concentrations of about 500ppm in APC residue, and up to 1000ppm in bottom ash, implying that the majority of tin is not volatilised during MSW incineration. Although tin is not found in significant concentration in clean flue gas, it is found at up to 0.2 mgm⁻³ in un-cleaned gas, with significant temporal variation, largely associated with plant oxygen level (and hence transport by entrainment).

Thermodynamic calculations do not predict tin to be volatile, except at the highest combustion temperatures (1300°C), with volatility being further reduced when the enhanced slag solution model for general MSW incineration was used. At the temperatures considered, altering the waste composition did not affect the equilibrium position, and tin remained non volatile. Neither was tin significantly volatilised in the equilibrium around lead solder. It is therefore assumed that tin volatilisation is caused by hot-spots on the burning bed, hence correlation with peaks for other volatile metals in the un-cleaned gas. The link to plant oxygen also suggests that entrainment is important for this metal. However, laboratory furnace experiments that tin could be volatilised in specific conditions in the presence of chlorine, with the reaction being inhibited by sulphur. This phenomenon was not supported by the thermodynamic calculations made, but again serves to illustrate how local conditions may affect the overall volatilisation of a metal.

6.1.19 Vanadium

Vanadium is found at a concentration of about 200ppm both in bottom ash and APC residue, meaning that the majority of this element is not volatilised. It was not found in significant concentration in either the cleaned or un-cleaned flue gas, though measurement sensitivity was excellent. Thus the non-volatility of vanadium is supported by all measurements made. Vanadium was not included in the thermodynamic predictions, due to data availability, and the understanding that vanadium was generally "non-volatile" in any case. The work here confirms this supposition.

6.1.20 Zinc

Zinc is found at a concentration of about 0.7% in bottom ash, and 0.2% in APC residue. Although the metal is significantly volatilised, the majority of it is still found in bottom ash. Although measurements of zinc in cleaned flue gas were limited, available measurements indicate that, along with all other metals (with the possible exception of mercury), zinc is effectively removed from the cleaned gas. However, zinc is found in significant quantity in the un-cleaned gas (up to 0.2 mgm⁻³), and there is significant temporal variation, linked with plant oxygen, and also correlating to the concentration of sodium and other metals. Thus it appears that both entrainment, and bulk incinerator operating conditions (such as temperature) may affect metal concentration in the un-cleaned gas.

Thermodynamic calculations predict that about 5-10% of zinc is volatilised under normal waste combustion conditions, but this proportion increases substantially with increasing chlorine or decreasing alkali, reflecting the importance of chlorine in volatilisation. The temperature dependence is less significant, as are other variables examined for the waste feed, although they do have some effect. Equilibrium predictions for specific items in the waste stream show that zinc volatility is suppressed in alkali battery combustion, where chlorine is used in KCl formation, but is enhanced in zinc carbon battery combustion, where large amounts of ZnCl₂ form. Such predictions are supported by small scale furnace reactions, where it is seen that NiCl₂, PbCl₂, and CuCl₂ all enhance zinc volatility.

Thus the thermodynamic predictions and experimental data are in good qualitative agreement, and once more it is seen how important local equilibrium may be in determining metal partitioning.

6.2 Summary

Numerous experiments, using both conventional techniques, and state-of-the-art continuous emissions monitoring, have been used to increase the available information on the behaviour of metals during waste incineration. It has been shown that significant temporal variation can be seen for some metals, which can be linked both to changing waste feed, and to changing incinerator conditions, both local, and for the system as a whole. Sophisticated thermodynamic equilibrium predictions have shown that changing plant conditions can have a significant effect on metal volatilisation, and predictions of local equilibrium around specific items in the waste have shown how inhomogeneity in the waste feed could lead to spikes in metal volatilisation. However,

it has been shown that flue gas clean-up is consistently effective, with no significant concentration of any metal being detectable for more than a few minutes in the emitted flue gas, with concentrations in the main being temporally stable, and below limits of detection, essentially corresponding to a measurement of zero concentration.

Although new and interesting measurements have been obtained, they are nevertheless in good agreement with what is already known about incineration of waste. However, temporally resolved measurements have shown just how much variation occurs on a minute-by-minute basis. Careful consideration of equilibrium both of the whole system, and locally around specific items on the burning bed have demonstrated why this may be so, and so new insights have been gained into how metals behave during incineration.

Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work

7.1 Conclusions

This thesis has described the successful systematic investigation into the behaviour of metals in municipal waste incineration. Unique information has been obtained on temporal changes in metal concentrations in incinerator flue gas, using an analytical system specially developed for that purpose. Experimental evidence has been compared with state-of-the-art thermodynamic predictions, which have largely accounted qualitatively for the observed behaviours. The following conclusions can be drawn from this research:

- Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory Development:
 - A new mobile analytical system, based on conventional ICP-OES analysis has been developed to enable the study of metal concentrations in a difficult and changeable flue gas matrix.
 - The capability of the instrument has been demonstrated through laboratory experiments, and in an industrial environment, using the flue gases from a municipal waste incinerator, both before and after gas clean-up.
 - The CEML has been shown to work accurately, to a high degree of sensitivity, for numerous elements, despite the changing sample matrix.
 - The system was shown to be robust and adaptable. Not only has it been used for the analysis of conventional liquid samples, but it has also been used in an industrial setting to monitor both highly contaminated uncleaned flue gas, where less robust systems would have struggled to make measurements at all, and to monitor cleaned gases, where a high degree of sensitivity was required.
- Continuous monitoring of metal concentrations in flue gas from municipal solid waste incineration:
 - The CEML has been used to make unique measurements of the concentration of various metals in the flue gas from a municipal waste incinerator, both before and after gas clean-up. Success in sampling a heavily dust-laden stream represents an important step forward in diagnostic technology.
 - Measurements of emitted flue gas have demonstrated the efficacy of the flue gas clean-up system in removing metal pollutant spikes. The emitted flue gas is essentially free from almost all metallic contamination, with the exception of occasional small amounts mercury, which nevertheless falls well within legislative limits overall.
 - Measurements of un-cleaned flue gas have proven the existence of metal pollutant spikes, which can be related to changing combustion conditions, and changing waste input. Therefore, changing waste disposal practice for certain key items could significantly reduce the problem caused by heavy metals during MSW incineration.

- Thermodynamic modelling of metal volatilisation and condensation during waste combustion:
 - A detailed calculation has been made using one of the most sophisticated packages available, in order to predict the products from combustion of all the typical constituents of municipal solid waste in equilibrium with one another.
 - A series of calculations produced a sensitivity study to assess which variables in waste feed composition and combustion conditions had the largest effect on the thermodynamic equilibrium. Combustion temperature and chlorine and alkali content of the waste were found to be most significant. It was seen that the nature of the slag formation model used had a critical effect on the distribution of some heavy metals, although data availability meant that the choice of model was not straightforward, and the assumptions required to obtain dissolution were significant.
 - Unique calculations have considered the equilibrium around specific metal-containing items of waste in a combustion gas matrix. These have shown how local non-equilibrium conditions, caused by waste inhomogeneity may have a significant effect on metal partitioning, either enhancing or suppressing metal volatility.

Data from continuous emissions monitoring of an operational incinerator, laboratory combustion tests, thermodynamic modelling, and conventional chemical analysis were combined to provide new insights into the behaviour of metals during waste combustion. Unique measurements of metal concentration have been made in the harshest of environments; the particulate-laden, changing composition matrix of flue gas from a commercial municipal waste incinerator. The study as a whole has provided new information, leading to an overview of the metal concentrations in incinerator flue gas and solid incinerator residues, how they are determined, and how they vary over time. This represents a significant advance in our understanding of such complex combustion systems.

The results show quite clearly that significant spikes of some toxic heavy metals, such as lead, cadmium, and mercury are caused by the presence of relatively small specific items in the waste, for example nickel-cadmium and lead-acid batteries. Better public education and improved availability of alternative disposal routes for such items could have a major effect in reducing the presence of these metals in MSW incineration, and so reduce the environmental burden caused by the incineration process substantially, at relatively low cost, and without significant technological requirements. Nevertheless, measurements have provided reassurance that metal emissions to atmosphere remain well within safe regulatory limits. Thus the work is both of benefit to the combustion science and technology community, and to the wider public, demonstrating not only that the combustion process is already well controlled and operating safely, but also how simple changes to waste handling procedures could bring environmental benefits for everyone.

7.2 Recommendations for Future Work

The work completed has demonstrated the viability of continuous measurement of metal concentrations in gas streams from industrial processes, and shown how these can give new and valuable information about such systems. The use of thermodynamic modelling techniques to examine equilibrium in waste combustion, including variable sensitivity studies, has shown how metals typically behave during incineration. Consideration of local equilibrium around specific items has shown how unusual partitioning behaviour may arise from local equilibrium conditions, due to waste inhomogeneity. However, as these are some of the first investigations of their kind in such demanding situations, there is considerable potential to improve the quality and extent of the information obtained, and to extend the applications of the techniques to other systems. The following points have been identified which would benefit from further work, following this initial investigation:

- Development of the CEML:
 - Refine the primary sampling system for highly contaminated gases, to reduce drift caused by deposition, and decrease instrument down-time.
 - Complete full verification of the quantification of results, by comparison with the EPA standard method 29.
 - Extend the elemental capabilities of the detection and calibration system, to include detection of anions such as sulphur, and halogens, as well as metals/metalloids, whose detection has proved difficult to date.
 - Improve the automation of the analytical procedure in order to reduce operator dependence, and improve viability as a long-term unsupervised emissions monitor.
 - Improve the detection of larger particles which must currently be excluded from analysis. This may possibly be achieved by using a laser ablation system to break up the large particles, in a preliminary stage before ICP-OES analysis.
- Thermodynamic modelling:
 - The ability to obtain good thermodynamic results is limited by data availability, particularly for complex slag solution melts. Extending multi-element slag models, particularly for chlorine, carbonate, and other melt-forming species would improve model accuracy, and would thus be of great benefit.
 - Results obtained using new approaches of "local equilibrium" to consider the effects of inhomogeneity in a system have proved most successful on a qualitative level. Further quantitative validation of such models would be of value, as would extension to further "specific items", and possibly to other inhomogeneous systems where thermodynamic equilibrium calculations would be of use.
- Investigation of the behaviour of metals in municipal waste incineration:
 - Combine the use of the CEML for stack gas monitoring with a detailed study of the input to an incinerator, so that emissions can be better linked to waste feed characteristics.
 - Use the CEML at one of the large scale research-equipped municipal waste incinerators, where the information available on the conditions in the furnace are more detailed, in order to better correlate plant conditions to metal emissions.

- Utilisation of the techniques developed:
 - Further, longer term monitoring of metal release during waste incineration would be of value, to see longer-term trends and possible seasonal variation.
 - The CEML should be fully capable of making measurements of metals in other industrial processes which release metals (e.g. electricity generation by coal combustion, metal extraction and processing, biofuel combustion, hazardous waste incineration). Use of the laboratory to study such processes could lead to new information on metal emission, which may lead to strategies to help to reduce emissions.
 - The CEML could be used with a laboratory burner, to validate the predictions for equilibrium around specific items in the municipal waste stream.
- Extension and coupling to new techniques:
 - There is substantial potential to use the CEML in conjunction with other analytical techniques, to provide even more detailed and valuable information on combustion by-products:
 - Use of the CEML with sophisticated particle size-separating instrumentation (Andersen samplers), along with detailed study of selected particulates and deposition on their surfaces by electron microscopy and x-ray analysis, to gain characterised size distribution data. This should allow differentiation between particles arising from entrainment and from evaporation/condensation mechanisms.
 - Use of the CEML and other technologies for the identification and characterisation of the nanometre and sub-nanometre particles recently identified in biomass combustion gases.

Thus it is seen that although the value of the study into the behaviour of metals in municipal waste incineration has already been clearly demonstrated, there is still the potential for considerable further study, both of metal pollutants in municipal waste incineration, and of other metal-releasing processes. Indeed, the list of possible further work is not exhaustive, and possible future applications extend well beyond those which it is possible to detail here, due to the highly successful nature of the techniques developed, and applied to this specific situation. Abanades, S., Flamant, G. and Gauthier, D., 2001. Modelling of heavy meal vaporisation from a mineral matrix. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 88, 75-94.

Abanades, S., Gauthier, D., Flamant, G. and Trassy, C., 2003. On-line heavy metal analysis in the fumes from a laboratory fluid-bed incinerator. Combustion Science and Technology, 175, 759-774.

Abbas, T., Godoy, S., Hassan, S. and Lockwood, F. C., 1996. The effects of extraneous metal oxides and chlorides on the partitioning of toxic metals in the flames of a pulverised waste fuel. Combustion Science and Technology, 121, 281-298.

Anonymous, 2003. University of Tennessee website, as accessed on 12/5/2003, <u>http://csep10.phys.utk.edu/astr162/lect/light/absorption.html</u>.

Argent, B. B., 2004. Thermodynamic predictions of equilibrium. Private communications between student and supervisor.

Atkins, P., 1994. Physical Chemistry (5th Edition), Oxford University Press.

Backreedy, R. I., Jones, J. M., Pourkashanian, M. and Williams, A., 2003. Modelling the reaction of oxygen with coal and biomass chars. Proceedings of the Combustion Institute, 29, 415-421.

Baldwin, D. P., Zamzow, D. S. and Dsilva, A. P., 1995. Detection Limits for Hazardous and Radioactive Elements in Airborne Aerosols Using Inductively-Coupled Air Plasma-Atomic Emission-Spectrometry. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 45, 789-791.

Barton, R. G., Clark, W. D. and Seeker, W. R., 1990. Fate of Metals in Waste Combustion Systems. Combustion Science and Technology, 74, 327-342.

BCURA, 1996, (British Coal Utilisation Research Association) Flue gas dust sampling equipment (purchased in 1996); operating instructions, Airflow Developments Corporation.

Beauchemin, D., 2002. Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, 74, 2873-2893.

Belevi, H. and Moench, H., 2000a. Factors determining the element behaviour in municipal solid waste incinerators. 2. Laboratory experiments. Environmental Science & Technology, 34, 2507-2512.

Belevi, H. and Moench, H., 2000b. Factors determining the element behaviour in municipal solid waste incinerators. 1. Field studies. Environmental Science & Technology, 34, 2501-2506.

Berg, R., 2003 Hydrogen energy levels, University of Maryland Website, as accessed on 12/5/2003,

http://www.physics.umd.edu/deptinfo/facilities/lecdem/honr228q/notes/henlevels.gif.

British Standard 1756, 1971. Methods for the sampling and analysis of flue gas. BS1756: Part 1.

British Standard 3405, 1983. Measurement of particulate emission including grit and dust (simplified method).

British Standard EN13657:2001, 2001. Characterisation of waste - Digestion for subsequent determination of aqua regia soluble portion of elements.

Brunner, P. H. and Monch, H., 1986. The Flux of Metals through Municipal Solid-Waste Incinerators. Waste Management & Research, 4, 105-119.

Bryers, R., Kerekes, Z, 1968 In Recent experience with ash deposits in refuse-fired boilers, Vol. the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York.

Bryers, R. W., 1996. Fireside slagging, fouling, and high-temperature corrosion of heat-transfer surface due to impurities in steam-raising fuels. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, 22, 29-120.

Buckley, S. G., Johnsen, H. A., Hencken, K. R. and Hahn, D. W., 2000. Implementation of laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy as a continuous emissions monitor for toxic metals. Waste Management, 20, 455-462.

Chang, M. B., Huang, C. K., Wu, H. T., Lin, J. J. and Chang, S. H., 2000a. Characteristics of heavy metals on particles with different sizes from municipal solid waste incineration. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 79, 229-239.

Chang, M. B., Wu, H. T. and Huang, C. K., 2000b. Evaluation on speciation and removal efficiencies of mercury from municipal solid waste incinerators in Taiwan. Science of the Total Environment, 246, 165-173.

Chemsage, 2005 Chemsage website, as accessed on 25/05/2005, <u>http://gttserv.lth.rwth-aachen.de/~sp/tt/chemsage/cs_bro.htm</u>, GTT technologies, 52134 Herzogenrath, Germany.

Chen, J. C., Wey, M. Y. and Liu, Z. S., 2001. Adsorption mechanism of heavy metals on sorbents during incineration. Journal of Environmental Engineering-Asce, 127, 63-69.

Chen, J. C., Wey, M. Y. and Yan, M. H., 1997. Theoretical and experimental study of metal capture during incineration process. Journal of Environmental Engineering-Asce, 123, 1100-1106.

Chief Supply.Com, 2004. Commercial supplies website (Material Safety Data Sheets [Batteries]), as accessed on 25/05/2005, <u>http://www.chiefsupply.com/msds.html</u>.

Clarke, A., 1998. Industrial Air Pollution Monitoring, Chapman and Hall.

Clarkson, P. J., Poole, D. J., Ryu, C. K., Sharifi, V. N., Swithenbank, J., Waarlo, H. J., Ardelt, D. and Falk, H., 2003. Continuous Measurement of Metals in Flue Gas Using ICP-OES. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 377, 39-47.

Coggins, C., 2003 In Alternatives to Incineration for Dealing with Residual Municipal Waste in the UK: Opportunities and Barriers, 4th International Symposium on Waste Treatment Technologies, Sheffield, UK, 29th June - 2nd July 2003.

Cooper, J. A., 1994 Private Meeting at Health and Safety Laboratories, Sheffield, UK, on 10th May 2004,

Cooper, J. A., 2004 Cooper Environmental Services Corporate Website - XCEM, as accessed on 25/05/05, <u>http://www.cooperenvironmental.com/cem.html</u>.

Cox, A., 2002. Costs of Different Analytical Techniques, Private Communication.

Dajnak, D., Clark, K. D., Lockwood, F. C. and Reed, G., 2003. The prediction of mercury retention in ash from pulverised combustion of coal and sewage sludge. Fuel, 82, 1901-1909.

Daniel, P. L., Paul, L. D. and Barna, J., 1988. Fire-Side Corrosion in Refuse-Fired Boilers. Materials Performance, 27, 22-27.

Davis, S. B., Gale, T. K. and Wendt, J. O. L., 2000. Competition for sodium and toxic metals capture on sorbents. Aerosol Science and Technology, 32, 142-151.

DEFRA, 2000 Waste Strategy 2000 for England and Wales, Part 1 & 2, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/waste/strategy/cm4693/</u>, Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), UK Government.

DEFRA, 2002, Pollution Prevention and Control: Waste Incineration, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/ppc/wasteincin/index.htm</u>, Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), UK Government.

DEFRA, 2005a, Waste management statistics e-summary 2005, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/statistics/waste/index.htm</u>, Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), UK Government.

DEFRA, 2005b, Waste management statistics 2003-4 press release 8th March 2005, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.defra.gov.uk/news/2005/050308b.htm</u>, Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), UK Government.

DEFRA, 2005c, Website home page (from which individual legislation can be found using the simple search function), as accessed on 26/05/2005,

http://www.defra.gov.uk, Department for the Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), UK Government.

Delay, I., 1998 Occupational exposure of incinerator workers to trace metals, Thesis, University of Sheffield, Sheffield.

Delay, I., Swithenbank, J. and Argent, B. B., 2001. Prediction of the distribution of alkali and trace elements between the condensed and gaseous phases generated during clinical waste incineration. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 320, 282-295.

Duracell, 2004, Material Safety Data Sheet: Duracell Alkaline Batteries, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.duracell.com/oem/safety/pdf/2002_8.pdf</u>, Produced by Gillete Environment Health and Safety, Needham, MA, for Duracell.

Environment Agency, 2005, Environmental Facts and Figures, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.environment-</u>

agency gov.uk/yourenv/eff/resources_waste/213982/203410/?version=1&lang=_e, The Environment Agency, UK.

European Community Legislation, 2000a. On the incineration of waste, 2000/76/EC, Official Journal of the European Communities, L332, 0091-0011, as available from <u>http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search/search_lif.html</u>.

European Community Legislation, 2000b. End-of life vehicles, 2000/53/EC, official journal of the European Communities, L269, 0034 - 0043, as available from http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search_lif.html.

European Community Legislation, 2000c. Commission Decision of 3 May 2000 replacing Decision 94/3/EC establishing a list of wastes pursuant to Article 1(a) of Council Directive 75/442/EEC on waste and Council Decision 94/904/EC establishing a list of hazardous waste pursuant to Article 1(4) of Council Directive 91/689/EEC on hazardous waste (notified under document number C(2000) 1147. Official Journal of the European Communities, L226, 0003-0024, as available from http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search/search_lif.html.

European Community Legislation, 2002a. Waste electrical and electronic equipment. (WEEE). 2002/96/EC, Official Journal of the European Communities, L037, 0024-0039, as available from <u>http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search/search_lif.html</u>.

European Community Legislation, 2002b. Restriction of the use of certain hazardous substances in electrical and electronic equipment. 2002/95/EC, Official Journal of the European Communities, L037, 0019-0023, as available from http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search/search_lif.html.

European Union, 2005, Gateway to the European Union [source of all other European Union legislation not listed specifically], as accessed 26/05/2005, http://www.europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/search_lif.html.

Evans, J. and Williams, P. T., 2000. Heavy metal adsorption onto flyash in waste incineration flue gases. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 78, 40-46.

Factsage, 2005. Factsage Website, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.factsage.com</u>, Factsage (GTT technologies), Montreal, Canada.

Fernandez, M. A., Martinez, L., Segarra, M., Garcia, J. C. and Espiell, F., 1992. Behavior of Heavy-Metals in the Combustion Gases of Urban Waste Incinerators. Environmental Science & Technology, 26, 1040-1047.

Fifield, F. and Haines, 1995. Environmental Analytical Chemistry, Blackie.

Flower, W. L., Peng, L. W., Bonin, M. P., French, N. B., Johnsen, H. A., Ottesen, D. K., Renzi, R. F. and Westbrook, L. V., 1994. A Laser-Based Technique to Continuously Monitor Metal Aerosol Emissions. Fuel Processing Technology, 39, 277-284.

Fountain, P., 2002 Results from analysis of stack gases, Personal communication.

Fraser, M., Hunter, AJR., Davis, SJ., 1999 Real time monitoring of airbourne metals., Environmental monitoring and remediation technologies SPIE proceedings 3534, 262-270.

Fraser, M. E., Panagiotou, T., Hunter, A. J. R., Anderson, E. B., Davis, S. J., Braybrooke, G. and Hay, K. J., 2000. Fugitive emission measurements above a hard chromium plating tank using spark-induced breakdown spectroscopy (SIBS). Plating and Surface Finishing, 87, 80-88.

French, N. B., Haas, W. and Priebe, S., 2000. Status of multimetal continuous emission monitoring technologies. Spectroscopy, 15, 24-32.

Friedlander, S., 1977. Smoke, Dust and Haze: Fundamentals of aerosol behaviour, John Wiley and sons.

Gomes, A. M., Almi, A., Teulet, P. and Sarrette, J. P., 1998. The effects of natural moisture and of argon addition on the plasma temperature and on the detection limits of an apparatus for online control of metal pollutants by air inductively coupled plasma. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 53, 1567-1582.

Gomes, A. M., Sarrette, J. P., Madon, L. and Almi, A., 1996. Continuous emission monitoring of metal aerosol concentrations in atmospheric air. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 51, 1695-1705.

Gomes, A. M., Trassy, C., Almi, A., Seddiki, F. and Hassaine, S., 1997. Comparison of air and argon plasmas in gaseous elemental pollutant analysis for process control and environment. High Temperature Material Processes, 1, 461-472.

Goyer, R. (1996) In Casarrett and Doull's Toxicology; the basic science of poisons, Vol. 1 (Ed, Klassen, C.) McGraw Hill, New York, pp. 691-736.

Greenberg, R. R., Zoller, W. H. and Gordon, G. E., 1978. Composition and Size Distributions of Particles Released in Refuse Incineration. Environ Sci Technol, 12, 566-573.

Greenfield, S., Jones, IL, Berry, CT, 1964. High-Pressure Plasmas as Spectroscopic Emission Sources. Analyst, 89, 713-720.

Haines, P., 1995. In *Environmental Analytical Chemistry*(Ed, Fifield, F., and Haines, P.) Blackie.

Hart, J. R., 2001. Transient puffs of trace organic emissions from a batch-fed waste propellant incinerator. Chemosphere, 42, 559-569.

Hassaine, S., Trassy, C. and Proulx, P., 2001. Continuous emission monitoring of metals in flue gases by ICP- OES: Role of calibration and sample gas. High Temperature Material Processes, 5, 313-331.

Hester, R. E. and Harrison, R. M., 1994. Waste incineration and the environment, Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge.

HM Revenue & Customs, 2005a. A general guide to landfill tax, as accessed on 26/05/2005,

http://customs.hmrc.gov.uk/channelsPortalWebApp/channelsPortalWebApp.portal?_nf pb=true&_pageLabel=pageExcise_InfoGuides&propertyType=document&id=HMCE_ CL_000509. Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, UK.

HM Revenue & Customs, 2005b. Landfill Tax: HMRC Reference: BN CE14/05 [details of changes to landfill tax], as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://customs.hmrc.gov.uk/channelsPortalWebApp/channelsPortalWebApp.portal?_nf</u> <u>pb=true&_pageLabel=pageLibrary_ShowContent&id=HMCE_PROD1_023933&prop</u> ertyType=document. Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs, UK.

Hranisavljevic, J. and Fontijn, A., 1997. Kinetics of ground-state Cd reactions with Cl-2, O-2, and HCl over wide temperature ranges. Journal of Physical Chemistry A, 101, 2323-2326.

HSE, 2005. Table 1: List of approved workplace exposure limits (EH40/2005). As accessed 22/08/2005, <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/coshh/table1.pdf</u>. The Health and Safety Executive, UK Government.

Hunter, A. J. R., Davis, S. J., Piper, L. G., Holtzclaw, K. W. and Fraser, M. E., 2000. Spark-induced breakdown spectroscopy: A new technique for monitoring heavy metals. Applied Spectroscopy, 54, 575-582.

ICER, 2005. Industry Council for Electronic Equipment Recycling: Research: materials recovery from waste CRTs, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.icer.org.uk/research.htm</u>.

Infochem, 2003. Infochem computer services ltd [web page on oils / petrochemicals equilibrium calculation software] <u>http://www.infochemuk.com/index.htm</u>.

Kamphoff, R., 2004. Nucleus - a new generation of steel production plant laboratory, Spectro Analytical Instruments mini-conference "latest analytical developments and requirements", Sheffield, UK, 6th-7th July 2004.

Kefa, C., Mingjiang, N., Jianhua, Y., Yong, C. and Xiaodong, L., 2003. The progress for the thermal treatment of municipal solid waste in China, 4th International Symposium on Waste Treatment Technologies, Sheffield, UK, 29th June - 2nd July 2003.
Kemper, P.-B., 2005. The ICT-Thermodynamic Code, as accessed on 26/05/2005, http://www.ict.fhg.de/english/projects/defense/ictcode.html, Pfinztal (Berghausen).

Kirby, A., 2001. Greenpeace damns incineration "risks", BBC Worldwide Web <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/sci/tech/1325249.stm</u>.

Kirk, D. W., Chan, C. C. Y. and Marsh, H., 2002. Chromium behavior during thermal treatment of MSW fly ash. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 90, 39-49.

Klinkenberg, H., VanBorm, W. and Kip, B. J., 1997. The continuous on-line monitoring of the trace elemental composition of industrial ethene gas by means of inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 52, 1695-1709.

Law, S. and Gordon, G., 1979. Sources of Metals in Municipal Incinerator Emissions. Environmental Science and Technology, 13, 432-438.

Lee, C. C., 1988. A Model Analysis of Metal Partitioning in a Hazardous-Waste Incineration System. JAPCA-the International Journal of Air Pollution Control and Hazardous Waste Management, 38, 941-945.

Lemieux, P. M., Ryan, J. V., French, N. B., Haas, W. J., Priebe, S. and Burns, D. B., 1998. Results of the September 1997 DOE/EPA demonstration of multimetal continuous emission monitoring technologies. Waste Management, 18, 385-391.

Linak, W. P. and Wendt, J. O. L., 1993. Toxic Metal Emissions from Incineration -Mechanisms and Control. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, 19, 145-185.

Lockwood, F. C., Mahmud, T. and Yehia, M. A., 1998. Simulation of pulverised coal test furnace performance. Fuel, 77, 1329-1337.

Lockwood, F. C. and Yousif, S., 2000. A model for the particulate matter enrichment with toxic metals in solid fuel flames. Fuel Processing Technology, 65, 439-457.

McDonnell, C. E., Triger, D. R. and Argent, B. B., 1989. Characteristics of Steelworks Dusts. Ironmaking & Steelmaking, 16, 435-445.

Meyer, G., 1995. Editorial. Process control and Quality, 7, 69-70.

Meyer, G. A., 1991. Icp for Online Process-Control - Status and Developments. Spectrochimica Acta Reviews, 14, 437-446.

Meyer, G. A. and Barnes, R. M., 1985. Analytical Inductively Coupled Nitrogen and Air Plasmas. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 40, 893-905.

Meyer, G. A. and Lee, K. W., 1994. Real-Time Determination of Metal Hazardous Air-Pollutants in Flue-Gas Emissions - Laboratory Study. Process Control and Quality, 6, 187-194.

Mollah, M. Y. A., Schennach, R., Patscheider, J., Promreuk, S. and Cocke, D. L., 2000. Plasma chemistry as a tool for green chemistry, environmental analysis and waste management. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 79, 301-320.

Monmouth, 2005 In Fort Monmouth (US Army) Communications Electronics Command, System Safety Engineering: Battery Safety, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.monmouth.army.mil/cecom/safety/sservice/batypdoc.htm</u>, N.B. As of 16/08/2005, website was not available and may have been removed.

Morf, L. S. and Brunner, P. H., 1998. The MSW incinerator as a monitoring tool for waste management. Environmental Science & Technology, 32, 1825-1831.

Morf, L. S., Brunner, P. H. and Spaun, S., 2000. Effect of operating conditions and input variations on the partitioning of metals in a municipal solid waste incinerator. Waste Management & Research, 18, 4-15.

Mulholland, J. A. and Sarofim, A. F., 1991. Mechanisms of Inorganic Particle Formation During Suspension Heating of Simulated Aqueous Wastes. Environmental Science & Technology, 25, 268-274.

Mulholland, J. A., Sarofim, A. F. and Yue, G. G., 1991. The Formation of Inorganic Particles During Suspension Heating of Simulated Wastes. Environmental Progress, 10, 83-88.

Nasserzadeh, V., Swithenbank, J., Lawrence, D. and Garrod, N. P., 1995. Emission Testing and Design Optimization of the Sheffield Clinical Incinerator Plant. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 73, 212-222.

National Assembly for Wales, 2004 In The Composition of Municipal Solid Waste in Wales, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.wales.gov.uk/subienvironment/topics-e.htm#11</u>, Report commissioned for the welsh assembly, produced by ABB ltd.

Nenes, A., Pandis, S. N. and Pilinis, C., 1998. ISORROPIA: A new thermodynamic equilibrium model for multiphase multicomponent inorganic aerosols. Aquatic Geochemistry, 4, 123-152.

Nicolas, B. and Descotes, J., 1996. In *Human Toxicology*(Ed, Descotes, J.) Elsevier Science Publishing Company, Amsterdam, pp. 515-540.

Nore, D., Gomes, A. M., Bacri, J. and Cabe, J., 1993. Development of an Apparatus for the Detection and Measurement of the Metallic Aerosol Concentrations in Atmospheric Air in- Situ and in Real-Time - Preliminary-Results. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 48, 1411-1419.

O'Connell, E., 2002, Solid Residues from Municipal Waste Incinerators in England and Wales, Environment Agency, UK Government.

Ontiveros, J. L., Clapp, T. L. and Kosson, D. S., 1989. Physical-Properties and Chemical-Species Distributions within Municipal Waste Combuster Ashes. Environmental Progress, 8, 200-206.

Paoletti, F., Seifert, T., Vehlow, J. and Sirini, P., 2000. Oxyanions forming elements in waste combustion partitioning of antimony. Waste Management & Research, 18, 141-150.

Paoletti, F., Sirini, P., Seifert, H. and Vehlow, J., 2001. Fate of antimony in municipal solid waste incineration. Chemosphere, 42, 533-543.

Park, Y. J. and Heo, J., 2002a. Conversion to glass-ceramics from glasses made by MSW incinerator fly ash for recycling. Ceramics International, 28, 689-694.

Park, Y. J. and Heo, J., 2002b. Vitrification of fly ash from municipal solid waste incinerator. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 91, 83-93.

Peng, L. W., Flower, W. L., Hencken, K. R., Johnsen, H. A., Renzi, R. F. and French, N. B., 1995. A Laser-Based Technique for Continuously Monitoring Metal Emissions from Thermal Waste Treatment Units. Process Control and Quality, 7, 39-49.

Perry, R. and Green, D., 1998. Perry's Chemical Engineers' Handbook, McGraw-Hill Professional.

Poole, D. J., Sharifi, V. N., Swithenbank, J. and Ardelt, D., 2005. Identification of Metal Concentration Fluctuations in Waste-to-Energy Plant Flue Gases - A Novel Application for ICP-OES. Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, 20, 932-938. Powell, R. and Holland, T., 2001. THERMOCALC [web page], University of Cambridge Earth Sciences, Cambridge, UK, as accessed on 16/08/2005, http://www.esc.cam.ac.uk/astaff/holland/thermocalc.html.

Reimann, D. O., 1989. Heavy-Metals in Domestic Refuse and Their Distribution in Incinerator Residues. Waste Management & Research, 7, 57-62.

RS ltd, 2005. RS Components ltd [web page <u>http://rswww.com/cgi-bin/bv/rswww/home.do?cacheID=ukie</u>, RS ltd, Northants, UK.

Russel, A. and Vogel, R., 2003. Reducing pollution from urban waste in Africa, 4th International Symposium on Waste Treatment Technologies, Sheffield, UK, 29th June - 2nd July 2003.

Rydh, C. J. and Karlstrom, M., 2002. Life cycle inventory of recycling portable nickelcadmium batteries. Resources Conservation and Recycling, 34, 289-309.

Scott, P. E., 1995. The international energy agency's (IEA) work in harmonising sampling and analytical protocols related to municipal solid waste (MSW) conversion to energy. Biomass & Bioenergy, 9, 415-439.

Seelig, M. and Broekaert, J. A. C., 2001. Investigations on the on-line determination of metals in air flows by capacitively coupled microwave plasma atomic emission spectrometry. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 56, 1747-1760.

Seltzer, M. D., 1998. Continuous air monitoring using inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry: Correction of spectral interferences arising from CN emission. Applied Spectroscopy, 52, 195-199.

Seltzer, M. D., 2000. Performance testing of a multimetals continuous emissions monitor. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 50, 1010-1016.

Seltzer, M. D. and Green, R. B., 1994. Instrumentation for Continuous Emissions Monitoring of Airborne Metals. Process Control and Quality, 6, 37-46.

Seltzer, M. D. and Meyer, G. A., 1997. Inductively coupled argon plasma continuous emissions monitor for hazardous air pollutant metals. Environmental Science & Technology, 31, 2665-2672.

Skoog, D. and West, D., 1986. Analytical Chemistry - An Introduction, CBS College Publishing.

Sliger, R. N., Kramlich, J. C. and Marinov, N. M., 2000. Towards the development of a chemical kinetic model for the homogeneous oxidation of mercury by chlorine species. Fuel Processing Technology, 65, 423-438.

SpecialChem4Polymers.com, 2005. PVC Window profile formulation for European market, as accessed on 26/05/2005 <u>http://www.specialchem4polymers.com/tc/Acrylic-Impact-Modifiers/index.aspx?id=2922</u>, industry support website.

Spectro, 2005. SPECTRO Analytical Instruments - Online Systems [web page], as accessed on 26/05/2005 <u>http://www.spectro.com/pages/e/p010505.htm</u>.

Thipse, S. S. and Dreizin, E. L., 2002. Metal partitioning in products of incineration of municipal solid waste. Chemosphere, 46, 837-849.

Thipse, S. S., Schoenitz, M. and Dreizin, E. L., 2002. Morphology and composition of the fly ash particles produced in incineration of municipal solid waste. Fuel Processing Technology, 75, 173-184.

Thompson, D., 2004. Vinyl 2010 - Progress Report 2004, as accessed on 26/05/2005, http://www.vinyl2010.org/news/news_publications.cfm, Vol. Vinyl 2010.

Thompson, M. and Walsh, J. N., 1989. Handbook of inductively coupled plasma spectrometry, Blackie Academic & Professional, Glasgow.

Timmermans, E. A. H., de Groote, F. P. J., Jonkers, J., Gamero, A., Sola, A. and van der Mullen, J., 2003. Atomic emission spectroscopy for the on-line monitoring of incineration processes. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 58, 823-836.

Tiravanti, G., Petruzzelli, D. and Passino, R., 1996. Low and non waste technologies for metals recovery by reactive polymers. Waste Management, 16, 597-605.

Tonks, L. and Langmuir, I., 1929. Oscillations in Ionized Gases. Phys. Rev., 195.

Trassey, C., 1997. Continuous emission monitoring of elemental pollutants in flue gases by ICP-OES, Proceedings of the international workshop on Continuous Emissions Monitoring, IEA Coal Research, London, UK, pp. 119-130.

Trassey, C., 2001. Personal communication with Christian Trassey, LPCI, France.

Trassy, C., 1996. Gas Control: a new application field for ICP. Spectroscopy Europe, 8, 20-26.

Trassy, C. and Diemaizonek, R., 1994. Heavy elements in gaseous effluents; study of an on-line analytical method. Journal of High Temperature Chemical Processes, 3, 449-458.

Trassy, C., Petit, F., Diemiaszonek, R. and Fauchais, P., 1997. Continuous monitoring of metal volatilisation in a plasma furnace by Inductively Coupled Plasma Emission Spectrometry. High Temperature Material Processes, 1, 449-460.

Tyler, G. and Horiba, J., 2000. ICP torch diagram, as accessed on 26/05/2003, <u>http://icp-oes.com/torch.htm</u>.

Uberoi, M. and Shadman, F., 1990. Sorbents for Removal of Lead Compounds from Hot Flue-Gases. Aiche Journal, 36, 307-309.

Uberoi, M. and Shadman, F., 1991a. High-Temperature Removal of Cadmium Compounds Using Solid Sorbents. Environmental Science & Technology, 25, 1285-1289.

Uberoi, M. and Shadman, F., 1991b. Simultaneous Condensation and Reaction of Metal Compound Vapors in Porous Solids. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 30, 624-631.

Unyi, R., 1998 In Roundtable on Municipal Solid Waste Management: Metals are Infinitely Recyclable, as accessed on 26/05/2005,

http://archive.idrc.ca/industry/brazil_e6.html, Inter-American Program for Environmental Technology Cooperation in the Key Industry Sectors, Bahia.

US EPA Standard 3050B, 1996. Acid Digestion of sediments, soils and sludges revision 2, as accessed on 26/05/2005,

http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/test/pdfs/3050b.pdf.

US National safety council, 2005. Chemical Backgrounders, as accessed on 26/05/2005, <u>http://www.nsc.org/library/chemical/index.htm</u>, National Safety Council, 1121 Spring Lake Drive, Itasca, IL 60143-3201, info@nsc.org.

Van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L., Bosveld, A. T. C., Brunstrom, B., Cook, P., Feeley, M., Giesy, J. P., Hanberg, A., Hasegawa, R., Kennedy, S. W., Kubiak, T., Larsen, J. C., van Leeuwen, F. X. R., Liem, A. K. D., Nolt, C., Peterson, R. E., Poellinger, L., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tillitt, D., Tysklind, M., Younes, M., Waern, F. and Zacharewski, T., 1998. Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs for humans and wildlife. Environmental Health Perspectives, 106, 775-792.

Van Der Sloot, H., Vehlow, J., Eighmy, T. T., Hartlen, J., Hjelmar, O., Kosson, D. and Sawell, S., 1997. Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator Residues, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam.

Vogg, H., Braun, H., Metzger, M. and Schneider, J., 1986. The Specific Role of Cadmium and Mercury in Municipal Solid- Waste Incineration. Waste Management & Research, 4, 65-73.

Ward, N. (1995) In Environmental Analytical Chemistry (Eds, Fifield, F. and Haines, P.), Blackie.

Weast, R., Astle, M. and Beyer, W., 1988. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, Florida.

Wednt, R. and Fassel, V., 1965. Induction-Coupled Plasma Spectrometric Excitation Source. Analytical Chemistry, 37, 920-922.

Wendt, J., 1994. Combustion Science for incineration technology (Invited lecture). Twenty-fifth symposium (international) on Combustion/The Combustion Institute, 1994, 277-289.

Wey, M. Y., Su, J. L. and Chen, J. C., 1999. Influence of operating conditions on the formation of heavy metal compounds during incineration. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 49, 444-453.

Whiting, K., 2001. Large Scale MSW Incineration Technologies., Annual Short Course "Incineration of Municipal Waste", 24-24th September 2001, Department of Fuel and Energy, University of Leeds.

Wiles, C. C., 1996. Municipal solid waste combustion ash: State-of-the-knowledge. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 47, 325-344.

Willard, H., Merritt, L. J. and Dean, J., 1981. Instrumental Methods of Analysis, Litton Educational Publishing Inc., London, New York.

Williams, P. T., 1990. A Review of Pollution from Waste Incineration. Journal of the Institution of Water and Environmental Management, 4, 26-34.

Williams, P. T., 1998. Waste Treatment and Disposal (1st Edition), Wiley, Chichester.

Williams, P. T., 2005. Waste Treatment and Disposal (2nd Edition), Wiley, Chichester.

Williams, P. T. and Evans, J., 2001. Interaction of cadmium and flyash sorbents in an experimental waste incineration furnace-flue gas system. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 79, 357-364.

Winter, M., 1994. Chemical Bonding, Oxford Science Publications, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Winter, M. J., 1993. WebElements [website], as accessed on 25/05/2005, <u>http://www.webelements.com/webelements/scholar/index.html</u>, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK.

Woskov, P. P., Hadidi, K., Borras, M. C., Thomas, P., Green, K. and Flores, G. J., 1999. Spectroscopic diagnostics of an atmospheric microwave plasma for monitoring metals pollution. Review of Scientific Instruments, 70, 489-492.

Woskov, P. P., Hadidi, K., Thomas, P., Green, K. and Flores, G., 2000. Accurate and sensitive metals emissions monitoring with an atmospheric microwave-plasma having a real-time span calibration. Waste Management, 20, 395-402.

Woskov, P. P., Rhee, D. Y., Thomas, P., Cohn, D. R., Surma, J. E. and Titus, C. H., 1996. Microwave plasma continuous emissions monitor for trace-metals in furnace exhaust. Review of Scientific Instruments, 67, 3700-3707.

Wu, C. Y. and Biswas, P., 1993. An Equilibrium-Analysis to Determine the Speciation of Metals in an Incinerator. Combustion and Flame, 93, 31-40.

Wu, C. Y., Biswas, P. and Fendinger, N. J., 1994. Model to Assess Heavy-Metal Emission from Municipal Solid-Waste Incineration. Hazardous Waste & Hazardous Materials, 11, 71-92.

Yang, Y. B., Nasserzadeh, V., Goodfellow, J., Goh, Y. R. and Swithenbank, J., 2002. Parameter study on the incineration of municipal solid waste fuels in packed beds. Journal of the Institute of Energy, 75, 66-80.

Yoshiie, R., Nishimura, M. and Moritomi, H., 2002. Influence of ash composition on heavy metal emissions in ash melting process. Fuel, 81, 1335-1340.

Yousif, S., Lockwood, F. C. and Abbas, T., 1998. Twenty-Seventh Symposium (International) on Combustion/The Combustion Institute, Pittsburgh, 1647-1654.

Zhang, F. S., Yamasaki, S. I., Nanzyo, M. and Kimura, K., 2001a. Evaluation of cadmium and other metal losses from various municipal wastes during incineration disposal. Environmental Pollution, 115, 253-260.

Zhang, H. S., Yueh, F. Y. and Singh, J. P., 1999. Laser-induced breakdown spectrometry as a multimetal continuous-emission monitor. Applied Optics, 38, 1459-1466.

Zhang, H. S., Yueh, F. Y. and Singh, J. P., 2001b. Performance evaluation of laserinduced breakdown spectrometry as a multimetal continuous emission monitor. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 51, 681-687.

Zhao, Y. C., Stucki, S., Ludwig, C. and Wochele, J., 2004. Impact of moisture on volatility of heavy metals in municipal solid waste incinerated in a laboratory scale simulated incinerator. Waste Management, 24, 581-587.

Appendix 1: Publications and Conference Presentations

Refereed Journal Publications

Poole, D.J., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Ardelt, D., *Identification of metal concentration fluctuations in waste-to-energy plant flue gases – a novel application for ICP-OES*, Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 2005. **20:** 932-938

Poole, D.J., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Argent, B.B., Ardelt, D., *Identification of Metal Pollutant Spikes in Municipal Solid Waste Incinerators by Continuous on-line Analysis* (paper submitted to Waste Management May 2005).

Clarkson, P.J., Poole, D.J., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Waarlo, H.-J., Ardelt, D., Falk, H., *Continuous measurement of mercury in flue gas using ICP-OES*. Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, 2004. 19(5): p. 652-653.

Clarkson, P.J., Poole, D.J., Ryu, C.K., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Waarlo, H.-J., Ardelt, D., Falk, H., *Continuous Measurement of Metals in Flue Gas Using ICP-OES*. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 2003. 377(1): p. 39-47.

National / International Conference Presentations

Poole, D.J., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Ardelt, D., *Identification and Control of Metal Pollutant Spikes in Waste-to-Energy Plants - A Novel Application for ICP-OES*, European Winter Conference on Plasma Spectrochemistry, Budapest, Hungary, 30th January - 2nd February 2005.

Swithenbank, J., Sharifi, V.N, Yang, Y.B., Ryu, C.K., Poole, D., Goddard, C., *Tracking Micro-Pollutants from Cradle to Grave (plenary lecture)*, 9th International Conference on Combustion By-Products and their Health Effects, Tuscon, Arizona, 12th - 15th June 2005.

Clarkson, P.J., Gan, S., **Poole, D.**, Chang, B.F., Ryu, C., Nasserzadeh, V, Swithenbank, J., *The Cutting-Edge of Micro-Pollutant Emission Measurements*, 4th International Symposium on Waste Treatment Technologies, Sheffield, UK, 29th June - 2nd July 2003.

National / International Conference Posters

Poole, D.J., Clarkson, P.J., Nasserzadeh, V., Swithenbank, J., *Identification and Control of Metal Pollutant spikes in Municipal Waste Incinerator Plants*, Institute of Physics - Combustion Physics Group: Current Research in Combustion, Loughborough, UK, 18th September 2003.

Clarkson, P.J., Ryu, C.K., Poole, D.J., Sharifi, V.N., Swithenbank, J., Continuous Measurement of Metallic Species in Flue Gas using ICP-OES, European Winter Conference on Plasma Spectrochemistry, Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany, 12th - 17th January 2003.

Clarkson, P.J., Poole, D.J., Nasserzadeh, V., Swithenbank, J., Measurement of Metals in Flue Gas using a Continuous Emissions Monitoring laboratory, 4th International Symposium on Waste Treatment Technologies, Sheffield, UK, 29th June - 2nd July 2003.

www.rsc.org/jaas

Identification of metal concentration fluctuations in wasteto-energy plant flue gases—a novel application for ICP-OES[†]

David J. Poole,*^a Vida Nasserzadeh Sharifi,^a Jim Swithenbank^a and Dirk Ardelt^b

^a University of Sheffield, Mappin Street, Sheffield, UK. E-mail: d.poole@sheffield.ac.uk; Fax: +44 (0) 114 222 7501

^b SPECTRO Analytical Instruments GmbH & Co KG, Kleve, Germany

Received 23rd February 2005, Accepted 19th April 2005 First published as an Advance Article on the web 12th May 2005

A mobile continuous emissions monitoring laboratory, based on ICP-OES technology, was used to study temporal variations in metal concentrations in the flue gas of a waste-to-energy plant. The concentrations of over 30 elements were monitored prior to flue gas clean-up. Despite harsh analytical conditions, with high particulate loading, variable gas matrix and high concentrations of numerous elements, semi-quantitative measurements were made. Realistic detection limits in the range 0.007–0.06 mg m⁻³ were achieved. For many volatile metals, significant variations (4–18 mg m⁻³ for Na, 0–0.18 mg m⁻³ for Cd) were observed, and were linked to properties of the metal in question, to incinerator operating conditions, and to variations in the waste feed charge. The concentrations of some metals were attributable to specific sources in the waste. It was concluded that better waste segregation could significantly reduce the concentration of toxic metals in the incinerator residues, and where concentration spikes were detected, accurate real-time metal concentration measurements had the potential to provide feedback to clean-up systems, thereby minimising the overall environmental effect.

Introduction

Households in the UK generate about 30 million tonnes of municipal solid waste every year, and the figure is still rising. The question of how to dispose of this material is a complex and emotive one, with none of the available options being ideal.1 About 7% of this waste is incinerated, allowing energy to be recovered from the waste, and government guidelines mean that this proportion will increase in future.² Nevertheless, there is considerable public concern about the environmental and health effects of pollutants from thermal treatment of waste. Although a great deal is known about bulk pollutants such as CO₂, SO₂, NO_x and trace organic pollutants (e.g., dioxins and furans), relatively little is known about volatile metals in the combustion system.³ Emissions are measured periodically, by extractive testing, and so little is known about temporal variations in metal volatilisation. Nevertheless, thermodynamic predictions and other previous work suggests that they will be strongly affected by temperature, chemical environment in the bed, and metal content and distribution in the waste, and will therefore vary significantly over time.4.3

An individually constructed mobile laboratory, containing a specially configured ICP-OES system, has been used to obtain information on the concentration and variation of metallic pollutants in un-cleaned flue gas from a waste combustor. This unique continuous emissions monitoring laboratory (CEML), designed around a commercially available ICP-OES system (SPECTRO CIROS CCD, SPECTRO Analytical Instruments, Kleve, Germany), and equipped with a 40 m heated sampling line, was used to simultaneously monitor the concentrations of over 30 elements including the volatile metals Cd, K, Na, Pb, Sn and Zn, with a time resolution of one minute.

Experimental Continuous Emissions Monitoring (CEM) techniques for gas streams began appearing in the literature in the

† Presented at the 2005 European Winter Conference on Plasma Spectrochemistry, January 30-February 3, 2005, Budapest, Hungary. mid-1990s.⁶ ⁸ A variety of different analytical technologies have been employed, including laser induced plasma spectrometry,⁹ dc spark spectrometry,¹⁰ X-ray fluorescence spectrometry,¹¹ microwave induced plasma spectroscopy,¹² and inductively coupled plasma spectrometry.¹³ ¹⁵ A good review, and comparison of such technologies, is given by French, Haas, and Priebe.¹⁶

Broadly, the devices fall into two categories: those which are placed at or near the stack and therefore need to be relatively small, and those which opt for a larger analytical system, and therefore require more remote positioning and thus a more sophisticated sample transfer system. Smaller systems avoid some of the sampling problems caused by a longer sampling train, but often at the expense of a less sophisticated excitation or detection system. Irrespective of the specific design of the monitoring system, which are many and varied (the sampling train, plasma source, and detector), many of the problems encountered in continuous monitoring of flue gases are common to all the different techniques. These relate to maintaining reliability, sensitivity and accuracy in an unusual, variable and difficult matrix.^{16,17}

Firstly, sample integrity is difficult to maintain, due to problems of achieving representative sampling, and particulate deposition on the sample collection system, which tends to lead to measurement drift and poor repeatability.18 Subsequent sub-sampling (which may be required in order to obtain a sample volume appropriate for introduction to the detector) is a further source of sampling error, and although the principal researchers in the field (Trassy and Diemiaszonek, Meyer and Lee, Seltzer and Green) have experimented with different interface designs, none has been found to be without its problems.¹⁷ Secondly, the composition of the bulk sample matrix (e.g., concentration of combustion gases CO₂, H₂O) affects instrument sensitivity, leading to poor precision if the sample gas matrix varies with time. Effects are due both to spectral interferences (e.g., from the CN radical which is formed when high CO2 and N2 concentrations are present in the plasma) and general plasma cooling due to high plasma

932

loading, which also affects emission intensities.^{8,19} ²¹ Thirdly, difficulties exist over obtaining reliable calibrations for gasphase metal concentrations, due to the lack of availability of suitable matrix-matched standards.^{16,20}

Such difficulties mean that despite recent advances,²² ²⁵ none of the monitoring systems have yet been found to meet the requirements for regulatory endorsement,^{22,23,26} although it is understood that John Cooper hopes to receive approval soon for his X-ray fluorescence based system. This device is quite dissimilar from the other technologies, which all seek to measure particulate concentrations in the flue gas itself. Instead, continuous monitoring is achieved by passing flue gas through a carousel-mounted filter, and periodically conducting analysis of the collected material, giving a measurement about every 20 minutes.²⁷

Following a period where there have been relatively few publications on continuous emissions monitoring systems for metals, recent work by Abanades *et al.* has given extremely valuable data on metal behaviour in relatively well controlled laboratory fluidised bed combustion systems. The detection system is developed from the design by Trassy and Diemiaszonek, and is essentially very similar to our own.²⁸

The authors believe that they are the first to publish semiquantitative data on rapid temporal variations in metal concentrations in flue gas from a commercial-scale waste incinerator, before any gas clean-up. Although promising work has been published by Timmermans *et al.* on measurements inside the furnace of a waste combustor, the results presented did not indicate metal concentrations, nor their temporal variations.²⁹

Our analytical system is already well-proven, having previously been developed and used for flue gas analysis of the cleaned gas from the same plant,³⁰ and been quantitatively verified with laboratory furnace spiking experiments.³¹ The highly contaminated matrix of un-cleaned gas presented significant analytical challenges, but the results are very encouraging, demonstrating the versatility and robustness of the ICP-OES as an analytical tool for process monitoring. The data obtained from this research is fundamental to understanding the temporal fluctuations in metal emissions from the incineration system, and represents a significant advance in the field of on-line emissions monitoring.

Experimental

The test site

Experiments were conducted at a commercial scale waste-toenergy plant. The plant had 2 lines, each with an average hourly throughput of 10 tonnes. The grate type was reverse reciprocating, and the furnace walls were water cooled, providing heat to the energy recovery system. Furnace temperature was measured using two thermocouples in the radiation shaft. Operational parameters were used to keep the temperature between $850 \,^{\circ}$ C and $1100 \,^{\circ}$ C, with further waste being added in response to falling temperature. The plant was operated with excess air, leading to an oxygen level in the combustion chamber between 6% and 14%, measured in the radiation shaft.

Flue gas treatment was by a hydrated lime and activated carbon dry scrubbing system. Fabric filters collected the fly ash and scrubber products, and were designed to remove particulate matter down to a minimum of 5 μ m. The gas clean-up system was preceded by an economiser, which reduced the flue gas temperature to 130 °C at the bag filters. A standard 4" BSP sampling port in a vertical section of ducting immediately prior to the scrubbing system was used in this work, with some comparison measurements being made at a sampling port immediately following the bag filter system. Mandatory testing conducted by the plant shows the clean-up system to be effective, meaning that the plant consistently meets legislative emission limits.

Analytical system

The mobile CEML used in this work has previously been described in detail.³⁰ Briefly, this system, built in collaboration with SPECTRO Analytical Instruments (Kleve, Germany), is used simultaneously to monitor the concentrations of multiple elements in flue gas from an industrial source, with a time resolution of one minute or less. It comprises an isokinetic sampling system, 40 m heated sampling line (to transport the sample continuously to the mobile laboratory), isokinetic sample interface and a SPECTRO CIROS CCD ICP-OES spectrometer. The spectrometer is capable of making simultaneous quantitative measurements of over 30 elements (wavelength range 125-770 nm), with one measurement being made per minute in this work. The entire system is built into a shipping container, easily transportable by road to allow onsite emissions monitoring. The laboratory forms an entirely self-contained unit, only requiring external sample, power and water supplies. Argon supply (CryoService, Worcester) is provided via an integral 230 L liquid supply tank, which allows about 5-6 days continuous operation. Thus, the CEML was used to make measurements of un-cleaned flue gas at the waste-to-energy plant described above, using the operating parameters given in Table 1.

The system was calibrated using multi-element aqueous standard solutions (Bernd Kraft GmbH, Duisburg, Germany), introduced into the gas stream as a dry aerosol using an ultrasonic nebuliser. Calibrations were conducted in a range of gas matrices, produced from reagent grade nitrogen, oxygen and carbon dioxide (BOC, Guildford, Surrey). These were introduced via mass-flow controllers, with gas compositions of 79% N₂ and 0–14% O₂, the remainder being CO₂. These data were correlated using multiple linear regression analysis in order to produce overall calibration curves for each monitored element line, linking line intensity both to analyte gas-phase concentration and matrix composition.

Sampling considerations

Achieving reliable analytical measurements in the un-cleaned flue gas was extremely challenging, despite a wealth of information already obtained on optimising the laboratory for clean flue-gas monitoring during previous on-site monitoring.³⁰ The un-cleaned gas provided a difficult analytical matrix, with very high particulate loading ($\sim 1 \text{ g m}^{-3}$), and high and variable concentrations of a number of metals, along with trace concentrations of others. The analytical system was designed for the sampling of small particulates and gases, with particle sizes not over 10 µm, so the sampling train used was designed to remove larger particulates (present in high concentration in the un-cleaned gas) with a small cyclone, as well as ensuring isokinetic sampling.¹⁸ It was not our aim to sample large particulates, as volatile metals are enriched on the smallest particles (or are present as vapours within the combustion system).³² Therefore, useful (semi-quantitative) results are only

Table 1 Main ICP operating conditions

Parameter	Value
Generator frequency/MHz	27.15
Power rf/kW	1.65
Plasma gas flow rate/l min ⁻¹	20.0
Auxiliary gas flow rate/l min ⁻¹	0.8
Aerosol carrier gas flow rate/l min ⁻¹	0.5
Sample gas flow rate/l min ⁻¹	0.125
Injector tube diameter/mm	1.8
Read time/s	44
Nebuliser desolvator temperature/°C	170
Nebuliser condenser temperature/°C	0

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2005, 20, 932-938 933



Fig. 1 Concentration-time profiles of various metals in un-cleaned incinerator flue gas for a 4 hour period.

available for the more volatile metals, with those being transported by entrainment of relatively large particles being generally under-estimated.

In addition to the data collected using the CEML, the measurements made by the plant operator during the monitoring time were collected. This included furnace temperature and oxygen (measured at the top of the radiation shaft), flue gas temperatures before and after the economiser, and temperature, oxygen content, moisture content and flow rate beyond the bag filters. These data were used to normalise the CEML results to standard reference conditions (273 K, 1 atmosphere, 11% oxygen, dry gas).³³

Results and discussion

Emissions profiles

Numerous metal concentrations were measured continuously in the un-cleaned flue gas from the waste combustor. Illustrative concentration-time profiles (Figs. 1-5) show the variety of characteristic behaviours observed for different metals, and the links between different metals. In contrast to our earlier work, where metal concentrations could be measured uninterrupted for 24 hours or more, the nature of the sample matrix in this



Fig. 2 Comparison of relative potassium and lead concentrations with respect to sodium for a 4 hour period.

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2005, 20, 932-938

934

case meant that the longest continuous monitoring period was about 2 hours. At this interval, the sampling line was interrupted in order to empty the cyclone collector of particulate dust, and to check the probe assembly for blockage/deposition. This led to unavoidable short gaps in the emission profiles.

The concentrations of volatile metals in flue gas prior to cleanup were generally found to be extremely high, and significantly variable with time. Interpretation of the results was challenging, due to the large number of factors, which combine to produce the observed concentration profiles. Nevertheless, the analytical data shown below gives significant insight into how volatile metals behave under different incinerator conditions.

Sodium

Fig. 1 shows a typical concentration-time plot for sodium, potassium, lead, tin and copper. Also shown are the combustion chamber temperature and oxygen measurements made by the plant operator. Concentrations of sodium vary between about 2 and 8 mg m⁻³, with emissions generally being low when furnace temperatures are low, and with periodic variations of about 2-3 min corresponding approximately to the changing oxygen concentration in the furnace. Oxygen concentration is thought to be an indicator for changing air flow



Fig. 3 Comparison of relative tin and copper concentrations with respect to sodium for a 4 hour period.

Page 242



Fig. 4 Cadmium concentrations for a 4 hour period measured on the Cd II 226.502 nm emission line.

rates, as increased air flow will increase particulate entrainment in the gas phase, so the observed fluctuation in metal concentration is likely to be the result of a combination of changing thermodynamic environment (oxygen level) and physical parameters (entrainment). Although both of these factors affect metal transport, they do not fully explain the variation observed, which is also believed to be linked to changing waste characteristics and to the feed ram adding more waste to the furnace, resulting in disturbances on the bed, which lead to further entrainment. The high concentrations of sodium measured indicate that there is significant evaporation/condensation transport for this metal.

Potassium

Fig. 1 shows the concentration-time profile for potassium concentration, and Fig. 2 shows the relative concentrations

of potassium and lead found in the un-cleaned flue gas at a given time, compared with the concentration of sodium at that time, which was worked out as follows:

$$C_{\rm rel} = \frac{[M]_T / [Na]_T}{[M]_{\rm av} / [M]_{\rm av}} \tag{1}$$

where C_{rel} is the relative concentration of a specified metal at a given time (no units), [M] is the concentration of that metal in mg m⁻³, [Na] is the concentration of sodium in mg m⁻³, T indicates the time-dependent value and av is the time averaged mean for the four hour period shown.

Thus the Fig. 2 shows the degree to which the concentration of one volatile metal is dependent on another (*i.e.*, sodium), and how much it varies independently. The relative concentration of sodium remains at one throughout, and the greater the deviation of the relative emission of another metal from one, the less related the two metal concentrations are.

For most of the monitoring time, the ratio of sodium to potassium is remarkably consistent, with the relative emission of potassium varying relatively little from one. The actual concentration of potassium is about twice that of sodium, and thus the range of potassium concentrations is about $4-18 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$. This correlation is attributed to the wide availability of both of these metals in the general waste charge (particularly in vegetable material, where the ratio of the two metals is fairly consistent), and the similarity in physio-chemical behaviour of these group 1 metals. Therefore the correlation between the concentration of these metals reflects the consistency in their volatilisation under incineration conditions.

These data can therefore provide a good reference with which to compare other metal concentrations, as they are believed to be highly dependent on plant operating conditions, and relatively independent of changes in waste charge. Thus, comparison with sodium indicates how much of the variation observed in other concentration profiles is due to bulk conditions, and how much it is due to local conditions, and inhomogeneity in the waste stream.



Fig. 5 Selected emission spectrum regions during high and low emissions of different metals. (a) Between 11:36 and 11:44, emission of Na falls substantially. This is shown in the spectrum at the Na I 589.592 nm line, and was confirmed on the Na I 588.995 nm line. At the same time, Pb emission falls, but the change is much smaller. This is the spectrum at the Pb I 405.778 nm wavelength, and was confirmed at the Pb I 261.418 nm wavelength. (b) In contrast, there is a large fall in Pb concentration between 13:01 and 13:05, this time shown on the Pb I 261.418 emission line. The spectrum scans for sodium, at the Na I 588.995 nm line, at the same time shows that Na emission is about constant, with the final change in concentration being due to changing flow between the two measurements. The trends shown were again confirmed on the alternative emission lines.

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2005, 20, 932-938 935

Lead

Compared with the consistency in relative concentrations of sodium and potassium, most metals show greater and apparently random variation. Such variation is not explicable by changes in bulk incinerator conditions alone, but also by the changing availability of the metal in the waste feed. Typical of such behaviour is lead, which is still found at a high concentration in the un-cleaned flue gas (typically around $0.3-1.0 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$), but with significantly more variation over a time-scale of several minutes to hours, compared with sodium. This is seen clearly in Fig. 2, where the relative emission of lead varies far more with time than the relative emission of potassium.

For sodium, the emissions between 12:00 and 13:30 are broadly similar, with the usual fluctuations. In contrast, lead emissions are noticeably relatively high between 13:00 and 13:30, whereas between 12:00 and 12:50, concentrations of lead are low. These "high" or "low" lead regions, typically lasting around 30 min, are presumed to be due to variation in lead content in the feed waste, with different wastes being fed during the monitoring period. The greater variation in lead concentration compared with sodium agrees well with what is known about the distribution of lead in the waste charge, as it tends to be concentrated in "bulk" items (for example, waste electronics), and is therefore expected to be less evenly distributed in the waste charge.

However, Fig. 1 shows that there is still correlation between plant temperature and lead content, and a fairly strong correlation between periodic variations in oxygen concentration and lead concentration. This suggests that the flue concentration of lead is dependent on furnace oxygen, which is not unexpected, given that PbO is though to be a significant species in lead volatilisation.

Tin

Although the concentrations of tin are relatively low compared with the metals already discussed $(0-0.2 \text{ mg m}^{-3})$, the temporal variations are still large, as seen in Fig. 1. Fig. 3 shows the relationship between relative tin and sodium emissions. Although it is clear from Fig. 1 that there is a general association between high emissions of one metal and others (due to bulk incinerator properties), it is clear from Fig. 3 that there is no quantitative link between the emissions of tin and sodium, indicating that the emissions of different metals are at least to some degree independent of one another.

Copper

936

Conventionally in waste combustion, copper is thought of as a non-volatile metal. Fig. 1 shows that measurable quantities of copper are always present in the un-cleaned flue gas, with typical concentrations between 0.02 and 0.2 mg m⁻³ Fig. 3 shows the correlation between copper and sodium emissions, and indicates that the two are independent (leading to large variations in relative copper emission). Nevertheless, it can be seen from Fig. 1 that there is significant general association between the emission of copper and other metals, reflecting dependence on incinerator conditions. Qualitatively, it appears that the correlation between copper and lead is particularly high. Although this relationship is not rigorous. due to the periodic changes in lead content of the waste feed, it is thought that short-term correlation between concentrations of these two metals may be high due to specific waste sources which contain both these elements in fairly con stant proportion, and possibly chlorine, which would favour the volatilisation of both of these elements (as PbCl2 and CuCl).

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2005, 20, 932-938

Cadmium

Compared with the concentrations of relatively abundant volatile metals examined so far, the concentration profiles for trace volatile metals such as cadmium are quite different. These metals tend to be seen in far better resolved peaks, which appear at random time intervals, and appear independent any other process conditions.

The concentration profile for cadmium is shown in Fig. 4. The "baseline" concentration of cadmium in the flue gas is near-zero, but occasional significant peaks are seen. These are thought to correspond to the presence of occasional discrete sources of cadmium in the waste feed, probably primarily in nickel-cadmium batteries. Cadmium is a highly volatile metal, and it is expected to be completely volatilised in the incinerator. Thus it is assumed that each discrete peak corresponds to a point cadmium source reaching the incinerator, and being rapidly and completely volatilised.

Given that the measured concentration of cadmium in the flue gas and the total volume flow rate have been measured, the total mass of metal accounted for in the flue gas (as vapour or small particulates) for a given time can be calculated thus:

$$M_{\rm m} = \sum_{T=0}^{T=1} C_{\rm m} x F_{\rm NTP}$$
(2)

where $M_{\rm m}$ is the total mass of metal (mg), T = 0 is the start of the period (min), T = 1 is the end of the period (min), $C_{\rm m}$ is the measured concentration of the metal at normal temperature and pressure (NTP) (mg m⁻³) and $F_{\rm NTP}$ is the gas flow at NTP (m³ min⁻¹).

An individual peak was calculated to correspond to up to about 1 g of cadmium metal. For a 4 hour measuring period, the total mass of cadmium accounted for was 4.47 g, with 2.63 g of this being accounted for during the 6 clearest peaks, over a period of 26 min. Thus, 59% of the cadmium in the flue gas was volatilised in 11% of the time, indicating that temporal variation in concentration is significant. This provides clear evidence that removing specific discrete sources of that metal from the waste stream could have a significant effect on the emissions (to solid residue).

Data verification

Given the unique nature of the data obtained by continuous monitoring of highly contaminated flue gas, data verification is not straightforward. On-line calibration checks with aqueous standards introduced in the laboratory were good, but this did not assess the error associated with the sample line (although earlier experiments with mercury injection in a furnace have addressed this to some degree, while not fully resolving issues relating to particulate transport).31 Spectral scans were recorded during the monitoring period, and periodic examination of emission lines on these scans helped to confirm that observed changes in metal concentration were indeed due to changing emissions. Typical spectral scans for some of the measured wavelengths are shown in Fig. 5, during times of both high and low metal emissions. Ideally, all the results would be cross-checked against the reference method (US EPA Method 29), but this was not possible at the time, although it is intended for future work. For this, and the other reasons given, the results presented are best considered as being only semiquantitative at this stage.

Nevertheless, the results obtained from this study are in good broad agreement with existing data in the literature, for the analysis of small particulates and bulk bag-filter residue from waste incineration. These results can be compared by taking the ratio of one volatile metal to another, as shown in Table 2. Lead is used as a reference metal, and it is seen that for the volatile metals, agreement is fair for most, given the

Table 2 CEML data verification—comparison of metal concentration ratios (with respect to lead) in flue gas, small particulates and flue gas clean-up residue

	average concen- tration/ mg m ⁻³	concen- tration with respect to lead	Particulates <2 µm ³²	Incinerator flue gas clean-up residues ³⁵
Cadmium	0.0113	0.022	0.011	0.024
Copper	0.0757	0.15	0.021	0.069
Lead ^a	0.496	1	1	1
Potassium	7.14	14		1.9
Sodium	3.57	7.2	1.0	2.1
Tin	0.104	0.21	0.11	0.11

differing nature of the samples, the different plants being studied, and the differing ages of the work (with associated changes in expected waste composition). The fact that the CEML values are generally higher may indicate that the solids analyses were not totally effective at capturing the smallest particulates/vapours of the most volatile metals, or dissolving them for liquid analysis. For sodium and potassium, the relative amounts of these metals with respect to lead is unusually high, indicating that more is found by the CEML in vapours and particulates less than 10 μ m than might be expected. However, this is reflected in analyses we have done on residues from the same plant, which show that unusually large amounts of Na and K tend to transfer to the air pollution control device (APCD) residue, suggesting that this is due to the operation of this particular plant.³⁴

Detection limits

Given the variations in signals, which are known to be introduced by the changing gas matrix, particularly in the real system, a theoretical detection limit from the calibration procedure is hardly a useful indicator of practical detection limit. The rather pragmatic solution proposed by the authors for this highly unusual matrix is therefore as follows. Limited on-line monitoring of cleaned flue gas, beyond the bag filters, was conducted for about 6 hours. Although some small amount of metal may be present in this situation, compared with the high concentrations found in the un-cleaned gas, this effectively represents a blank signal for metal in the gas matrix in which measurements are made. Detection limits are therefore assumed to be 3σ of the measurements for a 6-hour period in the flue gas, and lead to the detection limits shown in Table 3. Given the challenging analytical matrix, these figures are reasonable, and in most cases, measured metal emissions (certainly during peaks) are well above this detection limit,

anie 3 Detection mints in un cleaned nue gas, ang	Table 3	Detection	limits in	un-cleaned	flue	gas/mg m
---	---------	-----------	-----------	------------	------	----------

Element	Detection limit/mg m ⁻³ (3 σ)
Cadmium	0.007
Caumium	0.007
Copper	0.014
Lead	0.089 ^a
Potassium	0.064 ^a
Tin	0.018

" Probably an over-estimate, due to measurable concentration of analyte in the assumed "blank".

showing that the analytical system is fit for the intended purpose.

Conclusions

From the results of this study, the following can be concluded.
Unique, semi-quantitative on-line measurements can be

made in the highly contaminated, untreated flue gas of a wasteto-energy plant.

• Continuous measurements give a unique insight into the temporal variation in metal concentrations in the un-cleaned flue gas from a waste-to-energy plant.

• Individual events in the metal concentration profile can be visualised, and linked to the factors responsible in a unique manner, proving the importance of time-resolved measurements.

• Such measurements could provide feedback to pollution control devices, optimising emissions control.

• A number of operational variables are important in determining metal volatilisation. Incinerator temperature and oxygen are important, as is the concentration of metal in the waste.

• Local conditions within the combustion chamber (nonequilibrium situations) may also affect metal behaviour though these cannot readily be measured.

• The results for cadmium are environmentally significant as they indicate that removal of specific sources of this metal from the waste stream would cut concentrations in the system to near-zero, a highly desirable environmental target.

• In general terms, metals may be classified into 3 broad categories:

1. Volatile bulk metals, such as sodium, which are present in most feed waste, and where concentration variation in the flue gas is largely due to changes in the combustion conditions;

2. Volatile bulk metals with uneven distribution in the waste (often found in bulky wastes), such as lead, which are present in high concentration, but show more overall temporal variation than the more evenly distributed metals;

3. Volatile trace metals, such as cadmium, which are present only occasionally in the feed, and lead to occasional random peaks in an otherwise near-zero concentration profile

Thus, the measurements obtained of metal concentrations within the flue gas of a waste-to energy plant have provided an insight into how metals behave during waste combustion. Such on-line measurements will be invaluable in optimising waste handling strategies to minimise the impact of pollutants in the waste stream, a highly desirable environmental target.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the following organisations and individuals for their financial and technical support of this project: UK Engineering and Physical Science Research Council (EPSRC), Spectro Analytical Instruments GmbH & Co KG (Germany and UK branches), Professor C. McLeod (CAS, University of Sheffield), Professor Bernard Argent (Department of Engineering Materials, University of Sheffield), Dr. Paul Clarkson (SUWIC, University of Sheffield).

References

- P. T. Williams, Waste Treatment and Disposal, Chichester, Wiley, 1998.
- 2 DEFRA, Waste Strategy 2000 for England and Wales, Parts 1 & 2, http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/waste/strategy/cm4693/, 2000.
- 3 J. Evans and P. T. Williams, Process Saf. Environ. Prot., 2000, 78(B1), 40-46.
- 4 Y. B. Yang, V. Nasserzadeh, J. Goodfellow, Y. R. Goh and J. Swithenbank, J. Inst. Energy, 2002, 75(504), 66-80.
- 5 I. Delay, J. Swithenbank and B. B. Argent, J. Alloys Compounds, 2001, 320(2), 282-295.

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2005, 20, 932-938 937

- 6 M. S. Cresser, J. Armstrong, J. M. Cook, J. R. Dean, P. Watkins and M. Cave, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 1995, 10(2), R9-R59.
- 7 J. R. Dean, L. M. Garden, J. Armstrong, M. S. Cresser, M. Cave and P. Watkins, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 1997, 12(2), R19-R87.
- 8 D. Nore, A. M. Gomes, J. Bacri and J. Cabe, Spectrochim. Acta, Part B, 1993, 48(11), 1411–1419.
- 9 W. L. Flower, L. W. Peng, M. P. Bonin, N. B. French, H. A. Johnsen, D. K. Ottesen, R. F. Renzi and L. V. Westbrook, *Fuel Process. Technol.*, 1994, 39(1-3), 277-284.
- 10 A. J. R. Hunter, S. J. Davis, L. G. Piper, K. W. Holtzclaw and M. E. Fraser, Appl. Spectrosc., 2000, 54(4), 575-582.
- J. A. Cooper, Cooper Environmental Services Corporate Website—XCEM, http://www.cooperenvironmental.com/cem.html, 2004.
- 12 V. Siemens, T. Harju, T. Laitinen, K. Larjava and J. A. C. Broekaert, Fresenius' J. Anal. Chem., 1995, 351(1), 11-18.
- 13 C. C. Trassy and R. C. Diemiaszonek, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 1995, 10(9), 661–669.
- 14 M. D. Seltzer and R. B. Green, *Process Control Qual.*, 1994, 6(1), 37-46.
- 15 G. A. Meyer and K. W. Lee, Process Control Qual., 1994, 6(2-3), 187-194.
- 16 N. B. French, W. Haas and S. Priebe, Spectroscopy, 2000, 15(7), 24.
- 17 C. Trassy, Spectrosc. Eur., 1996, 8(1), 20-26.
- 18 British Standard, BS 3405, 1983.
- 19 M. D. Seltzer and G. A. Meyer, Environ. Sci. Technol., 1997, 31(9), 2665–2672.
- 20 C. Trassy and R. Diemaizonek, J. High Temp. Chem. Process., 1994, 3(4), 449–458.
- 21 M. D. Seltzer, Appl. Spectrosc., 1998, 52(2), 195-199.

- 22 P. P. Woskov, K. Hadidi, P. Thomas, K. Green and G. Flores, *Waste Manage.*, 2000, 20(5-6), 395-402.
- 23 S. J. Hill, T. A. Arowolo, O. T. Butler, S. R. N. Chenery, J. M. Cook, M. S. Cresser and D. L. Miles, *J. Anal. At. Spectrom.*, 2002, 17(3), 284-317.
- 24 S. Hassaine, C. Trassy and P. Proulx, High Temp. Mater. Process., 2001, 5(3), 313–331.
- M. D. Seltzer, J. Air Waste Manage. Ass., 2000, 50(6), 1010-1016.
 P. M. Lemieux, J. V. Ryan, N. B. French, W. J. Haas, S. Priebe
- and D. B. Burns, *Waste Manage.*, 1998, **18**(6-8), 385-391. 27 J. A. Cooper, personal communication (Meeting at Health and
- Safety Laboratories, Sheffield UK, 10th May, 2004).
 S. Abanades, D. Gauthier, G. Flamant and C. Trassy, Combust. Sci. Technol., 2003, 175(4), 759-774.
- 29 E. A. H. Timmermans, F. P. J. de Groote, J. Jonkers, A. Gamero, A. Sola and J. van der Mullen, Spectrochim. Acta, Part B, 2003, 58(5), 823-836.
- 30 P. J. Clarkson, D. J. Poole, C. K. Ryu, V. N. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank, H. J. Waarlo, D. Ardelt and H. Falk, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 2003, 377(1), 39–47.
- 31 P. J. Clarkson, D. J. Poole, V. N. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank, H. J. Waarlo, D. Ardelt and H. Falk, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2004, 19(5), 652-653.
- 32 R. R. Greenberg, W. H. Zoller and G. E. Gordon, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 1978, 12, 566–573.
- 33 European Community Legislation, Off. J. Eur. Commun., 2000, L332, 0091–0011.
- 34 P. J. Clarkson, D. J. Poole, V. N. Sharifi and J. Swithenbank, Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory Project—Internal Progress Report.
- 35 H. Belevi and H. Moench, Environ. Sci. Technol., 2000, 34(12), 2501–2506.

IDENTIFICATION OF METAL POLLUTANT SPIKES IN MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE INCINERATORS BY CONTINUOUS ON-LINE ANALYSIS (AS SUBMITTED TO "WASTE MANAGEMENT", APRIL 2005)

D Poole^{*}, V Sharifi, J Swithenbank, Sheffield University Waste Incineration Centre (SUWIC), University of Sheffield, Mappin Street, Sheffield, SI 3JD, UK

B Argent, Dept of Engineering Materials, University of Sheffield, Mappin Street, Sheffield, S1 3JD, UK

D Ardelt, Spectro AI, Bochstrasse 10, D-47533 Kleve, Germany

Abstract

2227501

SUWIC's unique mobile metals emissions monitoring laboratory has been used to provide data on the metal pollutant spikes in the flue gas from a municipal solid waste incinerator, prior to gas clean-up. The laboratory has a flexible heated sampling probe that extends 40m into the plant, allowing the simultaneous on-line measurement of the concentrations of more than 30 metals by Inductively Coupled Plasma – Optical Emission Spectrometry (ICP-OES). As little is known about temporal variation in metal volatilisation, this is therefore seen as a major advance.

It has been shown that variation in metal concentration is significant, and is correlated both to plant operating conditions, and other factors. The results demonstrate that there are large spikes of vaporized cadmium and mercury, which are believed to be due to fluctuations in the waste feed material. These could be minimised through a combination of careful process control and the removal of specific sources of these metals from the waste stream.

Email <u>d.poole@sheffield.ac.uk</u>, Tel +44 (0)114 2227555, Fax +44 (0) 114

The study shows that the elemental loading is far from uniform, and that as such the point concentrations may be far higher than are conventionally expected, which is significant for those seeking to model metal behaviour in combustion, and those designing pollution control devices.

Key Words

Municipal waste incineration, heavy metals, pollutants, ICP-OES, On-line analysis.

Scientific Background

Following extensive research, much is known about the combustion process, formation of pollutants and pollutant removal or impact minimisation. Waste to Energy plants now provide a highly sophisticated and controlled waste processing system (2000, Abad et al., 2002). However, compared with the wealth of research into bulk pollutant control, and trace organic pollutants, far less is known about the behaviour and distribution of toxic volatile metals in the incineration process (Evans and Williams, 2000).

At present about 7% of UK controlled waste is incinerated, with recovery of heat energy through electricity generation, and/or district heating schemes, and the proportion of waste incinerated is set to increase, under current government recommendations (DEFRA, 2000). Incinerator operating conditions are tightly controlled, so if operating within legislative limits, incineration is a relatively clean process for the disposal of waste, where none of the available options are ideal (Williams, 1998). Current EC legislation limits permissible pollutant levels in gases, liquids, and solids resulting from incineration. These regulations require the continuous measurement of bulk pollutant constituents, such as SO₂, HCl and dust, and extractive sampling of trace metal and organic pollutants. This legislation indicates that it is the intention of regulatory bodies to introduce continuous monitoring of metals, as soon as adequate technology becomes available (Bastian and Lambert, 2000).

Extractive monitoring methodologies (such as US EPA Method 29) require the taking of discreet samples with subsequent laboratory based analysis of the filters and contaminated impinger solutions obtained. This gives a single value for metal

Page 1

emissions, typically once every six months, and averaged over between 30 minutes and 8 hours. Consequently, there is no information on emission variation within that time, or of possible emission events outside of that monitoring period. The development of real-time monitoring of metallic pollutants in gaseous samples is therefore seen as a major breakthrough in both the understanding of industrial processes and in the measurement of emissions for legislative purposes. Continuous monitoring allows plant emissions to be checked at all times, with the potential to provide control feedback, should the emissions limits be exceeded, and allows operators to demonstrate that their process is operating cleanly at all times. In terms of monitoring in-process flue gases, prior to flue gas treatment, continuous monitoring shows how metal concentrations vary with time, and are linked to plant operating conditions, and variations in waste feed, and hence lead to a variable load on the flue gas treatment, and minimise the impact of metal pollutants (Belevi and Moench, 2000, Morf et al., 2000, Wendt, 1994).

One of the major reasons for expecting that metal concentrations in the flue gas will vary with time is the fact that the waste feed is extremely heterogeneous (Williams, 1998), and as such, metal concentrations in the fuel will vary significantly over a relatively short time period (Morf et al., 2000). Ideally, the composition of the waste entering the process would be well known for test experiments, but in practice it is impossible to obtain accurate analysis of the waste entering a commercial scale incinerator, along with realistic estimates of its inhomogineity (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997). This very inhomogeneity will affect the way that the waste burns on the incinerator grate, as the burning bed itself is far from uniform (Yang et al., 2002), and so experiments with better characterised, more uniform fuels will never completely mimic the actual processes going on in a full-scale municipal waste incinerator. In fact analysis of the composition of incinerator by-products is probably one of the better indicators of the changing composition of the fuel (Morf et al., 2000), and on-line monitoring of these is the only realistic way of determining how changes both in feed and operating conditions affect the composition of flue gas of a full-scale waste combustor on a minute-by-minute basis.

Experimental Continuous Emissions Monitoring (CEM) techniques for flue gases

began appearing in the literature in the mid-1990's (Nore et al., 1993, Trassy and Diemaizonek, 1994, Meyer and Lee, 1994, Seltzer and Green, 1994). Previously, there had been very little by way of multi-element continuous monitoring which may have been applicable to gaseous emissions from industrial processes. Despite the advances in such techniques, none have been found to meet the quality requirements for regulatory endorsement (Lemieux et al., 1998, Woskov et al., 2000, Hill et al., 2002). Recent developments in end-of-pipe monitoring technologies have either been in laser or microwave induced plasma techniques (Hill et al., 2002, Buckley et al., 2000, Woskov et al., 2000), or in Argon-ICP-OES (Hassaine et al., 2001, Seltzer, 2000). Cooper (2004) is developing an end of pipe monitoring system, based on XRD, but this will only make one measurement about every 20 minutes. While this is perfectly acceptable from a legislative monitoring perspective, it does not fulfil the demands identified here for information on rapid temporal variations in signals for system diagnostic purposes.

Although there have been numerous continuous emissions monitoring systems developed experimentally, the main problems encountered in continuous monitoring of flue gases are common to most of them. These relate to maintaining adequate reliability and sensitivity in an unusual, variable, and difficult matrix (Trassy, 1996). These problems broadly fall into two categories: Firstly, sample integrity is difficult to maintain, due to problems of particulate deposition on the sample probe, which tends to lead to measurement drift and poor repeatability (British Standard 3405, 1983). Secondly, the changing bulk sample matrix (in particular interferences from bulk gases such as CO_2), tend to cause changes in instrument sensitivity, which lead to poor precision unless carefully accounted for (Seltzer and Meyer, 1997, Seltzer, 1998, Trassy and Diemaizonek, 1994). Despite these difficulties, we have shown that minute quantities of toxic metal can be quantitatively detected in real combustion systems with our mobile laboratory, within the $\pm 20\%$ demanded of CEM technologies (Clarkson et al., 2004).

Previous work by Belevi and Moench (2000), Law and Gordon (1979), and Greenberg et al., (1978) have identified the means by which different metals transfer to the flue gas, the former by examining the concentration ratio of the metals found in residues from different parts of the boiler system, and the latter two by measuring

bulk fly ash residue composition, and comparing it with the composition of small particles. In addition, they also attributed differing metal transfers to the gas phase to the physical nature of the waste – classifying each metal as being mainly found in bulk [non-combustible] waste, non-bulk [combustible] waste, or both. This data provides a useful comparison for the CEML data obtained, and a summary is given in Table 1. A good summary of the physical and chemical processes involved in metal partitioning in incinerators is given by (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Species transferred by an evaporation/condensation route are found to be enriched in the smallest particles in the flue-gases, as well as in the vapour phase (Davison, 1974, Greenberg et al., 1978). As the CEML is unable to accurately analyse particles greater than 10 μ m, measurement accuracy will be best for the more volatile metals.

Experimental

Analytical System

Data was obtained using a state-of-the-art mobile Continuous Emissions Monitoring Laboratory (CEML) using ICP-OES detection. This unique system, built in collaboration with SPECTRO A.I. (Kleve, Germany), is a self-contained laboratory that is designed to be used at industrial locations for the measurement of gaseous emissions. This equipment has previously been described in detail (Clarkson et al., 2003), but briefly, it comprises of a 40m heated sampling line, isokinetic sample interface, and a state-of-the-art ICP-OES-CCD spectrometer, capable of making simultaneous quantitative measurements of over 30 elements, each on multiple emission lines as required.

The main ICP operating parameters used at the plant trials are given in Table 2. Some of the monitored emission lines are given in Table 3. One measurement per minute was made using the equipment.

The Test Site

The test site selected for this work was a mass-burn municipal solid waste incinerator (MSWI) plant. A schematic diagram of the plant is shown in Figure 1. Although full analysis of the incoming waste was effectively impossible without perturbing the nature of the "normal" waste feed (Van Der Sloot et al., 1997), typical

literature values for municipal waste composition in Europe, with an indicator of sampling variations experienced between 2 hour samples, are given in Table 4. Nevertheless, it should be noted that national, and seasonal variations may be expected, meaning that this analysis is only an indicator of what may be expected in the waste feed.

The plant has 2 lines, each incinerating up to 12 tonnes of waste per hour, with an average throughput of approximately 10 tonnes per unit per hour. The grate type is reverse reciprocating, and the furnace walls are water cooled, providing heat to the energy recovery system. During our tests, furnace temperature was measured using two thermocouples, one on either side of the furnace, with operational parameters being changed to maintain the temperature between 850°C and 1100°C. The plant was operated with excess air, leading to an oxygen level in the combustion chamber between 6% and 14%, measured in the radiation shaft. The combustion chamber is followed by the energy recovery boiler, and an economiser, resulting in a final flue gas temperature after the economiser averaging 130°C.

Flue gas treatment comprises of a dry scrubbing system using hydrated lime to control acidic gas emissions, and activated carbon to trap heavy metals and organic micro-pollutants. Fabric filters are used to collect the fly ash and scrubber products, and are designed to remove particulate matter down to a minimum of 5μ m. The emitted flue gas was continuously monitored beyond the fabric filter by the plant operator, for temperature, and concentrations of CO, SO₂, NO_x, HCl, O₂, H₂O, and dust.

After the economiser, and before the sorbent injection of the flue gas clean-up system, there was a standard 4" BSP sampling port in a vertical section of ducting, which was used in this work. The sampling location is indicated on the schematic diagram, Figure 1. The CEML sample train was connected to the sample port, at which point the ducting measured about 0.9m x 0.9 m, and continuous on-line emission monitoring of un-cleaned flue gas was undertaken.

Sampling Considerations

Achieving reliable analytical measurements in the un-cleaned flue gas was

extremely challenging, despite a wealth of information already obtained on optimising the laboratory for clean flue-gas monitoring during previous on-site monitoring at the same plant (Clarkson et al., 2003). The un-cleaned gas provided an extremely difficult analytical matrix, with very high particulate loading, and very high and variable concentrations of a number of metals, along with trace concentrations of others. The heated sample line and analytical instrument was designed for sampling of small particulates and gases, with particle sizes not over 10 μ m, so the sampling train employed at the plant end of the line included a cyclone designed to remove larger particulates, as well as a probe tip to ensure isokinetic sampling (British Standard 3405, 1983). As it was not our aim to sample large particulates, a traverse of the stack was not required, and the sampling tip was kept approximately central in the ducting throughout the experimental programme.

In addition to the data collected using the CEML, the measurements made by the plant during the monitoring time were obtained. Data was recorded for furnace conditions (temperature and oxygen), measured at the top of the radiation shaft, and also temperatures of the flue gas before and after the economiser. The full set of emission data, recorded by the plant operator, was obtained for cleaned flue gas, after the bag filters. This was measured in the line 1 ducting, immediately prior to the point where the gases from the two lines meet at the base of the stack. Temperature, oxygen content, moisture content and flow rate measurements made here, along with the temperatures at the CEML sampling point were used to normalise the CEML results to standard reference conditions (273 K, 1 Atmosphere, 11% oxygen, dry gas) (European Community Legislation, 2000). Other data obtained was used to show how metal emissions correlated to changes in plant operating conditions. In order to simplify comparison of data from different sources, one value was used per minute, corresponding to the measurement time of our instrument. Where more data points were recorded by other instruments, the last data point within that minute was used.

Results and Discussion

The concentrations of volatile metals in flue gas prior to cleanup were generally found to be extremely high, and dependent both on plant conditions, and the changing nature of the waste charge supplied to the incinerator. For a better understanding of the factors which lead to metal volatilisation, and the temporal variations in the process, not only are new experimental data required, but also physio-chemical explanations of the results, and correlation with bulk plant Thermodynamic models predicting volatility of metals in the conditions. combustion system are currently being developed by the authors (Poole and Argent, 2004), building on existing work on municipal waste combustion by numerous researchers, including Linak and Wendt (1993), Fernandcz et al. (1992), and Wu and Biswas (1993). The latest initial results from this study were used to explain some of the trends in the experimental results. Measured concentration profiles for different metals are shown below. Given that the experimental system necessarily excluded the sampling of large particulates, and some limited problems were experienced with unwanted sample deposition, the results are best considered as semi-quantitative indicators of metal concentrations in the flue gas. Occasional gaps in the measured metal emissions are due to unavoidable interruptions to the measurements, to allow emptying of the sampling cyclone, and cleaning of the sample probe to remove any particulate depositions, although deposition in the heated line was minimal.

Sodium

Figure 2 shows a typical concentration plot for the abundant volatile metal sodium, along with the temperature and oxygen measurements made in the combustion chamber. Concentrations vary between about 2 and 8 mg m⁻³, with emissions generally being low when furnace temperatures are low, and with periodic variations of about 2-3 minutes corresponding approximately to the changing oxygen concentration in the furnace. Oxygen concentration is thought to be an indicator for changing air flow rates, as increased air flow will increase particulate entrainment in the gas phase. Nevertheless, these factors do not fully explain the variation observed, which is also believed to be linked to changing waste characteristics, in particular the availability of either sodium itself, or chlorine, which is thought to have a significant effect on metal volatilisation (Abbas et al., 1996, Poole and Argent, 2004). Local conditions within the combustion chamber may also be significant (eg temperature hot-spots), though these cannot be inferred from the bulk measurements made (Yang et al., 2002). The very high concentrations of sodium measured indicate that there is a large amount of this metal present as vapour or

small particulates, showing that there is a significant evaporation/condensation transport mechanism.

Potassium

Figure 3 shows the concentrations of potassium found in the un-cleaned flue gas, compared with the concentration of sodium. The relative ratio for a metal is obtained by dividing the actual measured concentration at a given point by the average for sodium for the 4-hour monitoring period reported. It can be seen that for most of the monitoring time, the ratio of sodium to potassium is remarkably consistent, at about 1:2. This correlation is attributed to both the wide availability of these metals in the waste, and their similar physio-chemical properties. Sodium and potassium are both important elements in vegetable matter, and as vegetable and garden wastes form a significant part of domestic waste, this contributes to stabilising the Na:K ratio. Thermodynamic calculations predict that the behaviour trends of these two group 1 metals will be very similar, reflecting well-known periodicity trends, though the magnitude of the volatilisation of the two metals is expected to be different, and this is indeed the case (Poole and Argent, 2004). Thus the concentrations of these metals in the flue gas do not merely reflect those in the waste charge, but instead reflects the consistency in volatilisation of the two metals, in incineration conditions. Given the consistency of the data, they can provide a good reference with which to compare other metal concentrations. The concentration of sodium in the flue gas is believed to be highly dependent on bulk plant conditions (certainly for volatilisation, and probably for entrainment), so comparison with this metal can indicate nicely how much of the variation observed in other concentration profiles is due to bulk conditions, and how much it is due to local conditions, and inhomogeneity in the waste stream.

Lead

Compared with the remarkable consistency in relative concentrations of sodium and potassium, most metals show more apparently random variation. Such variation is not explicable by changes in bulk incinerator conditions alone, but is also attributed to changing availability of the metal in the waste feed. For example typical lead concentrations in flue gas are shown in Figure 4. The concentrations of lead in the un-cleaned gas are high, typically around $0.5 - 1.0 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$, more than ten times the

maximum permissible emission level for atmospheric discharge, which is effectively $\sim 0.05 \text{ mg m}^{-3}$, as the limit is 0.5mg m⁻³ for the sum of 9 metals (European Community Legislation, 2000). As with other volatile metals, correlation can be seen between periods of low temperature and low lead content, and similarly high temperature and high lead content. Again, periodic variations in oxygen concentration and lead concentration are similar; suggesting that the concentration of lead found in the flue gas is largely dependent on bulk incinerator conditions. This fits with our thermodynamic predictions, which suggest that PbO is a significant volatile species for lead transfer, even in the presence of chlorine (Poole and Argent, 2004).

Nevertheless, compared with sodium, lead exhibits greater overall variation in flue gas concentration with time, on a scale of several minutes to hours. This is seen clearly in Figure 5. For sodium, the emissions between 10:00 and 11:00 and 12:30 and 13:00 overlay well with lead emissions, despite their different relative magnitudes. In contrast, lead emissions are noticeably relatively increased between 13:00 and 13:30, whereas between 12:00 and 12:15, concentrations of lead are particularly low. The concentration of sodium during these four regions is broadly similar.

Using sodium as a "reference", whose concentration in the un-cleaned flue gas is attributed almost entirely to bulk plant conditions, the long-term variations in lead are interesting. The short-term variations correlate well with sodium and potassium plots, indicating dependence on bulk plant conditions. However, the longer-term temporal variations in lead, with general regions of "higher" or "lower" relative lead concentration, typically lasting up to around 30 minutes, must be presumed to be due to variation in lead in the feed waste, with wastes with both relatively high and relatively low lead content being fed during the monitoring period. This implies that the volatilisation of lead is a relatively slow process, implying that reaction kinetics may be significant in metal volatilisation.

The greater variation in lead concentration compared with sodium agrees well with what is known about the distribution of these two metals in the waste charge, with sodium being found in the majority of waste types, but with lead tending to be concentrated in "bulk" (largely non-combustible) waste. Nevertheless, the observed association between sodium and lead concentrations indicates that the volatilisation of lead is still dependent on bulk incinerator conditions.

Zinc

The concentration profile for zinc is shown in Figure 6. Periodic fluctuations are seen, which correspond somewhat to the fluctuations in plant conditions, with concentrations varying between about 0.5 mg m⁻³ and 2.5 mg m⁻³. Once more, the metal concentrations prior to the bag filters are very high.

It is generally seen that at times when either (or both) furnace temperature measurements are low (eg 09:50, 10:13-10:17, 11:45, 12:05), concentrations of zinc soon after are low. It is assumed that the largest zinc peaks are not due only to process conditions, but also to specific sources of the metal in the waste feed, leading to high concentrations of zinc in the un-cleaned flue gas. Such peaks in the concentration-time profile are seen between 10:40 and 10:50, and 12:15 and 12:30.

Figure 7 shows a comparison between the relative concentrations of zinc and sodium, and it is once more seen that most of the time, correlation between the concentrations of the two metals is good, particularly for example between 09:30 and 10:30, and again between 13:00 and 14:00. This comparison emphasises the independence of the zinc peaks at 10:40-10:50 and 12:15-12:30 from the emissions of other metals, reinforcing the supposition that they are a result of changing waste feed, rather than plant conditions.

It is interesting to note certain features of the three most dominant peaks observed in Figure 7, which are spikes in zinc concentration at 10:40-10:50 and 12:15-12:30, and a spike in sodium concentration between 11:30 and 11:40. It can be quite clearly seen that each of these peaks comprises of a general region of high concentration of the spike metal, but with one or more dips within the peak, giving it a more complex secondary structure than a single peak. At the point where the concentration of the "dominant" metal drops, the concentration of the other bulk volatile metals tends to increase, suggesting that the volatilisation process is complex, with the concentration of one metal in the gas phase affecting the concentration of another, due to the

complex equilibrium established between all the volatile components in the system. It is possible that "total metal" volatilisation is being limited by the availability of non-metallic reagents such as chlorine, as most metals chlorides are more volatile than the "native" metals (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Previous thermodynamic predictions (Delay et al., 2001) predicted that in clinical waste incineration, increasing S:Cl ratio inhibited the volatilisation of both zinc and sodium, and that with a constant S:Cl ratio, increases in Na concentration inhibited Zn volatilisation. Such an explanation could explain the observed results, and would indicate a dependence on chlorine/sulphur availability.

Cadmium

Compared with the concentrations of relatively abundant volatile metals examined so far, the concentration profiles for less common, volatile metals are quite different. Whereas for bulk metals, regions of high or low concentration of a particular metal last for up to 30 minutes and are clearly influenced within that time by the changes in the bulk incineration conditions and the concentration of other bulk metals, the trace volatile metals tend to be seen in far better resolved peaks, which appear approximately independent any other process conditions.

The concentration profile for cadmium is shown in Figure 8. Unlike the more abundant heavy metals, the baseline concentration of cadmium in the flue gas is near-zero (typically less than 0.03 mg m^{-3} , which is lower than the allowable emission limits, even before clean-up), but occasional significant peaks are seen. These peaks are not correlated to plant events, and are thought to correspond to the inclusion of occasional discrete sources of cadmium in the waste feed, probably primarily in nickel-cadmium batteries (Linak and Wendt, 1993). Cadmium is a highly volatile metal, and it is expected to be completely volatilised during combustion (Delay et al., 2001). Thus it may be reasonably assumed that each discrete peak corresponds to a point cadmium source reaching the incinerator, and being rapidly and completely volatilised.

Given that the measured concentration of cadmium in the flue gas and the total volume flow rate have been measured, this information can be used to calculate the total mass of metal accounted for in the flue gas (as vapour or small particulates), as

shown:

$$M_m = \sum_{T=0}^{T=1} C_m F_{NTP}$$
(1)

Where

 M_m is the total mass of metal accounted for (mg)

T=0 is the start of the calculation period (min)

T=1 is the end of the calculation period (min)

 C_m is the measured concentration of the metal at NTP (mg m⁻³)

and F_{NTP} is the measured flow of gas for this period at NTP (m³ min⁻¹)

An individual peak was calculated to correspond to up to 1g of cadmium metal. For example, the peak between 10:06 and 10:11 is calculated to correspond to 0.65g cadmium. For a 4 hour period on 20/07/04, the total mass of cadmium accounted for in the flue gas is 4.47g, with 2.63g of this being accounted for during the 6 clearest peaks, over a period of 26 minutes. Thus 59% of the cadmium in the flue gas is accounted for in 11% of the time, indicating that the temporal variation in concentration is significant.

Mercury

Figure 9 shows the concentration profile for mercury, another volatile trace metal. Once more, the baseline concentration for most of the measurement period was near zero, with few occasional peaks. The black arrow on the plot indicates the addition of a instrumental calibration check standard, which was added during the run, and was found to be quantified at 108% of expected value, indicating good instrumental quantitation accuracy. Prior to this, a series of extremely large mercury concentration peaks are seen, for a 1.5 hour period. This event was the only such one seen during the week, and is thought to be extremely unusual, with the remainder of the measuring time showing only baseline mercury concentration, with occasional small peaks, lasting one or two minutes, and being up to 0.2 mg m⁻³ in the un-cleaned flue gas. The mercury in the flue gas in the 1.5 hour period between

12:50 and 14:20 was calculated to correspond to the addition of about 90g of mercury to the furnace, an extremely large single amount for a metal whose use is strongly discouraged. This quantity of metal could occur in municipal waste, for example, through the disposal of an old barometer, or several thermometers, but it is emphasised that the occurrence of such events is believed to be extremely low, and only one such event was witnessed during a week of monitoring of the plant.

Given the high volatility of mercury, it is surprising how long the emission for mercury lasts, and implies that even for such a volatile metal, local bed conditions and reaction kinetics significantly affect volatilisation. However, care should be taken with inferences drawn, as such a large peak of mercury may induce a "memory" effect, both in the analytical system, and possibly in the boiler system.

Observation of such an event highlights the importance of continuous monitoring. It is extremely unlikely to have been observed by any other means, and provides reassurance that aside from such unusual events, the concentrations of mercury are extremely small. Given the highly unexpected nature of this observed result, the CEML data was carefully checked, with examination of the emission spectrum in the region of the emission line, and confirmation on three other mercury emission lines. These checks confirmed that the signals observed were unambiguously due to mercury, and not to any kind of spectral interference.

Calcium

The concentrations of non-volatile metals observed in incinerator flue gases, as vapours or particulates smaller than 10 μ m are extremely small, in most cases below a realistic detection limit for the conditions encountered. For example, chromium, cobalt and vanadium were all observed at baseline (zero) concentration throughout continuous monitoring, so the profiles for these metals are not shown. Any observable variation is evidently due to changing gas matrix rather than true signal variation.

Nevertheless, bulk non-volatile metals such as calcium can be detected, and a concentration plot for calcium is shown in Figure 10. In general there is less overall temporal variation in the calcium profile than for the more volatile metals.

Nevertheless, there is a strong association between measured calcium concentration and oxygen level in the combustion chamber, with high calcium nearly always being accompanied by high oxygen (though sometimes there is an apparent time mismatch, due to the differing measurement periods on plant and in the lab). This supports the theory that calcium is mainly transferred to the flue gas by particulate entrainment, which will be enhanced by increased air flow in the combustion chamber. The fact that the calcium profile does not correlate exactly with the oxygen plot indicates that air flow is not the only factor involved in entrainment, and presumably further variation is introduced by the different availability of "entrainable metal" in the waste feed.

Compared with the composition of solid residues from flue-gas clean-up, the concentrations of calcium are very low, relative to the concentration of volatile metals observed (aside from the complication of lime addition). This fits with what is known about enrichment of volatile metals in the smaller particles, because of the metal transport mechanisms involved. It should therefore be emphasised that the measured concentrations of calcium represent the concentration in the smallest size fraction of particles in the flue gas, not a "total" analysis of the dust/grit in the gas stream. Nevertheless, the results are highly interesting, and indicate the effect of changing combustion chamber air flows on the entrainment of non-volatile metals.

Data Verification

Given the unique nature of the data obtained by continuous monitoring of highly contaminated flue gas, data verification is not straightforward. Ultimately, comparison of our analysis with the reference method (US EPA Method 29) would be desirable, although this has not been possible to date. However, the results obtained from this study are in broad agreement with literature data for the analysis of small particulates and bulk bag-filter residue from waste incineration, as shown in Table 5. These results show the ratio of one volatile metal to another, in order to allow comparison between different data sources. Lead is used as a reference metal, and it is seen that for the volatile metals, agreement is fair for most, given the differing nature of the samples, the different plants being studies, and the differing ages of the work (with associated changes in expected waste composition). For example correlation is good for Cd, Hg, Sb, and Zn between CEML data and

concentrations found on small particulates, or in bulk APC residues. The fact that the CEML values are generally higher may indicate that the solids analysis were not totally effective at capturing the smallest particulates/vapours of the most volatile metals. For sodium and potassium, the relative amount of these metals with respect to lead is unusually high, indicating that more is found by the CEML in vapours and particulates less than 10µm than might be expected. This apparent anomaly is introduced by the fact that although these metals are transported by evaporative routes, they are known to be deposited significantly in the latter parts of the boiler system (Belevi and Moench, 2000). Therefore, the fact that the CEML measurements are made at an earlier point in the boiler system will significantly increase the amount still found as vapour or on measurable particulates, compared with the "later" solids analyses. This anomaly further reflects and helps to explain the differing information in the literature about the behaviour of sodium, which was discussed in the scientific background to the paper.

For the relatively non-volatile trace metals Ba, Co, Cr, Mn, the concentrations measured by the CEML are generally under the detection limit of the analytical system. This result is actually in good agreement with the other data, which all indicates extremely small concentrations of these metals in the solid residues. For non-volatile metals such as Ca and Fe, much greater concentrations are seen in the MSWI residue data than the CEML data or particulate information, reflecting the expected trend that these metals are present as larger particulates, and agreement between CEML data and small particulate analysis is much better.

Detection Limits

Due to the effect of the changing flue gas matrix on the sensitivity of the analytical instrument, an instrumental detection limit, calculated during the calibration of the instrument, does not give a realistic assessment of the lower concentration limit which may be detected by the instrument. The authors have developed an alternative method, based on measurements of flue gas from the plant, beyond the clean-up devices, which was known to contain metals only in extremely small concentration, and could thus be considered as a blank signal for the purposes of system calibration (Clarkson et al., 2003). Although small concentrations of metal may still be present in this gas, it effectively provides a realistic calibration blank.

Detection limits were calculated as three times the standard deviation of the (blank) signal measured in the cleaned flue gas for a 5 hour period, as given in table 6

. Given the magnitude of the signals seen for most metals in the un-cleaned gas, it is seen that the detection limits are adequate, usually being considerably lower than the measured signals. The extremely good baseline resolution for these signals, which leads to low standard deviation, indicates that the instrument is highly sensitive, and provides further confirmation that measured signals in un-cleaned gas are due to changing metal concentration, rather than to matrix changes.

Conclusions

This paper has presented unique, semi-quantitative temporally resolved data which we obtained for metal concentrations in the vapour and small particulates in the flue gas from a municipal waste incinerator. From this successful research, it is concluded that:

- Time resolved continuous measurements give a unique insight into the temporal variation in metal concentrations in the flue gas from a large scale municipal waste incinerator, prior to flue gas treatment.
- Significant variation in metal concentrations with time has been seen, demonstrating the importance of time-resolved measurements
- Individual events in the metal concentration profile have been visualised, and linked to the factors responsible, in a way which has hitherto been impossible.
- It is seen that in a real waste combustion system, a number of operational variables are important in determining metal volatilisation, and subsequent concentration in small particulates and vapours in the un-cleaned flue gas. Incinerator temperature and oxygen (flow) are shown to be important, as is the concentration of metal in the waste, which is inferred from observed arbitrary variation in metal concentrations, which is not attributable to any other factor.
- The work suggests that the combustion chamber is indeed a highly complex system, with different factors appearing to dominate metal concentrations at different times.
- In general terms, the results for different metals may be classified into 4 broad categories:

- Volatile bulk metals, such as sodium and potassium, which are present in most feed waste, and where concentration variation in the flue gas is largely due to changes in the combustion conditions
- Volatile bulk metals with uneven distribution in the waste (often found in bulky wastes), such as lead and zinc, which are present in high concentration, but show more overall temporal variation than the more evenly distributed metals

• Volatile trace metals, such as cadmium and mercury, which are present only occasionally in the feed, and lead to occasional random peaks in an otherwise near-zero concentration profile

• Non-volatile metals, such as calcium, which are transported largely by entrainment of large particles, for which the CEML measurements of vapour and small particulates do not accurately reflect the true metal content.

• The data obtained from this study will be used to develop, test, and refine thermodynamic models of metal behaviour in the combustion system. This work is currently underway. Thus the experimental work reported here will prove invaluable in developing understanding of the processes which cause metal concentrations in flue gas to change with time, and therefore how changes to the incineration system could improve the environmental impact of what is already a highly sophisticated waste management system.

• The results observed for cadmium and mercury are highly significant from an environmental point of view, as they indicate that diversion of certain specific "point" sources of these metals from the incinerated waste stream would cut concentrations of these metals in the system to near-zero, a highly desirable environmental target. This could be aided by improved collection and recycling facilities. There is also indication that careful control of process conditions could be used to determine the partitioning of other volatile metals, either to minimise volatilisation, or to concentrate volatile metals in the small particles in flue gas, which could potentially be segregated, and used as a feedstock for metal recovery.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the following organisations & individuals for their financial and technical support for this research project. These are: UK Engineering & Physical Science Research Council (EPSRC), Spectro AI Ltd (Germany & UK

Page 9

0

Offices), Professor C McLeod (CAS, Sheffield University) and Dr Paul Clarkson (SUWIC, Sheffield University).

References

Abad, E., Adrados, M. A., Caixach, J. and Rivera, J., 2002. Dioxin abatement strategies and mass balance at a municipal waste management plant. Environmental Science & Technology, 36, 92-99.

Abbas, T., Godoy, S., Hassan, S. and Lockwood, F. C., 1996. The effects of extraneous metal oxides and chlorides on the partitioning of toxic metals in the flames of a pulverised waste fuel. Combustion Science and Technology, 121, 281-298.

Bastian, R. E. and Lambert, R. H., 2000. Particulate matter continuous emission monitor test performance in a moisture-saturated flue gas. Waste Management, 20, 369-377.

Belevi, H. and Moench, H., 2000. Factors determining the element behaviour in municipal solid waste incinerators. 1. Field studies. Environmental Science & Technology, 34, 2501-2506.

British Standard 3405, 1983. Measurement of particulate emission including grit and dust (simplified method). BS 3405.

Buckley, S. G., Johnsen, H. A., Hencken, K. R. and Hahn, D. W., 2000. Implementation of laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy as a continuous emissions monitor for toxic metals. Waste Management, 20, 455-462.

Clarkson, P. J., Poole, D. J., Ryu, C. K., Sharifi, V. N., Swithenbank, J., Waarlo, H. J., Ardelt, D. and Falk, H., 2003. Continuous Measurement of Metals in Flue Gas Using ICP-OES. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 377, 39-47.

Clarkson, P. J., Poole, D. J., Sharifi, V. N., Swithenbank, J., Waarlo, H. J., Ardelt, D. and Falk, H., 2004. Continuous measurement of mercury in flue gas using ICP-OES. Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, 19, 652-653.

Cooper, J. A., 2004 In Cooper Environmental Services Corporate Website XCEM

http://www.cooperenvironmental.com/cem.html, 2004.

Davison, R., Natusch, FS, Wallace, JR, 1974. Trace Elements in Fly Ash -Dependence of Concentration on Particle Size. Environmental Science and Technology, **8**, 1107-1113.

DEFRA, 2000 In Waste Strategy 2000 for England and Wales, Part 1 & 2, http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/waste/strategy/cm4693/, 2004, DEFRA waste strategy document.

Delay, I., Swithenbank, J. and Argent, B. B., 2001. Prediction of the distribution of alkali and trace elements between the condensed and gaseous phases generated during clinical waste incineration. Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 320, 282-295.

European Community Legislation, 2000. On the incineration of waste. Official Journal of the European Communities, L332, 0091-0011.

Evans, J. and Williams, P. T., 2000. Heavy metal adsorption onto flyash in waste incineration flue gases. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 78, 40-46.

Fernandez, M. A., Martinez, L., Segarra, M., Garcia, J. C. and Espiell, F., 1992. Behavior of Heavy-Metals in the Combustion Gases of Urban Waste Incinerators. Environmental Science & Technology, 26, 1040-1047.

Greenberg, R. R., Zoller, W. H. and Gordon, G. E., 1978. Composition and Size Distributions of Particles Released in Refuse Incineration. Environ Sci Technol, 12, 566-573.

Hassaine, S., Trassy, C. and Proulx, P., 2001. Continuous emission monitoring of metals in flue gases by ICP- OES: Role of calibration and sample gas. High Temperature Material Processes, 5, 313-331.

Hill, S. J., Arowolo, T. A., Butler, O. T., Chenery, S. R. N., Cook, J. M., Cresser, M. S. and Miles, D. L., 2002. Atomic spectrometry update. Environmental analysis. Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry, 17, 284-317.

Law, S. and Gordon, G., 1979. Sources of Metals in Municipal Incinerator Emissions. Environmental Science and Technology, 13, 432-438.

Page 10

Lemieux, P. M., Ryan, J. V., French, N. B., Haas, W. J., Priebe, S. and Burns, D. B., 1998. Results of the September 1997 DOE/EPA demonstration of multimetal continuous emission monitoring technologies. Waste Management, 18, 385-391.

Linak, W. P. and Wendt, J. O. L., 1993. Toxic Metal Emissions from Incineration -Mechanisms and Control. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, 19, 145-185.

Meyer, G. A. and Lee, K. W., 1994. Real-Time Determination of Metal Hazardous Air-Pollutants in Flue-Gas Emissions - Laboratory Study. Process Control and Quality, 6, 187-194.

Morf, L. S., Brunner, P. H. and Spaun, S., 2000. Effect of operating conditions and input variations on the partitioning of metals in a municipal solid waste incinerator. Waste Management & Research, 18, 4-15.

Nore, D., Gomes, A. M., Bacri, J. and Cabe, J., 1993. Development of an Apparatus for the Detection and Measurement of the Metallic Aerosol Concentrations in Atmospheric Air in-Situ and in Real-Time - Preliminary-Results. Spectrochimica Acta Part B-Atomic Spectroscopy, 48, 1411-1419.

Poole, D. J. and Argent, B. B., 2004 In The use of equilibrium predictions to determine metal partitioning in municipal solid waste incineration (internal report), Vol.

Seltzer, M. D., 1998. Continuous air monitoring using inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry: Correction of spectral interferences arising from CN emission. Applied Spectroscopy, 52, 195-199.

Seltzer, M. D., 2000. Performance testing of a multimetals continuous emissions monitor. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 50, 1010-1016.

Seltzer, M. D. and Green, R. B., 1994. Instrumentation for Continuous Emissions Monitoring of Airborne Metals. Process Control and Quality, 6, 37-46.

Seltzer, M. D. and Meyer, G. A., 1997. Inductively coupled argon plasma continuous emissions monitor for hazardous air pollutant metals. Environmental Science & Technology, 31, 2665-2672.

Trassy, C., 1996. Gas Control: a new application field for ICP. Spectroscopy Europe, 8, 20-26.

Trassy, C. and Diemaizonek, R., 1994. Heavy elements in gaseous effluents; study of an on-line analytical method. Journal of High Temperature Chemical Processes, 3, 449-458.

Van Der Sloot, H., Vehlow, J., Eighmy, T. T., Hartlen, J., Hjelmar, O., Kosson, D. and Sawell, S., 1997. Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator Residues, Elsevier Science, Amsterdam.

Wendt, J., 1994 In Combustion Science for incineration technology (Invited lecture). Vol., pp. 277-289.

Williams, P. T., 1998. Waste Treatment and Disposal, Wiley, Chichester.

Woskov, P. P., Hadidi, K., Thomas, P., Green, K. and Flores, G., 2000. Accurate and sensitive metals emissions monitoring with an atmospheric microwave-plasma having a real-time span calibration. Waste Management, 20, 395-402.

Wu, C. Y. and Biswas, P., 1993. An Equilibrium-Analysis to Determine the Speciation of Metals in an Incinerator. Combustion and Flame, 93, 31-40.

Yang, Y. B., Nasserzadeh, V., Goodfellow, J., Goh, Y. R. and Swithenbank, J., 2002. Parameter study on the incineration of municipal solid waste fuels in packed beds. Journal of the Institute of Energy, 75, 66-80.

Page 11

Table 1 Sources and Major Transfer Mechanisms of Metals in MSW Incineration(summarised from (Belevi and Moench, 2000)

Metal	Major Transport Mechanism	Sources in Waste
Si	Entrainment	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Fe	Entrainment	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Со	Entrainment	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Cr	Entrainment	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Mn	Entrainment	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Al	Entrainment	All
Ca	Entrainment	All
Mg	Entrainment	All
Na	Entrainment*	All
Ba	Entrainment	A11
Ti	Entrainment	All
Κ	Both	Non-bulk items [combustibles]
Cu	Evaporation / Condensation	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Мо	Evaporation / Condensation	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Pb	Evaporation / Condensation	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Sn	Evaporation / Condensation	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Zn	Evaporation / Condensation	Bulk items [non-combustibles]
Sb	Evaporation / Condensation	Non-bulk items [combustibles]
As	Evaporation / Condensation	Non-bulk items [combustibles]
Cd	Evaporation / Condensation	Non-bulk items [combustibles]
Hg	Evaporation / Condensation	Non-bulk items [combustibles]

* Although the evidence presented by Belevi and Moench suggests transport by entrainment, other work (eg (Greenberg et al., 1978) provide contrasting evidence that evaporation/condensation is also important, as concentrations are enhanced in the smallest particles.

 Table 2
 Main ICP operating conditions
 Parameter Value Generator Frequency (MHz) 27.15 Power RF (kW) 1.65 Plasma gas flow rate (1 min⁻¹) 20.0 Auxiliary gas flow rate (1 min^{-1}) 0.8 Aerosol carrier gas flow rate (1 min^{-1}) 0.5 Sample gas flow rate (1 min^{-1}) 0.125 Injector tube diameter (mm) 1.8 Read time (s) 44 Nebuliser Desolvator Temperature (°C) 170 Nebuliser Condenser Temperature (°C) 0

Table 3 Selected emission lines monitored by ICP-OES

Element	Wavelength (nm)	Element	Wavelength (nm)
Cadmium	214.438	Mercury	194.227
Cadmium	226.502	Mercury	253.652
Cadmium	228.802	Mercury	435.835
Calcium	396.847	Potassium	766.491
Calcium	422.673	Sodium	588.995
Chromium	283.563	Sodium	589.592
Iron	259.941	Tin	242.949
Iron	373.486	Tin	303.412
Lead	261.418	Zinc	202.548
Lead	283.305	Zinc	206.191
Lead	405.778	Zinc	213.856

Property	Minimum value	Maximum value	Mean Value	Coefficient of variation (%)
Calorific Value (kj kg ⁻¹)	8400	12400	10900	15
Ash content (%)	27.7	35.7	32.8	8
Carbon (g kg ⁻¹)	193	271	234	12
Chlorine (g kg ⁻¹)	10.4	14.8	13.2	11
Sulphur (g kg ⁻¹)	4.2	4.6	4.4	4
Cadmium (mg kg ⁻¹)	7.6	14.7	11.5	20
Copper (mg kg ⁻¹)	330	950	640	32
Lead (mg kg ⁻¹)	290	660	430	27
Zinc (mg kg ⁻¹)	1040	1470	1300	10

 Table 4 Typical MSW analysis for 7 two hour averaged samples (Morf et al., 2000)

Table 5 A comparison of relative metal concentrations found in flue gas by theCEML with concentrations reported in solid residues from incineration (standardisedwith respect to lead)

Metal	CEML	Particulates <2µ	MSWI residues from flue gas from
		(Greenberg et al., 1978)	(Belevi and Moench, 2000)
As	0	0.0022	0.0024
Ba	0	0.0092	0.13
Ca	0.25	0.24	11*
Cd	0.019	0.011	0.024
Со	0	0.00012	0.0010
Cr	0	0.0051	0.056
Cu	0.15	0.021	0.069
Fe	0.0069	0.0934	1.9
Hg	0.051	0	0.00050
К	14	NA	1.9
Mg	0	0.070	0.53
Mn	0	0.015	0.041
Na	7.3	1.0	2.1
Sb	0.073	0.025	0.092
Sn	0.21	0.11	0.11
Zn	2.1	1.2	2.2

* This figure will be complicated by the addition of lime to the flue gas to capture contaminants

Table 6	System detection	limits (mg m ⁻³)
Element	Detection Lim	it (mg m^{-3})
As	0.00271	0012592 (200 200
Ba	0.0174	
Ca	0.0589	
Cd	0.00623	
Со	0.00743	
Cr	0.0131	
Cu	0.00571	
Fe	0.0315	
Hg	0.0143	
K	0.0765*	
Mg	0.0275	
Mn	0.0119	
Na	0.0438*	
Sb	0.00604	
Sn	0.0175	
Zn	0.0141	

Figure 1 Schematic diagram of the waste incinerator plant, showing the sampling location



* Probably an over-estimate, due to measurable concentrations of the analyte in the assumed "blank" signal

Figure 2 Sodium concentrations for a 4.5 Hour Period as measured on the 589.592 nm emission line (NB Gaps in this and subsequent emission measurements are due to cleaning of the sample probe and cyclone to remove deposited ash).



Figure 3 Comparison of sodium and potassium concentrations for a 4.5 hour period, showing high correlation, but not exact overlay





Figure 4 Lead concentrations for a 4.5 hour period as measured on the 405.778 nm emission line







Figure 6 Zinc concentrations for a 4.5 hour period measured on the 213.856 nm line







Figure 8 Cadmium concentrations for a 4.5 hour period as measured on the 226.503 nm wavelength

Figure 9 Mercury concentrations for a 6 hour period as measured on the 253.653 nm wavelength



Page 18

Figure 10 Calcium concentrations for a 4.5 hour period as measured on the 422.673 nm wavelength ¹⁰ Plant temperature A x10⁻² (°c) Plant temperature B x10⁻² (°c) $I^{1.4}$



Continuous measurement of mercury in flue gas using ICP-OES[†]

P. J. Clarkson,^{*"} D. J. Poole,["] V. N. Sharifi,["] J. Swithenbank,["] H.-J. Waarlo,^h D. Ardelt^h and H. Falk^h

"Sheffield University Waste Incineration Centre, Department of Chemical and Process Engineering, Mappin Street, Sheffield S1 3JD. E-mail: p.j.clarkson@sheffield.ac.uk; Fax: +44 (0)114 222 7501; Tel: +44 (0)114 222 7570 ^hSPECTRO Analytical Instruments GmbH, Boschstr. 10, 47533 Kleve, Germany

Received 14th January 2004, Accepted 12th February 2004 First published as an Advance Article on the web 2nd March 2004

A system capable of continuously measuring mercury using ICP-OES, in the effluent gases from incineration and other industrial processes, has been verified using an experimental furnace.

Introduction

Experimental continuous emissions monitoring (CEM) techniques began appearing in the literature in the mid-1990s.^{1,2} The techniques described in the literature are inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry,³ laser induced plasma spectrometry,⁴ microwave-induced plasma spectroscopy,⁵ air inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy,⁶ and also argon inductively coupled plasma-optical/atomic emission spectrometry.⁷

One of the major challenges for CEM techniques has been obtaining accurate gas-phase calibrations.^{8,9} Due to potential losses in the gas sampling system, it has been questioned whether laboratory based calculations are representative of samples introduced at the start of the sample collection system.¹⁰ This experiment describes the practical verification of a laboratory calibration, using a volatile metal introduced into a combustion system, thereby confirming both the laboratory calibration and the efficacy of the sample collection system.

Mercury was chosen for this experiment as mercury is volatile, having a high vapour pressure at relatively low temperature. In addition, it undergoes few interactions with incinerator or other combustion systems, minimising complications due to in-furnace reactions.^{11,12} Mercury and mercury chloride are known to be the major species found in large-scale combustors, but mercury chloride was avoided for this experiment, due to the increased chances of interaction with the system.¹¹

It should be noted that mercury is one of the more difficult metals to detect by ICP, having relatively low sensitivity. Thus, it may reasonably be inferred that if it can be successfully measured at gas-phase concentrations approaching the calculated detection limit other, more sensitive, metals may also be detected, if they are present in the flue gas.

Experimental

Continuous emissions monitoring laboratory

The continuous emissions monitoring laboratory (CEML) is a self-contained mini-laboratory that is transportable using a crane and lorry. The CEML has been designed and built by project collaborator Spectro AI, Kleve, Germany. The specifications of the laboratory and instrumentation have been described in detail in our previous paper.¹³

Instrumentation

DOI: 10.1039/b400578c

652

All determinations were carried out using a Spectro Ciros-CCD ICP-OES with radial view configuration (Spectro AI, Kleve, Germany). The torch used for the analysis was a custom-built

† Electronic supplementary information (ESI) available: the emission profile for mercury. See http://www.rsc.org/suppdata/ja/b4/b400578c/

demountable torch with an injector id of 1.8 mm, to allow for the higher flow of coolant gas and higher power needed to sustain the plasma under atmospheric conditions.

www.rsc.org/jaas

Data was collected using the Spectro Smart Analyser software. A signal integration time was set at 24 s. General operating parameters are shown in Table 1.

Samples and sample collection

The sampling system is often the weakest part of a continuous monitoring system for gaseous samples, and the following design is based upon the experience of those most experienced in gas analysis system design.¹⁴ A 40 m heated sampling line (PTFE lined, id = 12 mm) was used to isokinetically sample gas from the flue of the test furnace at gas flow rates of 60 L min⁻¹. The sample line was operated at a temperature of 200 °C, to minimise deposition, and avoid problems of condensation. A continuous low flow rate sub-sample was taken, using a double head, out of phase, peristaltic pump *via* a secondary sampling stage at 0.24 L min⁻¹.

Calibration

Calibration was achieved by introducing a standard aerosol, prepared *in situ* using a modified lichte nebuliser. The nebuliser conditions were: peristaltic pump speed = 2, nebuliser gas flow 0.8 L min⁻¹, additional flow 0.7 L min⁻¹.

Elemental calibration standards were prepared from a stock solution (BDH, Poole, Dorset) covering the range 0.0104 mg m⁻³ to 2.082 mg m⁻³, the nebuliser efficiency having been previously determined by means of a mass-balance. Elemental calibrations were made with additional argon flow being used to maintain the total gas through the ICP torch at the level usually encountered when gas samples were being taken. Mercury was measured at 253.652 nm, with background corrections being made instrumentally.

The test furnace

The test furnace used was a small, fixed bed device, made of steel, and refractory lined. It was heated with an electrically controlled gas oil burner, capable of operating at between 28 and 60 kW of thermal output, with current burner settings leading to a thermal output of 30-32 kW. The exhaust gases

Table 1 ICP operating parameters

Parameter	Value
Generator frequency/MHz	27.15
Power rf/kW	1.7
Plasma gas flow rate/l min ⁻¹	20.0
Auxiliary gas flow rate/1 min -1	0.8
Aerosol carrier gas flow rate/1 min ⁻¹	0.8
Sample gas flow rate/1 min ⁻¹	0.24
Injector tube diameter/mm	1.8
Stabilisation time/s	15
Read time/s	40

generated passed through a vertical chimney and were released to the atmosphere without any gas clean-up. Gases were sampled by the CEML from a sampling point in the chimney, about 40 cm below the top. The furnace was fitted with a side entry port, to allow the introduction of solid samples directly into the combustion chamber, on a stainless steel probe.

Metal spikings in the test furnace

Small spikes of elemental mercury (99.99%, Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset) were added to the stainless steel sample introduction probe, which was placed in the furnace to allow evaporation. Sample masses between 0.0015 and 0.0258 g were added. The practicalities of the experimental system prevented smaller samples being introduced to the furnace as they could not be weighed accurately, so all spikings were above anticipated detection limits.

The concentration of metal present in the flue gas of the furnace was measured throughout the experiment using the ICP. The measured gas-phase concentrations were used to calculate the total amount of metal accounted for in the flue gas, and the mass of metal added was compared with the output.

Results and discussion

Continuous measurements

The emission profile for mercury observed in the flue gas of the furnace during the metal spiking experiment is shown in Fig. S1[†]. Twelve emission events are clearly observed, corresponding to twelve spiking events, two of which have been excluded from calculations as outliers. The maximum concentrations on the profile are approximately 8 mg m⁻³, for a furnace spike of 25 mg of mercury.

It should be noted that the responses do not appear to be significantly altered by changes in carbon dioxide emission or other interferences, and that as such observed variations in signal response do correspond to changes in flue metal concentration. Good baseline resolution is observed between emission events.

Calculation of total mercury in flue gas based on measured concentration

A spiking event in the furnace results in a spike of mercury in the flue gas of up to 8 mg⁻³, and typically lasting 3-4 min. A measurement of mercury in the flue gas was recorded every 26-27s. As the total flow of gas through the test furnace was known, the total amount of mercury released in the flue gas during a single measurement event could be calculated.

A comparison of the amounts of mercury added to the furnace with the calculated amount released from the furnace flue is shown in Fig. 1 (y = 1.0296x - 1.2398, $r^2 = 0.9677$). Agreement between the measured and calculated values is generally very good.





Conclusion

From the data presented in this work it has been shown that it is possible to quantitatively measure emission concentrations for elements in the gas phase using ICP-OES. This experiment has confirmed that the use of a nebuliser to generate an aqueous aerosol of standard is an acceptable method of calibration of a gas-phase measurement system. While the significance of the effect of changing gas composition (water, oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations) makes quantitative measurement challenging, this experiment has demonstrated that a good correlation is achieved between measurements of gas phase metal and known metallic input in laboratory conditions.

The authors believe that the verification method used in this experimental programme is the best possible method for ensuring the satisfactory behaviour of the whole analytical system, as it emulates as nearly as possible the type of matrix and variability observed in an industrial combustion system. It is believed that the outliers observed are due to the experimental technique, where a small quantity of mercury is being distributed into a large volume of gas, rather than the performance of the analytical system itself. The analysis has been proven to be both sensitive and accurate in a difficult analytical situation.¹

Although agreement is generally good between measured and calculated values, some outliers have been observed. In two cases, the measured amount of metal was slightly higher than the added amount. This could be due to a memory effect of mercury in the furnace or analytical system, or could be as a result of the assumptions made in the experimental design.

The data presented here show that the system may be successfully calibrated using aqueous standards to accurately measure metals in flue gases. This is a significant advance towards the acceptance of the accuracy of a developing continuous monitoring technology for metals in gaseous samples.

In continuing the development of the CEML system, and building on the work carried out to date, investigation will continue into the stability of the analytical system in a gas which has significantly variable bulk composition. In addition, investigations will be conducted into the measurement of metals which are volatile enough to be released into the gas phase, but which re-condense early in the combustion system, so require measurement as an aerosol of solid particles.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge and thank the following for the support, help and assistance in this project: EPSRC, Christian Trassy (LPC1), Mike O'Meara, and David Palmer (Department of Chemical and Process Engineering, University of Sheffield).

Notes and References

- M. Cresser, J. Armstrong, J. Cook, J. Dean, P. Watkins and 1 M. Cave, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 1995, 10, 9R-48R.
- 2 J. Dean, L. Garden, J. Armstrong, M. Cresser, M. Cave and
- P. Watkins, J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 1997, 12, 19R–87R.
 H. Klinkenberg, W. Van Borm and B. Kip, Spectrochim. Acta, Part B, 1997, 52, 1695–1709. 3
- 4 L. W. Peng, W. L. Flower, K. R. Hencken, H. A. Johnsen, R. F. Renzi and N. B. French, Process Control Qual., 1995, 1, 39-49.
- 5 P. Woskov, J. Surma and C. Titus, Rev. Sci. Imstrum., 1996, 67(10), 3700-3707.
- M. Seltzer and R. Green, Process Control Qual., 1994, 6, 37-46. 6
- G. Meyer and K. Lee, Process Control Qual., 1994, 6, 187-194. 7
- 8 N. B. French, W. Haas and S. Priebe, Spectroscopy, 2000, 15(7), 24-32.
- 9 C. Trassy, F. Petit, R. Diemiaszonek and P. Fauchais, High Temp. Mater. Process, 1997, 1(4),
- 10
- M. D. Seltzer, J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc., 2000, 50(6), 1010-1016. M. B. Chang, H. T. Wu and C. K. Huang, Sci. Total Environ., 11 2000, 246(2-3), 165-173.
- 12 R. N. Sliger, J. C. Kramlich and N. M. Marinov, Fuel Proc. Technol., 2000, 65-66, 423-438.
- P. J. Clarkson, D. J. Poole, C. K. Ryu, V. N. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank, H.-J. Waarlo, D. Ardelt and H. Falk, Anal. 13 Bioanal. Chem., 2003, 377, 39-47.
- 14 Christian Trassy, private communication.

J. Anal. At. Spectrom., 2004, 19, 652-653 653

SPECIAL ISSUE PAPER

^P. J. Clarkson · D. J. Poole · C. K. Ryu · V. N. Sharifi J. Swithenbank · H.-J. Waarlo · D. Ardelt · H. Falk

Continuous measurement of metals in flue gas using ICP-OES

Received: 20 February 2003 / Revised: 11 April 2003 / Accepted: 5 May 2003 / Published online: 3 July 2003 © Springer-Verlag 2003

Abstract A system capable of continuously measuring a tange of metallic elements in the effluent gas from incinerators and other similar industrial processes, and providing on-line results has been developed. With a state-ofthe-art mobile laboratory measurements were taken from a UK municipal solid waste incinerator. The detection system used was an ICP-OES, with a modified torch to allow the introduction of flue gas directly into the plasma. Metals that were investigated were Ni, Hg, V, Al, Na, Ca, Cu, Sn, Pb, Sb, As, Cd and Tl, with limits of detection in the range 0.0004 mg m⁻³ to 0.1 mg m⁻³ being calculated. Emission measurements produced data that showed that the MSWI plants emission were significantly lower than the emission limits specified in EC 2000/76/EC.

Keywords Flue gas · Continuous emission monitoring · ICP-OES · Metals · On-line analysis

Introduction

Incineration is often seen as an undesirable and environmentally unacceptable form of waste management. Much of the opposition appears to be based on the historic reality of incinerators, which were poorly controlled and highly polluting. Much is now known about the combustion process, formation of pollutants and pollutant removal or impact minimisation. Thus incineration plants now provide a highly sophisticated and controlled waste processing system [1, 2].

P. J. Clarkson (\boxtimes) · D. J. Poole · C. K. Ryu · V. N. Sharifi J. Swithenbank

Sheffield University Waste Incineration Centre, Department of Chemical and Process Engineering, Mappin Street, Sheffield, S1 3JD, UK e-mail: p.j.clarkson@sheffield.ac.uk

H.-J. Waarlo · D. Ardelt · H. Falk SPECTRO Analytical Instruments GmbH & Co., Boschstr. 10, 47533 Kleve, Germany At present between 5% and 9% of UK controlled waste is incinerated, and as energy can be recovered from incinerated material, through electricity generation, or district heating schemes, in this context, waste is seen as a renewable energy source, and so contributes to the electricity generation non-fossil fuel obligation (NFFO). Incinerator operating conditions are tightly controlled, so if operating within legislative limits, incineration is a relatively clean process for the disposal of waste, where none of the available options are ideal [3].

Current EC legislation limits permissible pollutant levels in gases, liquids, and solids resulting from incineration. These regulations require the continuous measurement of bulk pollutant constituents, such as SO_2 , HCl and dust, and extractive sampling of trace metal and organic pollutants [4].

Traditional extractive monitoring methodologies require the taking of discreet samples with subsequent laboratory based analysis. The development of real-time monitoring of element and heavy metals in gaseous samples is, therefore, seen as a major breakthrough in both the understanding of industrial processes and in the measurement of emissions for legislative purposes.

Without continuous and cost-effective sampling and analysis programmes, proper understanding of the elemental emissions from combustion processes will not be realised and hence, it will not be possible to develop informed control strategies designed to minimise gaseous emissions of toxic-metals. Current emissions legislation indicates that it is the intention of regulatory bodies to introduce continuous monitoring of metals, as soon as adequate technology becomes available [4, 5].

Experimental continuous emissions monitoring (CEM) techniques began appearing in the literature in the mid-1990s [6, 7]. Previously, there had been very little by way of multi-element continuous monitoring which may have been applicable to gaseous emissions from industrial processes. The techniques described in the literature are inductively coupled plasma – mass spectrometry [8], laser induced plasma spectrometry [9] (also known as spark-induced breakdown spectroscopy), microwave-induced plasma




spectroscopy [10], air inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy [11, 12, 13], and also argon inductively coupled plasma - optical/atomic emission spectrometry [14, 15, 16]. However to date, despite significant advances in these techniques, all of which are plasma based, none have been found to meet the quality requirements for regulatory endorsement [17, 18, 19]. Recent developments have either been in the laser- or microwaveinduced plasma techniques [18, 20], or in argon-ICP-OES [16, 21]. Meyer and Seltzer continue to work on an argon-ICP-OES system, but this is significantly different from the technique described here, in that the gas sampling system is different. Their technique uses a recirculating sample loop, analogous to the sample loop on an HPLC, whereas our system relies on a continuous subsampling from the isokinetic sample drawn from the flue [22].

The work presented here focuses on the measurement of the metals, that are required by current legislation, in the gaseous emission from an municipal solid waste incinerator. Data was obtained using a state-of-the-art mobile laboratory-based continuous emission monitoring system using ICP-OES-CCD detection. This unique system, built in collaboration with Spectro AI, is a self-contained laboratory that is designed to be used at industrial locations for the measurement of gaseous emissions.

Experimental

Continuous emission monitoring laboratory

The continuous emission monitoring laboratory (CEML) is a selfcontained mini laboratory that is transportable using a crane and lorry. The CEML has been designed and built by project collaborator Spectro AI, Kleve, Germany. The dimensions of the CEML are 6.5 m×2.4 m with an overall height of 3.5 m, and a nominal weight of 7.2 tonnes.

The CEML requires a mains power supply of 30-40 kVA and supplied through an externally mounted 40 kKA transformer. The CEML also is supplied with an externally mounted 230-L capacity cryotank, for liquid argon.

Table 1 ICP operating parameters

Parameter	Value
Generator Frequency (MHz)	27.15
Power RF (kW)	1.7
Plasma gas flow rate (Lmin ⁻¹)	20.0
Auxiliary gas flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	0.8
Aerosol carrier gas flow rate (Lmin ⁻¹)	0.7
Sample gas flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	0.24
Injector tube diameter (mm)	1.8
Stabilisation time (s)	15
Read time (s)	40

Table lines

2 Element emission	Element	Wavelength (nm)
	Carbon (I)	247.856
	Nitrogen (I)	174.273
	Oxygen (I)	130.485
	Argon (I)	430.010
	Sodium (I)	589.592
	Calcium (II)	393.366
	Aluminium (I)	396.152
	Thallium (I)	276.800
	Tin (I)	303.413
	Lead (II)	405.785
	Antimony (I)	252.852
	Arsenic (I)	193.759
	Nickel (I)	341.476
	Copper (I)	324.754
	Cadmium (II)	226.502
	Mercury (I)	253.652

Instrumentation

All determinations were carried out using a Spectro Ciros-CCD ICP-OES with radial view configuration (Spectro AI, Kleve, Germany). The torch used for the analysis was a custom built demountable torch with an injector i.d. of 1.8 mm, to allow for the higher flow of coolant gas and higher power, needed to sustain the plasma under atmospheric conditions. Fig. 1 shows a schematic diagram of the instrumental configuration.



Fig. 2 Schematic diagram of the incineration plant



Fig.3 Image of continuous emissions monitoring laboratory at MSWI plant

Fig. 4 Chart showing relationship between carbon emission signal and carbon dioxide concentration Plasma gas flows, such as coolant flow, nebuliser flow and auxiliary flow were optimised by measuring plasma temperature [23]. Data was collected using the Spectro Smart Analyser software. A signal integration time was set at 44 s. Operating parameters are shown in Table 1, while the emission lines are shown in Table 2.

This instrument comprises a solid-state CCD detector with continuous wavelength coverage from 125 nm to 770 nm, this provides approximately 40,000 measurable emission lines. With the CCD detector it is possible to set the background corrections so that interferences from carbon molecular and other species are reduced. The background correction feature is controlled by the software.

Samples and sample collection

Using a 40-m heated sampling line (PTFE lined, i.d.=12 mm) gas was isokinetically sampled from the flue stack at gas flow rates of 60 L min⁻¹. The sample line was operated at a temperature of 200 °C. A continuous low flow rate sub-sample was taken, using a double head, out of phase, peristaltic pump via a secondary sampling stage at 0.24 L min^{-1} .

Calibration

Calibration was achieved by introducing a standard aerosol, prepared in-situ using a Spectro USN200 Ultrasonic Nebuliser (USN) with the carrier gas being drawn through the USN by the peristaltic pump. The ultrasonic nebuliser conditions were: heater temperature 160 °C, cooler temperature 2 °C with a carrier gas flow being $0.24 \, \text{L}\,\text{min}^{-1}$. The USN is used to provide a dry aerosol that contains the elements of interest, as well as to normalise the water content of the sample gas, thus making the calibration conditions as close to the sampling conditions as possible.

Elemental calibration standards were prepared from a stock solution (BDH, Poole, Dorset) covering the range 1.2 ng m^{-3} to 0.12 mg m⁻³. Elemental calibration measurements were taken at different carbon dioxide concentrations. Artificial flue gas mixtures were prepared with carbon dioxide concentrations of 0%, 5% and 10%. These mixtures were prepared from nitrogen, oxygen and carbon dioxide cylinders through suitable mass flow controllers. Carbon dioxide calibration is also measured using these



Fig. 5 Charts showing carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations against time



gas mixtures. On-line calibration checks were performed during experimental runs by nebulising a known standard during flue gas measurements.

Industrial plant studies

The CEML system was used in a field trial at a municipal solid waste incineration (MSWI) plant. The plant had 2 lines, each incinerating up to 12 tonnes of waste per hour. The plant had an energy recovery system, generating electricity and providing heating to local buildings. Flue gas treatment comprised of a dry scrubbing system using hydrated lime and activated carbon, followed by bag filters. The plant gas cleanup system is designed to remove particulate matter down to 5 µm, which results in an air pollution control residue containing fly ash and products arising from the lime and carbon cleanup system. A schematic overview of the incineration process is shown in Fig. 2. The analytical sampling point was located in the duct following the filtration system and is the one used for legislative sampling.

The constituents of MSWI flue gas are variable but are generally considered to contain 10-15% carbon dioxide, 10-15% water, 5-10% oxygen, with trace levels of carbon monoxide, SOx and

NO_x. The CEML was transported to the plant by lorry and for the duration of the sampling regime was left on the trailer. This is seen in Fig. 3. The plant provided power and water to the CEML, and the liquid argon was supplied on-site by Cryoservice (Worcester, UK). After arrival at the plant, the CEML was powered up and the ICP-OES was allowed to equilibrate for 24 h before use.

Measurements were taken over an extended sampling period. This time covered plant waste delivery and shift change overs.

Results and discussion

Carbon dioxide measurement

Using the CEML it is possible to measure the concentration of bulk gases such as oxygen, nitrogen and carbon dioxide. However at a municipal solid waste incinerator, it is usually only necessary to measure oxygen and carbon monoxide.



Using artificial flue gas of known concentrations, emission signals were measured at 130.485 nm for oxygen, 247.856 nm for carbon and 430.010 nm for argon. Figure 4 shows the plot of carbon emission signal and carbon dioxide concentration. From this it is possible to see that there is a linear relationship between carbon signal and carbon concentration. A similar relationship is also seen between oxygen concentration and the oxygen emission signal.

alcium and arsenic

As oxygen and carbon signals are linked it is possible prepare a calibration plot by plotting carbon (or oxygen) concentration verses corrected signal. The corrected signal is calculated from Eq. 1. To calculate oxygen concentration, the carbon and oxygen emission signals are inverted in the equation.

$$Sig_{corr} = \frac{C_{sig}}{O_{sig}} \times Ar_{sig}$$
(1)

It is therefore possible to calculate the slope and intercept for this slope, from which it is possible to calculate the concentration in an analytical sample.

As part of an industrial trial that will be discussed in a later section, bulk gas composition was measured. The carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations are shown in Fig. 5, where it is observed that in general there is an inverse correlation between oxygen and carbon dioxide.

In order to assess the validity of the data obtained from the CEML it was necessary to obtain data from an alternative source. During the trials, carbon dioxide and oxy-

 Table 3
 Calibration statistics

Table 4 Limit of detection

Ele- ment		Slope	Intercept	r ²	Ele- ment	CO_2 concentr
Ni	0%	45308.37	948.6119	0.999892		(10)
	5%	44706.02	935.6884	0.999913	Ni	0
	10%	44053.07	838.8854	0.999591		5
Hg	0%	922.8003	410.247	0.999642		10
	5%	906.2942	343.1156	0.999578	Hg	0
	10%	874.4452	339.9031	0.99865		5 10
v	0%	21660.2	661.9839	0.999838		10
	5%	21542.28	580.1077	0.99985	V	0
	10%	21534.93	427.2433	0.999225		2 10
Al	0%	53906.57	-604.703	0.999547		10
	5%	54419.32	-668.581	0.999578	Al	0
	10%	54741.61	-754.536	0.99921		10
Na	0%	249819.7	6540.084	0.999739	NT-	10
	5%	240418.3	6267.646	0.999149	Na	0
	10%	244756.5	8037.863	0.997173		10
Ca	0%	559802.9	-11966.4	0.998928	C -	10
	5%	534351.9	-6018.21	0.99973	Ca	0
	10%	517055.9	-5699.88	0.999757		2 10
Sn	0%	3445.364	740.3374	0.999849	•	10
	5%	3368.34	610.4997	0.999713	Sn	0
	10%	3264.343	623.4102	0.999786		2 10
РЬ	0%	7396.693	2737.054	0.999046	To1.	10
	5%	7137.311	3479.283	0.999422	PD	5
	10%	7045.092	4957.168	0.999156		10
Sb	0%	1635.286	571.2113	0.999694	C 1	0
	5%	1622.771	539.2186	0.999798	20	5
	10%	1608.765	489.3098	0.999332		10
As	0%	272.3416	1157.173	0.979594	A -	0
	5%	238.2767	1154.074	0.994749	As	5
	10%	290.9608	1342.800	0.980201		10
Cd	0%	1427.578	1943.534	0.999346	C 4	0
	5%	1408.996	1821.040	0.999465	Cu	5
	10%	1423.485	1/9/.51	0.999775		10
Cu	0%	128785.8	-266.439	0.99995	m	10
	5%	127972.8	-538.096	0.999896	11	5
	10%	120494.3	-009.812	0.9997/9		5 10
T1	0%	677.3083	342.0636	0.997859	<u></u>	10
	5%	729.3378	302.5626	0.995878		
	10%	/06.9044	300.7998	0.997523		

•	Ele- ment	CO ₂ concentration (%)	Limit of detection (mg m ⁻³)	Background equivalent concentration (mg m ⁻³)
	Ni	0 5 10	0.00080 0.00026 0.00068	0.00040 0.00013 0.00034
	Hg	0 5 10	0.02335 0.01905 0.02759	0.01167 0.00953 0.01380
	v	0 5 10	0.00230 0.00116 0.00094	0.00115 0.00058 0.00047
	Al	0 5 10	0.00005 0.00049 0.00006	0.00002 0.00024 0.00003
	Na	0 5 10	0.00022 0.00005 0.00019	0.00011 0.00002 0.00010
I	Ca	0 5 10	0.00004 0.00003 0.00004	0.000018 0.000015 0.000019
1	Sn	0 5 10	0.00621 0.00550 0.00772	0.00310 0.00275 0.00386
]	РЪ	0 5 10	0.00203 0.00184 0.00554	0.00101 0.00092 0.00277
ŝ	Sb	0 5 10	0.01616 0.00920 0.00389	0.00808 0.00460 0.00195
1	As	0 5 10	0.04084 0.11229 0.08801	0.02042 0.05614 0.04401
(Cđ	0 5 10	0.01851 0.01937 0.01913	0.00925 0.00968 0.00956
]	rı 	0 5 10	0.02369 0.00530 0.00947	0.01185 0.00265 0.00474

gen were monitored using gas analysers. Visual observation confirmed that the observed data and calculated data correlated to some degree.

It was also possible to obtain data from the oxygen analysers on the plant and it observed that there is good correlation between the two data sets. However, it should be noted that the location of the oxygen gas analyser was different to the CEML sampling point, and also that the time base of the analyser was different to from that of the CEML system.

The fluctuation in the carbon dioxide content of the gas sample is directly related to the temperature of the furnace. When the temperature drops, and waste is added, highly combustible material will burn rapidly, causing a peak in the carbon content of the flue gas. Carbon dioxide has been observed to be the major component of the flue gas that affects the plasma. Other combustion by-products such as SO_2 and NO_x are effectively removed from the gas stream by the MSWI plants flue gas treatment system.

Calibration

Calibration curves for calcium and arsenic are shown in Fig. 6. It can be seen that in general, linearity has been obtained over a wide calibration range. The carbon dioxide content of the sample can be seen to affect the calibration, both in terms of sensitivity, as shown by a change in line gradient, and background noise, as shown by intercept value. Calibration details for the full range of elements being discussed are shown in Table 3.



The calibration lines show two distinct features, which are both related to the effects on the plasma of carbon dioxide. The first phenomena is that for the calibration performed with elevated levels of carbon dioxide, the gradient of the calibration line differs compared with that of the atmospheric air calibration. Aluminium and nickel show signal enhancement whereas vanadium exhibits signal suppression. The effect on mercury is small, but shows a slight enhancement.

and mercury

There are two main reasons for signal sensitivity change due to increased carbon dioxide in the plasma. The first is the quenching effect of the molecular gas, which will reduce the plasma temperature. As plasma temperature drops, the Boltzmann energy distribution of elements in the plasma will change. In particular, high upper-energy transitions will become less accessible, so signals corresponding to high-energy (ionic) transitions will tend to be suppressed [24]. The second effect is that of ionic species

generated, such as C^+ . These are believed to aid ionisation of elements with lower ionisation energies than themselves. Thus hard to ionise elements such as Hg can show significant enhancement in sensitivity, whereas the effect on more easily ionisable elements such as Sn, Pb, and Ni is less [25, 26]. However, an examination of ionisation energies shows that this is significant, but not the only factor affecting signal response. The overall observed result of these two competing effects on signal may be an increase, decrease, or no significant change in sensitivity, but it is not the aim of this paper to discuss in detail the thermodynamic reasons for the effect on each element.

The second phenomenon observed is an increase in the value of the intercept. This is caused by an increase in the background noise at higher carbon dioxide concentrations. Evidence of this is also seen in the spectra, where an increasing carbon dioxide level gives rise to extra emission lines. The emission lines are thought to originate from molecular emissions of carbon dioxide and other species produced in the plasma [27]. The Ciros-CCD detector allows improved ability to correct for this problem over older detector technologies. A background signal can be taken to the side of the analyte signal, and this value subtracted from the peak, in order to perform a background correction.

Limits of detection

Limits of detection and BEC values are seen to change, as shown in Table 4. The detection limit is the concentration that is obtained when the measured signal differs significantly from the background. It is defined here as the concentration that corresponds to a net signal two times larger than the standard deviation of the background. The background equivalent concentration is the concentration that corresponds to the background signal.

Continuous measurements

Trace metals

As can be seen from the data presented in Fig. 7, this project has demonstrated the potential for the continuous measurement of metals in the gas phase. The results shown are taken from a 24-h sampling period. The charts shown in Fig. 7, show two distinct features. These spikes at approximately 15:30hrs and 10:00hrs are from analytical quality standards that were used to check the accuracy of the calibration. Differences in the sensitivity of the emission lines can be seen in the shapes of the peaks, with cadmium giving significantly narrower peaks than the more sensitive nickel.

It should be noted that the responses do not appear to be related to interferences from carbon dioxide emission, and that as such observed variations in signal response do correspond to changes in flue metal concentration. It is evident that the on-line calibration check has the potential

Table 5 Results of alternative sampling protocols at the MSWI

Metal	Limit (2000/76/EC) (mg m ⁻³)	Extractive Test 1 (mg m ⁻³)	Extractive Test 2 (mg m ⁻³)
Hg Cd Tl	0.05	0.00014	0.00016
$\Sigma Cd + Tl$	0.05	0.00047	0.00026
Sb		< 0.00073	0.0041
As		<0.00073	<0.00074
РЬ		0.0015	0.00074
Cr		0.0018	0.0048
Co		< 0.00022	< 0.00022
Cu		0.0058	0.00074
Mn		0.080	0.0020
Ni		0.0061	0.021
v		< 0.00022	< 0.00022
Σ Metals	0.5	0.096	0.034

to introduce a systematic error, as it does not take account of flue metal emissions at the point where the standard is introduced. However, as can be seen from Fig. 7, the standards have a significantly higher concentration than the flue gas does, so the error will be minimal, and thus this technique provides a useful check of measurement performance, in terms of sensitivity and accuracy, during extended runs.

The data shown in Table 5, shows the results of the MSWI plants most recent legislative flue gas analysis. It can be seen that for both analytical tests plant is operating well below the required limit, which is also shown. Using this data and the results from the CEML it can be seen that the values obtained are of a comparable magnitude. And also that the calculated limits of detection (Table 4) of the CEML are significantly lower than the legislative limit, thus giving confidence that the results obtained are reliable.

Conclusion

The legislation that controls the emissions from MSWI plant, EC 2000/76/EC indicates that it is the intention of European regulatory bodies to introduce continuous monitoring of metal when the technology becomes available. The data presented here shows that the technique is capable of continuously measuring the desired metals at the appropriate limits of detection.

From the data presented in this work it has been shown that it is possible to quantitatively measure emission concentrations for elements in the gaseous emissions from an MSWI plant using ICP-OES. It has also been shown that is it possible to look at processes occurring in the gas and particulate phases. Furthermore, by adjusting the sampling time, it will be possible to adjust the resolution accordingly.

In continuing the development of the CEML system, and building on the work carried out to date, investigation will continue by widening the range of elements under inrestigation and identifying the best emission lines for use with this instrument, for the unusual sample matrix of a gas which has significantly variable bulk composition. In doing this not only will the quality of the information obained from the system improve but also knowledge will be gained that will be beneficial in developing the system further. This will lead to the validation of the method, and the demonstration of accuracy and reproducibility by comparison with approved analysis methods.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to acknowledge and hank the following for the support, help and assistance in this protect: EPSRC, Christian Trassy (LPCI), Prof Cameron McLeod (Centre for Analytical Sciences, Department of Chemistry, University of Sheffield.), Mike O'Meara, David Palmer, and Stuart Richards (Department of Chemical and Process Engineering, University of Sheffield.), Bruce Aucot and David Firth (Spectro UK).

References

- 1. Thispe S, Dreizin E (2002) Chemosphere 46:837-849
- 2. Abad E, Adrados A, Caixach J, Rivera J (2002) Environ Sci Technol 36:92-99
- 3. Williams P (1998) Waste treatment and disposal. Wiley
- 4. Fontaine N (2000) Official J Eur Communities L332:91–111
- 5. Bastian R, Lambert R (2000) Waste Manage 20:369–377
- 6. Cresser M, Armstrong J, Cook J, Dean J, Watkins P, Cave M (1995) J Anal At Spectrom 10:9R-48R
- 7. Dean J, Garden L, Armstrong J, Cresser M, Cave M, Watkins P (1997) J Anal At Spectrom 12:19R-87R

- Klinkenberg H, Van Borm W, Kip B (1997) Spectrochemica Acta Part B 52:1695–1709
- 9. Peng L et al (1995) Process Control Quality 7:39-49
- 10. Woskov P, Surma J, Titus C (1996) Rev Sci Instrum 67(10):3700-3707
- 11. Nore D, Gomes A, Bacri J, Cabe J (1993) Spectrochemica Acta Part B 48:1411–1419
- 12. Seltzer M, Green R (1994) Process Control Quality 6:37-46
- 13. Durham M, Schlager R, Hyatt D (1994) Fuel Process Technol 39:277-284
- 14. Meyer G, Lee K (1994) Process Control Quality 6:187-194
- 15. Trassy C, Diemiaszonek R (1995) J Anal At Spectrom 10: 661-669
- Hassaine S, Trassy C, Proulx P (2001) High Temp Mater Process 5:313–331
- 17.Limieux P, Ryan J, French N, Haas W, Priebe S, Burns D (1998) Waste Manage 18:385–391
- Woskov P, Hadidi K, Thomas P, Green K, Flores G (2000) Waste Manage 20:395–402
- Hill S, Arowolo T, Butler O, Chenery S, Cook J, Cresser M, Miles D (2002) J Anal At Spectrom 17:284–317
- 20. Buckley S, Johnsen H, Hencken K, Hahn D (2000) Waste Manage 20:455-462
- 21. Seltzer M (2000) J Air Waste Manage Assoc 50(6):1010-1016
- 22. Seltzer M, Meyer G (1997) Environ Sci Technol 31:2665-2672
- 23. Method described in private communication with Christian Trassy, LPCI
- 24. Hassaine S, Trassy C, Proulx P (2001) High Temp Mater Process 5:313–331
- 25. Allain P, Jaunault L, Mauras Y, Mermet J-M, Delaporte T (1991) Anal Chem 63:1497-1498
- 26. Pécheyran C, Quetel CR, Lecuyer MM, Donard OFX (1998) Anal Chem 70:2639–2645
- 27. Seltzer MD (1998) Appl Spectrosc 52(2):195-199

Appendix 2: Analysis of MSW Incinerator Residues for

Metals by ICP-OES

1.1 Introduction

This analytical method describes the preparation and analysis of solid residues remaining from municipal solid waste for heavy metals by ICP-OES.

1.2 Sample Preparation

Reagents, Materials and Equipment

The following materials were used in the preparation and analysis of samples:

- High purity distilled or deionised water
- Metal stock solution of 20 µg/ml (in 2 % HNO₃, prepared from the nitrate,). Used in the preparation of calibration standards
- Alternative stock 20 µg/ml metal calibration standard (Bernd Kraft GmbH Salze & Lösungen, Duisburg, Germany)
- High purity nitric acid (69% (m/v)) Aristar grade (Merck/BDH, Merck House, Poole, Dorset, UK).
- High purity hydrochloric acid (70% (m/v)) Aristar grade (Merck/BDH, Merck House, Poole, Dorset, UK).
- Graduated 15 or 50 ml test tubes (Sarstedt Ltd, 68 Boston Road, Beaumont Leys, Leicester, UK).
- Teflon beakers(SLS, Ruddington Lane Nottingham, UK).
- Cross-beater rotary mill (Model 16-150, Glen Creston Ltd, Middlesex, England)
- Thermal 6-Sample Digester (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK).
- 4-figure digital electronic balance.
- ICP-OES (Spectro Ciros CCD)

Pre-Preparation of Laboratory Samples

The raw sample is thoroughly mixed, coned and quartered, and divided into two equal portions. Half of the sample is retained, with the other half being ground using a cross-beater rotary mill (Model 16-150, Glen Creston Ltd, Middlesex, England), until it is small enough to pass through a 0.5 mm mill mesh. For samples with a large initial particle size, multiple milling stages may be required. The ground material is mixed, and stored in sealed plastic containers. Laboratory sub-samples are taken in 50ml polypropylene sample tubes for analytical purposes.

Preparation of Samples

Two strong acid digestion methods may be used, both of which are digestions using a mixture of concentrated hydrochloric and nitric acids (aqua regia). The first is a conventional thermal digestion, where the samples are boiled in the acid mixture in an electrical heating unit. The second is a microwave-assisted sealed tube digestion, which had the advantage of offering more "harsh" digestion conditions but is only capable of using a smaller sample.

Thermal Digestion

2.0 g samples of solid are weighed accurately on a 4-figure balance, and placed in the acid-rinsed 350 ml pyrex tubes of a Büchi 6-Sample Digester (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK). 15ml of hydrochloric acid is added, followed by 7.5ml of nitric acid, and the samples were boiled for 2 hours. The temperature is maintained such that a reflux is maintained on the tube sides, which are air cooled, to conserve the sample volume. The samples are periodically agitated, to ensure that the whole of the solid sample is exposed to the acid mixture. If loss of acid volume is noted, further acid may be added as required, after allowing the tubes to cool

Microwave Assisted Digestion

Samples are digested using an Anton Paar Multiwave 3000 microwave digester (Anton Paar, Hertfordshire, UK). 8 samples were digested simultaneously. 0.5g of solid is weighed accurately on a 4-figure balance, and placed in the acid-rinsed digestion vessel. 6 ml of nitric acid is added, followed by 1ml of hydrochloric acid. The samples are placed in the microwave, and were microwaved at 1400w, ramped linearly from zero over 5 minutes, and held at full power for 20 minutes.

Sample Preparation for Analysis

Digested samples (from either digestion method) are allowed to cool, filtered or centrifuged to remove or compact any insoluble material, and diluted to 50 ml with deionised water. These samples are collected in 50ml polypropylene tubes, and stored at room temperature prior to analysis by ICP-OES. For major constituents (e.g. aluminium, calcium, sodium), 10-fold, 100-fold or even 1000-fold dilution of the initial sample may be required, to obtain concentrations in the range measurable by the instrument.

1.3 Sample Analysis

Instrumentation - ICP-OES

Metals are determined at the optimum emission lines for the elements under investigation using a Spectro CirosTM CCD ICP Atomic Emission Spectrometer with radial viewing configuration. The sample introduction system consists of a Modified Lichte nebuliser and a glass spray chamber. Main operating parameters are (nominally): forward power, 1400 W; plasma gas flow, 12 l/min; auxiliary gas flow, 1.0 l/min; nebuliser gas flow, 0.9 l/min. Samples, which are manually introduced, are initially aspirated for 20 seconds at a relatively high pump speed (pump speed 4), and then the system is stabilised for 20 seconds (pump speed 2, equating to ~ 2 ml/min) prior to measurement. Data acquisition is based on measurement in the "quantification mode" with simultaneous on and off peak measurement (for background correction). The instrument determines signal integration times automatically and three replicate measurements along with their mean are acquired for each sample solution.

1.4 Calibration

Standard Solutions

The following calibration standard solutions, outlined in the table below, are prepared by serial dilutions of the stock solutions with appropriate additions of 10%HNO₃.

Table 1:	Calibration	standard	solutions

calibration	element	concentration
standard	(ng/ml)	
1	0	
2	10	
3	100	
4	500	
5	1000	
6	5000	
7	10000	

These standards are introduced into the ICP instrument to establish calibration curves.

ICP-AES Calibration

The calibration curves are constructed as the Element signal versus concentration and expressed as y = mx + c, where y = Element emission in cps, x = Element concentration and m is the calculated slope. A calibration curve is prepared before analysis commences, and checked at the end of the analysis run.

Raw Data

Once prepared all samples are analysed by ICP-AES. Results are stored electronically and in paper form.

Appendix 3: Quantification of USN Transport Properties

Introduction

In normal analysis of liquids by ICP-OES, the exact efficiency and aerosol formation parameters of the nebuliser do not need to be known, as it may reasonably be assumed that the calibration standards and samples, all of which are liquids, are nebulised with similar efficiency. However, in order to quantify gas-phase metal concentrations, the gas-phase standard concentration arising from the introduction of liquid standards to the nebuliser must be accurately known. This is achieved through a simple massbalance calculation on the device.

Calculation Procedure

There are three inputs to the nebuliser, and 3 outputs.

The inputs are of liquid calibration standard, flue gas, and nebuliser argon. The outputs are an aerosol to the ICP, and spray chamber and condenser liquid waste.

The gross efficiency of aerosol production is simply calculated by determining the mass of calibration standard consumed per unit time (which does not end up in either waste stream), and dividing by the known gas flows through the ICP:

$$C_{aer} = \frac{(Mass_{CS} - Mass_{SW} - Mass_{CW})}{(Volume_{SG} + Volume_{Ar})}$$

Where

and

Caer	is the aerosol concentration (mgm ⁻³)
Mass _{cs}	is the mass of calibration standard used (mg)
Mass _{sw}	is the mass of spray chamber waste produced (mg)
Mass _{cw}	is the mass of condenser waste produced (mg)
Volume _{sg}	is the volume of sample gas flowing through the nebuliser (m^3)
Volume _{Ar}	is the volume of nebuliser argon flowing through the nebuliser (m^3)

Thus a gas-phase concentration of calibration standard solution is obtained, from which the concentration of an individual metal is easily calculated from the proportion of that metal in the standard (i.e. a 20 ppm standard has 20mg of metal in 10 000 000 mg of liquid and thus the aerosol concentration of metal is $2x10^{-6}$ lower than that of the aerosol as a whole). Typically, when determining aerosol density experimentally, 3 repeat measurements are made, each lasting 5-10 minutes, to improve the calculation accuracy, as the nebuliser efficiency can vary somewhat over time, and varying transport of liquid wastes out of the nebuliser can affect the mass-balance values obtained.

Although this calculation can be perfectly acceptable ordinarily, it does not account for the fact that the nebulisation efficiencies of the metals in a standard solution can be markedly different from that of the carrier solution itself. Thus improved accuracy may be obtained if the wastes obtained are analysed by ICP-OES, and the mass balance for metals, rather than total solution mass, is obtained. Although a more involved and lengthy process, this has been found to be worthwhile, with the basic calculation remaining the same, only with the concentration of metals in the wastes being quantified. This is the method used in the results reported in the thesis. Efficiencies actually vary a little from metal to metal, but an average for all analytes is usually used.

Appendix 4: Quantification of Sampling System Transport

Properties

Background

In all analytical systems the collection and preparation of the sample is the key to the delivering accurate and reproducible results. The taking of gas samples is difficult for several reasons, not least of which are the effects of temperature and pressure on the sample volume. There was therefore a need to characterise the sample line and understand the sampling process used in the CEML.

In the original instrumental configuration for the CEML, a needle-valved, flow meter was located between the primary pump and the secondary sampling head. Initial investigations showed that if the flow meter was set to 100L min⁻¹, the flow at the sample point would read 20-30L min⁻¹. This apparent anomaly has led to a study of the heated sample line, in an attempt to understand the mechanisms that are involved in the sampling process. The following section will show, however, that this is not an anomalous measurement, but is a function of the physical properties of the gases.

Theory

The sample collection system for the CEML is shown in Figure 1. The values shown are typical for the system in whilst connected to the test rig at the Harpur Hill Research Station in Buxton. At the test site the typical temperature of the flue gas at the sampling point is 300-500°C, whereas at a MSW incinerator, the temperature would typically be 130°C.



Figure 1: Schematic diagram showing the sample collection system with flow and temperature measurement points

Conservation of Matter

In a closed system, matter cannot be created or destroyed. In this system, a constant mass of matter enters and leaves the system per unit time. However, as we shall see, the volume of the matter need not remain constant, as temperature and pressure change, and this has an effect on the amount of matter taken at the point of secondary sampling.

Charles's law: V a T (at constant pressure)

When a gas is heated, it increases in volume in proportion to its temperature. When the flow was measured at the sampling end of the sample line, the furnace was off, and ambient air was used as the sample gas. Thus when the gas was heated within the sampling line, expansion occurs. Therefore, when the flow rate (i.e. volume of flow per unit time) was measured inside the CEML, at 70° C, the value had increased from that measured at the start of the sample line.

Boyle's Law: p a 1/V

Although both the sample inlet and exhausts are subject to the same atmospheric pressure, a reduced pressure is experienced in the pipe at the CEML end, due to the effect of the primary pump, and the resistance to flow caused by the length of the sampling pipe.

The Combined Gas Law:

Illustrative Calculation

The theory was tested by measuring temperature and volume at both the sample probe tip and at the CEML flow meter, when the probe was sampling ambient air.

$$\frac{p_1 V_1}{n_1 T_1} = \frac{p_2 V_2}{n_2 T_2}$$

1 = Sample Probe flow meter measurements2 = CEML Flow meter measurements p_1 (Pressure sample probe)= 1 atm (assumed) p_2 (Pressure CEML Flow Meter)= 0.944 atm(measured at secondary sampling head, equivalent to 2.05" Hg below atmospheric) T_1 (Temp sample probe) $= 11^\circ C = 284$ K, T_2 (Temp CEML Flow Meter) $= \sim 70^\circ C = 343$ K, V_1 (Volume sample probe) (per unit time)= 65 Ln = constant, so eliminates from calculation

1*65_	0.944 <i>x</i>
284	343
1*65*	343
284 * 0	.944 - 2
x = 83L	,

The value obtained, 83 L min⁻¹ (calculated), indicates an expansion of the gas between collection at ambient temperature, and measurement in the cabin following heating of the gas, and subjection to a slight vacuum. However, the variation between measured (110 L min⁻¹) and calculated (83 L min⁻¹) flow rates, indicates that the measurements and theory presented so far do not fully explain the observed phenomenon of apparent gas expansion.

Rotameter Measurement Density, Temperature and Pressure Correction

The flow meters used were designed to work for specific gases under specified temperatures and pressures, which were not always the same as measurement conditions. If measurements are made other that at Atmospheric Temperature and Pressure (ATP), the standard conditions specified, then mathematical corrections must be made for the measurement of a different gas from the one specified for the device, and for measurements at different temperatures and pressures.

$$F_{true} = \frac{F_{Meas,G}}{K}$$

Where F_{true} is the true flow rate (L min⁻¹) at the temperature and pressure measured, $F_{meas, G}$ is the measured flow rate (L min⁻¹) for a specific gas rotameter under those conditions, and K is a "sizing factor" evaluated as follows:

$$K = \sqrt{R \frac{T_2}{P_2} \frac{P_{std}}{T_{std}}}$$

Where R is the relative density of the measured gas (relative to air), T_2 and P_2 are the Temperature and Pressure of the gas as measured respectively, and P_{std} and T_{std} are the standard specified measurement conditions for the rotameter in question, usually 1.013 Bar and 293 K.

It will be noted that the expression includes the temperature and pressure corrections as in our previous calculations, and also a density correction not yet considered. These equations were used to calculate the actual flow rate encountered at the measurement points, which gave rise to the observed measurements. The results were also standardised to ATP, to see what the standardised "true" flow at the two measurement locations would be. The results are summarised in Table 1.

140.011	measured	pressure	sizing factor	relative	temp	sizing factor	Actual flow
location	$(L \min^{-1})$	P_{meas} (atm)	correction, K	density, R	(K)	(L min ⁻¹)s	$(L \min^{-1})$
pump end	110	0.944	1.121	1	343	98.14	78.13
probe end	65	1.013	0.838	0.725	284	77.54	80.00

 Table 1: Flow parameters at different points in the CEML sampling system

Thus it can be seen that observed measurements of flow of 65 L min⁻¹ atmospheric temperature air (measured with an argon flow meter), and 110 L min⁻¹ (measured with an air flow meter at about 70°C) are entirely consistent with one another, corresponding to the same "absolute" flow. An agreement of 97% is obtained between the two measurements for the absolute flow at ATP, which is reasonable, given the error associated with the measurements (typically 2%), due to fluctuations in both flow and temperature.

Nevertheless, in this example it is seen that an expansion of 27% of the actual volume of sample gas does indeed occur between the start and end of the sample line when measuring ambient air. This would account for a drop in measured concentration of an analyte of about 30%, if the flue gases were at ambient temperature when sampled, and the conditions in the secondary sampling head were the same as those measured at the rotameter.

Gas Volume Correction under Measurement Conditions

Thus the question arises as to what changes in sample volume are occurring between flue sampling point, secondary sampling, and ICP measurement, when measurements are being made. An extensive study of the temperature, pressure and volume profile of the sampling system was undertaken, the results of which are shown in Figure 1. In this situation, where the sample removed from the flue is at higher temperature and pressure than at the point of removal of the secondary sample, there is a fall in sample volume between collection and secondary sampling, and so an effective preconcentration of analyte concentration per unit volume. Again, the sample removed from the secondary sampling device is at a higher temperature than that reaching the ICP, so there is further effective pre-concentration in the secondary sampling line. The effects on sample volume are summarised in Table 2.

	measured pressure			R temp		corrected	actual flow	
location	flow rate (L min ⁻¹)	P _{meas} (atm)	sizing factor, K	relative. density	. T _{Meas} (K)	flow (L min ⁻¹)	at ATP (L min ⁻¹)	enrichment factor
flue	208 L	1.013	1.24	0.73	623	168 L	79 L	
secondary sampling	130 L	0.944	1.06	0.73	423	123 L	79 L	1.37
secondary sampling	240 mL	0.944	1.06	0.73	423	226 mL	146 mL	
secondary pump	150 mL	1.013	1.01	1.00	298	149 mL	146 mL	1.52

Table 2: Sample line volume corrections for	r Buxton furnace measurements
---	-------------------------------

Conclusion

Using the combined gas law, with measurement correction factors for gas temperature and density, it is possible to determine accurately the volume of gas being sampled and thus provide essential information for the calculation of the metal concentration of the sample. Apparent anomalies can be explained using physical laws.

Previously, under our standard measurement conditions at the Buxton research site, a sample line volume correction factor (enrichment) of 0.355 was calculated, using the combined gas law alone, without measurement correction factors. Along with the known dilution of the gas sample with argon in the nebuliser, a factor of 5.83, a total sample volume correction factor (dilution) for gas analysis was obtained, of 2.07, indicating an expected two-fold drop in sensitivity between calibration and measurements, due to the different sample parameters experienced. This figure is dependent on sampling temperature, the speed setting of the secondary pump, and the argon settings for nebuliser and additional flow on the ICP. Accordingly, if any of these are modified, the sample correction factor must be re-evaluated.